Seamus A. Rooney

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing



Medical Intelligence Unit

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing

Seamus A. Rooney, Ph.D., Sc.D.

Professor Department of Pediatrics Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, Connecticut, U.S.A.

> R.G. LANDES COMPANY Austin, Texas U.S.A.

MEDICAL INTELLIGENCE UNIT

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing

R.G. LANDES COMPANY Austin, Texas, U.S.A.

Copyright © 1998 R.G. Landes Company

All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher. Printed in the U.S.A.

Please address all inquiries to the Publishers: R.G. Landes Company, 810 South Church Street, Georgetown, Texas, U.S.A. 78626 Phone: 512/ 863 7762; FAX: 512/ 863 0081

ISBN: 1-57059-479-1

While the authors, editors and publisher believe that drug selection and dosage and the specifications and usage of equipment and devices, as set forth in this book, are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication, they make no warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to material described in this book. In view of the ongoing research, equipment development, changes in governmental regulations and the rapid accumulation of information relating to the biomedical sciences, the reader is urged to carefully review and evaluate the information provided herein.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Rooney, Seamus A., 1943-

Lung surfactant : cellular and molecular processing / Seamus A. Rooney. p. cm. — (Molecular biology intelligence unit) includes bibliographical references and index. ISBN 1-57059-479-1 (alk. paper) 1. Pulmonary surfactant. 2. Pulmonary surfactant—Metabolism. I. Title. II. Series. QP752.P84R66 1998 612.2—dc21 98-9173

CIP

PUBLISHER'S NOTE

Landes Bioscience produces books in six Intelligence Unit series: Medical, Molecular Biology, Neuroscience, Tissue Engineering, Biotechnology and Environmental. The authors of our books are acknowledged leaders in their fields. Topics are unique; almost without exception, no similar books exist on these topics.

Our goal is to publish books in important and rapidly changing areas of bioscience for sophisticated researchers and clinicians. To achieve this goal, we have accelerated our publishing program to conform to the fast pace at which information grows in bioscience. Most of our books are published within 90 to 120 days of receipt of the manuscript. We would like to thank our readers for their continuing interest and welcome any comments or suggestions they may have for future books.

> Judith Kemper Production Manager R.G. Landes Company

CONTENTS —

1.	Surfactant Composition and Extracellular Transformations 1 Kevin M.W. Keough
	Surfactant Composition 1
	Surfactant Transformations in the Hypophase 2
	The Role of the Lipids
	The Role of the Proteins
	Summary
	,
2.	Regulation of Surfactant Phospholipid Biosynthesis
	Biochemical Pathways
	Developmental and Hormone-Induced Changes
	in Lung Phospholipid Biosynthesis
	Regulation of Phospholipid Biosynthesis
	Future Directions
3.	The Surfactant Protein A Gene and Its Regulation
	Carole R. Mendelson, Pampee P Young, Laura F. Michael,
	Erwei Gao and Joseph L. Alcorn
	Structure of SP-A
	Structure of the SP-A Gene
	Regulation of SP-A Gene Expression in Fetal Lung
	Analysis of Genomic Elements Involved
	in the Regulation of SP-A Gene Expression
	Isolation and Characterization of Transcription Factors
	Involved in Lung-Specific and Developmental Regulation
	of SP-A Gene Expression
	Conclusions and Future Directions
4.	Cellular and Molecular Processing of Surfactant Protein B
	Structure of SD B Cone and Proteins 75
	Biosynthesis and Intracellular Trafficking of SD B
	Diosynthesis and infracential Transcring of SP-D
	Regulation of SP-D Expression
	Function of SP-B
	Future Directions
5	Molecular Processing and Cellular Metabolism
5.	of Surfactant Protein C
	Michael E. Roors
	Structure and Properties of SP C Q4
	Conomic Structure and Tissue Expression of SP C mDNA 104
	Motobalic Life Cycle of SD C Drotein
	Developmental Evaporation and Matcheliam of SD C
	Developmental Expression and Metabolism of SP-C
	Regulation of SP-C Expression and Metabolism
	SP-C in Congenital and Acquired Lung Disease
	Conclusions and Future Directions 116

6.	Biosynthesis and Secretion of Surfactant Protein D 125
	Erika C. Crouch
	Cellular Sites of SP-D Production 127
	Genomic Organization 128
	Modulation of SP-D Production 128
	Transcriptional Regulation of SP-D Gene Expression 129
	Pathway of Biosynthesis and Secretion 131
	Modulation of SP-D Production In Vivo 134
	Questions and Directions for Future Research 135
7.	Regulation of Surfactant Secretion
	Seamus A. Rooney
	Lamellar Bodies and Surfactant Secretion 139
	Experimental Models 141
	Surfactant Secretagogues 143
	Agents that Inhibit Surfactant Secretion 143
	Signal Transduction Mechanisms 143
	Distal Steps in Surfactant Secretion 151
	Physiological Regulation of Surfactant Secretion 153
	Future Directions
8.	Lung Surfactant Clearance and Cellular Processing
0.	Aron B. Fisher
	Surfactant Turnover
	Clearance of Alveolar Lipids 168
	Intracellular Lipid Trafficking 175
	Clearance of Surfactant-Associated Proteins 179
	Summary and Future Directions 182
9.	Host Defense Functions of Surfactant 191
	In Rae Wright
	A Rationale for Host Defense Functions of Surfactant 191
	Issues Related to the Study of Host Defense Functions
	of Surfactant 192
	Effects of Surfactant on Phagocytosis and Clearance
	of Pathogens
	Regulation of Cell Surface Receptors
	and Adhesion Molecules by Surfactant 197
	Effects of Surfactant on Free Radical Production 197
	Effects of Surfactant on Chemotaxis
	Effects of Surfactant on Lymphocyte Proliferation
	Effects of Surfactant on Cytokine Production and Release 200
	Receptors for Surfactant Proteins
	SP-A Deficient Mice Show Altered Susceptibility to Infection 201
	Changes in Surfactant in Disease States 207
	Summary and Future Directions
	,
	Index

EDITOR =

Seamus A. Rooney, Ph.D., Sc.D. Professor Department of Pediatrics Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, Connecticut, U.S.A. *Chapters 2, 7*

CONTRIBUTORS=

Joseph L. Alcorn, Ph.D. Research Instructor Department of Biochemistry University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas Dallas, Texas, U.S.A. *Chapter 3*

Michael F. Beers, M.D. Assistant Professor of Medicine Pulmonary and Critical Care Division Department of Medicine *and* Senior Investigator Institute for Environmental Medicine University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, U.S.A. *Chapter 5*

Erika C. Crouch, M.D., Ph.D. Professor of Pathology Department of Pathology Washington University School of Medicine St Louis, Missouri, U.S.A. *Chapter 6*

Aron B. Fisher, M.D. Professor of Physiology and Medicine Director, Institute for Environmental Medicine University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, U.S.A. *Chapter 8* Erwei Gao, M.D., Ph.D. Resident in Internal Medicine Louisiana State University Medical Center Shreveport, Louisiana, U.S.A. *Chapter 3*

Kevin M.W. Keough, Ph.D. Professor Department of Biochemistry and Discipline of Pediatrics Memorial University of Newfoundland St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada *Chapter 1*

Sui Lin, Ph,D, Postdoctoral Fellow Division of Pulmonary Biology Children's Hospital Research Foundation Cincinnati, Ohio, U.S.A. *Chapter 4*

Carole R. Mendelson, Ph.D. Professor Departments of Biochemistry and Obstetrics-Gynecology Cecil H. and Ida Green Center for Reproductive Biology Sciences The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas Dallas, Texas, U.S.A. *Chapter 3* Laura F. Michael, Ph.D. Postdoctoral Fellow Joslin Diabetes Center One Joslin Place Boston, Massachusetts, U.S.A. *Chapter 3*

Timothy E. Weaver, Ph.D. Associate Professor of Pediatrics Children's Hospital Medical Center Division of Pulmonary Biology, TCHRF Cincinnati, Ohio, U.S.A. *Chapter 4* Jo Rae Wright, Ph.D. Associate Professor of Cell Biology, Medicine and Pediatrics Department of Cell Biology Duke University School of Medicine Durham, North Carolina, U.S.A. *Chapter 9*

Pampee P. Young, Ph.D. Medical Scientist Training Program University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas Dallas, Texas, U.S.A. *Chapter 3*

=== PREFACE=

R esearch on lung surfactant is constantly expanding. Ever since its discovery some 40 years ago, there has been a continuing interest and research activity concerning surfactant function, metabolism and regulation. Soon after its initial discovery, it was found that there was insufficient surfactant in premature infants who died from respiratory distress syndrome (RDS), at the time a major cause of death in premature newborns. The deficiency was established as being a consequence of lung immaturity with insufficient surfactant biosynthesis. Hormones-especially glucocorticoids-were found to be effective in accelerating fetal lung maturation and in stimulating surfactant synthesis in animals. Early clinical trials indicated that administration of steroids to pregnant women was effective in preventing newborn RDS. Today, steroids are widely used to prevent RDS in premature infants, and clinical trials with a combination of steroids and thyrotropin-releasing hormone are currently underway. A later development was the successful intratracheal administration of exogenous surfactant to prevent and treat RDS. Surfactant replacement is now a routine clinical therapy for prevention and/or treatment of RDS and several proprietary preparations are currently available. Although hormone and replacement surfactant therapies have dramatically reduced the incidence of RDS, they have not eliminated it completely. Hence research on the developmental regulation of surfactant production continues so as to devise additional therapeutic strategies.

A major function of surfactant is to lower surface tension at the air-liquid interface on the alveolar surface and thus facilitate lung expansion. Poor lung expansion can explain the symptoms of RDS. Surfactant consists of phospholipids and a number of specific proteins. It is well established that the major lipid component (phosphatidylcholine) and at least one of the proteins (surfactant protein B) are instrumental in the surface tension lowering function of surfactant. Recently, it has been realized that other surfactant components, surfactant proteins A and D, have a role in lung immunity and host defense mechanisms. Hence, it is possible that a deficiency in surfactant is a contributory factor to the susceptibility of premature newborn infants to infection. There is also surfactant deficiency or abnormality in adult lung disease. There are decreased amounts of surfactant in a number of adult lung diseases, although it is not clear if this is a cause of the disease or a consequence of it. Nevertheless, given its roles in lung expansion and lung defense, it is likely that impairment of the surfactant system has a deleterious effect on the course of lung disease.

Because of the clinical importance of RDS, the major foci of early research on surfactant were the regulation of its biosynthesis in developing fetal lung and the mechanism by which its production is accelerated by glucocorticoids and other hormones of potential therapeutic benefit. Although great strides have been made, there are still many unanswered questions relating to the developmental and hormonal control of the expression of the surfactant protein genes and of genes involved in phospholipid biosynthesis. Because of the potential involvement of surfactant in a variety of lung diseases, a complete understanding of its overall metabolism, including biosynthesis, intracellular processing, secretion, removal and reutilization, is essential.

This book provides a current update on surfactant biology research. Its focus is on the function and overall metabolism of surfactant and on the genes that regulate its production. Two chapters review surfactant functions. The first chapter deals with the biophysical aspects of surfactant in relation to lowering surface tension and the final chapter explores its role in the host defense response of the lung. One chapter explores the regulation of surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis and four deal with the structure, biosynthesis and gene regulation of the four surfactant-associated proteins. Additional chapters review mechanisms and regulation of surfactant secretion and of its removal and reutilization.

Surfactant Composition and Extracellular Transformations

Kevin M.W. Keough

Properly functioning pulmonary surfactant is essential for facile operation of the lung. It is a complex material of unusual composition that is secreted from the type II pneumocytes into the aqueous lining layer of the distal airspaces. It reduces the surface tension at the airwater interface in the alveoli and small airways and thereby contributes to critical physiological functions. The presence of the material leads to increased compliance, reduced work of breathing, reduced tendency for atelectasis at low lung volumes, and a decreased driving force for edema in the terminal airspaces. The absence of surfactant or a reduction in its functional capacity leads to respiratory distress syndromes in extreme circumstances, or a reduction in efficiency of breathing and gas exchange when its function is less severely compromised. Surfactant also plays a role in the host defense mechanisms of the lung. This chapter will deal with the role of surfactant in facilitating breathing, and how its special composition results in physicochemical properties that produce the effective physiology.

This chapter deals with selected examples that highlight critical factors related to the physicochemical functioning of surfactant. The reader is referred to some of the many recent reviews on surfactant composition and physical chemistry¹⁻⁸ for additional detail and insight. Surfactant and surfactant-like material appear in the lungs and related organs of many lower vertebrates,⁹ but this discussion is almost exclusively confined to the surfactant of mammals.

Surfactant Composition

Pulmonary surfactant has a unique composition, consisting of some specifically associated proteins and an unusual lipid complement. It should be kept in mind that pulmonary surfactant is defined and characterized operationally by its ability to attain a certain biophysical performance and to take up some special physical forms. Surfactant is usually prepared in the laboratory from material lavaged from the lung by differential and density gradient centrifugations that are intended to remove extraneous material such as plasma proteins, which are considered unlikely constituents of normal surfactant, since they inhibit its actions. Depending upon the extent of "purification" of the material, however, it is possible, if unlikely, that some materials which may in effect be part of surfactant "as the cell sees it" might be lost in the process. The material prepared from different mammalian species, however, shows a high degree of consistency in composition.

There are four specific proteins associated with surfactant; these are termed surfactant protein A (SP-A) through surfactant protein D (SP-D) in the order of their discovery. The proteins constitute about 10% of the weight of surfactant. SP-A and SP-D are large multimeric

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing, edited by Seamus A. Rooney. ©1998 R.G. Landes Company.

water-soluble proteins which can bind to lipids and are members of the collectin protein family. SP-A constitutes the greatest amount by weight of the surfactant proteins (5-8% of the total weight of surfactant), with SP-D likely contributing the least to the protein mass (although its specific contribution to the total surfactant mass is not yet evaluated). SP-B and SP-C are quite hydrophobic and are of much smaller molecular weight than the other surfactant proteins. They contribute 1-2% each to the surfactant mass. SP-A is an octadecamer of subunits of an approximate monomeric molecular weight of 35 kDa, and SP-D is a dodecamer of 43 kDa monomers. SP-B is a dimer of 8.7 kDa monomers, and SP-C is the smallest of the four, being a monomer of about 4.2 kDa. SP-C contains two palmitates esterified to the side chains of cysteines 5 and 6 of its sequence. SP-C contributes the largest amount to surfactant protein on a molar basis, with SP-B, SP-A and SP-D contributing on a molar basis in that order.³

Lipids, of which over 80% is phospholipid, comprise about 90% of the mass of surfactant. Of the neutral lipids, cholesterol is the dominant constituent with acylglycerols, especially triacylglycerol, being next in order of importance. Cholesterol is present in the lipids in amounts of up to 8% by weight, or about 14 mol % of the lipids. Free fatty acids, particularly palmitic acid, are usually present only in small amounts in natural surfactant. However, they have been added in substantial amounts to some mixtures that are employed or have been tested as potential exogenous surfactants for use in treating respiratory distress syndromes. The amounts of glycolipids are small and their functions are not yet explored.

The major phospholipid is phosphatidylcholine (PC), it being about 80% of the phospholipid. Of the phosphatidylcholines, a very substantial portion contains two saturated fatty acids with the predominant molecular species being dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC). Some measures of the disaturated PC and DPPC contents have been as high as 70% of the total PC. However, these may be overestimates due in part to the fact that a commonly used technique which employs treatment of lipids with osmium tetroxide followed by chromatography to measure saturated phospholipids¹⁰ has a propensity to overestimate saturated lipid content in the presence of lipids containing only one double bond.¹¹ Other estimates, not using this technique, suggest that the amount of saturated PC and DPPC is lower than may generally have been thought, it being about 40-50% of the total phospholipid.^{1,11-13}

The surfactant of most mammals contains acidic phospholipids in the range of 10-15% of the phospholipid pool. The predominant negatively charged phospholipid is usually phosphatidylglycerol (PG) with phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylserine making minor contributions to the total acidic lipid. The PG pool usually consists of both saturated and unsaturated molecular species.¹ The presence of PG is remarkable since it is not a substantial constituent of the phospholipids obtained from any other mammalian source. This finding has led to examination of its potential functional role in surfactant. When PG is low the level of PI is usually increased, and this is consistent with the possibility that there is a functional requirement for an acidic, and possibly a hydroxylated, phospholipid.

Surfactant Transformations in the Hypophase

Once surfactant is secreted into the hypophase, the aqueous lining layer of the airspaces, it undergoes a series of transformations, shown diagrammatically in Figure 1.1, that are associated with its biophysical function. Pulmonary surfactant is secreted from the lamellar bodies in which it is stored in the type II cell in the form of tightly packed bilayers. In this form the degree of hydration is likely quite low, the hydration state being barely enough to hydrate the lipid head groups fully.¹⁴ The material then undergoes a transformation into a unique structure called tubular myelin.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Tubular myelin consists of an array of tubules of nearly rectangular cross section with bilayer walls. In the corners of the tubules the walls



Fig. 1.1. Diagram of the extracellular transformation of pulmonary surfactant.

intersect or, in some instances, abut one another while they each undergo a 90° change in direction over a very small radius. At the regions of high curvature the bilayers must be highly strained, and at the points of intersection there must be some lipid which is not in bilayer phase. The transformation from bilayers in the lamellar bodies to tubular myelin occurs under the influence of an increase in calcium concentration in the hypophase. The presence of tubular myelin is associated with an ability of the surfactant to adsorb rapidly into the air-water interface, the next step in the extracellular processing.¹⁸ For this reason, it is generally considered that in natural surfactant tubular myelin is the immediate precursor of the surface film. Calculations indicate that the transfer of material from the hypophase to the air-water interface must occur via the concerted movement of aggregates of surfactant molecules.^{19,20} Evidence for a continuum between surfactant subphase structures and the surface film suggests a route by which this concerted transfer might occur.²¹ The surface film is generally considered to be a monolayer, or a multilayer consisting of a monolayer and an associated bilayer(s).⁵ The monolayer is thought to undergo refinement to enrich it in DPPC, either through processes of selective exclusion of non-DPPC materials or via selective insertion of DPPC. Material also leaves the surface either temporarily, being respread into the films, or permanently, for recycling back into the cell. The latter "spent" surfactant may be created by physical exclusion of materials from the surface, but there is evidence that an extracellular serine carboxylesterase contributes to this process.^{22,23} Reuptake and reprocessing of material adds to that being synthesized de novo in the cell, and completes the "life cycle" of the surfactant.

The Role of the Lipids

As most of the mass of pulmonary surfactant is contributed by lipids, especially phospholipids, it is hardly surprising that some of its major biophysical properties are dependent on these molecules and their interactions. The surface of the lung is covered with a thin continuous aqueous layer.²⁴ A most important function of surfactant is the reduction of surface tension in the air-water interface in a fashion where the surface tension is directly related to the lung volume and surface area and where the value of surface tension is very low at low lung volume.²⁵⁻²⁷ The reduction of surface tension is associated with a film of surfactant lipid at the air-water interface. Another important characteristic is the rapid formation of the film at a clean interface or the fast refilling of an expanding existing film.

It is useful to remark on the organizations that can be taken up by lipids in aqueous dispersions or in monolayers as a basis for the remainder of the discussion. Figure 1.2 shows the phases that exist when phospholipids are dispersed in aqueous media and that have or may have relevance to surfactant. These forms are dependent upon composition and temperature. The predominant forms are lamellar and consist of bilayers usually closed on themselves. At lower temperatures phospholipids in bilayers are highly ordered, with low interor intrachain motion, and their chains may be perpendicular (L_{β}) or tilted ($L_{\beta'}$) with respect to the surface of the bilayer. I will refer to these as rigid or gel phases. Above a temperature characteristic of the lipid the acyl chains "melt" and the bilayer lipid gains a high degree of inter- and intra-molecular motion. The L_{α} phase is a fluid or liquid crystalline phase. The transition temperature is dependent on the type of lipid and on its hydration. When maximally hydrated, dispersions of surfactant or of its lipids (plus hydrophobic proteins) are in a fluid phase or in a mixture of a fluid phase and the L_{β} phase at 37°C.²⁸⁻³⁰ Depending on composition and temperature, it is possible that regions or domains of rigid or fluid lipid may be segregated laterally within a given bilayer.

Another lamellar phase that has been recently described in the lipid extract of pulmonary surfactant, which also contains the hydrophobic proteins SP-B and SP-C, is called the L_{γ} phase.³⁰ This phase is infrequently found in biological systems and its appearance in lung surfactant invokes thoughts of lipid segregation in both the bulk phase and in any multilayer at the surface.⁵ A distribution of fluid and rigid lipid selectively into each leaflet of a bilayer as found in L_{γ} (Fig. 1.2) suggests ways in which regionalization of lipids may occur that could aid selective insertion of ordered lipids into air-water interface or selective absorption of fluid lipids.

Other phases that may be important in surfactant functioning are the nonlamellar hexagonal phases, particularly the H_{II} phase, and micellar arrangements. Some regions of H_{II} phase or inverted micelles may exist at intersections in tubular myelin. Other similar arrangements might exist transiently during the transformations of surfactant structures.

Monolayers at the air-water interface form the basis for productive modeling of the behavior of surfactant. Monolayers of lipids take up different phases that are also dependent on composition, temperature and surface pressure (π). Surface pressure is defined as the difference in the surface tension (γ) of a clean interface and that containing the monolayer. This means that for the relatively low surface tensions associated with the surface of the lung the monolayer needs to be sustaining a high surface pressure. Surface pressure can be increased by the two-dimensional compression of the monolayer. It is considered that compression and expansion of the lipid surface film in the lung is achieved through the breathing cycle. Figure 1.2 shows a compression isotherm of a film of DPPC at room temperature and the surface phases associated with it. The liquid-expanded phase containing fluid lipid, liquid condensed phases and liquid solid phase, containing rigid lipid, are relevant to surfactant. There is some correspondence between the rigid and fluid phases in monolayers and bilayers. Transitions in the monolayer forms can be achieved by temperature variation, but are usually obtained in monolayers by the application of external compressive force. The high surface pressure region of the isotherm may be associated with head group reorientation and dehydration.³¹ The same types of phases exist for a monolayer of DPPC at 37°C, but the transition from liquid expanded to liquid condensed phase occurs at a higher surface pressure, in the range of 40 mN/m.32



Fig. 1.2. Diagram of phases formed by phospholipids in aqueous dispersions (left) and in monolayers (right). A stylized isotherm of a DPPC monolayer at room temperature is shown in the lower right.

Attaining Low Surface Tension

For surfactant to lower the surface tension to the extremely low values seen in the lung, the material in the monolayer must be capable of sustaining very high surface pressures over a moderately long time. Of all of the components of surfactant, DPPC is the only one, in a monolayer at the air-water interface, that meets these requirements. To achieve the surface tensions usually associated with the functioning lung, values below 20 mN/m, the phospholipid film must be capable of attaining surface pressures of more than 50 mN/m and in most cases near 70 mN/m at low lung volume. These pressures are above the values of the equilibrium pressure for phospholipid monolayers, i.e., the surface pressure achieved

by a film of material that has been adsorbed from material dispersed in the bulk aqueous phase and which is in equilibrium with it. To achieve the high-pressure metastable state at the desired temperature, a PC which is rigid at the operational temperature and pressure is required.³³⁻³⁸

Unsaturated lipids are all above their transition temperatures at the body temperatures of mammals, and surface films composed of such lipids collapse at surface pressures at or very near their equilibrium surface pressures, about 45-50 mN/m, values much too low to stabilize the lung at low lung volumes. The characteristic temperature of transition for DPPC in bilayers at atmospheric pressure is near 42°C, and DPPC monolayers can achieve the high pressure state required for lung stability.³³⁻³⁸ Mixing DPPC with other lipids that have lower transition temperatures alters the regularity of packing and lowers the temperature of the transition. Other saturated PCs with transition temperatures above 37°C are also capable of sustaining the necessary high surface pressure. Lipids such as palmitoyl-stearoyl PC, for example, meet the requirement, but it and other saturated PCs are found in only small amounts, if at all, in surfactant.^{1,13} Dipalmitoyl PG (DPPG) also meets the requirements but it too is found in only small amounts in surfactant. It is likely not beneficial to have large amounts of lipids with transitions that are well above the operational temperature, as the system might remain too rigid and there might be difficulties with achieving sufficiently rapid entry of the material into the interface (see below). Monolayers of cholesterol collapse at much too low a surface pressure to sustain lung stability as do monolayers of proteins. The protein that sustains the highest surface pressures in monolayers is the surfactant protein SP-C, but by itself it produces monolayers that collapse at surface pressures in the range of 40-45 mN/m.39,40

Stability at Low Surface Tension

Since not all regions of the lung move in unison during the breathing cycle, there are at any time regions which are in different states of expansion or contraction. Maintenance of patency in the smaller airspaces requires that the surface tension remain relatively low for some period of time, a stability that has been observed experimentally at low lung volume.²⁴⁻²⁶ Using the captive bubble technique, surfactant films at very low surface tension have been found to be stable over periods of minutes.^{41,42} DPPC is the major component of surfactant which forms such stable monolayers. Films of lipids that are at a temperature above the transition temperature can sometimes be transiently compressed to pressures a few mN/m beyond the equilibrium surface pressure, but they collapse almost instantly back to the equilibrium pressure. On the other hand, films of DPPC at a temperature of 37°C or less can be compressed to very high surface pressures, up to 70 mN/m, and they collapse back to the equilibrium surface pressure very slowly.^{33,34,36,43} The rate of collapse of the metastable DPPC film mimics that found in the surfactant films in the captive bubble. These concepts and observations by others ⁴⁴ lead to the view that the surface film of surfactant in situ is enriched in DPPC.

Formation of the Surface Film

Despite the desirable qualities of films of DPPC given above, such films are difficult to form spontaneously. The formation of surface films from crystalline DPPC or from liposomes of pure DPPC is quite slow,⁴⁵⁻⁴⁹ much too slow for pure DPPC to be an effective surfactant in situ. When monolayers are compressed beyond the point of collapse, material must leave the surface in three-dimensional layered aggregates, usually called collapsed phases. When the interface is reexpanded, material from the collapsed phases can potentially respread back into the interfacial monolayer. Such surface refilling may be an important part of replenishing surfactant films during the breathing cycle. Collapsed phases of pure DPPC are

very poor in undergoing such respreading, and that is the reason that large hysteresis in surface tension is seen in monolayers of DPPC that are compressed beyond their collapse points and then reexpanded.

The rate at which surfactant films can be formed by adsorption from the hypophase or by respreading from collapsed phases is increased by the addition of unsaturated phospholipids to DPPC.⁵⁰⁻⁵⁷ The fluid state of the unsaturated lipids allows them to spread into the interface more rapidly than rigid lipids. The presence of fluid lipids or cholesterol disrupts the regular packing of DPPC and contributes to the increased ability of such mixtures to move rapidly into the interface.

The unusual presence of PG has been associated with increased adsorption rates of surfactant. The interaction of calcium in the hypophase with PG is thought possibly to lead to separation of domains that are PG-rich and that might serve as focal points of bilayer disruption to speed interfacial film formation. Calcium can cause a redistribution of condensed and fluid domains of PG monolayers and it also induces an overall condensation of PG monolayers.⁵⁸

The concerted transfer of material into the air-water interface requires some sort of local disruption in the usual lipid packing in bilayers. Regions of curvature-induced high strain or of nonbilayer phase may exist. The regions at the "corners" of tubular myelin could be associated with nonbilayer phase. It has been suggested that $H_{\rm II}$ phase formation may have a special role in the dynamics of the surfactant in the hypophase.⁵⁹ Although the usual lipids of surfactant do not form $H_{\rm II}$ phase in and of themselves, the special mixture in surfactant in the presence of calcium and surfactant proteins may partially and transiently segregate into such a phase. Recently mixtures of DPPC and substantial amounts of unsaturated phosphatidylethanolamine, lipids which readily form $H_{\rm II}$ phase, have been found to possess a number of desirable characteristics for an artificial exogenous surfactant.⁶⁰

Refining of the Surface Film

If the operational surface film in situ were to have the same composition as that of surfactant in the hypophase it is highly likely that it would behave like a fluid rather than a rigid monolayer. In situ, however, the film has characteristics that are consistent with it being a rigid one enriched in DPPC.^{24-26,44} It is therefore considered that the surface film undergoes some compositional refining through either a process that selectively inserts DPPC into the film or that selectively excludes non-DPPC components during compression or both. Monolayers of surfactant under compression in surface balances show plateaux that are consistent with selective exclusion. However, films adsorbed in captive bubbles show compression or with a process of selective insertion of rigid lipid. For a detailed discussion of the refining process see reference 3. The amount of those non-DPPC component(s) that is selectively squeezed out is dependent on their amounts and physical characteristics and on the compression rate.⁶¹⁻⁶³

Evidence for selective insertion is more tenuous than that for selective exclusion. Any selective insertion of components, of DPPC in particular, would most likely require the participation of one or more of the surfactant proteins (see below). It is interesting that monolayers made from lipid extracts of surfactant (which contain SP-B and SP-C) show some unanticipated properties upon investigation by epifluorescence microscopy and Brewster angle microscopy. As the monolayers are compressed, they undergo internal separation into domains which are apparently DPPC-rich and condensed. These condensed domains are maximal in amount near 35 mN/m and then, as surface pressure is further increased, they seem to disappear again, with the monolayer taking on a homogenously fluid appearance.⁶⁴ The apparent fluid characteristics of the monolayer at higher pressures

are unexpected, but they are in keeping with properties of a simple mixture of an unsaturated PC and DPPC.⁶⁵ Some recent observations suggest that in the higher pressure regions there may be very small probe-excluded (rigid) domains embedded in a lattice-work of probe-containing domains that had not been discerned in previous studies.⁶⁶ The amount of rigid phase in the lattice is difficult to quantitate but may be sufficiently high to provide the low surface tension and metastability associated with surfactant monolayers under high compression. The finely divided meshwork or intermingled array of very small rigid domains and encompassing fine lattice of what might be fluid-like domains is reminiscent of a metal alloy. A "two-dimensional alloy" in the surfactant film at high pressures, or low surface tensions, might impart strength to the film under compression while allowing it to remain somewhat flexible, potentially desirable characteristics in the dynamic conditions occurring in the lung.

The Role of the Proteins

The hydrophobic proteins SP-B and SP-C are strongly associated with the lipids of surfactant. Water-soluble SP-A is also lipid-associated in natural surfactant prepared from lung lavage, but it can be readily removed from the lipid by a variety of techniques, the simplest of which is addition of calcium chelating agents.⁶⁷ SP-B and SP-C, however, are soluble only in detergents or organic solvents and so are present in extracts of surfactant lipids made with organic solvents. SP-D is found in soluble form in bronchoalveolar lavage.

SP-A and SP-D are members of the family of collectins, lectins with collagenous domains. They are C-type, or calcium-dependent, lectins. Both proteins are oligomeric, with each monomer consisting of a short N-terminal sequence that may be involved in disulfide formation followed by a collagenous portion, a "neck" region which connects the collagenous portion to a carboxy terminal region with the associated lectin activity. The collagenous regions form triple helices and six triple helical units are assembled into octadecamers in the case of native SP-A, whereas four such units form dodecamers in SP-D. Their shapes have been determined by rotary shadowing on electron microscopy^{68,69} and are shown diagrammatically in Figure 1.3. Some larger aggregates have been observed for SP-D⁶⁹ from normal lungs and for SP-A in bronchoalveolar lavages from patients with alveolar proteinosis.⁷⁰

SP-B and SP-C are in a class of proteins termed proteolipids because of their high hydrophobicity and solubility in organic solvents. They are much smaller than the two water-soluble proteins (Fig. 1.3). They have been implicated in a number of processes in surfactant biophysics and are essential components of the working surfactant system in the hypophase and may be associated with the surfactant film at the air-water interface.

SP-A augments certain activities such as surfactant adsorption and is required for tubular myelin formation. When the SP-A gene was targeted to produce SP-A deficient mice, surfactant function was partially deficient when tested in vitro but the mutation did not detectably alter pulmonary function or survival after birth.⁷¹ On the other hand, the congenital absence of SP-B causes lethal respiratory failure in full term infants^{72,73} and its partial deficiency results in milder lung disease and longer survival.⁷⁴ The clinical deficiency of SP-B has been reproduced in a mouse model where targeted disruption of the SP-B gene caused respiratory failure at birth.⁷⁵ The disruption of the SP-B gene also leads to incomplete processing of SP-C, so that an aberrant 8.5 kDa SP-C accumulates and the amount of normal 4.2 kDa SP-C is markedly reduced.⁷⁵ These observations are consistent with SP-B, and possibly SP-C, having an essential role in surfactant physiology and for SP-A having a modulating and optimizing role in surfactant dynamics in the airspaces.



Fig. 1.3. Diagrams of the four surfactant proteins drawn to scale.

The Water Soluble Proteins

SP-A

The recognition that proteins play an important role in surfactant dynamics came about 25 years ago when King and Clements⁷⁶ reported that a water-soluble protein associated with surfactant increased the ability of surfactant lipids to enter the air-water interface.⁷⁶ A large body of work has subsequently been carried out on that protein, now named SP-A.

SP-A binds to dispersions of the extracted lipid-soluble materials of surfactant and various simpler mixtures of lipids. Of the phospholipids present in surfactant, SP-A shows a preferential interaction with PC and especially with DPPC.⁷⁷⁻⁸⁰ SP-A also binds to neutral glycolipids in surfactant,^{81,82} although the role of glycolipids in surfactant dynamics is undetermined.

The function of DPPC is, as noted above, fairly well understood. Not only does SP-A have a selective interaction with DPPC, but it preferentially interacts with the lipid in the gel phase in bilayers. In liposomes the greatest interaction between SP-A and lipid occurs not only in the presence of gel phase lipids but when packing dislocations or domain separations are present.⁷⁹ The binding of SP-A to lipid is primarily driven by hydrophobic forces whether the lipid is in bilayers,⁷⁹ monolayers,⁸² on thin layer chromatograms⁸⁰ or on plastic surfaces.⁸¹ Monolayer studies indicate that SP-A interacts with DPPC but not with DPPG, from which it appears to be completely excluded.⁸³ The association of SP-A with DPPC

monolayers induces the production of more, smaller, domains of rigid lipid than are seen in equivalent monolayers without protein (Fig. 1.4),84 a seemingly common phenomenon when proteins are inserted into phospholipid monolayers. A greater number of nucleation sites for formation of condensed phases occurs, but the condensed regions cannot grow as large as in the absence of SP-A as the protein interferes with packing into regular arrays, a phenomenon also seen with SP-B and SP-C. Using fluorescently-labeled SP-A it has been observed that the protein adsorbed from the subphase into a DPPC monolayer only when there is a mixed phase region produced by compression of the film so that rigid and fluid DPPC domains coexist. SP-A accumulates at the solid domain edges but it also spreads to a limited extent into the fluid phase (Fig.1.5).84 On the other hand, when the fluorescent SP-A adsorbed to a monolayer of DPPC/DPPG the protein was distributed in large aggregates in the packing dislocations at the domain boundaries, consistent with a lack of interaction between SP-A and the acidic PG at neutral pH. Exclusion of SP-A into aggregates is probably due to natural repulsion of the two negatively charged molecules PG and SP-A.83 Those studies were done in the presence of solutions containing 2 mM CaCl₂ in which selfaggregation of SP-A might be expected.^{85,86} The extent of aggregation is much greater with SP-A adsorbed to DPPC/DPPG monolayers than to DPPC monolayers, a finding also consistent with repulsion of SP-A by DPPG.

At concentrations of calcium found in the lung, hypophase SP-A induces the aggregation of phospholipid vesicles, a process mediated by its C-terminal carbohydrate recognition domain⁸⁷ but requiring an intact protein for maximal activity.⁸⁸ The lipid aggregating activity of SP-A can be triggered by much lower concentrations of calcium (in the μ M range) than those required for self-aggregation of lipid-free SP-A (mM concentrations).⁸⁹

A recent study has shown by epifluorescence microscopy on monolayers of the lipid extract of surfactant that SP-A can induce aggregation of the domains of condensed lipid (DPPC-rich domains),⁶⁶ a finding consistent with SP-A associating with edges of solid DPPC and with SP-A self-associating in the presence of calcium.

The binding of SP-A to phospholipid vesicles is facilitated by a "neck" region between the collagenous and globular carbohydrate recognition domains.^{90,91} Studies on recombinant proteins and synthetic peptides replicating partial sequences of SP-A also implicate not only the neck region but part of the carbohydrate recognition domain in lipid binding.⁹²⁻⁹⁴

The lipid binding characteristics of SP-A are undoubtedly related to its functional roles in the hypophase. SP-A is associated with tubular myelin^{95,96} and is located at the corners of the tubular myelin matrix.⁹⁷ The presence of tubular myelin in surfactant preparations is associated with rapid adsorption and surface refining. SP-A, SP-B, DPPC, PG and calcium are minimal essentials for the formation of tubular myelin structures in vitro.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ SP-A is essential for the maintenance of surfactant in the large aggregate forms that contain tubular myelin and which are associated with rapid surface film formation. During the process of surface cycling, known to cause conversion of the large aggregates to small vesicles, the presence of SP-A resists such conversion.^{22,23,101,102} The large aggregates are considered to be the surface forming materials and the small aggregates a "spent" form of surfactant that is produced upon the cycling of material in the surface.

Using a captive bubble surfactometer, it has been observed that SP-A could enhance the adsorption into the interface of a lipid extract of surfactant from which most of the neutral lipids had been removed. The observations also suggest that SP-A could be aiding the elimination of non-DPPC lipids from the interface during cycling.¹⁰³ Recent studies also suggest a potential role for SP-A in selective insertion of DPPC into the surface from the same lipid extract of surfactant to which neutral lipids had been added.¹⁰⁴ This surface enhancement may be augmented by the fact that SP-A could limit the adsorption of cholesterol to the interface.¹⁰⁵ Since cholesterol could fluidize the surface lipids, its selective



Fig. 1.4. The influence of incorporated proteins on the distribution of domains in the liquidexpanded (light) and liquid-condensed (dark) coexistence phases of DPPC monolayers. (Left) Effect of increasing concentrations of protein at one surface pressure. (Right) Effect of increasing surface pressure at one concentration of protein.



elimination could add to surface stabilization by DPPC. DPPC aggregates were observed in the surface during the process of SP-A promoted DPPC insertion.¹⁰⁴ This phenomenon is consistent with the association of SP-A and the boundaries of solid DPPC domains in mono-layers.^{84,89}

The ability of SP-A to promote film formation and enrichment with DPPC is likely the major reason for its ability to aid in overcoming the inhibition of surfactant surface activity by plasma proteins that compete with surfactant for the surface space.¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸

SP-D

To date no specific role for SP-D in the extracellular biophysics of surfactant has been determined. The recent observations that SP-D and PI may substitute for SP-A and PG in forming tubular myelin-like figures in vitro suggest that in some circumstances SP-D may have a role in trafficking in the hypophase.¹⁰⁹ SP-D binds specifically to PI and glucosylceramide¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² on thin layer or microtiter plates and to liposomes containing PI. In the presence of calcium, SP-D can induce the aggregation of liposomes containing PI.¹¹⁰ A recent study also showed that SP-D binds not only to PI but also to DPPC, although not to unsaturated PC, on microtiter plates.¹¹³ When recombinant rat SP-D was allowed to adsorb into monolayers of unsaturated PC, PG or PI and mixtures of DPPC and either PI or PG, no headgroup specific differences were detected.¹¹⁴ That suggests that under those conditions the interaction between SP-D and the lipids was primarily driven by hydrophobic forces. Various studies have shown that the binding of SP-D to lipids requires the carbohydrate recognition domain, especially the "neck" region, but it appears to be modulated by the presence of the collagen-like region.^{92,113,115} More study will be required to determine if the SP-D lipid interactions noted have a major role in extracellular surfactant biophysics in relation to the lowering of surface tension or if they are related to other factors such as the interaction of SP-D with surfaces of foreign particles. The fact that PI is usually present in surfactants in amounts near that of the more usual PG when PG is missing makes the SP-D interaction with lipids continue to intrigue many investigators.

The Hydrophobic Proteins

The presence of the hydrophobic proteins SP-B and SP-C in surfactant has been known for some time.^{116,117} These proteins are extracted from surfactant by organic solvents along with the lipids. They can be separated from the lipids by various forms of chromatography, the most common being hydrophobic gel exclusion chromatography. In some studies, especially earlier ones, SP-B and SP-C were obtained in the same fraction, whereas in later work the two proteins are obtained separately.

SP-B is a disulfide-linked homodimer, the monomers of which contain 79 amino acids. Each monomer has seven cysteines, six of which are involved in intramonomer disulfides, and the seventh forms the link to the other monomer. The primary sequence and the positioning of the disulfides imparts to SP-B some "kringle-like" structure.¹¹⁸ The sequence and placing of the cysteines also provides SP-B with a fairly high degree of homology with the family of lipid binding proteins called the saposins¹¹⁹ and the lytic polypeptide NK-lysin.¹²⁰ The structure of SP-B is a little less than 50% α -helical in solvents and when it is in bilayers or monolayers.^{39,121-124} The protein contains an excess of basic residues which are located primarily in two regions that have been calculated to be potential amphipathic helices. These regions have been variously calculated to be approximately 10 amino acid stretches starting about 10 residues from either terminal with a third smaller amphipathic helix postulated to be about in the middle of the monomer sequence.^{125,126}

SP-C is extremely hydrophobic. It is 35 residues long with 23 hydrophobic amino acids leading to the C-terminal, a region particularly rich in valine. The 12-residue N-terminal

region contains a variety of side chains including two positively charged ones at positions 11 and 12. SP-C from all but one species, the dog, has two vicinal cysteines at positions 5 and 6, each of which are acylated with palmitoyl chains. Canine SP-C has one palmitoylated cysteine and a phenylalanine in those positions. The protein has a high content (70% or more) of α -helix in solvents, bilayers and monolayers.^{39,123,126-129} The determination of the high resolution structure of SP-C in organic solvents and in micelles has confirmed that the hydrophobic C-terminal region and the preceding 2-4 amino acids constitute a regular α -helix.^{130,131}

There is a dimeric form of SP-C that is composed of SP-C monomers linked through disulfides. The dimers are not palmitoylated and they possess a variable amount of α -helix and β -structure depending upon their source.¹³¹⁻¹³³

It has been recognized for some time that the hydrophobic proteins have the important property of being able, either alone or in combination, to substantially enhance the ability of surfactant lipids and various combinations of synthetic lipids to adsorb into the airwater interface, a function considered to be essential for optimal surfactant dynamics in the lung.134-137 When added to lipids, SP-B and SP-C also aid resistance to inhibition of surfactant activity by various plasma proteins. The overall consensus of a large body of work is that both proteins enhance these activities and that SP-B is more effective than SP-C. In promoting these effects the two proteins are additive but not synergistic.¹³⁸ Both SP-B and SP-C can be spread in monolayers alone or with lipids. The two proteins also appear to act independently in these monolayers with one exception found to date. In DPPG-containing monolayers, SP-B and SP-C behave cooperatively in their exclusion under increasing pressure and in removing lipids out of the DPPG monolayer.¹³⁹ The cooperativity is abolished, however, in the presence of calcium.⁴⁰ The hydrophobic protein-promoted adsorption of lipids from the subphase into the interface is nonspecifically dependent on the presence of monovalent or divalent cations.140 When either SP-B or SP-C is present in monolayers of phospholipids they can induce the adsorption of additional phospholipids from small or large unilamellar vesicles that are injected beneath the monolayer. Contacts between the monolayers and the vesicles are necessary for the process, which is independent of the lipid type, to occur. In keeping with other findings related to adsorption, SP-B is more potent than SP-C in promoting the lipid transfer.^{39,140} A number of studies have been carried out in monolayers and bilayers to elucidate the ways in which the two hydrophobic proteins modify the distribution and packing properties of lipids so that they can catalyze the dynamic properties described.

SP-B

Result of studies on SP-B in PC and PG have led to equivocal interpretations of its specific location with respect to the chains and the polar groups of the lipids. Investigation of the influence of natural SP-B on the properties of fluorescent lipid probes in model bilayer systems suggests that the protein interacts near the surface of the bilayer and causes little perturbation of the acyl chains deep within the bilayer.¹⁴¹ Studies with a synthetic monomeric version and a natural dimeric form of SP-B that employed techniques of deuteron magnetic resonance spectroscopy and differential scanning calorimetry showed that SP-B perturbs the chain packing very little in systems containing DPPC, DPPG or a mixture of the two and that the perturbations that do occur are essentially the same for all parts of the hydrocarbon chains.^{122,142} The presence of SP-B modifies the slow motions of lipids in bilayers. The data from these latter experiments could be interpreted as being consistent with two models for SP-B lipid interactions. In one model SP-B interacts through its amphipathic helices at the lipid head groups with minimum perturbation of the chain packing, and in the second SP-B aligns at the edges of bilayer disks by virtue of its amphipathic

character (Fig. 1.5). The disks would subsequently aggregate into bilayer sheets. The second model, which is based on earlier electron microscopic studies,⁹⁹ is preferred.¹⁴² The latter interpretation is also supported by the observations that SP-B promotes mixing of lipids between, and fusion of, lipid vesicles.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵

The positively charged SP-B molecule, when interacting with bilayers containing negatively charged phospholipids such as PG, produces changes such as elevation of the temperature for chain melting and a broadening of the transition from the gel to the liquid crystal state.^{142,146,147} In bilayers containing mixtures of DPPC and PG of various acyl chain composition it appears that SP-B shows some preference for interaction with, and possible partial segregation of, the PG component.^{141,142,144,146,147}

When SP-B is introduced into monolayers of DPPC or DPPG it expands the films at lower surface pressures¹⁴⁸ and modifies the packing so that more, smaller condensed domains of lipid are produced during the compression of the monolayers through their liquid-expanded to liquid-condensed states into solid states at high surface pressures (Fig. 1.4).¹⁴⁹ SP-B is excluded from monolayers of either DPPC or DPPG at a surface pressure a little above that where monolayers of the pure protein collapse, and in neither case does it carry a significant amount of lipid molecules out of the monolayer with it.^{123,148} In DPPG but not DPPC films in the presence of calcium, SP-B is excluded at a lower pressure than in the absence of calcium, likely due to the direct effect of calcium on the lipid.⁴⁰ Direct observation of fluorescently labeled SP-B in monolayers shows that at lower pressures the protein is associated with the liquid-expanded state, but some of it remains associated with the monolayer even when it is compressed to very high pressures and into the collapse phase.¹⁴⁹ The association of the protein with the collapse phase helps respreading of the lipid into the monolayer when it is reexpanded.^{150,151} The presence of cholesterol in the protein-lipid film lowers stability at high pressure and detracts from the respreading ability of the collapse phase.¹⁵¹ When SP-B is distributed in monolayers of DPPC, where it is usually found in the liquid-expanded or fluid phase at intermediate surface pressures, the addition of SP-A to the subphase appears to cause a redistribution of SP-B to match that of SP-A (Nag K, Keough KMW, unpublished observations).

A series of studies with synthetic peptide portions of SP-B and other peptides that mimic some portions of the molecule in various lipid environments have been carried out to correlate peptide structure with biophysical properties. A general view of the findings indicates that peptides that include the regions near the N and C terminals which are predicted to contain amphipathic helices tend to assume helical character in the presence of lipids, and that they perturb packing and promote adsorption of lipids to the air-water interface. Some combinations of peptides with lipids also serve to improve compliance of surfactant-deficient lungs.^{124,152-155}

Addition to lipid mixtures of a regular repeating positively-charged peptide, (KLLL)₄K, the sequence of which was suggested by the C-terminal portion of SP-B, promotes improved biophysical properties and compliance.¹⁵⁶ The peptide, which was originally thought to be surface associating and which shows some preferential interaction with DPPG in DPPC/DPPG mixtures,¹⁵⁷ has recently been shown to be a bilayer-spanning helix.¹⁵⁸

The peptide containing the first 25 amino acids of SP-B, and most likely the entire SP-B molecule, has been suggested to play a special role in stabilizing palmitic acid in monolayers of artificial surfactants in which it is present in relatively high amounts.^{159,160}

SP-C

As noted above, SP-C can promote the transfer of lipids from bilayer forms into monolayers at the air-water interface and enhance the respreading of lipids from excluded or collapsed forms of monolayers. In most cases where direct comparisons have been made, SP-C has been found to be less effective than SP-B in promoting lipid adsorption, but its role in these functions is not to be discounted by the currently available evidence. The role of the palmitoylated vicinal cysteines in adsorption and respreading has been studied, as has that of mixtures of lipids plus SP-C with and without palmitates on pressure vs. volume properties of surfactant deficient lungs. Deacylated SP-C has been produced by both recombinant technology and by chemical modifications. Both approaches have also been used to remove the positive charges on the side chains of residues 11 and 12 (and position 2 in porcine SP-C) of the SP-C sequence. Models¹⁶¹ and measurements¹⁶² place these charged residues in the region of the lipid head groups.

Depalmitoylation of SP-C causes little change in its α -helical content^{129,163} and nonpalmitoylated recombinant SP-C also has a high content of α -helix.¹⁶⁴ A synthetic nonpalmitoylated form has a reduced amount of α -helix.¹⁶³ There are mixed indications about the effect of removing the positive charges on the α -helical region, with both decreases and increases in biophysical activity being reported.^{163,165} Differences in the methodologies for removing the charges to obtain the modified SP-C, and whether it is located in either monolayers and bilayers, may account for the differences in the calculated amounts of helix in the two studies.^{163,165}

Like SP-B, SP-C in lipid monolayers can promote the insertion of additional lipid from vesicles below the monolayer and this activity involves the adherence of the vesicles to the monolayer.^{39,140} The absence of the palmitates does not substantially influence this process.¹⁶⁴ Similarly, the absence of palmitates does not substantially affect adsorption rates of synthetic lipid mixtures to which nonpalmitoylated SP-C is added^{163,166,167} or the ability of lipid-protein mixtures to improve the compliance of surfactant-deficient lungs in comparison to mixtures containing intact SP-C.^{167,168} Nonpalmitoylated recombinant SP-C retains an ability to offset the inhibition of surfactant biophysical activity usually induced by fibrinogen¹⁶⁹ and to inhibit the plasmic cleavage of fibrinogen.¹⁷⁰ On the other hand, the presence of the palmitates substantially improves the stability of monolayers and lipid respreading upon surface expansion after monolayer overcompression and collapse.¹⁷¹

While depalmitoylation does not reduce the ability of SP-C in a lipid-protein monolayer to cause adsorption of additional lipid from vesicles in the subphase, SP-C in which the positive charges are blocked by chemical modification can no longer carry out this activity.¹⁶⁵ This suggests that the positive charges on SP-C are necessary for the adherence of the phospholipid vesicles to the monolayer, considered to be an important part of the mechanism mediating this process.³⁹ The SP-C with a reduced number of positive charges is able to promote lipid mixing between negatively charged vesicles,¹⁶⁵ a process that is not influenced by the native protein.¹⁴³ The deletion of the positive charges in a synthetic SP-C somewhat reduces its ability to promote lipid adsorption, as does the absence of palmitates in some synthetic analogues.¹⁶³ The ability of these modified peptides to promote adsorption correlates with the amount of α -helical structure, suggesting that α -helical structure is an important determinant of the adsorption-promoting ability of SP-C.¹⁶³ This view is borne out by the observations that synthetic peptides lacking the first few N-terminal amino acids, but containing the positive charges near the lipid headgroups and the complete helix, produce good biophysical and physiological properties in lipid mixtures.^{167,168}

The dimeric form of SP-C that is obtained in extracts of natural surfactant is not acylated at the cysteine positions and the monomers are linked by a disulfide bond at those residues.^{132,133} The bovine dimer is slightly less effective at promoting adsorption of lipids from the subphase into an interface than is monomeric SP-C.¹³² When included in a monolayer of lipids plus proteins formed over a subphase containing lipid vesicles, the canine dimeric form and the monomeric form are about equally efficient in promoting the adsortion of additional lipid from the vesicles into the monolayer.¹³³ The bovine SP-C dimer in bilayers

has a substantial proportion of β -structure, whereas the canine form shows a high amount of α -helix when it is spread in a monolayer at the air-water interface.^{132,133} Those inconsistencies may represent species differences or may just have resulted from the various differences in preparation and assay.

The SP-C molecule is a transbilayer peptide. The hydrophobic α -helical portion extends across the bilayer, with the helix axis slightly tilted with respect to the acyl chains at an average angle of orientation of 24° with respect to the bilayer normal.^{127-129,162} Removal of the palmitoyl groups does not substantially affect that orientation.¹²⁹ The possibilities that the palmitate chains are inserted in a bilayer adjacent to the one containing the helix or that those two portions orient with one hydrophobic part in a monolayer and the other in a bilayer are intriguing, but moot. SP-C perturbs the packing of the lipids in bilayers and leads to a reduction of acyl chain order in the usually ordered gel state and to a small increase in order of the chains in the fluid liquid-crystalline state.^{127,128,146,147,172-174} In pure lipids the effects of SP-C on chain motions of DPPC and DPPG are similar, although the positively charged protein does cause an increase in the transition temperature of pure DPPG bilayers.^{146,174} SP-C also modifies slow motions in both the fluid and gel states of the lipids and the addition of calcium can substantially reverse this effect.^{127,174} SP-C shows little selfassociation in lipid bilayers in the fluid state, whereas it self-aggregates in the gel state¹⁷⁵ with some increase in its amount of β-structure.¹²⁸ In mixed lipid systems containing saturated PC and PG, SP-C shows no strong preference for either type of lipid, but in the gel state there is a greater effect of SP-C on the order of the PG component than on that of PC, suggesting that there is some preferential interaction or that SP-C can induce a nonrandom distribution of those lipid types, at least in the gel state.^{172,173}

As in the case of SP-B, SP-C can be spread in monolayers with and without lipids at the air-water interface or adsorbed into the interface with lipids from lipid-protein vesicles below the surface. Epifluorescence microscopy used to observe fluorescently labeled SP-C in DPPC monolayers spread from solvents or adsorbed from appropriate lipid-protein vesicles indicates that the two types of monolayers are virtually equivalent.¹⁷⁶ This observation validates the use of spread monolayers for certain studies of surfactant properties since the films formed in situ are more likely to resemble adsorbed ones. This observation of near equivalence of the types of films has recently been extended to the lipid extract of surfactant which also contains the two hydrophobic proteins.⁶⁶ The addition of SP-C to monolayers of DPPC, DPPG, or a mixture of the two, expands the monolayers at lower pressures, consistent with the protein perturbing the lipid packing. At surface pressures above the collapse pressure of the protein alone, and above that of SP-B with or without lipids, there is a partial exclusion of the SP-C protein. In contrast to SP-B, where little or no lipid is removed with the protein, the excluded SP-C molecules are accompanied by about 7-10 lipid molecules, with the amounts being somewhat higher from DPPG than from DPPC monolayers.¹⁷⁷ As in the case of SP-B, the presence of calcium lowers the exclusion pressure and removes the ability of SP-C to carry DPPG out of the monolayer on its exclusion.⁴⁰ The difference between the exclusion pressures and the amounts of lipids accompanying SP-B and SP-C is consistent with SP-C having greater hydrophobic interactions with the lipids than does SP-B. The interactions of SP-C with either lipid in the monolayer are dominated by hydrophobic forces. Some SP-C remains in the monolayer up to very high surface pressures, where the monolayers collapse. The protein that is present in both the excluded and the collapsed phases augments the respreading of the lipid into the air-water interface on monolayer expansion.150

The presence of cholesterol at physiological concentrations in films of DPPC and SP-C increases the amount of SP-C that is retained in films up to the collapse point, although it makes the films more unstable at that stage. As in the case of SP-B, the presence of cholesterol reduces the ability of SP-C to promote the respreading of lipids from the collapse phase.¹⁵¹

SP-C has been found to modify the rheological properties of lipid films in such a way as to be consistent with its ability to promote adsorption and respreading of lipids.^{128,178}

The properties seen in studies on films containing SP-C by conventional techniques have been confirmed by epifluorescence microscopy of monolayers containing fluorescently labeled lipids and proteins and by scanning force microscopy on Langmuir-Blodgett films prepared from monolayers of SP-C and lipids.^{149,177-180} SP-C occupies the fluid regions of monolayers at low pressures and is excluded from the condensed phases. It causes the appearance of more, but smaller, condensed phase regions, as its concentration is increased in the monolayer (Fig. 1.4). At intermediate pressures (~30 mN/m) such films become separated into regions where there are large lipid-rich domains occurring in an extended protein rich lattice-work. At still higher pressures there is segregation and exclusion of the protein rich domains. Some of the protein, however, remains at or in the interface at pressures above the exclusion pressure. The appearance of the films on reexpansion to lower pressures very closely resembles that of films during their compression stages. This implies that the protein is reversibly excluded in the cycling process.^{149,179,180}

These observations are consistent with SP-C being more firmly embedded in bilayers and monolayers than either of the other proteins and its being removed only under conditions where lipid can accompany it (Fig. 1.5). This suggests that SP-C could have a significant role in refining and respreading lipids.

Summary

The unique composition of pulmonary surfactant has an important role in its achieving the physical transformations that impart its essential function in the airspaces. Such transformations are achieved external to the cell without the direct input of metabolic energy and are driven by the free energy gains imparted by the rearrangements of the constituents in response to the different milieus inside and outside the cell. Additional energy can be obtained from mechanical forces of the breathing lung.

The most prominent component, DPPC, is essential in the surface film in order for it to achieve the metastable, densely packed state which permits the high surface pressure and low surface tension seen in the lung at low volume. Other lipid components detract from this property because of their phase characteristics, but some of them, including unsaturated PC and PG and cholesterol, are helpful in attaining the rapid transfer of surfactant lipid from the bilayer phase into the film at the interface.

At least three of the proteins, SP-A, SP-B and SP-C, have important roles in enhancing the processes of adsorption and respreading of lipids in the surface. All three interact with phospholipids to different extents and likely in a different manner. SP-A and SP-B are essential for formation of tubular myelin in vitro and are thus implicated in the lipid transfer process. There is some evidence that SP-A and SP-B may interact with one another. SP-B by itself is capable of promoting the adsorption of lipids into the air-water interface or their respreading from collapsed phases, but it can be augmented by SP-A and SP-C in carrying out those processes. Either SP-A or SP-C alone can also promote the transfer of lipids from the hypophase or from collapsed phases into the monolayer but they are not as efficient as SP-B. SP-A may have a role in sorting surface lipids, in that there is some evidence that it promotes the selective transfer of DPPC into the monolayer. SP-A has a high degree of preferential interaction with solid DPPC, likely at the edges of solid domains, especially when they are mixed with fluid ones. This could help surface sorting. Neither SP-B nor SP-C show strong selectivity for lipid types, but both proteins have some preference for PG when it is present with PC. The preference can be abolished by calcium, likely because it preferentially associates with the PG headgroup. For the most part the effects of the proteins appear to be additive, especially when calcium is present.

SP-A interacts at the surface of bilayers and monolayers with an unknown amount of incorporation of the very large molecule into the lipid. SP-B might interact at the surface of lipid arrays through its partial amphipathic character, but data obtained to date are also consistent with it being arranged with its hydrophobic parts abutting the hydrophobic chains of lipids. This orientation would produce small discs which aggregate into larger sheets. This arrangement may be especially important in the formation of tubular myelin. SP-B promotes fusion of lipid vesicles, in keeping with this role. SP-C is a transbilayer peptide in the bulk phase arrays of surfactant and its orientation in monolayers may be nearly parallel to the surface. When excluded from a monolayer under compression, it carries with it up to 10-11 molecules of lipid with a slight preference for PG. This may give it a significant role in surface refining after monolayer formation.

This remarkable, complex system continues to intrigue and surprise investigators. Surfactant is elegantly designed for multiple purposes, and we have begun to achieve understanding of their molecular foundations. Subsequent chapters will expose much more of these fascinating properties.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks Dr. Jesus Pérez-Gil, Departamento de Bioquímica y Biología Molecular I, Facultad de Ciencias Biologicals, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain, for the provision of the figures in this chapter and Drs. Svetla Taneva and Michael R. Morrow, Departments of Biochemistry and Physics, respectively, Memorial University of Newfoundland, for their constructive comments on drafts of this chapter. Work from the author's laboratory described in the chapter was done with the support of the Medical Research Council of Canada and the Lung Associations of Newfondland, Labrador and of Canada.

References

- 1. Akino T. Lipid components of the surfactant system. In: Robertson B, van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, eds. Pulmonary Surfactant: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Practice. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1992:19-31.
- 2. Possmayer F. Biophysical activities of surfactant. In: Polin RA, Fox WW, eds. Fetal and Neonatal Physiology. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1991:949-962.
- 3. Keough KMW. Physical chemistry of pulmonary surfactant in the terminal air spaces. In: Robertson B, van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, eds. Pulmonary Surfactant: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Practice. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1992:109-164.
- 4. Johansson J, Curstedt T, Robertson B. The proteins of the surfactant system. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:372-391.
- 5. Van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, Robertson B. The pulmonary surfactant system. News Physiol Sci 1994; 9:13-20.
- 6. Goerke J, Schürch S. Mechanical properties of the alveolar surface. In: Crystal RG, West JB, Weibel E, Barnes PJ, eds. The Lung, Scientific Foundations. 2nd ed. New York: Raven, 1996:821-827.
- 7. Pison U, Herold R, Schürch S. The pulmonary surfactant system: Biological functions, components, physicochemical properties and alterations during lung disease. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 1996; 114:165-184.
- 8. Creuwels LAJM, van Golde LMG, Haagsman HP. The pulmonary surfactant system: Biochemical and clinical aspects. Lung 1997; 175:1-39.
- 9. Daniels CB, Orgeig S, Smits AW. The evolution of the pulmonary surfactant system. Physiol Zool 1995; 68:539-566.
- 10. Mason RJ, Nellenbogen J, Clements JA. Isolation of disaturated phosphatidylcholine with osmium tetroxide. J Lipid Res 1976; 17:281-284.
- 11. Holm BA, Wang Z, Egan EA et al.. Content of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine in lung surfactant: Ramifications for surface activity. Pediatr Res 1996; 39:805-811.

- 12. Yu S, Harding PGR, Smith N et al. Bovine pulmonary surfactant: chemical composition and physical properties. Lipids 1983; 18:522-529.
- 13. Khan MC, Anderson GJ, Anyan WR et al. Phophatidylcholine molecular species of calf lung surfactant. Am J Physiol 1995; 269: L567-L573.
- 14. Grathwohl C, Newman GE, Phizackerley PJR et al. Structural studies on lamellated osmiophilic bodies isolated from pig lung: ³¹P NMR results and water content. Biochim Biophys Acta 1979; 552:509-518.
- 15. Williams MC. Conversion of lamellar body membranes into tubular myelin in alveoli of fetal rat lungs. J Cell Biol 1977; 72:260-277.
- 16. Stratton CJ. The three-dimensional aspect of the mammalian lung surfactant myelin figure. Tissue Cell 1980; 9:285-300.
- 17. Sanders DL, Hassett RJ, Vatter AE. Isolation of lung lamellar bodies and their conversion to tubular myelin figures in vitro. Anat Rec 1980; 198:485-501.
- Benson BJ, Williams MC, Sueshi K et al. Role of calcium ions in the structure and function of pulmonary surfactant. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 793:18-27.
- 19. Goerke J, Gonzales J. Temperature dependence of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine monolayer stability. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:604-611.
- 20. Keough KMW. Physicochemical properties of surfactant lipids. Biochem Soc Trans 1985; 13:1081-1084.
- 21. Sen A, Hui S-W, Mosgrober-Anthony M et al. Localization of lipid exchange sites between bulk lung surfactant and surface monolayer: freeze fracture study. J Colloid Interface Sci 1988; 126:355-360.
- 22. Gross NJ, Narine KR. Surfactant subtypes of mice: Metabolic relationships and conversion in vitro. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67:414-421.
- 23. Drishnasamy S, Gross NJ, Teng AL et al. Lung "surfactant convertase" is a member of the carboxylesferase family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 235:180-184.
- 24. Bastacky J, Lee CYC, Goerke J et al. Alveolar lining layer is thin and continuous: Low-temperature scanning electron microscopy of normal rat lung. J Appl Physiol 1995; 79:1615-1628.
- 25. Schürch S, Goerke J, Clements JA. Direct determination of surface tension in the lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1976; 73:4698-4702.
- Schürch S, Goerke J, Clements JA. Direct determination of volume- and time-dependence of alveolar surface tension in excised lungs. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1978; 75:3417-3421.
- 27. Schürch S. Surface tension at low lung volumes: Dependence on time and alveolar size. Respir Physiol 1982; 48,339-355.
- 28. McMurchie EJ, Teubner JK, Gibson RA. Thermal phase transitions in sheep, rat, and rabbit surfactant lipids detected by differential scanning calorimetry. Comp Biochem Physiol 1983; 74A: 295-299.
- 29. Keough KMW, Farrell E, Cox M et al. Physical, chemical, and physiological characteristics of isolates of pulmonary surfactant from adult rabbits. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 1985; 63:1043-1051.
- 30. Gulik A, Tchoreloff P, Proust J. A conformation transition of lung surfactant lipids probably involved in respiration. Biophys J 1994; 67:1107-1112.
- 31. Brumm T, Naumann C, Sackmann E et al. Conformational changes of the lecithin headgroup in monolayers at the air/water interface. Eur Biophys J 1994; 23:289-295.
- 32. Albrecht O, Gruler H, Sackmann E. Polymorphism of phospholipid monolayers. J Physique 1978; 39:301-313.
- 33. Hildebran JN, Goerke J, Clements JA. Pulmonary surface film stability and composition. J Appl Physiol 1979; 47:604-611.
- 34. Goerke J, Gonzales J. Temperature dependence of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine stability. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:1108-1114.
- 35. Notter RH, Tabak SA, Mavis RD. Surface properties of binary mixtures of some pulmonary surfactant components. J Lipid Res 1980; 21:10-22.
- Notter RH, Holcomb S, Mavis RD. Dynamic surface properties of phosphatidylglyceroldipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine mixed films. Chem Phys Lipids 1980; 27:305-319.

- 37. Hawco MW, Davis PJ, Keough KMW. Lipid fluidity in lung surfactant: Monolayers of saturated and unsaturated lecithins. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:509-515.
- 38. Hawco MW, Coolbear KP, Davis PJ at al. Exclusion of fluid lipid during compression of monolayers of mixtures of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine with some other phosphtidylcholines. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 646:185-187.
- Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis M, Haagsman H, van Golde LMG et al. Characterization of lipid insertion into monomolecular layers mediated by lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Biochemistry 1991; 30:10965-10971.
- 40. Taneva S, Keough KMW. Calcium ions and interactions of pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C with phospholipids in spread monolayers at the air/water interface. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1236:185-195.
- 41. Schürch S, Bachofen H, Goerke J et al. A captive bubble method reproduces the in situ behavior of lung surfactant monolayers. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67:2389-2396.
- 42. Schürch S, Bachofen H, Goerke J et al. Surface properties of rat pulmonary surfactant studied with the captive bubble method: Adsorption, hysteresis, stability. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1103:127-136.
- 43. Tabak SA, Notter RH, Ultman JS et al. Relaxation effects in the surface pressure behavior of dipalmitoyl lecithin. J Colloid Interface Sci 1977; 60:117-125.
- 44. Clements JA. Functions of the alveolar lining. Am Rev Respir Dis 1977; 115:16S-71S.
- 45. Villalonga F. Surface chemistry of L-α-dipalmitoyl lecithin at the air-water interface. Biochim Biophys Acta 1968; 163:290-300.
- 46. Phillips MC, Hauser H. Spreading of solid glycerides and phospholipids at the air-water interface. J Colloid Interface Sci 1974; 49:31-39.
- 47. King RJ. The surfactant system of the lung. Fed Proc 1974; 33:2238-2247.
- Clements JA. Composition and properties of pulmonary surfactant. In: Ville CA, Ville DB, Zukerman J, eds. Respiratory Distress Syndrome. New York: Academic Press, 1973:77-98.
- 49. Gershfeld NL and Tajima K. Spontaneous formation of lecithin bilayers at the air-water interface. Nature 1979; 279 788-789.
- 50. Notter RH, Smith S, Taubold RD et al. Path dependence of adsorption behavior of mixtures containing dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine. Pediatr Res 1982; 16:515-519.
- 51. Notter RH, Finkelstein JN, Taubold RD. Comparative adsorption of natural lung surfactant, extracted phospholipids, and artificial mixtures. Chem Phys Lipids 1983; 33:67-80.
- 52. Fleming BD, Keough KMW. Surface respreading after collapse of monolayers containing major lipids of pulmonary surfactant. Chem Phys Lipids 1988; 49:81-86.
- 53. Keough KMW. Physical chemical properties of some mixtures of lipids and their potential for use in exogenous surfactants. Prog Respir Res 1984; 18:257-262.
- 54. Fleming BD, Raynor CM, Keough KMW. Some characteristics of monolayers of 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-phosphatidylglycerol with and without dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine during dynamic compression and expansion. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 732:243-250.
- 55. Fagan SM, Keough KMW. Models of pulmonary surfactant: Monolayers of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylinositol. Chem Phys Lipids 1988; 48:59-67.
- Wang Z, Hall SB, Notter RH. Dynamic surface activity of films of lung surfactant phospholipids, hydrophobic proteins, and neutral lipids. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:1283-1293.
- 57. Notter RH, Tabak SA, Mavis RD. Surface properties of binary mixtures of some pulmonary surfactant components. J Lipid Res 1980; 21:10-22.
- 58. Nag K, Rich N, Keough KMW. Interaction between dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol and phosphatidylcholine and calcium. Thin Solid Films 1994; 244:841-844.
- 59. Yu S-H, Harding PGR, Possmayer F. Artificial pulmonary surfactant. Potential role for hexagonal H_{II} phase in the formation of a surface-active monolayer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 776:37-47.
- 60. Perkins WR, Dause RB, Parente RA et al. Role of lipid polymorphism in pulmonary surfactant. Science 1996; 273:330-332.
- 61. Van Liempd JPJG, Boonman AAH, Demel RA et al. Nonselective squeeze-out of dioleoylphosphatidylcholine and dioleoylphosphatidylglycerol from binary mixed monolayers with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 897:495-501.

- 62. Boonman A, Machiels FHJ, Snik AFM et al. Squeeze-out from mixed monolayers of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and egg phosphatidylglycerol. J Colloid Interface Sci 1987; 120:456-468.
- 63. Pastrana-Rios B, Flach CR, Brauner JW et al. A direct test of the "squeeze-out" hypothesis of lung surfactant function. External reflection FT-IR at the air/water interface. Biochemistry 1994; 33:5121-5127.
- 64. Discher BM, Maloney KM, Schief WR et al. Lateral phase separation in interfacial films of pulmonary surfactant. Biophys J 1996; 71:2583-2590.
- 65. Nag K, Keough KMW. Epifluorescence microscopic studies of monolayers containing mixtures of dioleoyl and dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine. Biophys J 1993; 65:1019-1026.
- 66. Nag K, Pérez-Gil J, Ruano MLF et al. Phase transitions in films of lung surfactant at the air-water interface. Biophys J 1998; 74:2983-2995.
- 67. Suwabe A, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Calcium dependent association of surfactant protein A with pulmonary surfactant: Application to simple surfactant protein A purification. Arch Biochem Biophys 1996; 327:285-291.
- 68. Voss T, Eistetter H, Schäfer KP et al. Macromolecular organization of natural and recombinant lung surfactant protein SP28-36. Structural homology with the complement factor C1q. J Mol Biol 1988; 201:219-227.
- 69. Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D et al. Molecular structure of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D). J Biol Chem 1994; 269:17311-17319.
- 70. Hattori A, Kuroki Y, Katoh T et al. Surfactant protein A accumulating in the alveoli of patients with pulmonary alveolar proteinosis: Oligomeric structure and interaction with lipids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:608-619.
- 71. Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD, Ross GF et al. Altered surfactant function and structure in SP-A gene targeted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:9594-9599.
- 72. Nogee LM, deMello DE, Dehner LP et al. Deficiency of pulmonary surfactant protein B in congenital aveolar proteinosis. N Eng J Med 1993; 327:403- 410.
- 73. Nogee LM, Garrier G, Dietz HC et al. A mutation in the surfactant protein B gene responsible for fatal neonatal respiratory disease in multiple kindreds. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:1860-1863.
- 74. Ballard PL, Nogee LM, Beers MF et al. Partial deficiency of surfactant protein B in an infant with chronic lung disease. Pediatrics 1995; 96:1046-1052.
- 75. Clark JC, West SE, Bachurski CJ et al. Targeted disruption of the surfactant protein B gene disrupts surfactant homeostasis, causing respiratory failure in newborn mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:7794-7798.
- 76. King RJ, Clements JA. Surface active material from dog lung. II. Composition and physiological correlations. Am J Physiol 1972; 223:725-726.
- 77. King RJ, MacBeth MC. Physicochemical properties of diplamitoylphosphatidylcholine after interaction with an apolipoprotein of pulmonary surfactant. Biochim Biophys Acta 1979; 557:86-101.
- King RJ, MacBeth MC. Interaction of the lipid and protein constituents of pulmonary surfactant. Role of phosphatidylglycerol and calcium. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 647:159-168.
- 79. King RJ, Carmichael MC, Horowitz PM. Reassembly of lipid-protein complexes of pulmonary surfactant. Proposed mechanism of interaction. J Biol Chem 1983; 258:10672-10680.
- Kuroki Y, Akino T. Pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) specifically binds dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:3068-3073.
- 81. Childs RA, Wright JR, Ross GF et al. Specificity of lung surfactant protein SP-A for both the carbohydrate and the lipid moieties of certain neutral glycolipids. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:9972-9979.
- 82. Kuroki Y, Gasa S, Ogasawara Y et al. Binding of pulmonary surfactant protein A to galactosylceramide and asialo-GM₂. Arch Biochem Biophys 1992; 299:261-267.
- Taneva S, McEachren T, Stewart J et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A with phospholipids in spread monolayers at the air-water interface. Biochemistry 1995; 34:10279-10289.

- 84. Ruano M, Nag K, Worthman L-A et al. Differential partitioning of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A into regions of monolayers of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) and DPPC/dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol. Biophys J 1998; 74:1101-1109.
- 85. Haagsman HP, Sargeant T, Hauschka PV et al. Binding of calcium to SP-A, a surfactantassociated protein. Biochemistry 1990; 29:8894-8900.
- Ruano MLF, Miguel E, Pérez-Gil J et al. Comparison of lipid aggregation and self-aggregation activities of pulmonary surfactant protein A. Biochem J 1996; 313:683-689.
- Haagsman HP, Elfring RH, van Bael BLM et al. The lung lectin surfactant protein A aggregates phospholipid vesicles via a novel mechanism. Biochem J 1991; 275:273-276.
- Ross GF, Sawyer J, O'Connor T et al. Intermolecular cross-links mediate aggregation of phospholipid vesicles by pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A. Biochemistry 1991; 30:858-865.
- Ruano MLF, Miguel E, Pérez-Gil J et al. Comparison of lipid aggregation and self-aggregation activities of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein A. Biochem J 1996; 313:683-689.
- 90. Ross GF, Notter RH, Meuth J et al. Phospholipid binding and biophysical activity of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein (SAP)-35 and its non-collagenous COOH-terminal domains. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:14283-14291.
- 91. McLean LR, Lewis JE, Hagaman KA et al. Amphipathic α-helical peptides based on surfactant apoprotein SP-A. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993; 1166:31-38.
- 92. Ogasawara Y, McCormack FX, Mason RJ et al. Chimeras of surfactant proteins A and D identify the carbohydrate recognition domains as essential for phospholipid interaction. J Biol., Chem 1994; 269:29785-29792.
- 93. Kuroki Y, McCormack FX, Ogasawara Y et al. Epitope mapping for monoclonal antibodies functional domains of pulmonary surfactant protein A that interact with lipids. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:29793-29800.
- 94. Walther FJ, David-Cu R, Leung C et al. A synthetic segment of surfactant protein A: structure, in vitro surface activity, and in vivo efficacy. Pediatr Res 1996; 39:938-946.
- 95. Walker SR, Williams MC, Benson B. Immunocytochemical localization of the major surfactant apoproteins in type II cells, Clara cells, and alveolar macrophages of rat lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1986; 34:1137-1148.
- 96. Williams MC, Benson BJ. Immunochemical localization and identification of the major surfactant protein in adult rat lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1981; 29:291-305.
- 97. Voorhout WF, Veenendaal T, Haagsman HP et al. Surfactant protein A is localized at the corners of the pulmonary tubular myelin lattice. J Histochem Cytochem 1991; 39:1331-1336.
- 98. Suzuki Y, Fujita, Kogishi K. Reconstitution of tubular myelin from synthetic lipids and proteins associated with pig pulmonary surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:75-81.
- 99. Williams MC, Hawgood S, Hamilton RL. Changes in lipid structure produced by surfactant proteins SP-A, SP-B and SP-C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:41-50.
- 100. Poulain FR, Allen L, Williams MC et al. Effects of surfactant apolipoproteins on liposome structure: Implications for tubular myelin formation. Am J Physiol 1992; 262: L730-L739.
- 101. Veldhuizen RAW, Hearn SA, Lewis JF et al. Surface-area cycling of different surfactant preparations: SP-A and SP-B are essential for large aggregate integrity. Biochem J 1994; 300:519-524.
- 102. Veldhuizen RAW, Yao J-J, Hearn SA et al. Surfactant-associated protein A is important for mainstreaming surfactant large-aggregate forms during surface-area cycling. Biochem J 1996; 313:835-840.
- 103. Schürch S, Possmayer F, Cheng S et al. Pulmonary SP-A enhances adsorption and appears to induce surface sorting of lipid extract surfactant. Am J Physiol 1992; 263: L210-L218.
- 104. Yu S-H, Possmayer F. Effect of pulmonary surfactant protein A and neutral lipid on accretion and organization of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine in surface films. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:1278-1288.
- 105. Yu S-H, Possmayer F. Effect of pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) and calcium on the adsorption of cholesterol and film stability. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1211:350-358.
- 106. Cockshutt A, Weitz J, Possmayer F. Pulmonary surfactant-associated protein A enhances the surface activity of lipid extract surfactant and reverses inhibition by blood proteins in vitro. Biochemistry 1990; 29:8424-8429.

- 107. Yukitake K, Brown CL, Schlueter MA et al. Surfactant apoprotein A modifies the inhibitory effect of plasma proteins on surfactant activity in vivo. Pediatr Res 1995; 37:21-25.
- 108. Strayer DS, Herting E, Sun B et al. Antibody to surfactant protein A increases sensitivity of pulmonary surfactant to inactivation by fibrinogen in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:1116-1122.
- 109. Poulain FR, Chang R, Allen L et al. SP-D forms surface-active tubular aggregates of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine-phosphatidylinositol. Pediatr Res 1996; 39:346A.
- 110. Persson AV, Gibbons BJ, Shoemaker JD et al. The major glycolipid recognized by SP-D in surfactant is phosphatidylinositol. Biochemistry 1992; 31:12183-12189.
- 111. Ogasawara Y, Kuroki Y, Akino T. Pulmonary surfactant protein D specifically binds to phosphatidylinositol. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:21244-21249.
- 112. Kuroki Y, Gasa S, Ogasawara Y et al. Binding specificity of lung surfactant protein SP-D for glucosylceramide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992; 187:963-969.
- 113. Kishore U, Wang J-Y, Hoppe H-J et al. The α -helical neck region of human lung surfactant protein D is essential for the binding of the carbohydrate recognition domains to lipopolysaccharides and phospholipids. Biochem J 1996; 318:505-511.
- 114. Taneva S, Voelker DR, Keough KMW. Adsorption of pulmonary surfactant protein D to phospholipid monolayers at the air-water interface. Biochemistry 1997; 36:8173-8179.
- 115. Ogasawara Y, Voelker DR. The role of the amino-terminal domain and the collagenous region in the structure and the function of rat surfactant protein D. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:19052-19058
- 116. Phizackerley PJR, Town M-H, Newman GE. Hydrophobic proteins of lamellated osmiophilic bodies isolated from pig lung. Biochem J 1979; 183:731-736.
- 117. Suzuki Y, Nakai E, Ohkawa K. Experimental studies on the pulmonary surfactant. Reconstitution of surface-active material. J Lipid Res 1982; 23:53-61.
- 118. Johansson J, Curstedt T, Jörnvall H. Surfactant Protein B: Disulphide bridges, structural properties, and kringle similarities. Biochemistry 1991; 30:6917-6921.
- 119. Patthy L. Homology of the precursor of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein SP-B with prosaposin and sulfated glycoprotein 1. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:6035-6037.
- 120. Andersson M, Curstedt T, Jörnvall H et al. An amphipathic helical motif common to tumourolytic polypeptide NK-lysin and pulmonary surfactant polypeptide SP-B. FEBS Lett 1995; 362:328-332.
- 121. Vandenbussche G, Clercx A, Clercx M et al. Secondary structure and orientation of the surfactant protein SP-B in a lipid environment. A Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy study. Biochemistry 1992; 31:9169-9176.
- 122. Morrow MR, Pérez-Gil J, Simatos G et al. Pulmonary surfactant-associated protein SP-B has little effect on acyl chains in dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine dispersions. Biochemistry 1993; 32:4397-4402.
- 123. Pastrana-Rios B, Taneva S, Keough KMW et al. External reflection absorption infrared spectroscopy study of lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in phospholipid monolayers at the air/water interface. Biophys J 1995; 69:2351-2540.
- 124. Waring A, Taeusch W, Bruni R et al. Synthetic amphipathic sequences of surfactant protein-B mimic several physicochemical and in vivo properties of native pulmonary surfactant proteins. Peptide Res 1989; 2:308-313.
- 125. Whitsett JA, Baatz JE. Hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C: Molecular biology, structure and function. In: Robertson B, van Golde LLM, Batenburg JJ, eds. Pulmonary Surfactant: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Practice. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1992:55-75.
- 126. Cruz A, Casals C, Perez-Gil, J. Conformational flexibility of pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C, studied in aqueous organic solvents. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1255:68-76.
- 127. Simatos GA, Forward KB, Morrow MR et al. Interaction between perdeuterated dimyristoylphosphatidylcholine and low molecular weight pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C. Biochemistry 1990; 29:5807-5814.

- 128. Pastrana B, Mautone AJ, Mendelsohn R. Fourier transform infrared studies of secondary structure and orientation of pulmonary surfactant SP-C and its effect on the dynamic surface properties of phospholipids. Biochemistry 1991; 30:10058-10063.
- 129. Vandenbussche G, Clercx A, Curstedt T. Structure and orientation of the surfactant-associated protein C in a lipid bilayer. Eur J Biochem 1992; 203:201-209.
- 130. Johansson J, Szyperski T, Curstedt T et al. The NMR structure of the pulmonary surfactant-associated polypeptide SP-C in an apolar solvent contains a valyl-rich α -helix. Biochemistry 1994; 33:6015-6023.
- 131. Johansson J, Szyperski T, Wüthrich K. Pulmonary surfactant-associated polypeptide SP-C in lipid micelles: CD studies of intact SP-C and NMR secondary structure determination of depalmitoyl-SP-C(1-17). FEBS Lett 1995; 362:261-265.
- 132. Baatz JE, Smyth K, Whitsett JA et al. Structure and functions of a dimeric form of surfactant protein SP-C: A Fourier transform infrared and surfactometry study. Chem Phys Lipids 1992; 63:91-104.
- 133. Creuwels LAJM, Demel RA, van Golde LMG et al. Characterizaton of a dimeric canine form of surfactant protein C (SP-C). Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1254:326-332.
- 134. Takashi A, Fujiwara T. Proteolipid in bovine lung surfactant: Its role in surfactant function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1986; 135:527-532.
- 135. Tanaka Y, Takei T, Aiba T et al. Development of synthetic lung surfactants. J Lipid Res 1986; 27:475-485.
- 136. Yu S-H, Possmayer F. Reconstitution of surfactant activity by using the 6kDa apoprotein associated with pulmonary surfactant. Biochem J 1986; 236:85-89.
- 137. Whitsett JA, Ohning BL, Ross G et al. Hydrophobic surfactant-associated protein in whole lung surfactant and its importance for biophysical activity in lung surfactant extracts used for replacement therapy. Pediatr Res 1986; 20:460-467.
- 138. Wang Z, Gurel O, Baatz JE et al. Differential activity and lack of synergy of lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in interactions with phospholipids. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:1749-1760.
- 139. Taneva S, Keough KMW. Pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in spread monolayers at the air-water interface: III. Proteins SP-B plus SP-C with phospholipids in spread monolayers. Biophys J 1994; 66:1158-1166.
- 140. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis MA, Haagsman HP, van Golde LMG et al. Interaction of lipid vesicles with monomolecular layers containing lung surfactant proteins SP-B or SP-C. Biochemistry 1991; 30:8276-8281.
- 141. Baatz JE, Elledge B, Whitsett JA. Surfactant protein SP-B induces ordering at the surface of model membrane bilayers. Biochemistry 1990; 29:6714-6720.
- 142. Dico AS, Hancock J, Morrow MR et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B interacts similarly with dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol and dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine in phosphatidylglycerol mixtures. Biochemistry 1997; 36:4172-4177.
- 143. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis MA, van Eijk M, van Golde LMG et al. Lipid mixing is mediated by the hydrophobic surfactant protein SP-B but not by SP-C. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1110:45-50.
- 144. Creuwels LAJM, van Golde LMG, Haagsman HP. Surfactant protein B: Effects on lipid domain formation and intermembrane lipid flow. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1285:1-8.
- 145. Poulain FR, Nir S, Hawgood S. Kinetics of phospholipid membrane fusion induced by surfactant apoproteins A and B. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1278:169-175.
- 146. Shiffer K, Hawgood S, Haagsman HP et al. Lung surfactant proteins, SP-B and SP-C, alter the thermodynamic properties of phospholipid membranes: A differential calorimetric study. Biochemistry 1993; 32:590-597.
- 147. Pérez-Gil J, Casals C, Marsh D. Interactions of hydrophobic lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol bilayers studied by electron spin resonance spectroscopy. Biochemistry 1995; 34:3964-3971.
- 148. Taneva S, Keough KMW. Pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in spread monolayers at the air-water interface: I. Monolayers of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B and phospholipids. Biophys J 1994; 66:1137-1148.
- 149. Nag K, Taneva SG, Perez-Gil J et al. Combinations of fluorescently labelled pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in phospholipid films. Biophys J 1997; 72.:2638-2650.
- 150. Taneva SG, Keough KMW. Dynamic surface properties of pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C and their mixtures with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. Biochemistry 1994; 33:14660-14670.
- 151. Taneva S, Keough KMW. Cholesterol modifies the properties of surface films of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine plus pulmonary surfactant-associated protein B or C spread or adsorbed at the air-water interface. Biochemistry 1997; 36:912-922.
- 152. Revak SD, Merritt TA, Hallman M et al. The use of synthetic peptides in the formation of biophysically and biologically active pulmonary surfactants. Pediatr Res 1991; 29:460-465.
- 153. Baatz JE, Sarin V, Absolom DR et al. Effects of surfactant-associated protein SP-B synthetic analogs on the structure and surface activity of model membrane bilayers. Chem Phys Lipids 1991; 60:163-178.
- 154. Bruni R, Taeusch HW, Waring AJ. Surfactant protein B: Lipid interactions of synthetic peptides representing the amino-terminal amphiphathic domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88:7451-7455.
- 155. Krill SL, Gupta SL, Smith T. Pulmonary lung surfactant synthetic peptide concentrationdependent modulation of DPPC and POPG acyl chain order in a DPPC:POPG:palmitic acid lipid mixture. Chem Phys Lipids 1994; 71:47-59.
- 156. Revak S, Cochrane CG. Pulmonary surfactant protein B (SP-B): Structure-function relationships. Science 1991; 254:566-568.
- 157. Vincent JS, Revak SD, Cochrane CD et al. Interactions of model human pulmonary surfactants with a mixed phospholipid bilayer assembly: Raman spectroscopic studies. Biochemistry 1993; 32:8228-8238.
- 158. Gustafsson M, Vandenbussche G, Curstedt T et al. The 21-residue surfactant peptide (LysLeu₄)₄Lys(KL₄) is a transmembrane α-helix with a mixed nonpolar/polar surface. FEBS Lett 1996; 384:185-188.
- 159. Longo ML, Bisagno AM, Zasadzinski JAN et al. A function of lung surfactant protein SP-B. Science 1993; 261:453-456.
- 160. Lipp MM, Lee KYC, Zasadzinski JA et al. Phase and morphology changes in lipid monolayers induced by SP-B protein and its amino-terminal peptide. Science 1996; 273:1196-1199.
- 161. Waring A, Fan B, Nguyen T et al. Structure-function relationships of surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Prog Resp Res 1990; 25:343-346.
- 162. Morrow MR, Taneva S, Simatos GA et al. ²H NMR studies of the effect of pulmonary surfactant SP-C on the 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine headgroup: A model for transbilayer peptides in surfactant and biological membranes. Biochemistry 1993; 32:11338-11344.
- 163. Johansson J, Nilsson G, Strömberg R et al. Secondary structure and biophysical activity of synthetic analogues of the pulmonary surfactant polypeptide SP-C. Biochem J 1995; 307:535-541.
- 164. Creuwels LAJM, Demel RA, van Golde LMG et al. Effect of acylation on structure and function of surfactant protein C at the air-water interface. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 26752-26758.
- 165. Creuwels LAJM, Boer EH, Demel RA et al. Neutralization of the positive charges of surfactant protein C. Effects on structure and function. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:16225-16229.
- 166. Qanbar R, Possmayer F. On the surface activity of surfactant-associated protein C (SP-C): Effects of palmitoylation and pH. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1255:251-259.
- 167. Takei T, Hashimoto Y, Aiba T et al. The surface properties of chemically synthesized peptides analogous to human pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C. Biol Pharm Bull 1996; 19:1247-1253.
- 168. Hawgood S, Ogawa A, Yukitake K et al. Lung function in premature rabbits treated with recombinant human surfactant protein-C. Am J Crit Care Med 1996; 154:484-490.
- 169. Seeger W, Thede C, Günther A et al. Surface properties and sensitivity to protein-inhibition of a recombinant apoprotein C-based phospholipid mixture in vitro—comparison to natural surfactant. Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1081:45-52.

- 170. Günther A, Bleyl H, Seeger W. Apoprotein-based synthetic surfactants inhibit plasmic cleavage of fibrinogen in vitro. Am J Physiol 1993; 265: L186-L192.
- 171. Qanbar R, Cheng S, Possmayer F et al. Role of the palmitoylation of surfactant-associated protein C in surfactant film formation and stability. Am J Physiol 1996; 271: L572-L580.
- 172. Horowitz AD, Elledge B, Whitsett et al. Effects of lung surfactant proteolipid SP-C on the organization of model membrane lipids: A fluorescence study. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1107:44-54.
- 173. Post A, Nahmen AVV, Schmitt M et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein C containing lipid films at the air-water interface as a model for the surface of lung alveoli. Molec Memb Biol 1995; 12:93-99.
- 174. Dico A, Taneva S, Morrow MR et al. Effect of calcium on phospholipid interaction with pulmonary surfactant protein C. Biophys J 1997; submitted.
- 175. Horowitz AD, Baatz JE, Whitsett JA. Lipid effects on aggregation of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C studied by fluorescence energy transfer. Biochemistry 1993; 32:9513-9523.
- 176. Nag K, Perez-Gil J, Cruz A et al. Spontaneous formation of interfacial lipid-protein monolayers during adsorption from vesicles. Biophys J 1996; 71:1356-1363.
- 177. Perez-Gil J, Nag K, Taneva s et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C causes packing rearrangements of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine in spread monolayers. Biophys J 1992; 63:197-204.
- 178. Panaitov I, Ivanova T, Proust J et al. Effect of hydrophobic protein SP-C on structure and dilational properties of the model monolayers of pulmonary surfactant. Colloids Surfaces B: Biointerfaces 1996; 6:243-260.
- 179. Nag K, Perez-Gil J, Cruz A et al. Fluorescently labelled pulmonary surfactant protein C in spread phospholipid monolayers. Biophys J 1996; 71:246-256.
- 180. Von Nahmen A, Schenk M, Sieber M et al. The structure of a model pulmonary surfactant as revealed by scanning force microscopy. Biophys J 1997; 72:463-469.

Regulation of Surfactant Phospholipid Biosynthesis

Seamus A. Rooney

The goal of this chapter is to summarize information on the regulation of surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis. As discussed in chapter 1, lipids comprise about 90% of the total mass of surfactant and phospholipids account for the bulk of them. Phosphatidylcholine (PC) is by far the most abundant phospholipid in surfactant and its disaturated species (DSPC), principally dipalmitoyl PC, has a critical role in lowering surface tension. PC accounts for as much as 80% of the total phospholipid in surfactant preparations and at least half of that is disaturated.¹ Phosphatidylglycerol is the second most abundant phospholipid in surfactant and accounts for up to 10-12% of the total.¹

The major focus of this review is on the biochemical pathways of PC and DSPC biosynthesis and their regulation. Because of the early realization that lung immaturity with a consequent deficiency in surfactant synthesis is a major factor in the respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) in premature infants, much of the information on the regulation of surfactant phospholipid synthesis has been obtained in developing fetal lungs.²⁻⁵ Hormones, particularly glucocorticoids, have long been known to accelerate fetal lung maturation and to stimulate surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis, and studies on the influence of glucocorticoids on fetal lung have been instrumental in elucidating regulatory steps in surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis.²⁻⁸

The type II alveolar epithelial cell is the cellular source of surfactant phospholipids.^{2,9} The lipids are synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum, processed though the Golgi apparatus and stored in lamellar bodies from which they are ultimately secreted to the alveolar lumen.^{9,10} A general problem in studying surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis is that, although surfactant does have a unique phospholipid composition, it contains no unique lipids.¹ Surfactant is enriched in PC, DSPC and phosphatidylglycerol¹ but none of those lipids is unique to surfactant, as they are all found in nonsurfactant fractions of the lung¹¹ and type II cell.¹² Indeed, DSPC¹³ and phosphatidylglycerol^{14,15} are found in organs other than the lung, whereas PC is ubiquitous in mammalian cells. Hence it is difficult to specifically study the synthesis of surfactant-associated phospholipids. Measurement of substrate incorporation into phospholipids isolated from lamellar bodies or other surfactant-enriched fractions can give an indication of rates of surfactant synthesis. However, lamellar bodies themselves do not have the biosynthetic machinery necessary to synthesize phospholipids,² so that studies on enzyme activities, enzyme content or gene expression cannot be carried out on those organelles. Even studies on isolated type II cells do not specifically address surfactant phospholipid synthesis, as such cells synthesize lipids for incorporation into membranes and for cell signaling functions as well as for surfactant. Much information on

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing, edited by Seamus A. Rooney. ©1998 R.G. Landes Company.

the mechanism and regulation of PC and DSPC biosynthesis was obtained in developing fetal lung and few of those studies were carried out on isolated type II cells.²⁻⁸ Type II cells do not appear in fetal lung until relatively late in gestation¹⁶ when many of the developmental and hormonal-induced changes in surfactant synthesis have already occurred.¹⁷ In reality, it is not possible to distinguish between synthesis of membrane phospholipids and those associated with surfactant in most studies and the data must be interpreted accordingly.

Biochemical Pathways

The biochemical pathways of PC and phosphatidylglycerol biosynthesis are shown in Figure 2.1. PC is a glycerophosphatide consisting of a glycerol backbone, two fatty acids and a choline phosphate molecule. Phosphatidylglycerol has the same structure except that choline is replaced by a second glycerol moiety. The glycerol backbone arises from dihydroxyacetone phosphate, an intermediate in glycolysis. Dihydroxyacetone phosphate is first converted to 1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate by either of two pathways: initial reduction to glycerol-3-phosphate followed by acylation or initial acylation followed by reduction. Both pathways exist in the lung¹⁸ and take part in PC and phosphatidylglycerol biosynthesis in the type II cell.¹⁹ Addition of a second acyl group to 1-acylglycerol-3-phosphate results in the formation of 1,2-diacylglycerol-3-phosphate, phosphatidic acid, the first lipid intermediate in the pathway.

Phosphatidic acid occupies a central position in glycerolipid biosynthesis. Several nonlipid precursors can be incorporated into phospholipids during the synthesis of phosphatidic acid.¹ Glycerol is first metabolized to glycerol-3-phosphate in a reaction catalyzed by glycerol kinase. Glucose is similarly phosphorylated by hexokinase to the glycolytic intermediate glucose-6-phosphate. Degradation of glycogen by the action of glycogen phosphorylase leads to the formation of glucose-1-phosphate, which is converted to glucose-6-phosphate by the action of phosphoglucomutase. Fatty acids, which may be synthesized de novo in the lung (see subsequent section) or supplied from extrapulmonary sources, can be incorporated into phospholipids via the above listed acylation reactions as well as in subsequent reacylation steps.

PC and phosphatidylglycerol are synthesized from phosphatidic acid by different mechanisms (Fig. 2.1). In PC biosynthesis, phosphatidic acid is first dephosphorylated to a diacylglycerol by the action of phosphatidate phosphatase. The diacylglycerol is combined with cytidine diphosphocholine (CDPcholine) in a reaction catalyzed by cholinephosphotransferase to form PC. CDPcholine arises from choline after initial phosphorylation and subsequent transfer to cytidine triphosphate (CTP) in reactions catalyzed by choline kinase and choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase (CYT), respectively. Choline is essentially a vitamin that is obtained from dietary sources, often in the form of PC.²⁰

In the synthesis of phosphatidylglycerol, phosphatidic acid reacts with CTP to form CDPdiacylglycerol. This intermediate then reacts with glycerol-3-phosphate to form phosphatidylglycerophosphate, which is immediately dephosphorylated to phosphatidyl-glycerol.

DSPC may be synthesized by the above de novo mechanism as well as by remodeling of the 1-saturated-2-unsaturated molecular species. Although a substantial portion of DSPC in lung tissue²¹⁻²³ and type II cells²⁴ may be synthesized de novo, there is evidence that remodeling mechanisms exist in the lung and type II cells^{25,26} and account for synthesis of at least 50% of DSPC in type II cells.²⁷ As shown in Figure 2.1, there are at least two remodeling mechanisms. Both involve initial deacylation of de novo synthesized 1-saturated-2-unsaturated PC by the action of phospholipase A₂. The resulting 1-acyl-2-lyso-PC is then either reacylated with a saturated acyl-CoA or transacylated in a reaction in which two molecules of lyso-PC react to form one molecule each of PC and glycerophosphocholine.





All available evidence suggests that, of the two remodeling mechanisms, only the reacylation pathway is quantitatively important in the synthesis of lung DSPC.^{2,5} The phospholipase A_2 involved in the remodeling pathway is a calcium-independent enzyme with an acidic pH optimum that has recently been cloned.²⁸

Developmental and Hormone-Induced Changes in Lung Phospholipid Biosynthesis

There is a surge in surfactant production toward the end of gestation as the fetus prepares for extrauterine life. There is a 10-fold increase in the amount of surfactant phospholipid in lung lavage from fetal rabbits during the final 13% of gestation and an increase of similar magnitude in the first few days after birth.^{2,5} The postnatal increase is due to increased secretion in response to labor and ventilation (see chapter 7) but the prenatal increase is largely due to increased synthesis. There is a developmental increase in rates of substrate incorporation into PC and DSPC in the late gestation fetal lung and there are also developmental increases in the activities of enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of those and other surfactant phospholipids.^{2,5}

Developmental increases in the activities of many of the enzymes listed in Figure 2.1 were reported in the fetal lungs of several species late in gestation.⁵ However, with the exception of two enzymes, there are considerable inconsistencies between different studies, even among those conducted in the same species.⁵ The two enzyme activities that are consistently increased in late gestation fetal lung are CYT and fatty-acid synthase (FAS). CYT is involved in the de novo synthesis of PC (Fig. 2.1), whereas FAS is involved in the biosynthesis of long chain fatty acids. As discussed subsequently, CYT and FAS have pivotal roles in the regulation of surfactant PC biosynthesis.

CYT activity increases in fetal rat, rabbit, and mouse lung either at the end of gestation or immediately after birth.² Consistent with its involvement in the biosynthesis of surfactant PC, there is also a developmental increase in CYT activity in type II cells isolated from fetal rats²⁹ and that increase in activity is accompanied by increased enzyme mass and mRNA content.³⁰ The increase in CYT mRNA content in fetal type II cells is due to an increase in mRNA stability rather than increased transcription.³¹

De novo fatty acid biosynthesis, as determined by the rate of ³H₂O incorporation into fatty acids, increases in the lung during late fetal life.^{17,32} Starting from citrate, an intermediate in the citric acid cycle, long chain fatty acid biosynthesis is accomplished by just three enzymes: ATP-citrate lyase, acetyl-CoA carboxylase and FAS.^{6,33} ATP-citrate lyase converts citrate to acetyl-CoA, acetyl-CoA carboxylase converts acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA and FAS completes the process in a series of seven distinct biochemical reactions, the first six of which are repeated for the addition of each two-carbon unit. The increase in fatty acid biosynthesis in fetal lung appears to be largely due to increased expression of the FAS gene. FAS activity,³⁴⁻³⁶ mass³⁴ and mRNA content^{37,38} all increase developmentally in late gestation fetal lung and the time courses of the increase in de novo fatty acid biosynthesis and FAS activity are almost identical.³⁵ Developmental increases in the activities and/or mRNA levels of fetal lung ATP-citrate lyase^{37,38} and acetyl-CoA carboxylase^{32,36} have also been reported, but the increases in ATP-citrate lyase were much less pronounced than those in FAS,^{37,38} and the increases in acetyl-CoA carboxylase were not confirmed.^{35,38}

There is a developmental increase followed by a subsequent decrease in the amount of glycogen in fetal lung,⁵ and there are corresponding developmental changes in enzymes of glycogen synthesis and degradation.^{35,39,40} The temporal relationship between glycogen depletion and increased PC synthesis, which has also been reported in isolated fetal type II cells,⁴¹ led to speculation that glycogen provides substrate or energy for surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis in the fetal lung.⁴² A direct relationship between glycogen depletion and in-

creased phospholipid synthesis has not been proved, however. Indeed the reciprocal relationship that exists between fetal lung glycogen content and PC biosynthesis also exists between glycogen and fatty acid biosynthesis,¹⁷ so that glycogen is just as likely to provide substrate or energy for the biosynthesis of fatty acids as for that of phospholipids.

Lung maturation and surfactant production in the fetus can be accelerated by a number of hormones and growth factors.^{2,4,5,7} Glucocorticoids were the first hormones reported to stimulate fetal lung surfactant production⁵ and they are used clinically to prevent RDS in premature human infants.⁴ Glucocorticoids accelerate all parameters of surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis. Such parameters include increased surfactant phospholipid content, increased synthesis of PC and DSPC, increased activities of CYT and FAS and acceleration of the normal developmental profile of glycogen content.⁵ In addition to CYT and FAS, glucocorticoids have also been reported to increase the activities of other phospholipid biosynthetic enzymes, but, as in the case of normal development, many such reports were often not confirmed.^{2,5} The stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids are directly on the fetal lung. Glucocorticoid receptors exist in the lung and the type II cell and stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids have been demonstrated in explants of fetal lung in organ culture as well as in intact animals in vivo.⁵ However, the stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids are very modest in fetal^{43,44} and adult⁴⁵ type II cells, so it appears that the effect of glucocorticoids on surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis is an indirect effect on the type II cells mediated by mesenchymal factors, possibly from fibroblasts.7,9,44,46,47

Other hormones, growth factors and cytokines that have been reported to accelerate parameters of surfactant production in fetal lung include thyroid hormone,^{2,4,5,7} thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH),^{4,5} estrogen,^{2,4,5,7} prolactin,^{2,4,5,7} parathyroid hormone,⁴⁸ epidermal growth factor (EGF)^{5,49-51} and keratinocyte growth factor.⁵² Effects of estrogen are largely confined to the rabbit, whereas the effects of prolactin have not generally been confirmed,^{4,5,7} The stimulatory effect of thyroid hormone is a consistent finding in several species, and maternal administration of TRH, a tripeptide that readily crosses the placenta and increases fetal thyroid hormone production,⁴ has been used clinically in combination with glucocorticoids to prevent RDS.⁵³⁻⁵⁶ Thyroid hormone² and estrogen² stimulate CYT activity in fetal lung, and EGF has a similar effect in the newborn.⁵⁷ However, the mechanism by which other agents stimulate surfactant phospholipid production has not been established.

Regulation of Phospholipid Biosynthesis

Two enzymes have major roles in the regulation of PC biosynthesis in the lung, particularly during late fetal development. The enzymes are CYT (EC 2.7.7.15) and FAS (EC 2.3.1.85).

Choline-Phosphate Cytidylyltransferase (CYT)

CYT, the enzyme that catalyzes formation of CDPcholine from choline phosphate and CTP (Fig. 2.1), is a rate-regulatory enzyme in PC biosynthesis in all systems examined,⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ including the lung.^{2,5} Consistent with a rate-regulatory role for CYT, the size of the choline phosphate pool is larger than that of choline or CDPcholine in both whole lung and type II cells.⁶¹⁻⁶³ Pulse-chase studies with radiolabeled choline have also established that the choline phosphate pool is larger than that of the other choline compounds in the pathway.⁶³⁻⁶⁵

Altered CYT activity invariably accompanies altered PC biosynthesis^{58,60} and the developmental increase in PC biosynthesis in developing fetal lung is accompanied by increased CYT activity.^{2,5} Glucocorticoids, thyroid hormone and estrogen, hormones that increase fetal lung PC biosynthesis,^{2,5} also increase CYT activity in fetal rat, rabbit, mouse and human lung.⁶⁶⁻⁷¹ Such data are consistent with a major rate-regulatory role for CYT in lung PC biosynthesis. As noted above, developmental and hormone-induced increases in the

activities of other enzymes of PC biosynthesis have also been reported but such effects are not consistent. However, the possibility that enzymes other than CYT may also have regulatory roles, at least in some circumstances, cannot be excluded.⁵⁹

The mechanism by which CYT activity is increased in response to glucocorticoids in fetal lung has been extensively investigated. The glucocorticoid induced increase in CYT activity is a direct effect on the lung as it is apparent in fetal lung explants treated with the hormone in culture^{67,69,70} as well as in lung tissue^{66,67,71} and isolated type II cells⁷² from fetuses whose mothers were injected with the hormone in vivo. Glucocorticoids generally act by binding to a cytosolic receptor that is translocated to the nucleus where it binds to regulatory regions of genes thereby promoting expression of the gene and synthesis of new mRNA and protein. The increase in CYT activity in fetal lung in response to dexamethasone is mediated by the glucocorticoid receptor, as the dissociation constant (K_d) for dexamethasone binding to the nuclear receptor is identical to the concentration eliciting 50% of its maximum effect (EC₅₀) on CYT activation.⁷³ In addition, the potency order of steroids in binding to the receptor and in stimulating CYT are the same.73 The time course of glucocorticoid stimulation of CYT activity is consistent with that of new protein synthesis, as the increase does not become detectable until about 20 hours after addition of dexamethasone to explants of fetal lung74 or to mixed fetal lung cells in culture.75 The stimulatory effects of glucocorticoid on both PC synthesis and CYT activity are abolished by actinomycin D,73 an inhibitor of transcription, and the effect on CYT activity is strongly antagonized by cycloheximide, an inhibitor of protein synthesis.75 The latter data are again consistent with the effect of CYT being due to increased mRNA and protein synthesis.

The above data are consistent with the stimulatory effect of CYT being due to increased gene expression. However, all available evidence suggests that expression of the CYT gene is not increased by glucocorticoids in fetal lung and that the stimulatory effect of the hormone is due to activation of existing enzyme rather than synthesis of new CYT. The amount of CYT protein, as measured by immunotitration69 and immunoblotting,71 is not increased by glucocorticoids in fetal rat lung. CYT mRNA levels are not increased by glucocorticoids in lung tissue and type II cells from fetuses of pregnant rats injected with dexamethasone in vivo³¹ or in fetal lung explants⁷⁶ and fetal type II cells⁴⁴ cultured with glucocorticoids. CYT activity can be increased several fold by inclusion of phosphatidylglycerol and other lipids in the assay mixture,68,77 and when fetal lung CYT is assayed in the presence of sufficient lipid to achieve maximum activation in vitro the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoids is considerably reduced or completely abolished. 67,69,71,73,74 As the lipids would be expected to activate any newly synthesized CYT just as much as existing enzyme, those data strongly suggest that it is the catalytic activity rather than the amount of CYT that is increased by glucocorticoids. It is likely that other hormones that stimulate CYT activity also activate existing enzyme rather than increase expression of the CYT gene, as the stimulatory effects of thyroid hormone⁶⁷ and estrogen^{61,68,78} on CYT activity in fetal lung are also abolished by inclusion of lipids in the in vitro assay and the increase in CYT activity in response to EGF in newborn rat lung is not accompanied by an increase in enzyme mass.⁵⁷

CYT activity in fetal lung cytosol is markedly decreased by extraction of lipids with solvents that do not cause protein denaturation.^{68,71} Lipid extraction under the same conditions completely abolishes the stimulatory effects of betamethasone in the rat⁷¹ and of estrogen in the rabbit.⁶⁸ CYT activity and the stimulatory effects of the hormones are fully restored on readdition of the appropriate lipid extract.^{68,71} Such data establish that the stimulatory effects of those hormones are mediated by a lipid factor(s). Free fatty acids⁷⁹ as well as a number of phospholipids^{68,77,80} are known to activate CYT activity in vitro. Betamethasone elevates the levels of a number of phospholipids and fatty acids in fetal rat lung.⁷¹ Estrogen also increases phospholipid levels in fetal rabbit lung but its effect on fatty acids has not

been examined.⁶⁸ As discussed in detail below, glucocorticoids enhance fatty acid biosynthesis and increase expression of the FAS gene in the late gestation fetal lung. Inhibition of fatty acid biosynthesis in fetal rat lung explants completely abolished the stimulatory effect of dexamethasone on CYT activity.⁷⁴ That suggests that the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoids on CYT activity in fetal lung is mediated by induction of the FAS gene. Whether the effect of the hormone is mediated by free fatty acids, by lipids into which they become incorporated or possibly by other fatty acid metabolites is not clear at present. The fact that linoleic acid is the fatty acid that was increased to the greatest extent by betamethasone in fetal rat lung and the same fatty acid was the most effective in activating CYT in vitro led to the suggestion that glucocorticoid stimulation of fetal lung CYT activity is mediated by linoleic acid.⁸¹ However, linoleic acid is an essential fatty acid that is not synthesized by mammals and that must be provided from nutritional sources. It is consequently difficult to reconcile the notions that glucocorticoid activation of CYT is mediated by both induction of FAS and by linoleic acid. In summary, although there is compelling evidence that the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoids on CYT activity is mediated by endogenous lipid(s), the precise nature of the activator(s) remains to be established.

CYT is an ambiguitous enzyme in that it is found in more than one subcellular compartment. CYT exists in the cell cytosol and has also been reported in a number of membrane fractions including endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus and nucleus.⁵⁹ The precise subcellular distribution is controversial. Some distribution differences may be due to technical considerations, but there also may be tissue to tissue variation.^{82,83} There is evidence that activation of CYT in many systems is due to translocation of the enzyme from a relatively inactive cytosolic form to a microsomal fraction where it is activated.^{2,59} In the fetal lung,² however, and in a number of other systems,⁵⁹ activation of CYT is not mediated by subcellular translocation. The stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids on fetal lung CYT activity in the rat⁷³ and of estrogen in the rabbit⁶⁸ are not accompanied by translocation of the enzyme from cytosol to microsomes. In most studies, the stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids and estrogen are entirely on cytosolic CYT with little increase in microsomal activity.^{68,70,71,73} In some studies, however, the stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids were observed in the microsomes alone⁷² or in both cytosol and microsomes.⁷⁵ However, the increased microsomal CYT activity was not accompanied by a decrease in cytosolic activity^{72,75} and cannot therefore be attributed to translocation. Cytosolic CYT in the lung has been reported to exist in an inactive low molecular weight form and in an active high molecular form.⁸⁴ In some studies, glucocorticoid stimulation of cytosolic CYT was accompanied by a change form low to high molecular size forms71,81 and that process was also mimicked by fatty acids.⁸⁵ Recently, specific amino acid residues have been reported to be essential in mediating association of CYT with membranes.⁸⁶ Deletion or mutation of such regions of the CYT molecule led to altered enzyme activity and PC biosynthesis in A549 and L-2 lung epithelial cell lines.⁸⁶ However, it has not been established if such regions of the CYT molecule or association of CYT with membranes have any role in the developmental or hormonal regulation of CYT activity in developing fetal lung.

Despite the fact that there is no evidence of increased CYT mass^{69,71} or mRNA content^{31,76} in fetal lung in response to hormones, the possibility of increased expression of the CYT gene cannot be completely discounted. Although the stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids and other hormones were largely eliminated when the CYT assay was carried out under conditions of maximum in vitro activation,^{66-69,71,73,74} small increases in activity remained in a number of glucocorticoid studies^{66,69,71,73-75} and were sometimes statistically significant.^{66,73,75} Indeed, the increase in CYT activity in response to dexamethasone in human fetal lung explants was more pronounced, and only significant when phosphatidylglycerol was included in the assay mixture.⁷⁰ An approximately 30% increase in CYT mRNA content was reported in fetal rat type II cells exposed to both cortisol and fibroblastconditioned medium.⁴⁴ However, CYT activity was not measured, so it is unclear if such a small increase in mRNA level is meaningful as, in a subsequent study from the same laboratory, dexamethasone did not increase CYT mRNA content in lung explants.⁷⁶ In contrast to hormonal stimulation, it is clear that the normal developmental increase in CYT activity in fetal type II cells is due to increased gene expression, as the amounts of CYT protein and mRNA are correspondingly increased.³⁰

Fatty-Acid Synthase (FAS)

FAS catalyzes the synthesis of long chain fatty acids from acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA. The reaction involves a series of seven distinct biochemical steps, the first six of which are repeated for the addition of each two-carbon unit to the growing fatty acid chain. In animals, the 16-carbon fatty acid, palmitic acid, is the usual product of the FAS reaction. In prokaryotes and plants the seven reactions are carried out by separate, loosely associated proteins, but in animals and yeast they are carried out by single multifunctional proteins.^{87,88} Animal FAS (EC 2.3.1.85) is a homodimer (Mr approximately 570,000) of two identical subunits, whereas yeast FAS (EC 2.3.1.86) is an $\alpha_6\beta_6$ multimer (M_r approximately 2.3 x 10⁶) of two nonidentical polypeptides each of which have Mr of approximately 200,000.87,88 Animal FAS is encoded by a single gene that is 18 kilobases (kb) in the rat,^{88,89} ~19 kb in the human⁹⁰ and 50 kb in the goose.⁹¹ The rat FAS gene contains 43 exons from which two equally abundant mRNAs, a consequence of two different polyadenylation signals, are transcribed.^{88,89,92,93} Two mRNAs are also transcribed in goose^{91,94} and chicken⁹⁵ but there is only one transcript in some species,96,97 including humans.90,98 The FAS gene has been localized to chromosome 17q in the human^{98,99} and to syntenic distal chromosome 11 in the mouse.98

Fatty acids are integral components of glycerophosphatides and consequently key substrates in the synthesis of surfactant lipids. It is clear that fetal and adult lungs have the ability to synthesize fatty acids de novo.⁶ However, fatty acids can also be supplied via the blood^{6,8} and the relative importance of the two sources in the provision of fatty acids for surfactant synthesis is not known. As there is little blood supply to the lungs during fetal life, it is likely that de novo synthesis is of quantitative importance at that stage of development. That notion is supported by the findings, discussed in a previous section, of a developmental increase in the rate of de novo fatty acid biosynthesis in fetal lung at the time of increased surfactant synthesis.^{17,32} However, the most compelling evidence for the importance of fatty acids in surfactant PC biosynthesis in fetal lung is the finding that the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoids on activation of CYT is completely abolished by inhibition of fatty acid biosynthesis.⁷⁴

The developmental increase in the rate of fatty acid synthesis is accompanied by increased FAS activity and increased expression of the FAS gene,³⁴⁻³⁸ with relatively little or inconsistent changes in the activities and expression of ATP-citrate lyase and acetyl-CoA carboxylase,^{32,35-38} the other two enzymes involved in de novo fatty acid biosynthesis. Glucocorticoids stimulate the rate of ³H₂O incorporation into fatty acids in developing fetal rat,¹⁷ rabbit¹⁰⁰ and human¹⁰¹ lung. As in the case of normal development, the increase in de novo fatty acid biosynthesis in response to glucocorticoids is also due to increased FAS activity. Glucocorticoids increase FAS activity in fetal rat^{35,38,102} and human¹⁰¹ lung but they do not increase the activities of ATP-citrate lyase³⁸ or acetyl-CoA carboxylase.³⁵ Taken together, the above data suggest that FAS has a pivotal role in the regulation of surfactant PC biosynthesis in fetal lung.

The glucocorticoid effect is directly on the lung, as increased fatty acid biosynthesis and FAS activity occur in cultured fetal lung explants^{38,100,101} as well in lung slices from

fetuses whose mothers are injected with glucocorticoid in vivo.^{17,35} It is clear that the effect is mediated by the glucocorticoid receptor as the EC₅₀ (0.5 to 1.5 nM) for stimulation of fatty acid biosynthesis,¹⁰⁰ and FAS activity^{101,102} is similar to or less than the K_d for nuclear receptor binding. In addition, the potency order of steroids in stimulating FAS activity and in binding to the receptor are the same.^{101,102} Maximum stimulation of FAS activity is not achieved until 20-30 hours after exposure of fetal rat lung explants to dexamethasone,^{74,102} and the effect of the hormone is abolished by actinomycin D.¹⁰² Such data suggest that the glucocorticoid effect is due to increased mRNA and protein synthesis. In contrast to CYT, there is convincing evidence that the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoid on FAS activity is indeed due to increased expression of the FAS gene. In fact, FAS is the only gene for a lipogenic enzyme in fetal lung that has been shown to be induced by glucocorticoids.

Immunotitration¹⁰² and immunoblotting¹⁰³ established that dexamethasone increases the amount of FAS in fetal rat lung. The increase in FAS activity and mass are both approximately 2-fold.¹⁰³ Glucocorticoids also increase FAS mRNA content in both fetal rat^{38,76} and human¹⁰⁴ lung explants. As in the case of enzyme activities, glucocorticoids do not increase ATP-citrate lyase or acetyl-CoA carboxylase mRNA levels in fetal rat lung.^{38,76} There is a biphasic increase in FAS mRNA content in response to dexamethasone in fetal rat lung, an early increase that is maximal (almost 3-fold) 5 hours after addition of the hormone followed by a later increase of similar magnitude that reaches a plateau after 28 hours.³⁸ The early increase is antagonized by actinomycin D, suggesting that it is due to increased transcription.³⁸ However, the later increase cannot be attributed to increased transcription, as it is not antagonized by actinomycin D.38 Nuclear run-on assays confirmed that glucocorticoids do indeed increase transcription of the FAS gene in fetal rat lung.¹⁰³ The increase in the rate of transcription is maximal 1 hour after addition of the hormone and is still apparent for at least 48 hours. The rate of transcription of the FAS gene¹⁰³ and the amount of FAS mRNA^{38,103,105} are both maximally increased 2- to 3-fold by the hormone. Glucocorticoids also increase FAS mRNA stability.¹⁰⁵ The apparent half-life of FAS mRNA in fetal rat lung is about 4 hours and it is increased 84% by dexamethasone.¹⁰⁵ These data establish that glucocorticoids increase expression of the FAS gene in developing fetal lung. The increased expression occurs by two mechanisms: an increase in the rate of gene transcription and an increase in the stability of the mRNA transcripts.

Increased FAS activity is also due to increased gene expression in all other systems examined. There are no indications that the enzyme is subject to short term regulation by covalent modification, metabolites or other allosteric factors. Expression of the FAS gene in liver and adipose tissue is regulated by developmental^{106,107} and nutritional factors.^{33,108-110} Gene expression is also increased by insulin¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ and thyroid hormone^{107,111,114} and decreased by adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate (cAMP),^{96,114,115} glucagon^{114,115} and growth hormone^{97,116} in liver and fat cells and increased by progesterone¹¹⁷ and androgens¹¹⁸ in breast and prostate cancer cells, respectively. Most increases in expression of the FAS gene are due to increased transcription,³³ although increased FAS mRNA stability, both with^{107,111,117} and without¹⁰⁹ increased transcription, has also been reported. In one study, increased FAS synthesis was attributed to increased translation, as mRNA levels were not increased.¹¹⁹

Apart from the fetal lung, there are few reports of glucocorticoid regulation of FAS gene expression in other tissues. Corticosterone was reported to enhance the thyroid hormone-induced increase in FAS mRNA content in chick hepatocytes.¹²⁰ In rat hepatocytes, on the other hand, dexamethasone alone was reported to increase FAS gene expression but to decrease the effect of thyroid hormone.¹²¹ Dexamethasone was reported to enhance the stimulatory effect of insulin in hepatocytes¹²⁰ but to antagonize it in adipose tissue.¹¹⁵ Dexamethasone increased chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) expression in several tissues

of transgenic mice transfected with the 2.1 kb 5' flanking promoter region of the FAS gene fused with the CAT reporter gene.¹²² The greatest increase was in white adipose tissue, followed by liver, and the increase was also apparent in the lung.¹²²

The molecular mechanisms by which hormones and other factors regulate transcription of the FAS gene have recently been investigated.¹²³⁻¹³⁴ The DNA sequences (cis-acting elements) responsible for the regulatory effects of insulin,¹²³⁻¹²⁷ cAMP^{128,129} and nutrients¹³⁰⁻¹³² have been identified. The sequence 68 to 52 base pairs (bp) in the 5' flanking region upstream of the transcription start site (-68 bp to -52 bp) is responsive to insulin¹²⁴ and the -99 bp to -92 bp sequence to cAMP.¹²⁸ Nutrient responsive sequences are within 300-500 bp upstream or downstream of the transcription start site.^{125,130,131} Information on nuclear proteins (trans-acting elements) that bind to the DNA is also becoming available.^{126,129,133,134}

There is little information on the cis- and trans-acting elements responsible for glucocorticoid regulation of FAS transcription. The 5' end and flanking region of the rat,^{89,135} human¹³⁶ and goose⁹¹ FAS genes contain several sequences that may be involved in transcriptional regulation. In particular, one half of the glucocorticoid response element (GRE) consensus sequence is located at -422 bp in the rat gene⁸⁹ and there are also tentative GREs in the first intron.^{89,135} Putative GREs have also been identified in the human¹³⁶ and goose⁹¹ FAS genes. To identify functional GREs or other glucocorticoid responsive regions, we transiently transfected A549 cells with chimeric constructs consisting of serial deletions of the -1592 bp to +67 bp region of the rat FAS gene ligated to the firefly luciferase reporter gene.¹³⁷ Dexamethasone increased luciferase gene expression in response to all constructs as much as 2-fold. The full effect of the hormone was retained in response to the -33 bp to +56 bp fragment, suggesting that this region has an important role in glucocorticoid stimulation of FAS gene expression.¹³⁸ Further studies are required to identify the precise DNA sequence responsible for the glucocorticoid effect, as well as trans-acting factors that bind to it.

Future Directions

In recent years the major emphasis in studies on surfactant biosynthesis has been on the protein components and the lipids have been less studied. That is largely due to the fact that the surfactant protein genes were cloned earlier than those involved in lipid biosynthesis. Molecular approaches to regulation of expression of the surfactant protein genes have long been feasible. However, it is important to emphasize that the lipids, particularly PC and DSPC, are the major components of surfactant and are critical for its function in reducing surface tension at the alveolar surface (see chapter 1). A complete understanding of the mechanisms regulating synthesis of surfactant lipids is essential in order to prevent and/or treat RDS and other lung diseases resulting from surfactant deficiency.

Much is known about regulation of PC biosynthesis, particularly in the developing fetal lung. However a number of outstanding questions remain to be answered. It is clear that fatty acid biosynthesis has a critical role in the glucocorticoid regulation of CYT activity. However, the mechanism by which CYT activity is regulated and whether it is activated by free fatty acids, lipids into which they become incorporated or possibly other fatty acid metabolites needs to be established. Do other hormones and/or agents used in the prevention of RDS stimulate CYT activity in the same manner as glucocorticoids? Do such agents increase expression of the CYT gene? How is expression of the CYT gene regulated during normal development? Do fatty acids have a role in regulation of CYT in adult lung and, if so, is expression of the FAS gene involved in the process? How is FAS gene transcription stimulated by glucocorticoids? What cis-active regions of the gene are involved and do transactive proteins other than the glucocorticoid receptor play a role? How is FAS mRNA stability increased by glucocorticoids? How important is de novo fatty acid synthesis in the lung

versus supply by the blood in the provision of substrate for surfactant biosynthesis? Are enzymes other than CYT involved in the regulation of surfactant synthesis? Addressing those and related questions will lead to a more comprehensive understanding of the regulation of surfactant phospholipid biosynthesis.

Acknowledgment

Work in the author's laboratory was supported by a grant (HL-43320) from the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute.

References

- 1. Rooney SA. Phospholipid composition, biosynthesis, and secretion. In: Parent RA, ed. Comparative Biology of the Normal Lung. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1992:511-544.
- 2. Rooney SA. The surfactant system and lung phospholipid biochemistry. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 131:439-460.
- 3. Ballard PL. Hormonal regulation of pulmonary surfactant. Endocrine Rev 1989; 10:165-181.
- 4. Kresch MJ, Gross I. The biochemistry of fetal lung development. Clin Perinatol 1987; 14:481-507.
- 5. Rooney SA. Regulation of surfactant-associated phospholipid synthesis and secretion. In: Polin RA, Fox WW, eds. Fetal and Neonatal Physiology 2nd edition. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1998; 1283-1299.
- 6. Rooney SA. Fatty acid biosynthesis in developing fetal lung. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L195-L201.
- 7. Post M, van Golde LMG. Metabolic and developmental aspects of the pulmonary surfactant system. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 947:249-286.
- Batenburg JJ. Surfactant phospholipids: Synthesis and storage. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L367-L385.
- 9. van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, Robertson B. The pulmonary surfactant system: Biochemical aspects and functional significance. Physiol Rev 1988; 68:374-455.
- 10. Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994; 8:957-967.
- 11. Rieutort M, Farrell PM, Engle MJ et al. Changes in surfactant phospholipids in fetal rat lungs from normal and diabetic pregnancies. Pediatr Res 1986; 20:650-654.
- 12. Crecelius CA, Longmore WJ. Phosphatidic acid phosphatase activity in subcellular fractions derived from adult rat lung type II pneumocytes in primary culture. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 750:447-456.
- 13. Mason RJ. Disaturated lecithin concentration of rabbit tissues. Am Rev Respir Dis 1973; 107:678-679.
- 14. Hostetler KY. Polyglycerophospholipids: Phosphatidylglycerol, diphosphatidylglycerol and bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate. In: Hawthorne JN, Ansell GB, eds. Phospholipids. Amsterdam: Elsevier Biomedical, 1982:215-261.
- 15. Hatch GM, Cao SG, Angel A. Decrease in cardiac phosphatidylglycerol in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats does not affect cardiolipin biosynthesis: Evidence for distinct pools of phosphatidylglycerol in the heart. Biochem J 1995; 306:759-764.
- 16. Adamson IYR, King GM. Sex related differences in cellular composition and surfactant synthesis of developing fetal rat lungs. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984; 129:130-134.
- 17. Rooney SA, Gobran LI, Chu AJ. Thyroid hormone opposes some glucocorticoid effects on glycogen content and lipid synthesis in developing fetal rat lung. Pediatr Res 1986; 20:545-550.
- 18. Fisher AB, Huber GA, Furia L et al. Evidence for lipid synthesis by the dihydroxyacetone phosphate pathway in rabbit lung subcellular fractions. J Lab Clin Med 1976; 87:1033-1040.
- 19. Mason RJ. Importance of the acyl dihydroxyacetone phosphate pathway in the synthesis of phosphatidylglycerol and phosphatidylcholine in alveolar type II cells. J Biol Chem 1978; 253:3367-3370.
- 20. Zeisel SH, Blusztajn JK. Choline and human nutrition. Annu Rev Nutr 1994; 14:269-296.

- 21. Ide H, Weinhold PA. Cholinephosphotransferase in rat lung. In vitro formation of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and general lack of selectivity using endogenously generated diacylglycerols. J Biol Chem 1982; 257:14926-14931.
- 22. Rustow B, Kunze D, Rabe H et al. The molecular species of phosphatidic acid, diacylglycerol and phosphatidylcholine synthesized from sn-glycerol 3-phosphate in rat lung microsomes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 835:465-476.
- 23. van Heusden GPH, van den Bosch H. Utilization of disaturated and unsaturated phosphatidylcholine and diacylglycerols by cholinephosphotransferase in rat lung microsomes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1982; 711:361-368.
- 24. Post M, Schuurmans EAJM, Batenburg JJ et al. Mechanisms involved in the synthesis of disaturated phosphatidylcholine by alveolar type II cells isolated from adult rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 750:68-77.
- 25. Casals C, Acebal C, Cruz-Alvarez M et al. Lysolecithin:lysolecithin acyltransferase from rabbit lung: Enzymatic properties and kinetic study. Arch Biochem Biophys 1982; 217:422-433.
- 26. van Heusden GPH, van den Bosch H. Comparison of acyl-CoA:lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase and lysophosphatidylcholine:lysophosphatidylcholine transacylase activity in various mammalian lungs. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 666:508-511.
- 27. Fisher AB, Dodia C. Role of acidic Ca²⁺-independent phospholipase A₂ in synthesis of lung dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L238-L243.
- 28. Kim T-S, Sundaresh CS, Feinstein SI et al. Identification of a human cDNA clone for lysosomal type Ca²⁺-independent phospholipase A₂ and properties of the expressed protein. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:2542-2550.
- Zimmermann LJ, Hogan M, Carlson KS et al. Regulation of phosphatidylcholine synthesis in fetal type II cells by CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L575-L580.
- 30. Hogan M, Zimmermann LJ, Wang J et al. Increased expression of CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase in maturing type II cells. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L25-L32.
- Hogan M, Kuliszewski M, Lee W et al. Regulation of phosphatidylcholine synthesis in maturing type II cells: Increased mRNA stability of CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase. Biochem J 1996; 314:799-803.
- 32. Maniscalco WM, Finkelstein JN, Parkhurst AB. De novo fatty acid synthesis in developing rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1982; 711:49-58.
- 33. Hillgartner FB, Salati LM, Goodridge AG. Physiological and molecular mechanisms involved in nutritional regulation of fatty acid synthesis. Physiol Rev 1995; 75:47-76.
- 34. Das DK. Fatty acid synthesis in fetal lung. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1980; 92:867-875.
- 35. Pope TS, Rooney SA. Effects of glucocorticoid and thyroid hormones on regulatory enzymes of fatty acid synthesis and glycogen metabolism in developing fetal rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 918:141-148.
- 36. Batenburg JJ, den Breejen JN, Geelen MJH et al. Phosphatidylcholine synthesis in type II cells and regulation of the fatty acid supply. Prog Respir Res 1990; 25:96-103.
- 37. Batenburg JJ, Whitsett JA. Levels of mRNAs coding for lipogenic enzymes in rat lung upon fasting and refeeding and during perinatal development. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1006:329-334.
- 38. Xu ZX, Stenzel W, Sasic SM et al. Glucocorticoid regulation of fatty acid synthase gene expression in fetal rat lung. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L140-L147.
- 39. Maniscalco WM, Wilson CM, Gross I et al. Development of glycogen and phospholipid metabolism in fetal and newborn rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1978; 530:333-346.
- 40. Bhavnani BR. Ontogeny of some enzymes of glycogen metabolism in rabbit fetal heart, lungs, and liver. Can J Biochem Cell Biol 1983; 61:191-197.
- 41. Carlson KS, Davies P, Smith BT et al. Temporal linkage of glycogen and saturated phosphatidylcholine in fetal lung type II cells. Pediatr Res 1987; 22:79-82.
- 42. Farrell PM, Bourbon JR. Fetal lung surfactant lipid synthesis from glycogen during organ culture. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 878:159-167.

- 43. Post M, Torday JS, Smith BT. Alveolar type II cells isolated from fetal rat lung organotypic cultures synthesize and secrete surfactant-associated phospholipids and respond to fibroblast-pneumonocyte factor. Exp Lung Res 1984; 7:53-65.
- 44. Batenburg JJ, Elfring RH. Pre-translational regulation by glucocorticoid of fatty acid and phosphatidylcholine synthesis in type II cells from fetal rat lung. FEBS Letts 1992; 307:164-168.
- 45. Post M, Batenburg JJ, van Golde LMG. Effects of cortisol and thyroxine on phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylglycerol synthesis by adult rat lung alveolar type II cells in primary culture. Biochim Biophys Acta 1980; 618:308-317.
- 46. Smith BT, Post M. Fibroblast-pneumonocyte factor. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L174-L178.
- 47. MacDonald JIS, Possmayer F. Stimulation of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis in mouse MLE-12 type-II cells by conditioned medium from cortisol-treated rat fetal lung fibroblasts. Biochem J 1995; 312:425-431.
- 48. Rubin LP, Kifor O, Hua J et al. Parathyroid hormone (PTH) and PTH-related protein stimulate surfactant phospholipid synthesis in rat fetal lung, apparently by a mesenchymal-epithelial mechanism. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1223:91-100.
- 49. Sen N, Cake M. Enhancement of disaturated phosphatidylcholine synthesis by epidermal growth factor in cultured fetal lung cells involves a fibroblast-epithelial cell interaction. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 5:337-343.
- 50. Plopper CG, St. George JA, Read LC et al. Acceleration of alveolar type II cell differentiation in fetal rhesus monkey lung by administration of EGF. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L313-L321.
- 51. Goetzman BW, Read LC, Plopper CG et al. Prenatal exposure to epidermal growth factor attenuates respiratory distress syndrome in rhesus infants. Pediatr Res 1994; 35:30-36.
- 52. Ikegami M, Jobe AH, Havill AM. Keratinocyte growth factor increases surfactant pool sizes in premature rabbits. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:155-1158.
- 53. Moya FR, Gross I. Combined hormone therapy for the prevention of respiratory distress syndrome and its consequences. Sem Perinatol 1993; 17:267-274.
- 54. Ballard RA, Ballard PL, Creasy RK et al. Respiratory disease in very-low-birthweight infants after prenatal thyrotropin-releasing hormone and glucocorticoid. Lancet 1992; 339:510-515.
- 55. Ballard RA, Ballard PL, Cnaan A et al. Thyrotropin-releasing hormone for prevention of neonatal respiratory distress. Lancet 1995; 345:1572.
- 56. Crowther CA, Hiller JE, Haslam RR et al. Australian collaborative trial of antenatal thyrotropin-releasing hormone: Adverse effects at 12-month follow up. Pediatrics 1997; 99:311-317.
- 57. Mallampalli RK, Salome RG, Hunninghake GW. Epidermal growth factor is a positive in vivo regulator of CTP:choline phosphate cytidylyltransferase. Exp Lung Res 1994; 20:1-11.
- 58. Kent C. Regulation of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis. Prog Lipid Res 1990; 29:87-105.
- 59. Kent C. Eukaryotic phospholipid biosynthesis. Annu Rev Biochem 1995; 64:315-343.
- 60. Tijburg LBM, Geelen MJH, van Golde LMG. Regulation of the biosynthesis of triacylglycerol, phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine in the liver. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1004:1-19.
- 61. Possmayer F, Casola PG, Chan F et al. Hormonal induction of pulmonary maturation in the rabbit fetus. Effects of maternal treatment with estradiol-17β on the endogenous levels of cholinephosphate, CDP-choline and phosphatidylcholine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 664:10-21.
- 62. Post M, Batenburg JJ, Smith BT et al. Pool sizes of precursors for phosphatidylcholine formation in adult rat lung type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 795:552-557.
- 63. Tokmakjian S, Possmayer F. Pool sizes of the precursors for phosphatidylcholine synthesis in developing rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 666:176-180.
- 64. Post M, Batenburg JJ, Schuurmans EAJM et al. The rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of phosphatidylcholine by alveolar type II cells from adult rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1982; 712:390-394.

- 65. Post M, Batenburg JJ, van Golde LMG et al. The rate-limiting reaction in phosphatidylcholine synthesis by alveolar type II cells isolated from fetal rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 795:558-563.
- 66. Brehier A, Rooney SA. Phosphatidylcholine synthesis and glycogen depletion in fetal mouse lung. Exp Lung Res 1981; 2:883-890.
- 67. Gross I, Dynia DW, Wilson CM et al. Glucocorticoid-thyroid hormone interactions in fetal rat lung. Pediatr Res 1984; 18:191-196.
- 68. Chu AJ, Rooney SA. Stimulation of cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase activity by estrogen in fetal rabbit lung is mediated by phospholipids. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 834:346-356.
- 69. Rooney SA, Smart DA, Weinhold PA et al. Dexamethasone increases the activity but not the amount of choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase in fetal rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1044:385-389.
- 70. Sharma AK, Gonzales LW, Ballard PL. Hormonal regulation of cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase in human fetal lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993; 1170:237-244.
- 71. Mallampalli RK, Walter ME, Peterson MW et al. Betamethasone activation of CTP:cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase in vivo is lipid dependent. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:48-57.
- 72. Post M. Maternal administration of dexamethasone stimulates choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase in fetal type II cells. Biochem J 1987; 241:291-296.
- 73. Rooney SA, Dynia DW, Smart DA et al. Glucocorticoid stimulation of choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase activity in fetal rat lung: Receptor-response relationships. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 888:208-216.
- 74. Xu ZX, Smart DA, Rooney SA. Glucocorticoid induction of fatty-acid synthase mediates the stimulatory effect of the hormone on choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase activity in fetal rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1044:70-76.
- 75. Viscardi RM, Weinhold PA, Beals TM et al. Cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase in fetal rat lung cells: Activity and subcellular distribution in response to dexamethasone, triiodothyronine, and fibroblast-conditioned medium. Exp Lung Res 1989; 15:223-237.
- 76. Fraslon C, Batenburg JJ. Pre-translational regulation of lipid synthesizing enzymes and surfactant proteins in fetal rat lung in explant culture. FEBS Letts 1993; 325:285-290.
- 77. Feldman DA, Rounsifer ME, Weinhold PA. The stimulation and binding of CTP:phosphorylcholine cytidylyltransferase by phosphatidylcholine-oleic acid vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 429:429-437.
- 78. Khosla SS, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Stimulation of phosphatidylcholine synthesis by 17βestradiol in fetal rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1980; 617:282-290.
- 79. Feldman DA, Brubaker PG, Weinhold PA. Activation of CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase in rat lung by fatty acids. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 665:53-59.
- 80. Feldman DA, Kovac CR, Dranginis PL et al. The role of phosphatidylglycerol in the activation of CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase from rat lung. J Biol Chem 1978; 253:4980-4986.
- 81. Mallampalli RK, Salome RG, Li CH et al. Betamethasone activation of CTP:cholinephosphate cytidylyltransferase is mediated by fatty acids. J Cell Physiol 1995; 162:410-421.
- 82. Houweling M, Cui Z, Anfuso CD et al. CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase is both a nuclear and cytoplasmic protein in primary hepatocytes. Eur J Cell Biol 1996; 69:55-63.
- 83. Wang Y, Sweitzer TD, Weinhold PA et al. Nuclear localization of soluble CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:5899-5904.
- 84. Feldman DA, Rounsifer ME, Charles L et al. CTP:phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase in rat lung: Relationship between cytosolic and membrane forms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1045:49-57.
- 85. Mallampalli RK, Salome RG, Hunninghake GW. Lung CTP:choline-phosphate cytidylyltransferase: Activation of cytosolic species by unsaturated fatty acid. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L158-L163.

- 86. Yang J, Wang J, Tseu I et al. Identification of an 11-residue portion of CTP-phosphocholine cytidylyltransferase that is required for enzyme-membrane interactions. Biochem J 1997; 324:29-38.
- 87. Wakil SJ, Stoops JK, Joshi VC. Fatty acid synthesis and its regulation. Annu Rev Biochem 1983; 52:537-579.
- Smith S. The animal fatty acid synthase: One gene, one polypeptide, seven enzymes. FASEB J 1994; 8:1248-1259.
- 89. Beck KF, Schreglmann R, Stathopulos I et al. The fatty acid synthase (FAS) gene and its promoter in *Rattus norvegicus*. DNA Sequence-J DNA Sequence and Mapping 1992; 2:359-386.
- 90. Jayakumar A, Tai MH, Huang WY et al. Human fatty acid synthase: Properties and molecular cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:8695-8699.
- 91. Kameda K, Goodridge AG. Isolation and partial characterization of the gene for goose fatty acid synthase. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:419-426.
- 92. Amy CM, Witkowski A, Naggert J et al. Molecular cloning and sequencing of cDNAs encoding the entire rat fatty acid synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86:3114-3118.
- 93. Amy CM, Williams-Ahlf B, Naggert J et al. Intron-exon organization of the gene for the multifunctional animal fatty acid synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992; 89:1105-1108.
- 94. Back DW, Goldman MJ, Fisch JE et al. The fatty acid synthase gene in avian liver. Two mRNAs are expressed and regulated in parallel by feeding, primarily at the level of transcription. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:4190-4197.
- 95. Swierczynski J, Mitchell DA, Reinhold DS et al. Triiodothyronine-induced accumulations of malic enzyme, fatty acid synthase, acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase, and their mRNAs are blocked by protein kinase inhibitors. Transcription is the affected step. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:17459-17466.
- 96. Paulauskis JD, Sul HS. Cloning and expression of mouse fatty acid synthase and other specific mRNAs. Developmental and hormonal regulation in 3T3-L1 cells. J Biol Chem 1988; 263: 7049-7054.
- 97. Mildner AM, Clarke SD. Porcine fatty acid synthase: cloning of a complementary DNA, tissue distribution of its mRNA and suppression of expression by somatotropin and dietary protein. J Nutr 1991; 121:900-907.
- 98. Semenkovich CF, Coleman T, Fiedorek FT. Human fatty acid synthase mRNA: Tissue distribution, genetic mapping, and kinetics of decay after glucose deprivation. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:1507-1521.
- 99. Jayakumar A, Chirala SS, Chinault AG et al. Isolation and chromosomal mapping of genomic clones encoding the human fatty acid synthase gene. Genomics 1994; 23:420-424.
- 100. Maniscalco WM, Finkelstein JN, Parkhurst AB. Dexamethasone increases de novo fatty acid synthesis in fetal rabbit lung explants. Pediatr Res 1985; 19:1272-1277.
- 101. Gonzales LW, Ertsey R, Ballard PL et al. Glucocorticoid stimulation of fatty acid synthesis in explants of human fetal lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1042:1-12.
- 102. Pope TS, Smart DA, Rooney SA. Hormonal effects on fatty-acid synthase in cultured fetal rat lung; induction by dexamethasone and inhibition of activity by triiodothyronine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 959:169-177.
- 103. Xu ZX, Viviano CJ, Rooney SA. Glucocorticoid stimulation of fatty-acid synthase gene transcription in fetal rat lung: Antagonism by retinoic acid. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L683-L690.
- 104. Gonzales LW, Ballard PL, Gonzales J. Glucocorticoid and cAMP increase fatty acid synthetase mRNA content in human fetal lung explants. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1215:49-58.
- 105. Xu ZX, Rooney SA. Glucocorticoids increase fatty-acid synthase mRNA stability in fetal rat lung. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L860-L864.
- 106. Iritani N, Fukuda H, Matsumura Y. Lipogenic enzyme gene expression in rat liver during development after birth. J Biochem 1993; 113:519-525.
- 107. Moustaid N, Sul HS. Regulation of expression of the fatty acid synthase gene in 3T3-L1 cells by differentiation and triiodothyronine. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:18550-18554.

- 108. Iritani N. Nutritional and hormonal regulation of lipogenic-enzyme gene expression in rat liver. Eur J Biochem 1992; 205:433-442.
- 109. Semenkovich CF, Coleman T, Goforth R. Physiologic concentrations of glucose regulate fatty acid synthase activity in HepG2 cells by mediating fatty acid synthase mRNA stability. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:6961-6970.
- 110. Girard J, Perdereau D, Foufelle F et al. Regulation of lipogenic enzyme gene expression by nutrients and hormones. FASEB J 1994; 8:36-42.
- 111. Katsurada A, Iritani N, Fukuda H et al. Effects of nutrients and hormones on transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of fatty acid synthase in rat liver. Eur J Biochem 1990; 190:427-433.
- 112. Paulauskis JD, Sul HS. Hormonal regulation of mouse fatty acid synthase gene transcription in liver. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:574-577.
- 113. Teruel T, Valverde AM, Benito M et al. Insulin-like growth factor I and insulin induce adipogenic-related gene expression in fetal brown adipocyte primary cultures. Biochem J 1996; 319:627-632.
- 114. Stapleton SR, Mitchell DA, Salati LM et al. Triiodothyronine stimulates transcription of fatty acid synthase gene in chick embryo hepatocytes in culture. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor amplify that effect. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:18442-18446.
- 115. Foufelle F, Gouhot B, Perdereau D et al. Regulation of lipogenic enzyme and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene expression in cultured white adipose tissue. Glucose and insulin effects are antagonized by cAMP. Eur J Biochem 1994; 223:893-900.
- 116. Donkin SS, McNall AD, Swencki BS et al. The growth hormone-dependent decrease in hepatic fatty acid synthase mRNA is the result of a decrease in gene transcription. J Mol Endocrinol 1996; 16:151-158.
- 117. Joyeux C, Rochefort H, Chalbos D. Progestin increases gene transcription and mRNA stability of fatty acid synthetase in breast cancer cells. Mol Endocrinol 1989; 3:681-686.
- 118. Swinnen JV, Esquenet M, Goossens K et al. Androgens stimulate fatty acid synthase in the human prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. Cancer Res 1997; 57:1086-1090.
- 119. Wilson SB, Back DW, Morris SM et al. Hormonal regulation of lipogenic enzymes in chick embryo hepatocytes in culture. Expression of the fatty acid synthase gene is regulated at both translational and pretranslational steps. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:15179-15182.
- 120. Roncero C, Goodridge AG. Regulation of the malic enzyme and fatty acid synthase genes in chick embryo hepatocytes in culture: Corticosterone and carnithine regulate responsiveness to triiodothyronine. Arch Biochem Biophys 1992; 295:258-267.
- 121. Fukuda H, Katsurada A, Iritani N. Nutritional and hormonal regulation of mRNA levels of lipogenic enzymes in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. J Biochem 1992; 111:25-30.
- 122. Soncini M, Yet SF, Moon Y et al. Hormonal and nutritional control of the fatty acid synthase promoter in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:30339-30343.
- 123. Moustaid N, Sakamoto K, Clarke S et al. Regulation of fatty acid synthase gene transcription. Sequences that confer a positive insulin effect and differentiation-dependent expression in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes are present in the 332 bp promoter. Biochem J 1993; 292:767-772.
- 124. Moustaid N, Beyer RS, Sul HS. Identification of an insulin response element in the fatty acid synthase promoter. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:5629-5634.
- 125. Wolf SS, Hofer G, Beck KF et al. Insulin-responsive regions of the rat fatty acid synthase gene promoter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 203:943-950.
- 126. Wang D, Sul HS. Upstream stimulatory factors bind to insulin response sequence of the fatty acid synthase promoter. USF1 is regulated. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:28716-28722.
- 127. Misra S, Sakamoto K, Moustaid N et al. Localization of sequences for the basal and insulin-like growth factor-I inducible activity of the fatty acid synthase promoter in 3T3-L1 fibroblasts. Biochem J 1994; 298:575-578.
- 128. Rangan VS, Oskouian B, Smith S. Indentification of an inverted CCAAT box motif in the fatty-acid synthase gene as an essential element for mediation of transcriptional regulation by cAMP. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:2307-2312.

- 129. Roder K, Wolf SS, Beck KF et al. NF-Y binds to the inverted CCAAT box, an essential element for cAMP-dependent regulation of the rat fatty acid synthase (FAS) gene. Gene 1997; 184:21-26.
- 130. Roder K, Klein H, Kranz H et al. The tripartite DNA element responsible for diet-induced rat fatty acid synthase (FAS) regulation. Gene 1994; 144:189-195.
- 131. Foufelle F, Lepetit N, Bosc D et al. DNase I hypersensitivity sites and nuclear protein binding on the fatty acid synthase gene: Identification of an element with properties similar to known glucose-responsive elements. Biochem J 1995; 308:521-527.
- 132. Magana MM, Osborne TF. Two tandem binding sites for sterol regulatory element binding proteins are required for sterol regulation of fatty-acid synthase promoter. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:32689-32694.
- 133. Fukuda H, Iritani N, Noguchi T. Transcriptional regulatory regions for expression of the rat fatty acid synthase. FEBS Letts 1997; 406:243-248.
- 134. Rolland V, Le Liepvre X, Jump DB et al. A GC-rich region containing Sp1 and Sp1-like binding sites is a crucial regulatory motif for fatty acid synthase gene promoter activity in adipocytes. Implication in the overactivity of FAS promoter in obese Zucker rats. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:21297-21302.
- 135. Amy CM, Williams-Ahlf B, Naggert J et al. Molecular cloning of the mammalian fatty acid synthase gene and identification of the promoter region. Biochem J 1990; 271:675-679.
- 136. Hsu MH, Chirala SS, Wakil SJ. Human fatty-acid synthase gene. Evidence for the presence of two promoters and their functional interaction. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:13584-13592.
- 137. Lu Z, Gu Y, Rooney SA. Glucocorticoid regulation of the fatty acid synthase (FAS) gene. FASEB J 1997; 11:A558.
- 138. Lu Z, Gu Y, Rooney SA. Fatty acid synthase (FAS) gene minimal promoter and glucocorticoid regulatory sequences. FASEB J 1997; 11:A939.

The Surfactant Protein A Gene and Its Regulation

Carole R. Mendelson, Pampee P Young, Laura F. Michael, Erwei Gao and Joseph L. Alcorn

S urfactant protein (SP)-A, the major pulmonary surfactant-associated protein, is a sialoglycoprotein ($M_r \approx 29$ -36,000) synthesized primarily in alveolar type II cells.¹ A number of functions have been ascribed to it. SP-A binds strongly to surfactant glycerophospholipids² and acts in the presence of calcium and SP-B to promote the structural transformation of the lamellar body to tubular myelin.^{3,4} SP-A also acts in a cooperative and calcium-dependent manner with the hydrophobic surfactant-associated proteins SP-B and SP-C to promote the rapid formation of phospholipid surface films and thus facilitates the reduction of alveolar surface tension⁵ (see chapter 1). Through calcium-dependent binding to specific high affinity receptors on the surface of type II cells, SP-A has been reported to mediate reutilization of secreted surfactant components^{6,7} (see chapter 8), and to inhibit surfactant secretion.^{8,9} Secreted SP-A also may serve a bacteriocidal function in lung by facilitating bacterial killing through its binding to and activation of alveolar macrophages¹⁰⁻¹² (see chapter 9).

In mice rendered SP-A deficient by targeted gene disruption, secreted surfactant contains decreased numbers of tubular myelin figures, and at low surfactant concentrations, minimum surface tensions are elevated as compared to surfactant of wild type animals.¹³ Despite these differences, perinatal survival of SP-A -/- mice is similar to wild type. Upon infection with group B streptococcus by tracheal instillation, SP-A -/- mice have increased pulmonary infiltration of the bacteria, with dissemination to the spleen and decreased association of the bacteria with macrophages as compared to wild type mice.¹⁴

SP-A gene transcription is initiated in fetal lung after ~70% of gestation is completed, and reaches maximal levels just prior to birth.¹⁵ Temporal regulation of SP-A gene expression is more closely associated with the induction of surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis and appearance of identifiable type II cells than is the developmental regulation of genes encoding SP-B, SP-C and SP-D. Studies from a number of laboratories suggest that SP-A gene expression in fetal lung is under multifactorial control; we have observed that glucocorticoids and agents that increase cyclic AMP (cAMP) play important roles in its regulation.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ In this chapter, we will first briefly consider SP-A structure, followed by a more comprehensive review of the SP-A genes and the mechanisms of regulation.

Structure of SP-A

The primary structure of SP-A is highly conserved among species and is comprised of 247-248 amino acids (see ref. 1 for review). A hydrophobic amino-terminal signal sequence

is presumably cleaved upon insertion of the protein into the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum. However, in attempts to obtain the sequence of the amino-terminus of rabbit SP-A, we were unable to obtain meaningful data, suggesting that the amino-terminus could be blocked. Floros and colleagues¹⁹ also suggested that the signal peptide may not be cleaved. SP-A has four distinct structural domains; a short amino-terminal domain, a collagen-like sequence comprised of 24 Gly-X-Y repeats (where Y is frequently proline) that is interrupted once at its mid-position,¹⁹ a largely hydrophobic neck region and a carboxyterminal carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) that comprises approximately one-half of the protein.²⁰ The CRD is highly similar to the carboxyterminal globular domains of a number of mammalian C-type lectins, such as mannose-binding protein which also has an aminoterminal collagen-like region.²¹ Depending on the species, there are one or two consensus sites for N-linked oligosaccharide addition; the site that is conserved in SP-A of all species is present within the CRD. The other glycosylation site is present at the extreme amino-terminus. As in the case of collagen, the Gly-X-Y repeats of SP-A form a triple helix. Post-translational modifications of SP-A include potential cleavage of the signal peptide, formation of interchain disulfide bonds at the amino-terminus, hydroxylation of proline residues within the collagen-like domain and addition of N-linked oligosaccharide sidechains containing sialic acid residues. Within the alveolus, SP-A exists as an octadecamer comprised of six triple helical structures (18 polypeptide chains) with a molecular weight of approximately 700,000.²² This high molecular weight aggregate of SP-A, which is due both to sulfhydryland nonsulfhydryl-dependent interactions, has been likened to a flower bouquet.

Structure of the SP-A Gene

SP-A exists as a single-copy gene in rabbits,^{23,24} rats²⁵ and mice.²⁶ In contrast, humans possess two transcribed SP-A genes (SP-A1 and SP-A2)^{19,20,27,28} and an SP-A pseudogene in their genomes.²⁹ Those three genes, together with the genes encoding SP-D and the mannose-binding protein C-type lectins, are localized in the same region of human chromosome 10.³⁰ By use of primer extension and reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) amplification of 5'-cDNA ends (RACE), we found that a major difference between the two human SP-A (hSP-A) genes lies in their exon-intron organization; *h*SP-A2 mRNA transcripts are always comprised of sequences contained within 6 exons, while the majority of transcripts of the *hSP-A1* gene are comprised of sequences contained within 5 exons.²⁸ The unique exon of the *h*SP-A2 gene (exon II of VI) is a 30 base pair (bp) sequence which encodes additional 5'-untranslated region of the mRNA.

The baboon, like the human, also contains two highly similar SP-A genes in its genome.³¹ This finding suggests that duplication of the SP-A gene occurred more than 26.5 million years ago, prior to the time that ancestral catarrhini diverged into the old world monkeys (baboons and macaques) on the one hand and into the gibbons, great apes and man on the other.³² The SP-A proteins encoded by the two baboon SP-A genes are 97.2% identical at the amino acid level (242 out of 249 amino acids are identical). This represents a higher degree of similarity than that which exists between the two human SP-A proteins (95.6%; 238 out of 249 amino acids are identical). Since the platyrrhini, or new world monkeys, and the catarrhini diverged from ancestral anthropoids more than 40 million years ago,³² it will be of interest to determine whether new world monkeys such as marmosets, owl, wooly and squirrel monkeys³³ possess one or two SP-A genes. We named the two baboon genes baboon SP-A1 (bSP-A1) and bSP-A2, because by comparison of 5'-flanking and intronic sequences with the human SP-A genes, one is more similar to hSP-A1 and the other to hSP-A2. SP-A mRNA transcripts encoded by the bSP-A1 gene are comprised of sequences contained within either 5 or 6 exons. However, the mRNA transcripts encoded by the bSP-A2 gene are comprised of sequences contained within only 5 exons. This is in contrast to the human, in which mRNA transcripts of the *h*SP-*A1* gene are encoded by sequences contained within 5 exons whereas mRNA transcripts of the *h*SP-*A2* gene are encoded by sequences present in 6 exons.²⁸

Regulation of SP-A Gene Expression in Fetal Lung

Tissue and Cellular Localization of Expression

Expression of the SP-A gene is essentially lung-specific.²³ However, low levels of SP-A expression have been reported in intestinal epithelium³⁴ and in a phospholipid-rich layer recovered from rat and human colon.³⁵ The results of in situ hybridization studies indicate that SP-A gene expression within the lung occurs primarily in alveolar type II cells,³⁶ and to a lesser extent in nonciliated bronchiolar epithelial (Clara) cells of proximal and distal airways.³⁷⁻³⁸ In second trimester human fetal lung, SP-A and its mRNA also have been detected in nonmucous tracheal glands, in bronchial glands and in isolated cells of conducting airway epithelium.³⁹

Developmental Regulation

Expression of the SP-A gene is developmentally regulated in fetal lung tissue. SP-A gene expression is initiated after ~75-80% of gestation is completed in all mammalian species thus far studied; in this respect, the developmental induction of SP-A expression is more closely linked to surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis than is expression of any of the genes encoding the other surfactant-associated proteins. SP-A gene transcription is first discernible in fetal rabbit lung tissue on day 24 of gestation and reaches maximum levels by day 28.40 This increase in SP-A gene transcription is associated with the appearance of SP-A and its mRNA on day 26,16,40,41 just prior to the time at which augmented surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis occurs. In situ hybridization analysis of fetal rabbit lung tissue at different developmental stages revealed that SP-A mRNA is first detectable in type II cells on day 26 of the 31 day gestation period; by day 31, SP-A mRNA transcripts are also detectable in Clara cells.^{37,38} In rats, SP-A and SP-A mRNA are first detectable on day 18 of gestation (term = day 22); the levels increase markedly through day 21 to approximately 50% of adult levels, decline moderately during the first week of life and then increase to adult levels by day 28.42 In human fetal lung tissue, SP-A and its mRNA are undetectable at 16-20 weeks of gestation.^{43,44} Immunoreactive SP-A is detectable in amniotic fluid at 30 weeks gestation and increases further during development in association with the increase in the ratio of lecithin to sphingomyelin (L/S).⁴⁵

Organ culture provides a convenient model system for study of developmental and hormonal regulation of SP-A gene expression in fetal lung; the preservation of tissue architecture and appropriate cellular interactions appear to be essential for the initiation and maintenance of type II pneumonocyte differentiation.^{46,47} Lung explants from midgestation human abortuses^{48,49} and 19- or 21-day fetal rabbits⁵⁰ differentiate spontaneously when placed in organ culture in serum-free, defined medium. Before culture, the tissue is comprised of small ducts surrounded by abundant connective tissue; the ductular epithelial cells are columnar, filled with cytoplasmic glycogen, and contain no lamellar bodies. Within 4 days of organ culture, the ducts enlarge, the amount of connective tissue decreases and the epithelium differentiates into recognizable type II cells containing lamellar bodies.⁴⁸ These changes in morphology are associated with an induction of SP-A mRNA and protein which are undetectable in the fetal lung prior to culture.^{16,41} cAMP analogs enhance the rate of enlargement of the prealveolar ducts and of type II cell differentiation in midgestation human fetal lung explants.¹⁷ cAMP also increases expression of the SP-A gene in rabbit, baboon and human fetal lung tissue in organ culture (see below).

Multifactorial Regulation

SP-A gene expression in fetal lung is regulated by a number of hormones and other factors including glucocorticoids, agents that increase cellular levels of cAMP, retinoids, insulin, growth factors, cytokines and activators of protein kinase C (PKC). Glucocorticoids and other hormones and factors that increase intracellular levels of cAMP have marked effects on SP-A gene expression in lung explants of the rabbit, baboon and second trimester human fetus.

Retinoids

Retinoids are well recognized as embryonic morphogens and as regulators of epithelial cell differentiation. In cultured human fetal lung, retinoic acid causes a dose-dependent decrease in SP-A mRNA levels, as well as a decrease in epithelium volume density and a corresponding increase in volume density of connective tissue. In contrast, retinoic acid causes a dose-dependent increase in SP-B mRNA levels although it inhibits SP-C gene expression, but only at the highest concentrations tested.⁵¹ In cultured lung buds from 13.5-day gestation rat embryos, retinoic acid at high concentrations ($\geq 10^{-6}$ M) interferes with formation of the distal epithelial buds and promotes the development of tubules with characteristics of proximal airways.⁵² In the same system, retinoic acid causes a dose-dependent decrease in the mRNAs encoding SP-A, SP-B and SP-C. Interestingly, expression of retinoic acid receptor- β is restricted to the trachea and larger proximal airways in the early mouse embryo.⁵³ This likely contributes to retinoid promotion of proximal airway development at the expense of branching and differentiation of distal epithelial buds and expression of surfactant protein genes.

Insulin

Although respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) is primarily associated with premature birth, term infants of mothers with certain forms of diabetes also manifest an increased incidence of the condition.⁵⁴ It has been suggested that the fetal hyperinsulinemia associated with maternal diabetes⁵⁵ exerts a deleterious effect on lung development. The observation that the incidence of RDS is increased in newborn infants of diabetic mothers, despite amniotic fluid L/S ratios indicative of fetal lung maturity, is suggestive that a surfactant component other than phosphatidylcholine (PC) is affected. It has been found that surfactant phosphatidylglycerol (PG) is markedly decreased in aminiotic fluid from diabetic pregnancies;⁵⁶ however, PG does not seem to serve an important role in surfactant function.⁵⁷ In two independent studies, SP-A levels in amniotic fluid from diabetic women were significantly reduced compared to gestational age-matched nondiabetic subjects.^{45,58} In a third study, there was no difference between diabetic and nondiabetic subjects in amniotic fluid SP-A levels.⁵⁹ It was suggested that lung maturation and SP-A production in the infants of diabetic mothers in that study may be due to improved metabolic control.⁵⁹

In midgestation human fetal lung in organ culture, concentrations of insulin as low as 2.5 ng/ml cause a marked inhibition of immunoreactive SP-A accumulation.⁴⁴ The effect of insulin is dose-dependent and apparent within 48 hours.⁴⁴ Insulin also causes a dose-dependent inhibition of SP-A mRNA accumulation in the same system.^{60,61} On the other hand, only a high concentration of insulin (2.5 μ g/ml) inhibits SP-B mRNA accumulation and insulin has no effect on SP-C mRNA content.⁶⁰

In a rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, the levels of SP-A and its mRNA are decreased in lung tissues of 18-21 day fetuses as compared to lungs of fetuses of nondiabetic mothers; in neonates, however, differences in SP-A expression are no longer observed.⁶² Insulin treatment of the diabetic mothers during the last 5-10 days of pregnancy increases fetal lung SP-A mRNA levels as compared to the nontreated diabetic group; however, fetal

lung SP-A mRNA levels in the insulin-treated diabetic group remain lower than those of age-matched controls.⁶³ On the other hand, when diabetic rats are treated with insulin for the entire pregnancy, there is an inhibitory effect on fetal lung SP-A mRNA levels.⁶³ Dexamethasone treatment of streptozotocin-induced diabetic and control pregnant rats increases the levels of SP-A, SP-B and SP-C mRNA in lung tissues of 18-20 day fetuses.⁶⁴

Growth factors and cytokines

A number of growth factors and cytokines regulate SP-A gene expression in fetal lung. In midgestation human fetal lung in culture, epidermal growth factor (EGF) causes a dosedependent induction of SP-A synthesis and mRNA levels.⁶⁵ The stimulatory effect of EGF is antagonized by coincubation with transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β).⁶⁵ TGF- β_1 , - β_2 , and - β_3 are equally effective in inhibiting SP-A expression in NCI-H441-4 lung adenocarcinoma cells.⁶⁶ In embryonic mouse lung buds in culture, EGF stimulates branching morphogenesis and DNA synthesis,^{67,68} and increases choline incorporation into disaturated PC and SP-C gene expression.⁶⁸ On the other hand, treatment of mouse embryonic lung buds with either the EGF receptor-specific tyrosine kinase antagonist tyrphostin⁶⁷ or an antisense oligonucleotide directed against EGF⁶⁹ inhibits branching morphogenesis and DNA synthesis. Mice homozygous for targeted deletion of the EGF receptor gene were created by three different research groups.⁷⁰⁻⁷² Depending upon their genetic background, mice in two of the studies develop respiratory failure at birth.^{70,71} The respiratory failure is associated with a decrease in branching morphogenesis and reduced numbers of alveoli and differentiated type II cells.⁷³

As mentioned above, members of the TGF- β family antagonize the stimulatory effects of EGF on SP-A gene expression. TGF- β also opposes the effects of EGF on branching morphogenesis in embryonic lung. In transgenic mice carrying a fusion gene in which a constitutively active form of TGF- β 1 is placed under control of the SP-C promoter, there is perinatal mortality. Lung morphogenesis is arrested in these transgenic mice at the late pseudoglandular phase of development with decreased acinar bud formation and reduced expression of Clara cell secretory protein γ and proSP-C.⁷⁴ In mouse embryonic lung buds, the inhibitory effect of TGF- β 1 on branching morphogenesis is associated with inhibition of N-*myc* expression.⁷⁵ This finding is of interest, since N-*myc* gene targeted mice also have defects in lung development.⁷⁶

Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and phorbol esters inhibit SP-A transcription in pulmonary adenocarcinoma cell lines.⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹ The inhibition is blocked by actinomycin D, suggesting an indirect role for these factors in the regulation of SP-A gene transcription.⁷⁸ It should be noted that, whereas phorbol esters activate PKC, the effects of TNF- α are mediated by two different cell surface receptors coupled to several signal transduction pathways, including activation of PKC, sphingomyelinase and protease cascades.⁸⁰ TNF- α induction of apoptosis is mediated by induction of protease cascades. It is not known if one or more of these mechanisms mediate the pronounced inhibitory effects of TNF- α on SP-A expression; however TNF- α inhibition of SP-A expression in H441-4 lung adenocarcinoma cells occurs without effects on cell growth or viability.⁷⁸

Interferon- γ (IFN- γ) causes a dose-dependent induction of SP-A and its mRNA in midgestation human fetal lung in culture. After 3 days of culture, IFN- γ and dexamethasone synergistically increase SP-A content. In contrast, IFN- γ has no effect on SP-B or SP-C expression.⁸¹ It has been suggested that this cytokine may increase SP-A synthesis as part of the immune response to pulmonary infection.⁸¹ Interleukin-1 (IL-1) is an example of another inflammatory cytokine produced by activated macrophages that induces SP-A expression in fetal lung. When IL-1 α is injected into the amniotic sacs of fetal rabbits, it causes a dose-dependent increase in SP-A mRNA levels in fetal lung tissue and an increase in compliance of lungs of prematurely delivered pups.⁸² Treatment of fetal lung explants with IL-1α also increases SP-A expression.⁸³

Keratinocyte growth factor/fibroblast growth factor-7

In type II cells in primary culture, maintenance of cellular differentiation, surfactant glycerophospholipid biosynthesis and SP-A, SP-B and SP-C gene expression are dependent on extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions,^{84,85} cell shape⁸⁴ and type II cell-fibroblast interactions.⁸⁶ When adult rat type II cells are cultured on ECM in the absence of added fibroblasts, keratinocyte growth factor (KGF)/fibroblast growth factor-7 (FGF-7), which is produced by lung fibroblasts, markedly induces SP-A and SP-B mRNA and surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis.⁸⁷ In mesenchyme-free embryonic lung epithelial cell cultures, KGF stimulates epithelial proliferation, resulting in cyst-like structures and enhanced expression of SP-A and SP-B mRNAs throughout the explants.⁸⁸ In contrast, acidic FGF (FGF-1) enhances epithelial proliferation resulting in bud formation (branching) without the formation of cysts. Effects of FGF-1 on epithelial cell differentiation are restricted to SP-B mRNA induction, which is evident only at the distal tips.⁸⁸

Agents that increase intracellular levels of cAMP

The levels of SP-A and its mRNA in cultured fetal rabbit,^{16,23} human¹⁷ and baboon⁸⁹ lung are markedly induced by cAMP analogs. In contrast, the rat and mouse SP-A genes are essentially unaffected by cAMP treatment.⁹⁰ The lack of response of the rat and mouse SP-A genes to cAMP appears to be due to species-specific sequence differences within gene regulatory regions. This is because cAMP markedly induces promoter activity of the rabbit and human SP-A genes in transfected rat type II cells in primary culture, while expression of the endogenous SP-A gene in the rat cells is unaffected by cAMP.⁹¹⁻⁹³

The inductive effects of cAMP on SP-A mRNA levels in rabbit⁴⁰ and human^{94,95} fetal lung in culture are associated with comparable increases in the rate of SP-A gene transcription. As discussed previously, the human genome contains two genes, *hSP-A1* and *hSP-A2*, which are highly similar in their protein coding sequences, but which differ in their intronexon organization and in the sequences of the 5'-flanking and 3'-untranslated regions.²⁸ A combination of primer extension and RNA Northern blotting were used to analyze the regulation of expression of the human SP-*A1* and SP-*A2* genes. Whereas *SP-A2* mRNA transcripts are present at levels approximately twice those of *SP-A1* in human adult lung tissue, only *SP-A1* mRNA transcripts were detectable in the lungs of a 28-week prematurely born infant. In human fetal lung explants cultured in the presence of dibutyryl cAMP (Bt₂cAMP), SP-*A2* gene expression is induced ~11-fold, whereas that of SP-A1 is increased only 2-fold.⁹⁶ These studies suggest that SP-*A2* is the more highly regulated gene during fetal development and is more sensitive to the effects of cAMP than SP-*A1*.

The β -adrenergic agonist terbutaline increases the levels of immunoreactive SP-A in human fetal lung in culture.¹⁷ This suggests that catecholamines, acting through β -adrenergic receptors and cAMP, may stimulate SP-A gene expression in fetal lung. β -Adrenergic receptors have been identified in fetal lung tissues,⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹ and their concentration, as well as the responsiveness of adenylate cyclase to catecholamines, increases in fetal rabbit lung tissue with advancing gestational age.¹⁰⁰ The findings that norepinephrine levels in human fetal plasma increase during late gestation,¹⁰¹ and that administration of β -adrenergic agonists as tocolytic agents to women in preterm labor results in a decreased incidence of RDS in their prematurely born infants,¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴ are further suggestive of a role for the adrenergic system in fetal lung maturation and surfactant synthesis.

The lung actively synthesizes and degrades prostaglandins and other eicosanoids.¹⁰⁵ Prostaglandins have been reported to have a role in surfactant secretion in adult type II cells¹⁰⁶ and in the synthesis of surfactant glycerophospholipids in fetal lung tissue.¹⁰⁷ Human fetal lung in organ culture produces large quantities of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂), prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ and thromboxane A_2 .¹⁰⁸ Treatment of the human fetal lung explants with the cyclooxygenase inhibitor indomethacin markedly reduces cAMP formation and blocks the spontaneous induction of SP-A gene expression. Indomethacin also significantly inhibits the spontaneous increase in alveolar lumenal volume density and reduces the number of lamellar bodies in type II cells.¹⁰⁸ The findings that treatment of the cultured fetal lung tissue with PGE₂ increases cAMP formation and that PGE₂ or Bt₂cAMP overcomes the inhibitory effect of indomethacin on SP-A gene expression suggest that endogenous prostaglandins, acting through cAMP, may serve a role in the spontaneous differentiation of midgestation human fetal lung in culture.¹⁰⁸

Spontaneous differentiation of cultured human fetal lung explants and cAMP induction of SP-A gene expression are dependent on the amount of atmospheric oxygen in the culture environment.¹⁰⁹ When fetal lung explants are cultured in an atmosphere containing 1% oxygen (as compared to the standard 20%), they fail to differentiate and no induction of SP-A gene expression is apparent. Furthermore, Bt₂cAMP induction of morphologic differentiation and SP-A gene expression are not apparent in 1% oxygen. These inhibitory effects of low oxygen are reversed when the tissue is transferred to a 20% oxygen environment. The effects of atmospheric oxygen on SP-A gene expression and on morphologic development are concentration-dependent; the stimulatory effects of cAMP are observed only at oxygen concentrations $\geq 10\%$.¹⁰⁹ These findings suggest that oxygen plays a permissive role in the spontaneous morphological and biochemical differentiation of human fetal lung in culture. Furthermore, the increase in oxygen delivery to presumptive alveolar epithelial cells that occurs with increased vascularization of the developing lung may serve to increase responsiveness to intracellular cAMP, produced by a number of regulatory factors including catecholamines and prostaglandins.

Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids have complex actions on SP-A gene expression in fetal lung tissues that appear to be species-specific and dependent on developmental stage. In fetal rabbit lung, glucocorticoids have both inhibitory and stimulatory effects on SP-A gene expression that appear to be related to the state of differentiation of the fetal lung tissue. Treatment of lung explants from 21 day fetal rabbits with cortisol or dexamethasone (10^{-7} M) causes an acute (6-24 hours) inhibition of SP-A gene transcription and reduces the magnitude of the stimulatory effect of Bt₂cAMP.⁴⁰ However, after 48-72 hours incubation, a stimulatory effect of glucocorticoid is observed and there is an additive effect with Bt₂cAMP on SP-A gene transcription.⁴⁰ To date, we have no explanation for these paradoxical effects of glucocorticoids; however, they may be related to changes in chromatin structure accompanying cellular differentiation which could render glucocorticoid-response elements (GREs) accessible to trans-acting factors (e.g., the glucocorticoid receptor).

Glucocorticoids have complex actions on SP-A expression at both the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels.^{94,95} In midgestation human fetal lung in organ culture, glucocorticoids exert both stimulatory and inhibitory effects on the levels of SP-A and its mRNA that are both dose- and time-dependent.^{18,43,94,110,111} Dexamethasone stimulates SP-A gene transcription in a dose-dependent manner, with maximum stimulation at concentrations of 10⁻⁸-10⁻⁷ M. The stimulatory effect of dexamethasone on SP-A transcription is synergistic with that of Bt₂cAMP.^{94,95} On the other hand, dexamethasone markedly decreases the levels of SP-A mRNA and reduces the magnitude of the stimulatory effect of Bt₂cAMP.¹⁸ The inhibitory effects of dexamethasone are due to reduced SP-A mRNA stability. SP-A mRNA half-life is estimated to be 11.4 hours in control human fetal lung explants and is

reduced >60%, to 5 hours, by dexamethasone (10^{-7} M) .⁹⁵ The inhibition is dose-dependent, completely reversible and blocked by the glucocorticoid receptor antagonist RU486.⁹⁵ In contrast to the above findings, Iannuzzi et al¹¹² reported that dexamethasone inhibits SP-A gene transcription in the same human lung model; however, they also reported the inhibitory effect on mRNA stability.

A combination of primer extension and RNA northern blotting were used to analyze glucocorticoid effects on regulation of the *hSP-A1* and *hSP-A2* genes. Dexamethasone markedly reduces the level of *hSP-A2* mRNA, whereas the level of *hSP-A1* mRNA is largely unaffected by the hormone.⁹⁶ Therefore, *hSP-A2* is more highly regulated than *hSP-A1* during development and by cAMP and glucocorticoids.

In lung explants from 90, 125 and 140-day gestation fetal baboons (term = 184 days), dexamethasone causes a dose-dependent inhibition of SP-A mRNA levels and antagonizes the stimulatory effect of Bt_2cAMP .⁸⁹ The stimulatory effects of Bt_2cAMP and inhibitory effects of dexamethasone in the 92-140 day fetal baboon lung are very similar to those in lung explants of midgestation human abortuses. In contrast, SP-A mRNA is present at relatively high levels in lung tissues of 160 and 174 day fetal baboons prior to culture and remains essentially unchanged by incubation for 5 days in control medium. The stimulatory effect of Bt_2cAMP and the inhibitory effect of dexamethasone on SP-A mRNA levels are relatively modest in lung explants from 160 and 174 day fetal baboons compared to those from 92, 125 and 140 day fetuses. These findings suggest that with increased lung maturation and the developmental induction of SP-A gene expression, there is a decrease in the response of the fetal lung to the stimulatory effects of cAMP and the inhibitory effects of glucocorticoids on SP-A gene expression.⁸⁹

In vivo studies suggest that maternal administration of synthetic glucocorticoids enhances SP-A gene expression in lung tissues of fetal rabbits^{113,114} and rats.^{115,116} Differences in the findings of venous studies may be due to developmental changes in the sensitivity of the SP-A gene to glucocorticoids. In rats, dexamethasone appears to have its greatest effect on stimulation of SP-A gene expression during the glandular phase of lung development.¹¹⁵ In situ hybridization studies on glucocorticoid regulation of surfactant protein expression in fetal rabbits showed that, whereas SP-A mRNA is localized primarily to lung type II cells of fetuses from saline treated or uninjected does, SP-A mRNA transcripts are readily detected both in type II cells and bronchiolar epithelial cells from those of betamethasone-injected animals.¹¹⁴

There is little question that glucocorticoid treatment of fetal lung in vivo or in culture regulates SP-A gene expression. However, the physiological role of endogenous glucocorticoids in the regulation of SP-A gene expression in fetal lung must be carefully considered in view of findings of apparently normal levels of SP-A mRNA in lungs of mice homozygous for targeted disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) gene.¹¹⁷ GR -/- mice die several hours after birth as a result of respiratory failure caused by underdeveloped and atelectatic lungs.¹¹⁷ The lack of GR was suggested to impair development of the terminal bronchioles and alveoli beyond 15.5 days gestation. Of note, however, is the finding of comparable numbers of alveolar type II cells and apparently normal levels of mRNA encoding SP-A, SP-B and SP-C in lungs of newborn GR -/- mice compared to those of heterozygous or wild type animals.¹¹⁷ It was suggested that the respiratory failure of the GR -/- neonates is not due to inadequate development of the surfactant system but rather to decreased expression of the glucocorticoid-responsive amiloride-sensitive epithelial Na⁺ channel, normally induced in mouse alveolar epithelium after 17 days gestation. The absence of expression of this channel in alveolar epithelium of mice with a targeted disruption of its a-subunit results in neonatal RDS and death due to defective lung liquid clearance.¹¹⁸ It is not known if surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis or composition are altered in the lungs of the GR -/- mice, so

it is possible that the perinatal mortality in the mutant mice is due, in part, to inadequate surfactant lipid synthesis and/or secretion.

Analysis of Genomic Elements Involved in the Regulation of SPA Gene Expression

As discussed above, expression of the rabbit SP-A and human SP-A2 genes is most highly regulated at the transcriptional level by cAMP and glucocorticoids. To functionally define the cis-acting elements required for cAMP and glucocorticoid regulation of SP-A promoter activity, we constructed fusion genes comprised of various amounts of 5'-flanking DNA from the rabbit and human SP-A genes linked to the human growth hormone (hGH) structural gene, as reporter, and transfected them into cultured type II cells. Because of the lung type II cell-specific nature of SP-A gene expression, we reasoned that the transfections should be carried out using type II cells that maintain their phenotypic properties, particularly SP-A gene expression. To accomplish this, we devised a method for primary monolayer culture of rat, rabbit, mouse and human type II cells.⁸⁵ The type II cells are isolated by collagenase digestion of midgestation human, 18-day fetal rat, 16-day fetal mouse or 23-day fetal rabbit lung explants that have been maintained for several days in organ culture in medium containing Bt₂cAMP (10⁻³ M). The cell suspension is enriched in type II cells by incubation with DEAE-dextran (human cells) or by a 'panning' method (rat, mouse and rabbit cells) and plated on dishes coated with ECM prepared from Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. The isolated cells contain osmiophilic lamellar inclusions with the ultrastructural characteristics of lamellar bodies and continue to express the SP-A gene at elevated levels for up to three weeks in culture.⁸⁵ Since these cells are resistant to conventional methods of DNA transfection, the fusion genes are incorporated into the replication-defective human adenovirus vector, Ad5,91 and introduced into the type II cells by infection. This results in highly efficient and reproducible transfection of fusion gene constructs into primary cultures of type II cells. SP-A promoter activity is analyzed by radioimmunoassay of hGH protein secreted into the culture medium over each 24 hour period for 5 days (Fig. 3.1).

Regulatory Elements of the Rabbit SP-A Gene

To begin to functionally define the genomic regions that regulate rabbit SP-A promoter activity, we constructed fusion genes comprised of -1766, -991, -378 and -47 bp of DNA flanking the 5'-end of the rabbit SP-A gene, the transcription initiation site and 20 bp of exon I linked to the hGH structural gene. In type II cells transfected with SP-A-1766:hGH and SP-A₋₉₉₁:hGH fusion genes, hGH production is induced ~40- and 20-fold, respectively, by Bt₂cAMP (Fig. 3.2). In cells transfected with the SP-A₋₃₇₈:hGH fusion gene, basal levels of expression are reduced by >50%, as compared to SP-A₋₉₉₁:hGH; however, Bt₂cAMP increases hGH production 11-fold. In type II cells transfected with the SP-A₋₄₇:hGH fusion gene, basal levels of hGH production are essentially undetectable and Bt₂cAMP has no stimulatory effect.91 Dexamethasone (10-7 M) has little effect when added alone but it inhibits cAMPinduced expression of the SP-A-1766:hGH, SP-A-991:hGH and SP-A-378:hGH fusion genes by 65% (Fig. 3.2). This inhibitory effect of dexamethasone is unexpected because, as discussed previously, dexamethasone increases transcription of the endogenous SP-A gene in rabbit lung explants and has an additive stimulatory effect with Bt2cAMP.46 Dexamethasone inhibition of cAMP-induced SP-A-1766:hGH expression in transfected type II cells is concentration-dependent, with half-maximal inhibition at 8 x 10⁻¹⁰ M (Fig. 3.3A), similar to the equilibrium dissociation constant for binding of dexamethasone to the GR. This inhibitory effect of dexamethasone is blocked by the GR antagonist RU486 (Fig. 3.3B),⁹¹ further suggesting that the GR antagonizes cAMP induction of SP-A:hGH expression in transfected type II cells.



Fig. 3.1. Construction of recombinant adenoviruses containing SP-A:hGH fusion genes and transfection of type II cells in primary culture. Fusion genes comprised of various amounts of 5'flanking DNA and 20 bp of the first exon of the rabbit or human SP-A genes linked to the hGH structural gene as reporter (SP-A:hGH) were constructed. The fusion genes were incorporated into the genome of the replication-defective human adenovirus, Ad5, and introduced into primary cultures of human or rat type II cells by infection. Fusion gene expression was analyzed by radioimmunoassay of hGH secreted into the culture medium.



Fig. 3.2. Effects of cAMP and dexamethasone on expression of SP-A:hGH fusion genes in rat type II cells. The type II cells were transfected with SP-A:hGH fusion genes containing 1766, 991, 378 or 47 bp of 5'-flanking sequence of the rabbit SP-A gene. After transfection, the cells were cultured in serum-free medium in the absence (Control) or presence of 10^{-3} M Bt₂cAMP, 10^{-7} M dexamethasone (Dex) or Bt₂cAMP + Dex. Expression of SP-A.₉₇₆:hGH, which lacks the DBE (distal binding element), and a SP-A._{991(PBE-)}:hGH fusion gene containing a mutation in the PBE (proximal binding element) were also analyzed in type II cells cultured with and without Bt₂cAMP. Culture media were harvested and replaced daily. Shown are the levels of hGH that accumulated in the medium over a 24 hour period between days 4 and 5 of culture. Values are means ± SEM from three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Adapted with permission from Alcorn JL, Gao E, Chen Q et al. Primary cell culture of human type II pneumonocytes: maintenance of a differentiated phenotype and transfection with recombinant adenoviruses. Mol Endocrinol 1993; 7:1072-1085 (© The Endocrine Society) and Gao E, Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. Identification of enhancers in the 5'-flanking region of the rabbit surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene and characterization of their binding proteins. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:19697-19709.



Fig. 3.3. Effects of dexamethasone and the glucocorticoid receptor antagonist, RU486, on expression of SP-A₋₁₇₆₆:hGH fusion genes in type II cells. (A) Rat type II cells transfected with SP-A₋₁₇₆₆:hGH cultured in the absence (Con) or presence of Bt₂cAMP (Bt) alone and in combination with dexamethasone $(10^{-12}-10^{-6} \text{ M})$. (B) Rat type II cells transfected with SP-A₋₁₇₆₆:hGH cultured with Bt₂cAMP alone and in combination with dexamethasone and in the absence or presence of RU486 $(10^{-9}-10^{-5} \text{ M})$. Shown are the levels of hGH secreted into the culture medium between days 4 and 5 of culture. Values are means ± SEM from two independent experiments performed in triplicate. Reproduced with permission from Alcorn JL, Gao E, Chen Q et al. Primary cell culture of human type II pneumonocytes: Maintenance of a differentiated phenotype and transfection with recombinant adenoviruses. Mol Endocrinol 1993; 7:1072-1085, © The Endocrine Society.

The mechanism(s) whereby glucocorticoids inhibit cAMP induction of SP-A promoter activity has not been determined. We have reasoned that our fusion gene constructs may lack a functional GRE, a palindrome of the sequence TGTTCT with a three nucleotide spacer (AGAACAnnnTGTTCT).¹¹⁹ Based on sequence analysis of the rabbit SP-A gene and surrounding genomic regions, we were unable to find a palindromic GRE within 3.0 kb of 5'flanking DNA or within the structural gene; however, we found two sequences with homology to GRE half-sites at -150 and -190 bp and two other GRE half-sites within the first intron. It is evident from the data described above that the GRE half-sites at -150 and -190 bp do not function as stimulatory GREs. To determine whether one or both of the GRE-like sequences within the first intron could serve as a functional GRE, an SP-A:hGH fusion gene containing 991 bp of 5'-flanking DNA, the first exon, the first intron and part of the second exon of the rabbit SP-A gene linked to hGH (SP-A.991+670:hGH) was constructed and transfected into rat type II cells. Again, dexamethasone caused a marked inhibition of cAMPinduced SP-A.991+670:hGH expression.91 These findings suggest that the stimulatory effect of glucocorticoids on expression of the endogenous SP-A gene may be mediated by sequences that lie far upstream, within the SP-A structural gene downstream of the first exon or within the 3'-flanking sequence. As a consequence of the perceived complexity of glucocorticoid regulation of SP-A gene expression, we have subsequently focused on defining the mechanisms whereby cAMP regulates SP-A gene expression in type II cells.

The pronounced stimulatory effect of cAMP on expression of the SP-A_{.1766}:hGH fusion gene is apparent in both rat and human type II cells in primary culture. In two lung adenocarcinoma cell lines of presumed type II cell origin, NCI-H358 and A549, which do not express SP-A, there are relatively high levels of basal expression but little or no stimulation in response to cAMP. In primary cultures of cAMP-responsive ovarian granulosa and thecal cells and in the cAMP-responsive adrenal cell line Y1, basal expression is barely detectable and again there is no cAMP effect.⁹¹ These findings suggest that cAMP regulation of SP-A gene expression requires the interaction of type II cell-specific transcription factors with tissue-specific enhancers. These cell-specific transcription factors may be reduced in the lung adenocarcinoma cell lines and absent in the ovarian and adrenal Y1 cells. Alternatively, H358 and A549 cells may be deficient in some component of the cAMP response pathway.

Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSA) revealed that rabbit lung nuclear proteins bind to several elements within the 5'-flanking region of the rabbit SP-A gene; two of these, termed distal binding element (DBE, -986 to -977 bp) and proximal binding element (PBE, -87 to -70 bp), have related core E-box-like sequences (DBE: <u>CACGTG;</u> PBE: CTCGTG).¹²⁰ To assess the functional role of the DBE and PBE in the regulation of SP-A promoter activity, SP-A:hGH fusion genes containing deletions or mutations in these regions were introduced into rat type II cells in primary culture. The levels of basal and cAMPinduced expression of SP-A.976:hGH fusion genes, which just lack sequences containing the DBE, are markedly reduced to levels that are comparable to those observed with SP-A-378:hGH fusion genes (Fig. 3.2). The finding that expression of SP-A-976:hGH is stimulated ~15-fold by Bt₂cAMP treatment (compared to a 22-fold stimulation of SP-A.991:hGH) suggests that the DBE serves a more important role as a general rather than a specific enhancer of cAMP regulated expression. In type II cells transfected with SP-A-991:hGH fusion genes containing a mutation of the PBE sequence, basal expression is reduced to levels comparable to those of cells transfected with SP-A.47:hGH, and Bt2cAMP has essentially no stimulatory effect (Fig. 3.2).¹²⁰ The EMSA and type II cell transfection data suggest that the DBE and PBE act as enhancers that interact with the same or related trans-acting factors and serve important roles in type II cell-specific, cAMP-mediated regulation of SP-A gene expression.¹²⁰ It is apparent that the PBE serves a more critical role in basal and cAMP regulation of SP-A promoter activity than does the DBE. Whether this is due to its proximity to the promoter or to the of PBE-bound transcription factors interaction with other transcription factors bound to adjacent response elements remains to be determined.

The above studies indicate the presence of an enhancer element(s) between -378 and -991 bp that increases basal levels of expression and of an element(s) between -47 and -378 bp that is essential for cAMP induction of SP-A promoter activity in type II cells.⁹¹ Sequence comparison of this region with the binding site consensus sequences of known transcription factors identified a cis-acting element at -261 bp with sequence similarity to a cAMPresponse element (CRE), which is termed CRE_{SP-A} (TGACCTCA). CRE_{SP-A} differs by one nucleotide from the palindromic consensus CRE (CRE_{pal}, TGACGTCA) which is known to bind the cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) as a homodimer.¹²¹ CREB activates transcription of target genes, such as somatostatin, subsequent to cAMP-dependent protein kinase (protein kinase A, PKA) catalyzed phosphorylation at serine₁₃₃.¹²² CREB belongs to a superfamily of transcription factors, the basic-leucine zipper (bZIP) family, whose members all contain leucine zipper dimerization domains and have significant sequence similarity in both their DNA-binding and leucine zipper domains. CRE_{pal} is also recognized by several related members of the bZIP superfamily, namely activating transcription factor-1 (ATF-1) and cAMP-response element modulator (CREM), which are also cAMP-responsive transcription factors.¹²² To determine the functional role of CRE_{SP-A} in cAMP



Fig. 3.4. Effects of mutations in CRE_{SP-A} on basal and cAMP-induced expression of SP-A_{.991}:hGH fusion genes in type II cells. Rat type II cells were transfected with SP-A_{.991}:hGH containing the wild type CRE (TGACCTCA), CRE⁻ (TGACGACA) or CRE_{pal} (TGACGTCA) and cultured in the absence (Control) or presence of Bt₂cAMP for 5 days. Shown are the levels of hGH secreted into the medium over a 24 hour period between days 4 and 5 of incubation. Values are means \pm SEM from three independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Reproduced with permission from Michael LF, Alcorn JL, Gao E et al. Characterization of the cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate response element of the rabbit surfactant protein-A gene: Evidence for transactivators distinct from CREB/ATF family members. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10:159-170, © The Endocrine Society.

regulation of SP-A promoter activity, CRE_{SP-A} in SP-A:hGH fusion genes containing 991 bp of 5'-flanking DNA and 20 bp of exon I from the rabbit SP-A gene was mutated either to a sequence known to weakly support cAMP induction of gene expression (TGACGACA; CRE⁻)¹²³ or to the CRE_{pal} sequence (TGACGTCA).⁹² In type II cells transfected with SP-A.₉₉₁:hGH fusion genes containing the wild type CRE (CRE_{SP-A}), Bt₂cAMP increases reporter gene expression 22-fold compared to transfected cells maintained in control medium (Fig. 3.4). By contrast, in cells transfected with the fusion gene containing the CRE⁻ sequence, there is a pronounced decrease in basal and cAMP-regulated expression. Surprisingly, in cells transfected with the fusion gene containing CRE_{pal}, basal and cAMP-induced hGH production are also markedly reduced compared to cells transfected with the wild type construct (Fig. 3.4).⁹² Together, these findings indicate that cAMP stimulation of SP-A gene transcription is mediated, in part, through this CRE-like sequence and that transacting factors other than CREB homodimers may interact with this element.

Regulatory Elements of the Human SP-A2 Gene

Studies to define the cis-acting elements of the hSP-A2 gene involved in cAMP-regulated expression in type II cells showed that as little as -296 bp of hSP-A2 5'-flanking sequence is sufficient to direct high basal and cAMP-inducible expression in type II cells (Fig. 3.5A) but not in other cell types (Fig. 3.5B).⁹³ This region contains a CRE-like se-

quence (TGACCTTA) at -242 bp which differs by two nucleotides from CRE_{pal} (TGACGTCA) and by one nucleotide from the CRE-like sequence of the rabbit SP-A gene (TGACCTCA). On comparison of the promoter region of *h*SP-*A2* with that of *hSP*-*A1*¹²⁴ and of baboon (Mendelson CR, unpublished observations), rabbit,²⁴ rat¹²⁵ and mouse²⁶ SP-A genes, it becomes evident that a sequence similar to CRE_{SP-A} is highly conserved, particularly within the first six residues, TGACCT (Fig. 3.6). Furthermore, with the exception of the rat SP-A gene 5'-flanking region, the CRE-like sequence is located within 261 bp upstream of the transcription initiation sites of all of the SP-A genes thus far characterized. The finding that mutation of CRE_{SP-A} in the SP-A2₋₂₉₆:hGH fusion gene results in a marked reduction in basal and cAMP-induced hGH expression (Fig. 3.5A) suggests that CRE_{SP-A} serves an important role in the regulation of *SP-A2* promoter activity.⁹³

Another highly conserved sequence localized at -61 bp in the 5'-flanking region of the hSP-A2 gene contains the core sequence GGGGTGGGG (GT_{SP-A}) (Fig. 3.6). To examine the role of the GT_{SP-A} in regulation of promoter activity and in response to cAMP, we used sitedirected mutagenesis to alter 5 bases of the core sequence within the SP-A2-296:hGH fusion gene.¹²⁶ SP-A2₋₂₉₆:hGH fusion genes containing the wild type and mutated GT_{SP-A} were introduced into primary cultures of human type II cells. Mutagenesis of GT_{SP-A} within the -296 bp fusion gene dramatically reduces basal expression (by >90%) and abolishes that induced by cAMP (Fig. 3.5A). Expression of SP-A2-296GTmut:hGH is similar to that of the minimal promoter construct, SP-A2.47:hGH, which lacks the GT_{SP-A} sequence and includes only the TATA motif. Basal expression of the SP-A2-62:hGH construct, which just includes GT_{SP-A}, is >3-fold higher than the -47 bp minimal promoter construct (Fig. 3.5A). These findings indicate that GT_{SP-A} is also essential for elevated levels of basal and cAMP-induced SP-A2 promoter activity. It should be noted that in H441 and A549 cells, in contrast to primary cultures of human fetal type II cells, cAMP does not induce SP-A2:hGH fusion gene expression, although basal expression of SP-A2.296:hGH fusion genes is detectable in both cell lines (Fig. 3.5B).⁹³ We also examined the role of the GT_{SP-A} in expression of SP-A2:hGH fusion genes in the lung adenocarcinoma cell lines. Mutagenesis of the GT_{SP-A} in the SP-A2₋₂₉₆:hGH fusion gene results in a similar fold reduction of basal expression (>90%) in A549 and H441cells as in primary cultures of type II cells.

In studies to define cis-acting elements within the 5'-flanking sequence of the mouse SP-A gene that are required for expression in lung type II cells, a region between -255 and -57 bp containing four binding sites for thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1) was found to mediate expression in a mouse lung epithelial cell line but not in other cell types.¹²⁷ TTF-1 is a homeodomain transcription factor expressed selectively in developing thyroid, diencephalon and lung epithelium from the earliest stages of organogenesis.¹²⁸ Mice rendered TTF-1 deficient by gene targeting lack thyroid, anterior pituitary and lung parenchyma.¹²⁹ By mutagenesis, it was found that the TTF-1 sites in the mouse SP-A gene 5'-flanking sequence are required for expression of the SP-A promoter constructs in the transfected mouse lung epithelial cells.¹²⁷ We have identified three TTF-1-binding elements (TBE) in the 5'-flanking region of the baboon SP-A2 gene that serve important roles in basal expression and in cAMP induction of SP-A promoter activity. One of these elements, TBE1 at -172 bp, is highly conserved with respect to position and sequence in all of the SP-A genes thus far characterized (Fig. 3.6). Mutagenesis of TBE1 has a more pronounced effect on reduction of basal and cAMP-induced expression than mutagenesis of either TBE2 or TBE3 (Li J, Gao E, Mendelson CR, unpublished observations).

The transfection studies suggest that basal and cAMP induction of SP-A promoter activity in type II cells is the result of the cooperative interaction of transcription factors bound to at least four response elements which lie within 400 bp upstream of the SP-A gene
Fig. 3.5. Expression of SP-A2:hGH fusion genes in human type II cells in primary culture and other cell types and the effects of mutagenesis of CRE_{SP-A} and the GT-box (GT_{SP-A}) on basal and cAMP-induced expression. (A) Human type II cells transfected with SP-A2:hGH fusion genes comprised of 296, 62 and 47 bp of 5'flanking sequence of the human SP-A2 gene or with SP-A-296:hGH containing mutations in CRE_{SP-A} or GT_{SP-A} were cultured for 5 days in the absence (Control) or presence of Bt₂cAMP. (B) Primary cultures of human type II cells as well as the human lung adenocarcinoma cell lines H441 (Clara cell origin) and A549 (type II cell origin), the rat hepatoma cell line 4IIE and the mouse adrenocortical tumor cell line Y1 were transfected with SP-A2-296:hGH and cultured with or without Bt2cAMP for 5 days. Shown are the levels of hGH that accumulated in the medium over a 24 hour period between days 4 and 5 of incubation. Values are means ± SEM from two independent experiments conducted in triplicate. Reproduced with permission from Young PP, Mendelson CR. A CRE-like element plays an essential role in cAMP regulation of human SP-A2

gene in alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L287-L299.



transcription initiation site. These elements include a CRE-like element, several TTF-binding elements, an E-box-like sequence and a GT-box. The CRE-like element, TTF-1 sites and GT-box are highly conserved in sequence and position in nearly all of the SP-A genes thus far studied. Although the sequence of the PBE motif characterized in the rabbit SP-A gene 5'-flanking region does not appear to be highly conserved, we are investigating the possibility that a related sequence in this region serves an analogous function in the SP-A genes of other species.



Fig. 3.6. Schematic diagram of the SP-A structural gene and 5'-flanking region containing response elements conserved among various species. Open boxes denote positions of the CRE, TTF-1 and GT-box elements. The oval represents the TATA box and the arrow denotes the start of transcription. Sequences and positions of these elements relative to the transcription initiation sites of the SP-A genes of various species are shown. Adapted with permission from Young PP, Mendelson CR. A GT box element is essential for basal and cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate regulation of the human surfactant protein A2 gene in alveolar type II cells: Evidence for the binding of lung nuclear proteins distinct from Sp1. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1082-1093, © The Endocrine Society.

Isolation and Characterization of Transcription Factors Involved in Lung-Specific and Developmental Regulation of SP-A Gene Expression

Transcription Factors that Bind to the Distal and Proximal Binding Elements in the 5'-Flanking Region of the Rabbit SP-A Gene

As discussed above, in type II cells transfected with SP-A:hGH fusion genes, mutagenesis of the DBE or PBE results in a marked reduction of basal and cAMP-stimulated fusion gene expression.¹²⁰ Rabbit lung nuclear proteins bind specifically to the DBE and PBE in EMSA. Binding activity is enriched in type II cells compared to whole lung tissue. DNaseI footprinting indicated that lung nuclear proteins protect the palindromic sequence CC<u>CACGTG</u>GG in the DBE. The underlined core sequence is an E-box motif; a similar sequence (CC<u>CTCGTG</u>) is present within the PBE. Both elements compete for binding to the same size species of nuclear proteins, of M_r~69,000, 45,000 and 22,000.¹²⁰

To characterize transcription factors that bind to these E-box motifs, the PBE was used to screen a rabbit fetal lung cDNA expression library; an cDNA insert was isolated that is very similar in sequence to human upstream stimulatory factor 1 (USF1), a basic helix-loop-helix-zipper transcription factor.¹³⁰ Two isoforms of rabbit USF1 (rUSF1a and 1b) mRNAs were identified in fetal rabbit lung and other tissues by RT-PCR. The level of rUSF1 mRNA reaches a peak in fetal rabbit lung at 23 days gestation, in concert with the time of initiation of SP-A gene transcription.¹³⁰ Binding complexes of nuclear proteins obtained from fetal rabbit lung tissue and isolated type II cells with the DBE and PBE are supershifted by addition of anti-rUSF1 immunoglobulin G (IgG). USF1-binding activity is highly enriched in type II cells as compared with lung fibroblasts (Fig. 3.7). Overexpression of rUSF1s in A549 cells positively regulates SP-A promoter activity of cotransfected reporter gene constructs (Fig. 3.8).¹³⁰ These findings suggest that rUSF1, which binds to DBE and PBE, may serve a key role in the regulation of SP-A gene expression in type II cells.



Fig. 3.7. USF1 binding activity in type II cell and fibroblast nuclear proteins. ³²Plabeled PBE was incubated with nuclear proteins from rabbit type II cells (TII) and lung fibroblasts (Fb), then incubated in the absence or presence of anti-USF IgG and analyzed by EMSA. F: free probe; C: DNA-protein complexes; S: supershift of DNA-protein complexes with anti-USF1 IgG. Adapted with permission from Gao E, Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. The basic helix-loop-helix-zipper transcription factor USF1 regulates expression of the surfactant protein-A (SP-A) gene. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:23398-23406.

Rabbit Transcription Factors that Bind to CRE_{SP-A}

As discussed above, mutagenesis of CRE_{SP-A} (TGACCTCA) to the palindromic sequence CRE_{pal} (TGACGTCA), known to bind the transcription factor CREB as a homodimer, in SP-A.₉₉₁:hGH fusion genes results in a marked decrease in basal and cAMP-induced expression of SP-A promoter activity.⁹² The findings of competitive EMSA using fetal rabbit lung nuclear extracts suggests that different protein complexes bind CRE_{SP-A} and CRE_{pal} . UV crosslinking analysis showed that a ~43 kDa protein complex interacts both with CRE_{SP-A} and CRE_{pal} ; however, purified CREB is ineffective in binding CRE_{SP-A} but does bind CRE_{pal} . In EMSA using fetal rabbit lung nuclear proteins, antibodies directed against CREB, CREM, and ATF-1 fail to supershift the complex of proteins bound to CRE_{SP-A} whereas they do supershift those bound to CRE_{pal} .⁹² Moreover, in competition EMSA using radiolabeled CRE_{SP-A} and fetal rabbit lung nuclear proteins, a purified bZIP polypeptide fails to compete for binding. In contrast, the bZIP polypeptide competes effectively with CRE_{pal} . This finding suggests that leucine zipper transcription factors do not bind CRE_{SP-A} . Additionally,

Fig. 3.8. Effect of cotransfection with USF1a or USF1b on expression of rabbit SP-A:hGH fusion genes in lung adenocarcinoma cells. SP-A-991:hGH, SP-A₋₉₇₆:hGH (DBE deleted) and SP-A-991(PBE-):hGH (PBE mutated) were cotransfected into A549 cells with cytomegalovirus (CMV) expression vectors containing rabbit USF1b (pCMV-USF1b), USF1a (pCMV-USF1a), empty vector (pCMV) or calf thymus DNA. Shown are the levels of hGH that accumulated in the culture medium over a 24 hour period. Data are means ± SEM of three determinations from a representative of three experiments.



Reproduced with permission from Gao E, Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. The basic helix-loop-helixzipper transcription factor USF1 regulates expression of the surfactant protein-A (SP-A) gene. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:23398-23406.

expression of a CRE_{SP-A}-containing histidine 3 (HIS3) fusion gene in yeast is unaffected by either CREB or bZIP polypeptides fused to the GAL4 activation domain. In contrast, HIS3 expression is markedly induced by both CREB and bZIP fusion proteins in a yeast strain in which the HIS3 gene is under control of CRE_{pal}.⁹² By competition EMSA using mutagenized CRE_{SP-A} oligonucleotides, the critical protein-binding nucleotides in CRE_{SP-A} were found to constitute a hexameric element, TGACCT, which corresponds to a half-site for binding members of the nuclear receptor superfamily.⁹² Since the TGACCT motif is present in the SP-A gene as a single site, we propose that a unique orphan member of the nuclear receptor superfamily may bind to this as a monomer element.

To identify members of the nuclear receptor superfamily expressed in type II cells, degenerate primers corresponding to two conserved segments of the DNA-binding domain shared by the GR, retinoid X receptor, retinoic acid receptor, NGFI-B and Ad4BP/SF-1 were designed. The DNA-binding domains of these receptors were chosen because they represent the three classes of receptors—homodimeric, heterodimeric and monomeric DNA-binding proteins. The primers were used in PCR with cDNA prepared from RNA isolated from rabbit type II cells cultured in the presence of Bt₂cAMP. PCR products of the predicted size of 154 bp were subcloned and sequenced. Of the putative DNA-binding domains that were sequenced, approximately 56% were homologous to various retinoic acid receptor isoforms, 8% encoded ARP1/COUP-TFII and 4% encoded each of NURR1 and Rev-ErbA- α . Interestingly, 26% of the PCR products encoded the DNA-binding domain of members of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) subfamily; 38% of these were homologous to the PPAR γ isoform.¹³¹ Since type II cells actively synthesize lipids, we were intrigued to find evidence for the adipose-specific, lipid-activated PPAR γ isoform in these cells.

We utilized the PPAR_Y DNA-binding domain to screen a rabbit type II cell cDNA library and isolated a full length cDNA encoding PPAR_Y1.¹³¹ Although another PPAR_Y isoform, PPAR_Y2, is known to be highly expressed in adipocytes, only PPAR_Y1 is detected in rabbit Fig. 3.9. Effect of cAMP on PPAR γ mRNA content in lung fibroblasts and type II cells. Northern blot analysis of total RNA (30 µg) isolated from rabbit lung fibroblasts (Fib) and type II cells (tII) cultured in the absence or presence of Bt₂cAMP for 3 days. Rabbit adipose tissue RNA (A) was analyzed as a positive control for PPAR γ expression. Full-length rabbit PPAR γ cDNA was used as a probe (upper panel); loading variances were detected by probing the blot with a glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase cDNA (lower panels). Adapted with permission from Michael LF, Lazar MA, Mendelson CR.



Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma 1 expression is induced during cyclic adenosine monophosphate-stimulated differentiation of alveolar type II pneumonocytes. Endocrinology 1997; 138:3695-3703, © The Endocrine Society.

type II cells by RT-PCR and library screening. Rabbit PPAR_Y1 has 90% nucleotide sequence identity and 95% amino acid identity to mouse PPAR_Y1. PPAR_Y1 and its mRNA are readily detected in rabbit type II cells and are induced by cAMP (Fig. 3.9). By Western blot analysis, PPAR_Y protein expression is induced in concert with SP-A expression during type II cell differentiation (Fig. 3.10).¹³¹ The findings that CRE_{SP-A} is unable to compete with a radiolabeled PPAR-response element (PPARE) in binding to type II cell nuclear proteins, and that antisera specific for PPAR_Y fail to supershift the complex of type II cell nuclear proteins bound to CRE_{SP-A}, indicate that CRE_{SP-A} does not serve as a PPARE.¹³¹ In view of the role of PPAR_Y in adipocyte differentiation and lipid homeostasis, we postulate that PPAR_Y induction by cAMP may play a role in the differentiation and expression of lipogenic enzymes in type II cells. Studies are ongoing to determine whether PPAR_Y plays a role in the regulation of SP-A gene expression.

Transcription Factors that Bind to the GT-Box of the Human SP-A2 Gene

As discussed above, mutagenesis of the GT-box at -61 bp in the 5'-flanking sequence of the human SP-A2 gene markedly reduces basal and abolishes cAMP-induced reporter gene expression in transfected type II cells.¹²⁶ Similarly, this mutation dramatically lowers fusion gene expression in A549 and H441 cells. By EMSA, nuclear proteins isolated from primary cultures of type II cells bind the GT box as five specific complexes. In contrast, nuclear proteins isolated from lung fibroblasts display notably less binding activity. Competition and supershift EMSA indicated that the ubiquitously expressed transcription factor Sp1, a GC box binding protein of ~100 kDa, is a component of the complex of proteins that bind the GT box of SP-A2.¹²⁶ The finding that only two of the five GT-box binding complexes are supershifted by incubation with Sp1 antibody suggests that a factor(s) in type II cell nuclear extracts that is distinct from Sp1 also interacts with the GT box. By UV crosslinking and sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis/EMSA analysis, we have identified a ~55 kDa GT-box binding factor in type II cell nuclear proteins that preferentially binds the GT-box of SP-A2 over the consensus Sp1 GC-box sequence. This 55 kDa factor binds the GT-box independently of Sp1.¹²⁶ Sp1 is a member of the Krüppel family of zinc finger-containing transcription factors. Several novel proteins belonging to the Krüppel family that manifest significantly higher binding activity towards the GT/CA box than does Sp1



Fig. 3.10. Immunoblot analyses of PPAR γ 1 and SP-A in differentiating human fetal type II cells. Protein extracts (50 µg) from isolated midgestation human fetal lung epithelial cells and from differentiated type II cells isolated from cultured human fetal lung explants were analyzed by Western blotting using antisera directed against PPAR γ (top panel) and SP-A (bottom panel). Proteins isolated from human adipose tissue were analyzed as a positive control for PPAR γ . The lung epithelial cells differentiate into type II cells during culture. After 48 hours of culture, immunoreactive PPAR γ and SP-A were detected in the primary lung epithelial cells; Higher levels of PPAR γ and SP-A immunoreactivity were detected in the fully differentiated type II cells. Reproduced with permission from Michael LF, Lazar MA, Mendelson CR. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma1 expression is induced during cyclic adenosine monophosphate-stimulated differentiation of alveolar type II pneumonocytes. Endocrinology 1997; 138:3695-3703, © The Endocrine Society.

have recently been identified.¹³² We suggest that the 55 kDa factor that interacts with the GT-box of SP-A2 may be a new member of this protein family.

Conclusions and Future Directions

SP-A, the major surfactant-associated protein, is a sialoglycoprotein that is a member of the C-type lectin family. SP-A serves a role in the formation of tubular myelin and the reduction of alveolar surface tension, in mediating surfactant uptake and reutilization by type II cells and in activation of alveolar macrophages for clearance of bacterial pathogens from the lung alveolus. The SP-A gene is expressed primarily in lung type II cells and is developmentally regulated in fetal lung in association with surfactant glycerophospholipid synthesis. SP-A gene expression is regulated by a number of hormones and factors. Positive regulators include EGF, KGF, IFN- γ , glucocorticoids and agents that increase intracellular levels of cAMP. Negative regulators also include glucocorticoids as well as insulin, TGF- β , TNF- α and PKC activators. Whether glucocorticoids are positive or negative regulators of the SP-A gene depends on the species examined, the concentration used and whether transcriptional or post-transcriptional effects are studied. SP-A is encoded by a single copy gene in rats, mice, rabbits and dogs and by two highly similar genes in baboons and humans. Four different regulatory elements have been defined within a 400 bp region of the SP-A gene that mediate high basal and cAMP induction of promoter activity in transfected type II cells. These include a CRE-like sequence that may bind a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily (CRE_{SP-A}), several TTF-1 binding sites, an E-box that binds the transcription factor USF1 and a GT-box that binds Sp1 along with other proteins that may be tissue-selective members of the Krüppel family of transcription factors. Studies are in progress to identify transcription factors that bind to CRE_{SP-A} and GT_{SP-A} and to determine how all of these factors interact to mediate type II cell-specific, developmental and cAMP regulation of SP-A gene expression in fetal lung.

References

- 1. Hawgood S, Schiffer K. Structures and properties of the surfactant-associated proteins. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:375-394.
- 2. Ross GF, Notter RH, Meuth J et al. Phospholipid binding and biophysical activity of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein (SAP)-35 and its non-collagenous COOH-terminal domains. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:14283-14291.
- 3. Suzuki Y, Fujita Y, Kogishi K. Reconstitution of tubular myelin from synthetic lipids and proteins associated with pig pulmonary surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:75-81.
- 4. Williams MC, Hawgood S, Hamilton RL. Changes in lipid structure produced by surfactant proteins SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:41-50.
- 5. Hawgood S, Benson BJ, Schilling J et al. Nucleotide and amino acid sequences of pulmonary surfactant protein SP 18 and evidence for cooperation between SP 18 and SP 28-36 in surfactant lipid absorption. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:66-70.
- 6. Kuroki Y, Mason RJ, Voelker DR Alveolar type II cells express a high-affinity receptor for pulmonary surfactant protein A. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988; 85:5566-5570.
- 7. Ryan RM, Morris RE, Rice WR et al. Binding and uptake of pulmonary surfactant protein (SP-A) by pulmonary type II epithelial cells. J Histochem Cytochem 1989; 37:429-440.
- 8. Rice WR, Ross GF, Singleton FM et al. Surfactant-associated protein inhibits phospholipid secretion from type II cells. J Appl Physiol 1987;63:692-698.
- 9. Dobbs LG, Wright JR, Hawgood S et al. Pulmonary surfactant and its components inhibit secretion of phosphatidylcholine from cultured rat alveolar type II cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:1010-1014.
- 10. Hoffman RM, Claypool WD, Katyal SL et al. Augmentation of rat alveolar macrophage migration by surfactant protein. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:1358-1362.
- 11. Tenner AJ, Robinson SL, Borchelt J et al. Human pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A), a protein structurally homologous to C1q, can enhance FcR- and CR1-mediated phagocytosis. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:13923-13928.
- 12. van Iwaarden F, Welmers B, Verhoef J et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A enhances the host defense mechanism of rat alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:91-98.
- 13. Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD, Ross GF et al. Altered surfactant function and structure in SP-A gene targeted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:9594-9599.
- 14. LeVine AM, Bruno MD, Huelsman KM et al. Surfactant protein A-deficient mice are susceptible to group B streptococcal infection. J Immunol 1997; 158:4336-4340.
- 15. Mendelson CR, Boggaram V. Hormonal control of the surfactant system in fetal lung. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:415-440.
- 16. Mendelson CR, Chen C, Boggaram V et al. Regulation of the synthesis of the major surfactant apoprotein in fetal rabbit lung tissue. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:9938-9943.
- Odom MJ, Snyder JM, Mendelson CR. Adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate analogs and βadrenergic agonists induce the synthesis of the major surfactant apoprotein in human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1987;121:1155-1163.

- 18. Odom MJ, Snyder JM, Boggaram V et al. Glucocorticoid regulation of the major surfactant-associated protein (SP-A) and its mRNA and of morphologic development of human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1988; 123:1712-1720.
- 19. Floros J, Steinbrink R, Jacobs K et al. Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones for the 35-kDa pulmonary surfactant-associated protein. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:9029-9033.
- 20. White RT, Damm D, Miller J et al. Isolation and characterization of the human pulmonary surfactant apoprotein gene. Nature 1985; 317:361-363
- Drickamer K, Dordal MS, Reynolds L. Mannose-binding proteins isolated from rat liver contain carbohydrate-recognition domains linked to collagenous tails: Complete primary structure and homology with pulmonary surfactant apoprotein. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:6878-6887.
- Voss T, Eistetter H, Schäfer KP et al. Macromolecular organization of natural and recombinant lung surfactant protein SP 28-36. J Mol Biol 1988; 201:219-227.
- Boggaram V, Qing K, Mendelson CR. The major apoprotein of rabbit pulmonary surfactant: Elucidation of primary sequence and cAMP and developmental regulation. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:2939-2947.
- 24. Chen Q, Boggaram V, Mendelson CR. Rabbit lung surfactant protein A gene: Identification of a lung-specific DNase I hypersensitive site. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L662-L671.
- 25. Fisher JH, Emrie PA, Shannon J et al. Rat pulmonary surfactant protein A is expressed as two differently sized mRNA species which arise from differential polyadenylation of one transcript. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 950:338-345.
- 26. Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD, Glasser SW et al. Murine pulmonary surfactant SP-A gene: Cloning, sequence, and transcriptional activity. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L546-L554.
- 27. Katyal SL, Singh G, Locker J. Characterization of a second human pulmonary surfactantassociated protein SP-A gene. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6:446-452.
- 28. McCormick SM, Boggaram V, Mendelson CR. Characterization of mRNA transcripts and organization of human SP-A1 and SP-A2 genes. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L354-L366.
- 29. Korfhagen TR, Glasser SW, Bruno MD et al. A portion of the human surfactant protein A (SP-A) locus consists of a pseudogene. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:463-469.
- 30. Bruns G, Stroh H, Veldman GM et al. The 35 kd pulmonary surfactant-associated protein is encoded on chromosome 10. Human Genet 1987; 76:58-62.
- 31. Gao E, Wang Y, McCormick SM et al. Characterization of two baboon surfactant protein A genes. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L617-L630.
- 32. Saccone C, Lanave C, Pesole G et al. Influence of base composition on quantitative estimates of gene evolution. Methods Enzymol 1990; 183:570-584.
- Napier JR, Napier PH. The Natural History of the Primates. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1985.
- 34. Rubio S, Lacaze-Masmonteil, Chailley-Heu B et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) is expressed by epithelial cells of small and large intestine. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:12162-12169.
- 35. Eliakim R, Goetz GS, Rubio S et al. Isolation and characterization of surfactant-like particles in rat and human colon. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:G425-G434.
- 36. Phelps DS, Floros J. Localization of surfactant protein synthesis in human lung by in situ hybridization. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:939-942.
- 37. Auten RL, Watkins RH, Shapiro DL et al. Surfactant apoprotein A (SP-A) is synthesized in airway cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3: 491-496.
- Wohlford-Lenane CL, Snyder JM. Localization of the surfactant-associated proteins SP-A and SP-B mRNA in fetal rabbit lung by in situ hybridization. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 7:335-343.
- 39. Khoor A, Gray ME, Hull WM et al. Developmental expression of SP-A and SP-A mRNA in the proximal and distal respiratory epithelium in the human fetus and newborn. J Histochem Cytochem 1993; 41:1311-1319.
- 40. Boggaram V, Mendelson CR. Transcriptional regulation of the gene encoding the major surfactant protein (SP-A) in rabbit fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:19060-19065.

- 41. Snyder JM, Mendelson CR. Induction and characterization of the major surfactant apoprotein during rabbit fetal lung development. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 920:226-236.
- 42. Schellhase DE, Emrie PA, Fisher JH et al. Ontogeny of surfactant apoproteins in the rat. Pediatr Res 1989; 26:167-174.
- 43. Ballard PL, Hawgood S, Liley H et al. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant apoprotein SP 28-36 gene in fetal human lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83:9527-9531.
- 44. Snyder JM, Mendelson CR. Insulin inhibits the accumulation of the major lung surfactant apoprotein in human fetal lung explants maintained in vitro. Endocrinology 1987; 120:1250-1257.
- 45. Snyder JM, Kwun JE, O'Brien JA et al. The concentration of the 35-kDa surfactant apoprotein in amniotic fluid from normal and diabetic pregnancies. Pediatr Res 1988; 24:728-734.
- 46. Sorokin S. A study of development in organ cultures of mammalian lungs. Develop Biol 1961; 3:60-83.
- 47. Masters JRW. Epithelial-mesenchymal interaction during lung development: The effect of mesenchymal mass. Develop Biol 1976; 51:98-108.
- 48. Snyder JM, Johnston JM, Mendelson CR. Differentiation of type II cells of human fetal lung in vitro. Cell Tissue Res 1981; 220:17-25.
- 49. Mendelson CR, Johnston JM, MacDonald et al. Multihormonal regulation of surfactant synthesis by human fetal lung in vitro. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1981; 53:307-317.
- 50. Snyder JM, Mendelson CR, Johnston JM. The effect of cortisol on rabbit fetal lung maturation in vitro. Dev Biol 1981; 85:129-140.
- 51. Metzler MD, Snyder JM. Retinoic acid differentially regulates expression of surfactant-associated proteins in human fetal lung. Endocrinology 1993; 133:1990-1998.
- 52. Cardoso WV, Williams MC, Mitsialis AS. Retinoic acid induces changes in the pattern of airway branching and alters epithelial cell differentiation in the developing lung in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:464-476.
- 53. Dolle P, Ruberte E, Leroy P et al. Retinoic acid receptors and cellular retinoid binding proteins. I. A systematic study of their differential pattern of transcription during mouse organogenesis. Development 1990; 110:1133-1151.
- 54. Robert MF, Neff RK, Hubbell JP et al. Association between maternal diabetes and the respiratory distress syndrome in the newborn. N Eng J Med 1976; 294:357-360.
- 55. Obenshain SS, Adam PAJ, King KC et al. Human fetal insulin response to sustained maternal hyperglycemia. N Engl J Med 1970; 283:566-570.
- 56. Cunningham MD, Desai MS, Thompson SA et al. Amniotic fluid phosphatidylglycerol in diabetic pregnancies. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1978; 131:719-724.
- 57. Beppu OS, Clements JA, Goerke J. Phosphatidylglycerol-deficient lung surfactant has normal properties. J Appl Physiol 1983; 55:496-502.
- 58. Katyal SL, Amenta JS, Singh G et al. Deficient lung surfactant apoproteins in amniotic fluid with mature phospholipid profile from diabetic pregnancies. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1984; 148:48-53.
- McMahan MJ, Mimouni F, Miodovnik K et al. Surfactant associated protein (SAP-35) in amniotic fluid from diabetic and non-diabetic pregnancies. Obstet Gynecol 1987; 70:94-98.
- 60. Dekowski SA, Snyder JM.. Insulin regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid for the surfactant-associated proteins in human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1992; 131-669-676.
- 61. Mendelson CR, Boggaram V. Hormonal and developmental regulation of the surfactantassociated proteins in fetal lung. In: Pasqualini JR, Scholler R, eds. Hormones and Fetal Pathophysiology. New York: Dekker, 1992:87-118.
- 62. Guttentag SH, Phelps DS, Stenzel W et al. Surfactant protein A expression is delayed in fetuses of streptozotocin-treated rats. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L489-L494.
- 63. Moglia BB, Phelps DS. Changes in surfactant protein A mRNA levels in a rat model of insulin-treated diabetic pregnancy. Pediatr Res 1996; 39:241-247.
- 64. Rayani HH, Warshaw JB, Floros J. Dexamethasone enhances surfactant protein gene expression in streptozotocin-induced immature rat lungs. Pediatr Res 1995; 38:870-877.

- 65. Whitsett JA, Weaver TE, Lieberman MA et al. Differential effects of epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta on synthesis of Mr = 35,000 surfactant-associated protein in fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:7908-7913.
- 66. Whitsett JA, Budden A, Hull WM et al. Transforming growth factor-beta inhibits surfactant protein A expression in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1123:257-262.
- 67. Warburton D, Seth R, Shum L et al. Epigenetic role of epidermal growth factor expression and signalling in embryonic mouse lung morphogenesis. Dev Biol 1992; 149:123-133.
- 68. Nielsen HC, Martin A, Volpe MV et al. Growth factor control of growth and epithelial differentiation in embryonic lungs. Biochem Mol Med 1997; 60:38-48.
- 69. Seth R, Shum L, Wu F et al. Role of epidermal growth factor expression in early mouse embryo lung branching morphogenesis in culture: Antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibitory strategy. Dev Biol 1993; 158:555-559.
- 70. Miettinen PJ, Berger JE, Meneses J et al. Epithelial immaturity and multiorgan failure in mice lacking epidermal growth factor receptor. Nature 1995; 376:337-341.
- Sibilia M, Wagner EF. Strain-dependent epithelial effects in mice lacking the EGF receptor. Science 1995; 269:234-238.
- 72. Threadgill DW, Dlugosz AA, Hansen LA et al. Targeted disruption of mouse EGF receptor: Effect of genetic background on mutant phenotype. Science 1995; 269:230-234.
- 73. Miettinen PJ, Warburton D, Bu D et al. Impaired lung branching morphogenesis in the absence of functional EGF receptor. Dev Biol 1997; 186:224-236.
- 74. Zhou L, Dey CR, Wert SA et al. Arrested lung morphogenesis in transgenic mice bearing an SP-C-TGF-β1 chimeric gene. Dev Biol 1996; 175:227-238.
- 75. Serra R, Pelton RW, Moses HL. TGFβ1 inhibits branching morphogenesis and N-myc expression in lung bud organ cultures. Development 1994; 120:2153-2161.
- 76. Moens CB, Auerbach AB, Conlon RA et al. A targeted mutation reveals a role for N-myc in branching morphogenesis in the embryonic mouse lung. Genes Dev 1992; 6:691-704.
- 77. Pryhuber GS, O'Reilly MA, Clark JC et al. Phorbol ester inhibits surfactant protein SP-A and SP-B expression. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:20822-20828.
- 78. Wispe JR, Clark JC, Warner BB et al. Tumor necrosis factor-α inhibits expression of pulmonary surfactant protein. J Clin Invest 1990; 86:1954-1960.
- 79. Whitsett JA, Clark JC, Wispe JR et al. Effects of tumor necrosis factor-α and phorbol ester on human surfactant protein and MnSOD gene transcription in vitro. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L688-L693.
- 80. Fraser A, Evan G. A license to kill. Cell 1996; 85:781-784.
- Ballard PL, Liley HG, Gonzales LW et al. Interferon-gamma and synthesis of surfactant components by cultured human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:137-143.
- Bry K, Lappalainen U, Hallman M. Intraamniotic interleukin-1 accelerates surfactant protein synthesis in fetal rabbits and improves lung stability after premature birth. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:2992-2999.
- Bhar V, Hallman M, Lappalainen U et al. Interleukin-1α upregulates the expression of surfactant protein-A in rabbit lung explants. Biol Neonate 1997; 71:46-52.
- 84. Shannon JM, Emrie PA, Fisher JH et al. Effect of a reconstituted basement membrane on expression of surfactant apoproteins in cultured adult rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 1:183-192.
- 85. Alcorn JL, Smith ME, Smith JF et al. Primary cell culture of human type II pneumonocytes: Maintenance of a differentiated phenotype and transfection with recombinant adenoviruses. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; in press.
- Deterding RR, Jacoby CR, Shannon JM. Acidic fibroblast growth factor and keratinocyte growth factor stimulate fetal rat pulmonary epithelial growth. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L495-L505.
- 87. Suguhara K, Rubin JS, Mason RJ et al. Keratinocyte growth factor stimulates mRNAs for SP-A and SP-B in adult rat alveolar type II cells in culture. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L344-L350.

- 88. Cardoso WV, Itoh A, Nogawa et al. FGF-1 and FGF-7 induce distinct patterns of growth and differentiation in embryonic lung epithelium. Dev Dynamics 1997; 208:398-405.
- 89. Seidner SR, Smith ME, Mendelson CR. Developmental and hormonal regulation of SP-A gene expression in baboon fetal lung. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L609-L616.
- 90. Nichols KV, Floros J, Dynia DW. Regulation of surfactant protein A mRNA by hormones and butyrate in cultured fetal rat lung. Am J Physiol 1990; 259:L488-L495.
- 91. Alcorn JL, Gao E, Chen Q et al. Genomic elements involved in transcriptional regulation of the rabbit surfactant protein-A gene. Mol Endocrinol 1993; 7:1072-1085.
- 92. Michael LF, Alcorn JL, Gao E et al. Characterization of the cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate response element of the rabbit surfactant protein-A gene: Evidence for transactivators distinct from CREB/ATF family members. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10:159-170.
- 93. Young PP, Mendelson CR. A CRE-like element plays an essential role in cAMP regulation of human SP-A2 gene in alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L287-L299.
- 94. Boggaram V, Smith ME, Mendelson CR. Regulation of expression of the gene encoding the major surfactant protein (SP-A) in human fetal lung in vitro. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:11421-11427.
- 95. Boggaram V, Smith ME, Mendelson CR. Posttranscriptional regulation of surfactant protein-A messenger RNA in human fetal lung in vitro by glucocorticoids. Mol Endocrinol 1991; 5:414-423.
- 96. McCormick SM, Mendelson CR. Human SP-A1 and SP-A2 genes are differentially regulated during development and by cAMP and glucocorticoids. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L367-L373.
- 97. Giannopoulos G. Identification and ontogeny of β-adrenergic receptors in fetal rabbit lung. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1980; 95:388-394.
- Whitsett JA, Manton MA, Darovec-Beckerman C et al. β-Adrenergic receptors in the developing rabbit lung. Am J Physiol 1981; 240:E351-E357.
- 99. Roberts JM, Jacobs MM, Cheng JB et al. Fetal pulmonary beta-adrenergic receptors: Characterization in human and in vitro modulation by glucocorticoids. Pediatr Pulmonol 1985; 1:S69-S76.
- 100. Barrett CT, Sevanian A, Kaplan SA. Adenylate cyclase activity in immature rabbit lung. Pediat Res 1974; 8:244-247.
- 101. Peleg E, Munsick RA, Diker D, Goldman JA and Ben-Jonathan N. Distribution of catecholamines between fetal and maternal compartments during human pregnancy with emphasis on l-dopa and dopamine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1986; 62:911-914.
- 102. Bergman B, Hedner T Antepartum administration of terbutaline and the incidence of hyaline membrane disease in preterm infants. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1978; 57:217-221.
- 103. Boog G, Brahim MB, Gandar R. Beta-mimetic drugs and possible prevention of respiratory distress syndrome. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1975; 82:285-288.
- 104. Kero P, Hirvonen T, Välimäki I. Prenatal and postnatal isoxuprine and respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet 1973; 2:198.
- 105. Shore SA, Austen KF, Drazen JM. Eicosanoids and the lung. In: Massaro D, ed. Lung Cell Biology. New York: Dekker, 1989:1011-1089.
- 106. Gilfilian AM, Rooney SA. Arachidonic acid metabolites stimulate phosphatidylcholine secretion in primary cultures of type II pneumonocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 833:336-341.
- 107. Bustos R, Ballejo G, Guissi G et al. Inhibition of fetal lung maturation by indomethacin in pregnant rabbits. J Perinat Med 1978; 6:240-245.
- 108. Acarregui MJ, Snyder JM, Mitchell MD et al. Prostaglandins regulate surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene expression in human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1990; 127:1105-1113.
- 109. Acarregui MJ, Snyder JM, Mendelson CR. Oxygen modulates the differentiation of human fetal lung in vitro and its responsiveness to cAMP. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L465-L474.
- 110. Whitsett JA, Pilot T, Clark JC et al. Induction of surfactant protein in fetal lung: Effects of cAMP and dexamethasone on SAP-35 RNA and synthesis. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:5256-5261.

- 111. Liley HG, White RT, Benson BJ et al. Glucocorticoids both stimulate and inhibit production of pulmonary surfactant protein A in fetal human lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988; 85:9096-9100.
- 112. Iannuzzu DM, Ertsey R, Ballard PL. Biphasic glucocorticoid regulation of pulmonary SP-A: Characterization of inhibitory process. Am J Physiol 1993;264:L236-L244.
- 113. Connelly IH, Hammond GL, Harding PGR et al. Levels of surfactant-associated protein messenger ribonucleic acids in rabbit lung during perinatal development and after hormonal treatment. Endocrinology 1991; 129:2583-2591.
- 114. Durham PL, Wohlford-Lenane CL, Snyder JM. Glucocorticoid regulation of surfactantassociated proteins in rabbit fetal lung in vivo. Anat Rec 1993; 237:365-377.
- 115. Schellhase DE, Shannon JM. Effects of maternal dexamethasone on expression of SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in the fetal rat. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:304-312.
- 116. Shimuzu H, Miyamura K, Kuroki Y. Appearance of surfactant proteins, SP-A and SP-B, in developing rat lung and the effects of in vivo dexamethasone treatment. Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1081:53-60.
- 117. Cole TJ, Blendy JA, Monaghan P et al. Targeted disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor gene blocks adrenergic chromaffin cell development and severely retards lung maturation. Genes Develop 1995; 9:1608-1621.
- 118. Hummler E, Barker P, Gatzy J. Early death due to defective neonatal lung liquid clearance in αENaC-deficient mice. Nature Genet 1996; 12:325-328.
- 119. Glass CK. Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor monomers, dimers, and heterodimers. Endocrine Rev 1994; 15:391-407.
- 120. Gao E, Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. Identification of enhancers in the 5'-flanking region of the rabbit surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene and characterization of their binding proteins. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:19697-19709.
- 121. Brindle PK, Montminy MR. The CREB family of transcription activators. Curr Opin Genet Develop 1992; 2:199-204.
- 122. Meyer TE, Habener JF. Cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate response element binding protein (CREB) and related transcription-activating deoxyribonucleic acid-binding proteins. Endocrine Rev 1993; 14:269-290.
- 123. Bokar JA, Roesler WJ, Vandenbark GR et al. Characterization of the cyclic AMP responsive elements from the genes for the alpha-subunit of glycoprotein hormones and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (GTP). J Biol Chem 1988; 263:19740-19747.
- 124. Kouretas D, Karinch AM, Rishi A et al. Conservation analysis of rat and human SP-A gene: Identifies 5'-flanking sequences of rat SP-A that bind rat lung nuclear proteins. Exp Lung Res 1993; 19:485-503.
- 125. Lacaze-Masmonteil T, Fraslon C, Bourbon J et al. Characterization of the rat pulmonary surfactant protein A promoter. Eur J Biochem 1992; 206:613-623.
- 126. Young PP, Mendelson CR. A GT box element is essential for basal and cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate regulation of the human surfactant protein A2 gene in alveolar type II cells: Evidence for the binding of lung nuclear proteins distinct from Sp1. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1082-1093.
- 127. Bruno MD, Bohinski RJ, Huelsman KM et al. Lung cell-specific expression of the murine surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene is mediated by interactions between the SP-A promoter and thyroid transcription factor-1. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:6531-6536.
- 128. Lazzaro D, Price M, De Felice M et al. The transcription factor TTF-1 is expressed at the onset of thyroid and lung morphogenesis and in restricted regions of foetal brain. Development 1991; 113:1093-1104.
- 129. Kimura S, Hara Y, Pineau T et al. The T/*ebp* null mouse: Thyroid-specific, enhancer-binding protein is essential for organogenesis of the thyroid, lung, ventral forebrain, and pituitary. Genes Dev 1996; 10:60-69.
- 130. Gao E, Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. The basic helix-loop-helix-zipper transcription factor USF1 regulates expression of the surfactant protein-A (SP-A) gene. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:23398-23406.

- 131. Michael LF, Lazar MA, Mendelson CR. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma1 expression is induced during cyclic adenosine monophosphate-stimulated differentiation of alveolar type II pneumonocytes. Endocrinology 1997; 138:3695-3703.
- 132. Miller I, Bieker JJ. A novel, erythroid cell-specific murine transcription factor that binds to the CACCC element and is related to the krüppel family of nuclear proteins. Mol Cell Biol 1993; 13:2776-2786.

Cellular and Molecular Processing of Surfactant Protein B

Sui Lin and Timothy E. Weaver

P ulmonary surfactant is composed primarily of phospholipids (predominantly phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylglycerol) and small amounts of surfactant proteins and carbohydrate.^{1,2} Both the phospholipid and protein components are synthesized by the type II epithelial cell, one of two epithelial cells lining the alveolus.³⁻⁶ Newly synthesized surfactant is stored with surfactant recycled from the airway in large secretory granules referred to as lamellar bodies.⁷ Lamellar bodies are released into the airway by exocytosis^{8,9} and the phospholipid and protein contents are rapidly adsorbed to the air-liquid interface of the alveolus where they form a film covering the entire surface of the alveolar epithelium.^{1,2,4,5} Film formation reduces surface tension along the alveolar epithelial wall, thereby preventing alveolar collapse (atelectasis) at end expiration.^{1,2,4,5} Pulmonary surfactant protein B (SP-B) is a lung-specific peptide associated with the surface film and is absolutely required for lung function at birth. Consequently the appropriate developmental regulation of SP-B expression, the proteolytic processing of the newly synthesized preproprotein to the mature peptide, and the assembly of the mature peptide with surfactant phospholipids is critical for successful adaptation to airbreathing at birth.

Structure of SP-B Gene and Proteins

SP-B, M_r approximately 8,000, was initially purified from organic solvent extracts of pulmonary surfactant isolated from alveolar lavage fluid.¹⁰⁻¹² cDNAs encoding human SP-B were isolated by screening a human lung cDNA library with oligonucleotide probes, based on limited amino acid sequence of purified SP-B,^{13,14} or with antiserum generated against purified bovine SP-B.¹⁵ The human SP-B cDNA was subsequently used to screen a human genomic library to isolate the SP-B gene¹⁶ which was shown to encompass approximately 9.5 kilobases (kb) of DNA on chromosome 2.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ The 11 exons of the human gene encode a mRNA of approximately 2 kb which, in turn, encodes a preproprotein of 381 amino acids consisting of a 23 residue signal peptide, a 177 residue NH₂-terminal propeptide, a 79 residue mature peptide and a 102 residue COOH-terminal propeptide (Fig. 4.1).^{6,13,15,19} Processing of the preproprotein within the secretory pathway results in cotranslational removal of the signal peptide followed by proteolytic cleavage of the NH₂- and COOH-terminal propeptides to produce the bioactive mature peptide.²⁰⁻²³ SP-B cDNA from human,¹³⁻¹⁵ canine,¹² rat,²⁴ rabbit^{25,26} and mouse²⁷ are highly conserved, with 80-85% similarity at the mature peptide level and approximately 67% similarity across the entire preproprotein.^{19,28}

Several polymorphisms of the human SP-B gene have been reported.^{16,29} One polymorphism results in an amino acid substitution of isoleucine to threonine at position 131

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing, edited by Seamus A. Rooney. ©1998 R.G. Landes Company.



Fig. 4.1. SP-B processing. Processing of the human SP-B preproprotein includes cotranslational removal of the 23 residue signal peptide and subsequent proteolytic cleavage between gln_{200} and phe_{201} and between met_{279} and asp_{280} to produce the 79 residue mature peptide, which forms a sulfhydryl-dependent homodimer. A consensus sequence for the addition of N-linked oligosaccharide (Y) is present in the COOH-terminal propeptides of all species. A second glycosylation consensus sequence in the NH₂-terminal propeptide is the result of a polymorphism in the human gene.

in the NH₂-terminal propeptide, resulting in a potential site for the addition of complextype asparagine-linked oligosaccharide (Asparagine-X-Serine/Threonine, where X is any amino acid except proline) at residue 129 of the NH₂-terminal propeptide.¹⁵ A second glycosylation site is present at residue 311 in the COOH-terminal propeptide of SP-B^{13,15} which is conserved among all species examined to date.^{12,24-27} Although glycosylation at both sites has been detected,^{20,21,30,31} the significance of this modification is not known.

The 79 residue mature peptide is positively charged and highly hydrophobic. More than 50% of SP-B is composed of hydrophobic amino acids, predominantly valine and leucine which alone account for almost one-third of all residues in the mature peptide. The mature peptide is also strongly positively charged due in part to the relatively large number of arginine residues. The charged residues and hydrophobic residues are arranged in three to four amphipathic helices such that more than half of the mature peptide is present in an α -helical conformation.^{27,32,33} This structure facilitates association of SP-B with the surface film, mainly through interaction with negatively charged headgroups of phosphatidylglycerol.^{32,34,35} SP-B promotes aggregation, disruption and fusion of liposomes containing negatively charged phospholipids,^{34,36-39} properties that may be important in organizing newly secreted phospholipids within the alveolar hypophase.

Another significant feature of SP-B structure is the high cysteine content of both the mature peptide (7 residues) and the proprotein (25 residues).^{12-16,24-27,40} The pattern of disulfide bridges in the porcine mature peptide consists of three intrachain bonds which link cysteine residues 8, 11 and 35 with residues 77, 71 and 46, respectively, resulting in a small disulfide loop within a larger loop;^{41,42} the remaining cysteine at position 48 of the mature peptide participates in the formation of homodimers. Although homodimers are the pre-

dominant form of SP-B in most species,^{19,41} the importance of dimerization for SP-B function is not known. The positions of the cysteines are absolutely conserved in SP-B among all species,^{12-15,24-27,40,42} suggesting that disulfide bridges are critical for stabilizing SP-B conformation. This pattern of disulfide bridging and helical structure is also detected in the saposins, peptides involved in the lysosomal catabolism of glycosphingolipids.^{33,43} The importance of intramolecular disulfide bonds for saposin C function was demonstrated by disruption of the first disulfide bridge which resulted in an inability to activate β -glucosidase.^{43,44} Interestingly the disulfide bonding pattern typical of saposins and the mature SP-B peptide is reiterated in the NH₂- and COOH-terminal propeptides of SP-B.⁴⁵ Although the pattern of cysteine pairing in the propeptides is not known, it is likely that these residues participate in intramolecular bonds, since sulfhydryl-dependent oligomerization of the proprotein or the major processing intermediate (M_r = 25,000) are never observed.

Biosynthesis and Intracellular Trafficking of SP-B

Cellular Site of SP-B Synthesis in the Lung

The cellular localization of SP-B has been confirmed at both mRNA and protein levels by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry in various species including human,^{22,46-49} rabbit,⁵⁰ rat^{51,52} and mouse.^{27,53} Human SP-B mRNA and proprotein are primarily expressed in the distal conducting and terminal airway epithelium in developing and postnatal lung,^{47,49,54} similar to surfactant protein A (SP-A) expression, whereas surfactant protein C (SP-C) expression is restricted to type II cells of the alveolar epithelium.^{49,51} In human fetal lung, SP-B mRNA, proprotein and mature peptide are colocalized in alveolar type II cells, whereas only SP-B mRNA and proprotein are detected in nonciliated bronchiolar epithelial cells (Clara cells).46,47,49 Although SP-B expression increases in Clara cells and decreases in type II cells following hyperoxic lung injury,^{53,55} it remains unclear if Clara cells process the proprotein and secrete mature peptide into the alveolar space in either normal or injured lung. The inability to detect the mature peptide in Clara cells of normal lung by immunocytochemistry suggests distinct functions for SP-B in alveolar and bronchiolar epithelial cells. SP-B mature peptide is also detected in alveolar macrophages of mature lung; however, neither SP-B mRNA nor SP-B proprotein or processing intermediate are detected in these cells, consistent with SP-B catabolism in this compartment.^{46,47,51,52}

Intracellular Processing, Transport, Secretion and Metabolism of SP-B

SP-B is synthesized by the alveolar type II epithelial cell as a 381 amino acid preproprotein. Translocation of newly synthesized SP-B preproprotein into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is accompanied by the cleavage of the 23 residue signal peptide and the addition of high mannose oligosaccharide (Fig. 4.1). The 42 kDa proprotein is further cleaved between gln₂₀₀ and phe₂₀₁ to a 25 kDa intermediate consisting of the mature peptide and the COOH-terminal propeptide; subsequent processing between met₂₇₉ and asp₂₈₀ results in liberation of the 8 kDa mature peptide (Fig. 4.1).^{21-23,30} The compartment in which endoproteolytic cleavage occurs has been identified by immunogold labeling of ultrathin frozen sections: SP-B proprotein is detected in the ER, Golgi and multivesicular bodies of alveolar type II cells, whereas the mature peptide is only detected in multivesicular and lamellar bodies.⁵⁶ Double immunogold labeling analyses confirmed that multivesicular bodies are the only compartment which contains both the SP-B precursor and the mature peptide, consistent with proteolytic processing in this organelle.⁵⁶ The identity of the endoprotease(s) responsible for propeptide cleavage is currently not known.

Trafficking of SP-B to the lamellar body requires the appropriate folding of the proprotein within the ER lumen and subsequent transport to the trans-Golgi network, where

the proprotein is sorted away from the constitutive secretory pathway and into the regulated secretory pathway (i.e., to the lamellar body). Given the potential of the mature SP-B to disrupt lipid membranes, the proprotein must be folded such that the mature peptide is prevented from interacting with membranes of the secretory compartment. Similar to most enzymes and peptide hormones, SP-B is synthesized as part of a larger, inactive polypeptide precursor in which the hydrophobic, mature peptide is flanked by relatively hydrophilic NH₂- and COOH-terminal propeptides. Recent studies demonstrated that the NH₂-terminal propeptide alone is both necessary and sufficient for appropriate folding and transport of the mature peptide in the secretory pathway³¹ and that the combination of the NH₂terminal propeptide and the mature peptide is absolutely required for sorting of SP-B to lamellar bodies in vivo.⁵⁷ The colocalization of SP-A, SP-B and SP-C in vesicles originating from the trans-Golgi network⁵⁸ and the targeting of SP-B to secretory granules in both endocrine and exocrine cells⁵⁷ suggest that distinct targeting determinants within each surfactant protein are recognized by a universal sorting mechanism.

The alveolar type II epithelial cell is a specialized exocrine cell which secretes pulmonary surfactant in response to a variety of extracellular stimuli^{2,4,59} (see chapter 7). Similar to secretory granules of other exocrine cells, secretion of lamellar bodies is stimulated by secretagogues such as β-adrenergic agonists,⁶⁰⁻⁶² A₂ and P2 purinoceptor agonists^{63,64} and 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA).^{60,65,66} Although the physiologically relevant stimuli are not known, it is likely that hyperventilation⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ and stretch⁷⁰ play a role in surfactant secretion. Following secretion, lamellar bodies rapidly transform into a lattice-like structure referred to as tubular myelin, which is likely the immediate precursor of the surface film.^{8,71,72} The mechanism underlying the tubular myelin to surface film transition is not clear. Although it has been shown that both SP-B and SP-A are required for the formation of tubular myelin in vitro,73,74 the importance of this structure is unclear, as SP-A deficient mice which lack tubular myelin have normal lung function.⁷⁵ It is clear that SP-B plays an important role in facilitating the rapid adsorption to and insertion of phospholipids into the expanding surface film⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ (see chapter 1). SP-B may also facilitate the removal of lipids from the monolayer during compression of the surface film.^{35,78-80} It is important to note that these properties are also shared by SP-C^{35,76,77} and that the individual contributions of these two peptides to the adsorption, spreading, surface tension reducing properties and turnover of surfactant phospholipids remains unclear.

The majority of phospholipid removed from the monolayer is recycled from the airspace by the type II cell.⁸¹⁻⁸⁴ The internalization of phospholipids by isolated type II cells and immortalized murine lung epithelial (MLE) cells is promoted by both native and synthetic SP-B peptides,⁸⁵⁻⁸⁸ consistent with a role for SP-B in surfactant recycling. SP-B is also recycled by the type II cell,⁸⁹ but its clearance is more rapid than that of phospholipids.⁹⁰⁻⁹² Although SP-B internalization does not appear to be mediated by a receptor, this issue is not completely settled.^{89,93} Following internalization, SP-B is detected in endocytic vesicles, multivesicular bodies and lamellar bodies as well as lamellar bodies undergoing exocytosis,⁸⁹ indicating that both the multivesicular body and the lamellar body communicate extensively with the endocytic pathway within the alveolar type II cell and that some fraction of secreted SP-B peptide is recycled and reutilized. A fraction of the SP-B internalized by isolated type II cells is also degraded;⁹⁴ SP-B degradation has also been detected in isolated alveolar macrophages⁹⁴ and it is likely that these two cell types represent the major sites of SP-B catabolism.

Regulation of SP-B Expression

Expression of SP-B During Lung Development

The ontogeny of SP-B has been studied at both the mRNA and protein levels in human,^{48,49,95,96} rabbit,^{25,26,50,97,98} rat⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹ and mouse lung.²⁷ The levels of SP-B mRNA and protein increase during fetal lung development in all species examined to date. SP-B mRNA is detected as early as 12 weeks gestation in human fetal lung and increases to 50% of the amount in adult lung by the end of the second trimester.⁹⁵ Expression of SP-B and SP-C genes is initiated at an earlier stage of gestation than SP-A,^{50,95,102,103} consistent with independent regulation of these genes during fetal and postnatal development. SP-B proprotein is detected as early as 15 weeks gestation;⁴⁹ however, significant amounts of mature SP-B are not detected until late in the second trimester, consistent with the onset of lamellar body morphogenesis at approximately 24 weeks gestation.⁹⁶ Synthesis and secretion of SP-B dramatically increase during approximately the last 20% of gestation, as indicated by the detection of SP-B in amniotic fluid at approximately 30 weeks gestation.^{104,105} SP-B mRNA and protein peak immediately prior to birth, reaching levels that exceed those in adult lung.^{25,26,99,106} This phenomenon likely reflects increased transcription of the SP-B gene as well as an increase in the number of SP-B expressing cells and correlates with improved surface properties of surfactant and overall lung maturity.96,107 Genetic ablation of the SP-B gene in transgenic mice results in atelectasis and the lack of lamellar bodies and tubular myelin in the lungs of newborn animals,¹⁰⁸ supporting a role for SP-B in lamellar body biogenesis as well as tubular myelin formation; however, overall lung development (airway branching, number of type II cells, etc.) is not impaired in SP-B deficient mice.

Basal, Tissue/Cell-Specific and Developmental Regulation of SP-B Expression

The modulation of gene expression is dependent upon specific interactions of transcription factors with regulatory elements which reside most frequently in the flanking regions of promoters.^{109,110} Lung-specific expression of SP-B results from the binding of specific transcription factors, in particular combinations at the 5'-flanking region of the human111-113 and murine114 SP-B promoter. Two cis-acting elements have been mapped to the proximal region (nucleotide positions -73 to -111 bp, relative to the transcription start site) and the distal region (-439 to -331 bp) in the 5'-flanking sequence of the human SP-B promoter by DNase I hypersensitivity and DNase I footprinting analyses.¹¹¹ The proximal element is sufficient to direct lung-specific expression in human lung adenocarcinoma (H441) cells in vitro¹¹¹ and in transgenic mice (Bohinski R and Whitsett JA, unpublished observations); a complex binding site, consisting of two sites for thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1) and one site for hepatocyte nuclear factor 3α (HNF- 3α), resides in this proximal region of the SP-B promoter.¹¹² Binding of TTF-1 and HNF-3 α results in significant enhancement of SP-B promoter function^{112,113} and the stimulatory effect of these two factors is synergistic.¹¹² Mutation of TTF-1 and HNF-3α binding sites in this region abolishes binding of both transcription factors and significantly diminishes transcriptional activity of the SP-B promoter.¹¹² The enhancer function of the distal region of the SP-B promoter was established by its ability to activate the SV40 promoter in both forward and reverse orientations.¹¹³ Similar to the proximal region, three clustered TTF-1 binding sites were identified in this region.¹¹³ Disruption of an individual TTF-1 binding site in this region results in either elimination or impairment of transcription, indicating that TTF-1 binding is absolutely required for enhancer activity.¹¹³ Overall, these results suggest that TTF-1 and HNF-3 α are required for both basal and cell-specific expression of SP-B.

Expression of TTF-1, a homeodomain transcription factor of the Nkx2.1 gene family, is limited to developing thyroid, brain and lung.¹¹⁵ Immunohistochemical studies demon-

strated that TTF-1 is expressed at high levels in distal epithelial cells of the branching airway during lung development¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁸ and that its expression in the alveolar type II cell precedes and subsequently overlaps with expression of the SP-B proprotein and mature peptide.¹¹⁸ Such data further support a regulatory role for TTF-1 in the developmental and lung-specific expression of SP-B. Disruption of the mouse TTF-1 gene results in severe pulmonary hypoplasia,119 consistent with a key role for TTF-1 in lung epithelial morphogenesis. As for TTF-1, expression of HNF-3 α overlaps with SP-B expression,¹²⁰ consistent with its proposed role in mediating developmental and lung-specific expression of SP-B. HNF- 3α has also been shown to activate transcription of TTF-1 luciferase in MLE cells in vitro121 and to have an earlier developmental onset than TTF-1,¹¹² suggesting that HNF-3 α may be an important early determinant of epithelial cell differentiation. Interestingly, TTF-1 has recently been shown to bind regulatory elements within the HNF-3α promoter, suggesting that crosstalk between these two transcription factors may play an important role in the regulation of SP-B expression in developing lung.¹²² However, both TTF-1 and HNF-3α are detected in tissues other than lung,^{115,123} and TTF-1 is required for expression of Clara cell secretory protein (CCSP),^{112,124} SP-A^{112,125} and SP-C,^{112,126} indicating that these two factors are not sufficient for cell-specific expression of SP-B. Recently, Margana and Boggaram reported that the ubiquitous nuclear proteins Sp1 and Sp3 are also necessary for maintenance of SP-B promoter activity in H441 cells;127 however, as for TTF-1, Sp1 and Sp3 may also play a role in transcription of the CCSP and HNF-3α genes.^{122,124} Overall, the regulation of SP-B gene transcription is very complex and the cis- and trans-acting elements that direct basal, cell-specific and developmental expression of SP-B are incompletely understood.

Modulation of SP-B Expression by Hormones, Cytokines and Growth Factors

Expression of SP-B mRNA and protein are rapidly induced in explant culture and are detected as early as 12 hours when fetal lung tissue is cultured in the absence of hormones.^{20,95} Expression of the 42 kDa SP-B proprotein and 25 kDa processing intermediate, as well as the 18 kDa dimer form of the mature peptide are detected, indicating that processing enzymes are also expressed in explant culture.^{20,22} Taken together, these data suggest that type II cell maturation proceeds rapidly when fetal lung tissue is removed from an inhibitory in vivo environment. A number of hormones, cytokines and growth factors alter the time course and level of SP-B expression in explant culture. In contrast, several agents, including interleukin-1 and interferon- γ , ^{128,129} alter expression of SP-A and/or SP-C without any effect on that of SP-B.

Positive Regulation of SP-B Expression

Glucocorticoids

Maternal administration of glucocorticoids has been shown to enhance fetal lung maturation and to stimulate synthesis of surfactant phospholipids^{130,131} (see chapter 2). The effects of glucocorticoid treatment on SP-B expression have been studied, mainly in explants of fetal human,^{95,96,132,133} rat¹³⁴ and rabbit^{26,106,135} lung as well as in H441 cells.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸ In explant culture, the levels of SP-B mRNA increase approximately 2- to 3-fold in the absence of exogenous hormones and SP-B expression is further enhanced by addition of dexamethasone to the culture medium.^{95,96,133,134} Glucocorticoid effects are receptor-mediated and occur in a dose- and time-dependent manner.^{20,95,106,132-134} Increased SP-B mRNA levels are detected after 10 hours exposure to dexamethasone and reach maximal levels (approximately 4-fold) by 24-48 hours; half maximal stimulation occurs at a concentration of 1 nM dexamethasone.⁹⁵ Increased mRNA levels are completely reversed within 48 hours of removing hormone from the culture medium.⁹⁵ SP-B mRNA is also induced by natural corticosteroids but not by sex steroids.⁹⁵ Similar effects of glucocorticoids on SP-B mRNA expression are seen in explants of fetal rabbit^{26,106,135} and rat¹³⁴ lung although the kinetics of induction are different among these species. Dexamethasone also enhances SP-B mRNA and protein expression in H441 cells in a dose-responsive fashion and removal of the hormone results in decreased SP-B mRNA levels.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸ The stimulatory effects of glucocorticoids on SP-B expression seen in vitro also occur in fetal lung in vivo following maternal administration of dexamethasone.^{100,131,139}

Although glucocorticoid treatment increases SP-B expression in vivo and in vitro, the molecular mechanism underlying this effect is not clear. Both actinomycin D and 5,6-dichloro-1- β -ribofuranyosyl benzimidazole, inhibitors of RNA synthesis, block dexamethasone-induced accumulation of SP-B mRNA,^{26,132,133,138} consistent with an effect of glucocorticoids on SP-B transcription. Nuclear run-on experiments demonstrate that dexamethasone treatment results in either a 2- to 3-fold increase^{26,132,138} or no detectable effect¹⁰⁶ on SP-B gene transcription. In the studies in which glucocorticoid treatment is associated with an increased rate of transcription, the magnitude of the increase is consistently less than the overall increase in mRNA level, suggesting that mRNA stability also contributes to glucocorticoid-induced accumulation of SP-B mRNA. Direct evidence for this hypothesis is provided by studies of SP-B mRNA half life, which demonstrate that dexamethasone significantly increases SP-B mRNA stability.^{26,132} Collectively, the results of these studies suggest that the stimulatory effects of glucocorticoid on SP-B gene and increased stability of its mRNA.^{26,132,138}

A number of questions remain regarding the mechanism whereby glucocorticoids stimulate SP-B gene transcription and the importance of this effect in vivo. The relative contributions of increased rate of transcription (an increase in the number of transcripts from each SP-B gene) and increased number of type II cells (an increase in the number of SP-B genes available for transcription) to the overall increase in the number of SP-B mRNA transcripts following glucocorticoid treatment remain unresolved. It is also not clear if glucocorticoids act directly or indirectly on the SP-B gene; to date no functional glucocorticoid response element has been identified within or flanking the SP-B gene. Finally, there are some questions as to the role of endogenous glucocorticoids in the initiation and maintenance of SP-B expression. Adrenalectomy does not alter SP-B mRNA levels, suggesting a minor role for glucocorticoids in the maintenance of SP-B expression.¹⁴⁰ Targeted disruption of the mouse glucocorticoid receptor gene results in acute respiratory distress and death within a few hours of birth; however, SP-B expression appears to be unaffected.¹⁴¹ In summary, although exogenous glucocorticoids stimulate SP-B expression, there is relatively little evidence that endogenous glucocorticoids play an important role in the developmental or basal regulation of SP-B expression or that glucocorticoids directly bind elements within or around the SP-B gene.

Cyclic AMP

Compared to glucocorticoids, SP-B mRNA levels are enhanced to a lesser extent by cyclic AMP (cAMP) and its analogs in cultured explants of fetal human,^{20,95} rat¹³⁴ and rabbit²⁶ lung. Levels of SP-B mRNA are also elevated by agents such as terbutaline, forskolin and prostaglandins that increase intracellular cAMP concentration.^{95,142} In combination experiments, treatment of rat fetal lung explant cultures with dibutyryl cAMP and dexamethasone results in an additive effect on the levels of SP-B mRNA expression, whereas the effect of a combination of 8-bromo cAMP and dexamethasone is not significantly different from that of dexamethasone alone.¹³⁴ Dibutyryl cAMP increases both transcription and overall SP-B mRNA levels by two to 3-fold without any effect on mRNA stability, suggesting that cAMP modulates SP-B expression primarily at the level of gene transcription.²⁶

The sequence from -218 to +41 bp in the 5'-flanking region of the human SP-B gene shows markedly increased reporter gene expression in response to cAMP-dependent protein kinase (protein kinase A, PKA); however, the absence of a canonical cAMP response element within this region of the SP-B promoter suggests that the effect of cAMP is indirect. Consistent with this hypothesis, the catalytic subunit of PKA (cat- β) phosphorylates TTF-1 at thr₉ and phosphorylation at this position correlates directly with increased transcription from the SP-B promoter.¹⁴³ Overall, the results of these studies suggest that cAMP is likely an important regulator of SP-B expression, although its precise role in basal, developmental or cell-specific expression remains to be elucidated.

Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) and retinoic acid

KGF and retinoic acid may play important roles in lung development. KGF is a potent mitogen for alveolar type II cells in vivo¹⁴⁴ and in vitro^{145,146} and treatment of isolated type II cells with KGF results in a 2- to 3-fold increase in SP-B mRNA.^{144,146} A similar response is detected following treatment with acidic fibroblast growth factor which also binds the KGF receptor. The effect of retinoic acid on SP-B expression is less clear with both an increase^{147,148} and a decrease¹⁴⁹ in SP-B mRNA reported in fetal lung explants. The molecular mechanisms underlying altered SP-B expression are not known and the roles of KGF and retinoic acid in type II cell differentiation and airway branching morphogenesis in vivo remain to be established.

Negative Regulation of SP-B Expression

There is increasing evidence that lowered levels of SP-B contribute to the pathogenesis of various lung diseases. Decreased levels of SP-B are associated with increased risk of respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) in premature infants¹⁰⁵ and of acute RDS in adults.¹⁵⁰ Low levels of SP-B were also associated with chronic lung disease in a human patient¹⁵¹ and SP-B levels of less than 1% failed to rescue SP-B knockout mice;¹⁵² further, mice hemizygous for the SP-B gene (i.e., having only one functional SP-B allele) exhibit decreased lung compliance and airtrapping.¹⁵³

At least two agents decrease SP-B mRNA levels, tumor necrosis factor- α and TPA. The inhibitory effect of these agents is mediated by both transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms.¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁵⁶ Reduced levels of SP-B mRNA in H441 cells are primarily related to decreased mRNA stability, which is conferred by an element within the 3'-untranslated region of human SP-B mRNA.¹⁵⁷ The mechanism leading to decreased transcription of the SP-B gene is less clear. The human SP-B gene contains an AP-1 element downstream from the transcription initiation site (+15 to +31 bp) which is likely required for basal transcription,¹⁵⁸ but there is no evidence that TPA acts through this element. In contrast, TPA strongly inhibits transcription from the upstream promoter region (-208 to -54 bp);¹⁵⁹ however, this region does not contain an AP-1 element, suggesting that a novel element mediates the effect or, more likely, that TPA acts indirectly through some other transcription factor, such as TTF-1, that binds this sequence. Further studies leading to the identification of cis- and trans-acting factors that negatively regulate SP-B expression may provide insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying SP-B deficiency associated with various pathologic conditions.

Function of SP-B

Surfactant deficiency results in compromised gas exchange (i.e., poor oxygenation) that frequently requires respiratory support. The most common cause of surfactant defi-

ciency in neonates is premature birth, which is often accompanied by RDS. Administration of surfactant lipid extracts containing SP-B and SP-C to newborn infants suffering from RDS dramatically improves oxygenation, thereby reducing the need for respiratory support.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶² Surfactant replacement preparations that do not include SP-B appear to be less effective in vitro and in vivo^{163,164} and the addition of SP-B significantly improves such preparations.¹⁶⁵

The importance of SP-B for surfactant function is underscored by the lethal phenotype associated with genetic deficiency of SP-B. Several infants have been identified in which a substitution of GAA for C in exon four of the SP-B gene leads to the introduction of a premature termination codon for translation, resulting in a complete absence of SP-B mRNA and protein.¹⁶⁶ These infants are generally full-term but rapidly develop serve RDS and ultimately succumb despite intensive respiratory support.^{166,167} Genetic ablation of the SP-B gene by homologous recombination in transgenic mice results in similar perinatal respiratory failure associated with atelectasis and alterations in the routing, storage and function of surfactant phospholipids and proteins.¹⁰⁸ This disorder is also associated with the aberrant processing and secretion of an immature SP-C peptide which may contribute to respiratory dysfunction.^{167,168} Collectively, these results demonstrate that SP-B is required for intracellular organization of surfactant phospholipids, proteolytic processing of the SP-C proprotein and optimal surface properties of alveolar surfactant. The mechanism(s) by which SP-B facilitates these processes and the structural domains underlying each of these functions are currently not well understood.

Intracellular Functions of SP-B

Administration of surfactant replacement preparations containing SP-B failed to reverse progressive respiratory decline in an infant with inherited SP-B deficiency, suggesting that intracellular SP-B plays a critical role in surfactant homeostasis.¹⁶⁹ Recent studies by Akinbi et al¹⁵² have provided some insight into the potential intracellular functions of SP-B. The absence of SP-B in SP-B knockout mice is accompanied by a complete lack of typical lamellar bodies and the occurrence of composite bodies containing multivesicular bodies and loosely organized multilamellar membranes.¹⁰⁸ Expression of an SP-B construct encoding the NH₂-terminal propertide and mature peptide (SP- B_{AC} , in which the sequence encoding the 102 amino acid COOH-terminal propeptide is deleted) in SP-B knockout mice results in the formation of lamellar bodies consisting of tightly organized multilamellated membranes similar to those in wild type littermates; further, these mice are all viable, indicating that SP-B_{AC} restores the surface properties of alveolar surfactant. These results suggest that the mature SP-B peptide and/or the NH₂-terminal propeptide play an important role in lamellar body morphogenesis. However, despite the normal concentric arrangement of membranes in lamellar bodies in rescued SP-B knockout animals, these inclusions are often dramatically enlarged, resulting in a significant increase in the intracellular surfactant pool. Surfactant synthesis and secretion are only marginally affected in these animals and the alveolar surfactant pool size and phospholipid composition are normal. Taken together, these results suggest that the COOH-terminal propeptide of SP-B may play a role in the metabolism of surfactant phospholipids internalized from the airway. Finally, expression of SP-B_{AC} in SP-B knockout mice largely corrects misprocessing of the SP-C proprotein, suggesting that the COOH-terminal propeptide is not required for this function. Overall, the expression of various mutated or deleted SP-B proteins in the knockout background provides a powerful experimental paradigm that should facilitate systematic structure/function analyses of SP-B within the context of the intact animal.

The Anti-Atelectatic Properties of SP-B

Results of a number of studies suggest that the mature SP-B peptide enhances formation, maintenance and turnover of the surfactant monolayer, thereby promoting alveolar stability during respiration (see chapter 1). Alveolar surface tension at equilibrium is about 25 mN/m and is reduced to near zero at end expiration in order to oppose the forces created by decreased alveolar radius.⁵ The reduction in surface tension is primarily related to the phospholipid components of surfactant; however, in the absence of SP-B and SP-C the adsorption and spreading of phospholipids is relatively poor,^{170,171} resulting in elevated surface tension at low lung volumes and increased resistance to inflation. Purified SP-B dramatically enhances the formation of phospholipid films in vitro.^{12,164,172,173} SP-B promotes the formation of a stable surface film by facilitating the insertion and removal of phospholipid molecules from the monolayer during alveolar expansion and contraction.^{35,76-80} This property is likely related to the interaction of the positively charged SP-B peptide with negatively charged phosphatidylglycerol molecules.^{32,34,35} SP-B may also contribute to stabilization of the surface film during lung injury: The influx of serum proteins into the alveolar space markedly inhibits surface activity and this inhibition is partially overcome by SP-B.^{164,174} Finally, in addition to promoting alveolar stability, SP-B may play a role in maintaining the patency of terminal airways. Heterozygous SP-B +/- mice have a 50% reduction in mature SP-B peptide and normal levels of SP-C.¹⁵³ Inflation/deflation curves in these mice showed significantly increased residual volumes relative to wild type littermates, likely related to small airway collapse at low deflation pressures.¹⁵³ Whether this outcome is the result of decreased SP-B in type II cells or Clara cells remains unclear.

The Role of SP-B in Phospholipid Recycling

The removal of phospholipid molecules from the surfactant monolayer results in vesicles which have low surface activity and are relatively depleted in surfactant proteins.^{175,176} Most of this form of surfactant phospholipid is taken up by type II cells for reutilization.^{83,84} Native and synthetic SP-B peptides enhance the uptake of phospholipid by isolated type II cells and fibroblasts;^{7,88} however, uptake stimulated by SP-B is significantly less than that stimulated by SP-C and the latter uptake is reduced in the presence of SP-B.⁸⁸ Overall, the precise role of SP-B in phospholipid uptake in vitro and the physiological relevance of these findings remain unclear.

Future Directions

Although it is now clear that SP-B is absolutely required for lung function, many questions remain regarding the regulation of SP-B expression, the precise intracellular and extracellular functions of SP-B and the mechanisms by which these functions are executed. The recent generation of cell lines with type II cell characteristics¹⁷⁷ should expedite the identification of transcription factors and their cognate recognition sequences that modulate basal and cell-specific expression of SP-B, while the use of transgenic mice, although expensive and time-consuming, should facilitate analyses of the developmental regulation of SP-B expression. The availability of lung cell-specific promoters (such as CCSP and SP-C) and the SP-B knockout mouse¹⁰⁸ will permit replacement of wild type SP-B in type II cells and/or Clara cells with selectively mutated forms of SP-B, as recently described.¹⁵² This strategy should provide new insight into the various functions of SP-B and facilitate the identification of structural domains underlying these functions.

References

1. Wright JR, Clements JA. Metabolism and turnover of lung surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:426-444.

- Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994; 8:957-967.
- 3. Hawgood S, Shiffer K. Structures and properties of the surfactant-associated proteins. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:375-394.
- 4. Wright JR, Dobbs LG. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant secretion and clearance. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:395-414.
- 5. van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, Robertson B. The pulmonary surfactant system. News Physiol Sci 1994; 9:13-20.
- 6. Kuroki Y, Voelker DR. Pulmonary surfactant proteins. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:25943-25946.
- 7. Wright JR. Clearance and recycling of pulmonary surfactant. Am J Physiol 1990; 259:L1-L12.
- 8. Ryan US, Ryan JW, Smith DS. Alveolar type II cells: Studies on the mode of release of lamellar bodies. Tissue Cell 1975; 7:587-599.
- 9. Kliewer M, Fram EK, Brody AR, Young SL. Secretion of surfactant by rat alveolar type II cells: Morphometric analysis and three-dimensional reconstruction. Exp Lung Res 1985; 9:351-361.
- 10. Whitsett JA, Ohning BL, Ross G et al. Hydrophobic surfactant-associated protein in whole lung surfactant and its importance for biophysical activity in lung surfactant extracts used for replacement therapy. Pediatr Res 1986; 20:460-467.
- 11. Whitsett JA, Hull WM, Ohning Bet al. Immunologic identification of a pulmonary surfactant-associated protein of molecular weight = 6000 daltons. Pediatr Res 1986; 20:744-749.
- 12. Hawgood S, Benson BJ, Schilling J et al. Nucleotide and amino acid sequences of pulmonary surfactant protein SP 18 and evidence for cooperation between SP 18 and SP 28-36 in surfactant lipid adsorption. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:66-70.
- 13. Jacobs KA, Phelps DS, Steinbrink R et al. Isolation of a cDNA clone encoding a high molecular weight precursor to a 6-kDa pulmonary surfactant-associated protein. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:9808-9811.
- 14. Revak SD, Merritt TA, Degryse E et al. Use of human surfactant low molecular weight apoproteins in the reconstitution of surfactant biologic activity. J Clin Invest 1988; 81:826-833.
- Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Weaver TE et al. cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence of human pulmonary surfactant-associated proteolipid SPL(Phe). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:4007-4011.
- 16. Pilot-matias TJ, Kister SE, Fox JL et al. Structure and organization of the gene encoding human pulmonary surfactant proteolipid SP-B. DNA 1989; 8:75-86.
- 17. Emrie PA, Jones C, Hofmann T et al. The coding sequence for the human 18,000-dalton hydrophobic pulmonary surfactant protein is located on chromosome 2 and identifies a restriction fragment length polymorphism. Somatic Cell Mol Genet 1988; 14:105-110.
- 18. Vamvakopoulos NC, Modi WS, Floros J. Mapping the human pulmonary surfactant-associated protein B gene (SFTP3) to chromosome 2p12→p11.2. Cytogenet Cell Genet 1995; 68:8-10.
- 19. Weaver TE, Whitsett JA. Function and regulation of expression of pulmonary surfactantassociated proteins. Biochem J 1991; 273:249-264.
- 20. Whitsett JA, Weaver TE, Clark JC et al. Glucocorticoid enhances surfactant proteolipid Phe and pVal synthesis and RNA in fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:15618-15623.
- O'Reilly MA, Weaver TE, Pilot-Matias TJ et al. In vitro translation, post-translational processing and secretion of pulmonary surfactant protein B precursors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1011:140-148.
- 22. Weaver TE, Sarin VK, Sawtell N et al. Identification of surfactant proteolipid SP-B in human surfactant and fetal lung. J Appl Physiol 1988; 65:982-987.
- 23. Weaver TE, Lin S, Bogucki B et al. Processing of surfactant protein-B proprotein by a cathepsin-D-like protease. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L95-L103.
- 24. Emrie PA, Shannon JM, Mason RJ et al. cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence for the rat hydrophobic pulmonary surfactant-associated protein, SP-B. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 994:215-221.

- 25. Xu JJ, Richardson C, Ford C et al. Isolation and characterization of the cDNA for pulmonary surfactant-associated protein-B (SP-B) in the rabbit. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1989; 160:325-332.
- Margana RK, Boggaram V. Transcription and mRNA stability regulate developmental and hormonal expression of rabbit surfactant protein B gene. Am J Physiol 1995; 12:L481-L490.
- Damore-Bruno MA, Wikenheiser KA, Carter JE et al. Sequence, ontogeny, and cellular localization of murine surfactant protein-B messenger RNA. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L40-L47.
- Whitsett JA, Nogee LM, Weaver TE et al. Human surfactant protein B: Structure, function, regulation, and genetic disease. Physiol Rev 1995; 75:749-757.
- 29. Floros J, Veletza SV, Kotikalapudi P et al. Dinucleotide repeats in the human surfactant protein-B gene and respiratory-distress syndrome. Biochem J 1995; 305:583-590.
- 30. Weaver TE, Whitsett JA. Processing of hydrophobic pulmonary surfactant protein B in rat type II cells. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L100-L108.
- 31. Lin S, Phillips KS, Wilder MR et al. Structural requirements for intracellular transport of pulmonary surfactant protein B (SP-B). Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1312:177-185.
- 32. Vandenbussche G, Clercx A, Clercx M et al. Secondary structure and orientation of the surfactant protein SP-B in a lipid environment—a fourier transform infrared spectroscopy study. Biochemistry 1992; 31:9169-9176.
- 33. Andersson M, Curstedt T, Jornvall H et al. An amphipathic helical motif common to tumourolytic polypeptide NK-lysin and pulmonary surfactant polypeptide SP-B. FEBS Lett 1995; 362:328-332.
- 34. Baatz JE, Elledge B, Whitsett JA. Surfactant protein SP-B induces ordering at the surface of model membrane bilayers. Biochemistry 1990; 29:6714-6720.
- 35. Yu SH, Possmayer F. Role of bovine pulmonary surfactant-associated proteins in the surface-active property of phospholipid mixtures. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1046:233-241.
- 36. Shiffer K, Hawgood S, Duzgunes N et al. Interactions of the low molecular weight group of surfactant-associated proteins (SP 5-18) with pulmonary surfactant lipids. Biochemistry 1988; 27:2689-2695.
- Poulain FR, Allen L, Williams MC et al. Effects of surfactant A apolipoproteins on liposome structure—implications for tubular myelin formation. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L730-L739.
- 38. Oosterlakendijksterhuis MA, Vaneijk M, Vangolde LMG et al. Lipid mixing is mediated by the hydrophobic surfactant protein SP-B but not by SP-C. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1110:45-50.
- 39. Poulain FR, Nir S, Hawgood S. Kinetics of phospholipid membrane fusion induced by surfactant apoproteins A and B. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1278:169-175.
- 40. Curstedt T, Johansson J, Barros-Soderling J et al. Low-molecular-mass surfactant protein type 1. The primary structure of a hydrophobic 8-kDa polypeptide with eight half-cystine residues. Eur J Biochem 1988; 172:521-525.
- 41. Johansson J, Curstedt T, Jornvall H. Surfactant protein-B—disulfide bridges, structural properties, and kringle similarities. Biochemistry 1991; 30:6917-6921.
- 42. Johansson J, Jornvall H, Curstedt T. Human surfactant polypeptide SP-B—disulfide bridges, C-terminal end, and peptide analysis of the airway form. FEBS Lett 1992; 301:165-167.
- 43. Munford RS, Sheppard PO, Ohara PJ. Saposin-like proteins (SAPLIP) carry out diverse functions on a common backbone structure. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:1653-1663.
- 44. Qi X, Leonova T, Grabowski GA. Functional human saposins expressed in Escherichia coli evidence for binding and activation properties of saposins C with acid beta-glucosidase. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:16746-16753.
- 45. Patthy L. Homology of the precursor of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein SP-B with prosaposin and sulfated glycoprotein-1. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:6035-6037.
- 46. Phelps DS, Harding HP. Immunohistochemical localization of a low molecular weight surfactant-associated protein in human lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1987; 35:1339-1342.
- 47. Phelps DS, Floros J. Localization of surfactant protein synthesis in human lung by in situ hybridization. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:939-942.

- 48. Stahlman MT, Gray ME, Whitsett JA. The ontogeny and distribution of surfactant protein-B in human fetuses and newborns. J Histochem Cytochem 1992; 40:1471-1480.
- 49. Khoor A, Stahlman MT, Gray ME et al. Temporal-spatial distribution of SP-B and SP-C proteins and mRNAs in developing respiratory epithelium of human lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1994; 42:1187-1199.
- 50. Wohlford-Lenane CL, Snyder JM. Localization of surfactant-associated proteins SP-A and SP-B mRNA in rabbit fetal lung tissue by in situ hybridization. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 7:335-343.
- 51. Phelps DS, Floros J. Localization of pulmonary surfactant proteins using immunohistochemistry and tissue in situ hybridization. Exp Lung Res 1991; 17:985-995.
- 52. Kalina M, Mason RJ, Shannon JM. Surfactant protein C is expressed in alveolar type II cells but not in Clara cells of rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6:594-600.
- 53. Wikenheiser KA, Wert SE, Wispé JR et al. Distinct effects of oxygen on surfactant protein-B expression in bronchiolar and alveolar epithelium. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L32-L39.
- 54. Khoor A, Gray ME, Hull WM et al. Developmental expression of SP-A and SP-A mRNA in the proximal and distal respiratory epithelium in the human fetus and newborn. J Histochem Cytochem 1993; 9:1311-1319.
- 55. Horowitz S, Watkins RH, Auten RL et al. Differential accumulation of surfactant protein A, B, and C mRNAs in two epithelial cell types of hyperoxic lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:511-515.
- Voorhout WF, Veenendaal T, Haagsman HP et al. Intracellular processing of pulmonary surfactant protein-B in an endosomal/lysosomal compartment. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L479-L486.
- 57. Lin S, Akinbi HT, Breslin JS et al. Structural requirements for targeting of surfactant protein B (SP-B) to secretory granules in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:19689-19695.
- Voorhout WF, Weaver TE, Haagsman HP et al. Biosynthetic routing of pulmonary surfactant proteins in alveolar type II cells. Microscopy Research and Technique 1993; 26:366-373.
- 59. Chander A, Fisher AB. Regulation of lung surfactant secretion. Am J Physiol 1990; 258:L241-L253.
- 60. Dobbs LG, Mason RJ. Pulmonary alveolar type II cells isolated from rats. Release of phosphatidylcholine in response to β-adrenergic stimulation. J Clin Invest 1979; 63:378-387.
- 61. Brown LAS, Longmore WJ. Adrenergic and cholinergic regulation of lung surfactant secretion in alveolar type II cells in culture. J Biol Chem 1981; 256:66-72.
- Mettler NR, Gray ME, Schuffman S et al. β-Adrenergic induced synthesis and secretion of phosphatidylcholine by isolated pulmonary alveolar type II clells. Lab Invest 1981; 45:575-586.
- 63. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Functional evidence for adenosine A₂ receptor regulation of phosphatidylcholine secretion in cultured type II pneumocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1987; 241:907-914.
- 64. Warburton D, Buckley S, Cosico L. P1 and P2 purinergic receptor signal transduction in rat type II pneumocytes. J Appl Physiol 1989; 66:901-905.
- 65. Dobbs LG, Mason RJ. Stimulation of secretion of disaturated phosphatidylcholine from isolated alveolar type II cells by 12-O-tetradecanoyl-13-phorbol acetate. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978; 118:705-712.
- 66. Sano K, Voelker DR, Mason RJ. Involvement of protein kinase C in pulmonary surfactant secretion from alveolar type II cells. J Biol Chem 1985; 260:12725-12729.
- 67. Oyarzun MJ, Clements JA. Control of lung surfactant by ventilation, adrenergic mediators, and prostaglandins in the rabbit. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978; 117:878-891.
- 68. Miles PR, Ma YC, Bowman L. Degradation of pulmonary surfactant disaturated phosphatidylcholines by alveolar macrophages. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64:2474-2481.
- 69. Shepard JW, Dolan GF, Yu SY. Factors regulating lamellar body volume density of type II pneumocytes in excised dog lungs. J Appl Physiol 1982; 53:555-562.
- 70. Wirtz HRW, Dobbs LG. Calcium mobilization and exocytosis after one mechanical stretch of lung epithelial cells. Science 1990; 250:1266-1269.

- 71. Williams MC. Conversion of lamellar body membranes into tubular myelin in alveoli of fetal rat lungs. J Cell Biol 1977; 72:260-277.
- 72. Manabe T. A freeze-fracture study of tubular myelin in fetal rabbit lung. Acta Path Jap 1978; 28:379-391.
- 73. Suzuki Y, Fujita Y, Kogishi K. Reconstitution of tubular myelin from synthetic lipids and proteins associated with pig pulmonary surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:75-81.
- 74. Williams MC, Hawgood S, Hamilton RL. Changes in lipid structure produced by surfactant proteins SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:41-50.
- 75. Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD, Ross GF et al. Altered surfactant function and structure in SP-A gene targeted mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:9594-9599.
- 76. Oosterlakendijksterhuis MA, Haagsman HP, Vangolde LMG et al. Interaction of lipid vesicles with monomolecular layers containing lung surfactant proteins SP-B or SP-C. Biochemistry 1991; 30:8276-8281.
- 77. Oosterlakendijksterhuis MA, Haagsman HP, Vangolde LMG et al. Characterization of lipid insertion into monomolecular layers mediated by lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Biochemistry 1991; 30:10965-10971.
- 78. Creuwels LAJM, Vangolde LMG, Haagsman HP. Surfactant protein B: Effects on lipid domain formation and intermembrane lipid flow. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1285:1-8.
- 79. Yu SH, Possmayer F. Effect of pulmonary surfactant protein-B (SP-B) and calcium on phospholipid adsorption and squeeze-out of phosphatidylglycerol from binary phospholipid monolayers containing dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1126:26-34.
- 80. Taneva S, Keough KMW. Pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in spread monolayers at the air-water interface.1. Monolayers of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B and phospholipids. Biophys J 1994; 66:1137-1148.
- 81. Geiger K, Gallagher ML, Hedley-Whyte J. Cellular distribution and clearance of aerosolized dipalmitoyl lecithin. J Appl Physiol 1975; 39:759-766.
- 82. Hallman M, Epstein BL, Gluck L. Analysis of labeling and clearance of lung surfactant phospholipids in rabbit: Evidence of bidirectional surfactant flux between lamellar bodies and alveolar lavage. J Clin Invest 1981; 68:742-751.
- 83. Chander A, Claypool WD, Strauss JF et al. Uptake of liposomal phosphatidylcholine by granular pneumocytes in primary culture. Am J Physiol 1983; 245:C397-C404.
- 84. Jacobs H, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. The significance of reutilization of surfactant phosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem 1983; 258:4156-4165.
- 85. Claypool WD, Wang DL, Chander A et al. "Hydrophobic" surfactant apoproteins and augmentation of phospholipid recycling. Exp Lung Res 1984; 6:215-222.
- 86. Claypool WD, Wang DL, Chander A et al. An ethanol/ether soluble apoprotein from rat lung surfactant augments liposome uptake by isolated granular pneumocytes. J Clin Invest 1984; 74:677-684.
- 87. Rice WR, Sarin VK, Fox JL et al. Surfactant peptides stimulate uptake of phosphatidylcholine by isolated cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1006:237-245.
- 88. Horowitz AD, Moussavian B, Whitsett JA. Roles of SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in modulation of lipid uptake by pulmonary epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Physiol-Lung 1996;14:L69-L79.
- 89. Breslin JS, Weaver TE. Binding, uptake, and localization of surfactant protein-B in isolated rat alveolar type-II cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L699-L707.
- 90. Baritussio A, Alberti A, Quaglino D et al. SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in surfactant subtypes around birth: Reexamination of alveolar life cycle of surfactant. Am J Physiol 1994; 266: L436-L447.
- 91. Ueda T, Ikegami M, Henry M et al. Clearance of surfactant protein B from rabbit lungs. Am J Physiol 1995; 12:L636-L641.
- 92. Henry M, Ikegami M, Ueda T et al. Surfactant protein B metabolism in newborn rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1300:97-102.
- 93. Bates SR, Beers MF, Fisher AB. Binding and uptake of surfactant protein-B by alveolar type-II cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L333-L341.

- 94. Bates SR, Fisher AB. Degradation of surfactant protein-B by alveolar type-II cells. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L448-L455.
- Liley HG, White RT, Warr RG et al. Regulation of messenger RNAs for the hydrophobic surfactant proteins in human lung. J Clin Invest 1989; 83:1191-1197.
- Beers MF, Shuman H, Liley HG et al. Surfactant protein B in human fetal lung: Developmental and glucocorticoid regulation. Pediatr Res 1995; 38:668-675.
- 97. Connelly IH, Hammond GL, Harding PGR et al. Levels of surfactant-associated protein messenger ribonucleic acids in rabbit lung during perinatal development and after hormonal treatment. Endocrinology 1991; 129:2583-2591.
- 98. Durham PL, Nanthakumar EJ, Snyder JM. Developmental regulation of surfactant-associated proteins in rabbit fetal lung in vivo. Exp Lung Res 1992; 18:775-793.
- 99. Schellhase DE, Emrie PA, Fisher JH et al. Ontogeny of surfactant proteins in the rat. Pediatr Res 1989; 26:167-174.
- 100. Shimizu H, Miyamura K, Kuroki Y. Appearance of surfactant proteins, SP-A and SP-B, in developing rat lung and the effects of in vivo dexamethasone treatment. Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1081:53-60.
- 101. Wang JX, Souza P, Kuliszewski M et al. Expression of surfactant proteins in embryonic rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:222-229.
- 102. Ballard PL, Hawgood S, Liley H et al. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant apoprotein SP 28-36 gene in fetal human lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83:9527-9531.
- 103. McMahan MJ, Mimouni F, Miodovnik M et al. Surfactant associated protein (SAP-35) in amniotic fluid from diabetes and non-diabetes pregnancies. Obstet Gynecol 1987; 70:94-98.
- 104. Paciga JE, Shelley SA, Paterson JE et al. Lung surfactant-associated glycoproteins and proteolipids in human amniotic fluids evaluated by dot immunobinding assays. Ann Clin Lab Sci 1988; 18:141-147.
- 105. Pryhuber GS, Hull WM, Fink I et al. Ontogeny of surfactant protein-A and protein-B in human amniotic fluid as indices of fetal lung maturity. Pediatr Res 1991; 30:597-605.
- 106. Xu JJ, Possmayer F. Exposure of rabbit fetal lung to glucocorticoids in vitro does not enhance transcription of the gene encoding pulmonary surfactant-associated protein-B (SP-B). Biochim Biophys Acta 1993; 1169:146-155.
- 107. Farrell PM, Bourbon JR, Notter RH et al. Relationships among surfactant fraction lipids, proteins and biophysical properties in the developing rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1044:84-90.
- 108. Clark JC, Wert SE, Bachurski CJ et al. Targeted disruption of the surfactant protein B gene disrupts surfactant homeostasis, causing respiratory failure in newborn mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:7794-7798.
- 109. Maniatis T, Goodbourn S, Fischer JA. Regulation of inducible and tissue-specific gene expression. Science 1987; 236:1237-1245.
- 110. Atchison ML. Enhancers: Mechanisms of action and cell specificity. Annu Rev Cell Biol 1988; 4:127-153.
- 111. Bohinski RJ, Huffman JA, Whitsett JA et al. Cis-active elements controlling lung cell-specific expression of human pulmonary surfactant protein-B gene. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:11160-11166.
- 112. Bohinski RJ, Dilauro R, Whitsett JA. The lung-specific surfactant protein B gene promoter is a target for thyroid transcription factor 1 and hepatocyte nuclear factor 3, indicating common factors for organ-specific gene expression along the foregut axis. Mol Cell Biol 1994; 14:5671-5681.
- 113. Yan C, Sever Z, Whitsett JA. Upstream enhancer activity in the human surfactant protein B gene is mediated by thyroid transcription factor 1. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:24852-24857.
- 114. Bruno MA, Bohinski RJ, Carter JE et al. Structure and function of the mouse surfactant protein B gene. Am J Physiol 1995; 12:L381-L389.
- 115. Lazzaro D, Price M, De Felice M et al. The transcription factor TTF1 is expressed at the onset of thyroid and lung morphogenesis and in restricted regions of the fetal brain. Development 1991; 113:1093-1104.

- 116. Ikeda K, Clark JC, Shaw-White JR et al. Gene structure and expression of human thyroid transcription factor-1 in respiratory epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:8108-8114.
- 117. Stahlman MT, Gray ME, Whitsett JA. Expression of thyroid transcription factor-1 (TTF-1) in fetal and neonatal human lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1996; 44:673-678.
- 118. Zhou L, Lim L, Costa RH et al. Thyroid transcription factor-1, hepatocyte nuclear factor-3β, surfactant protein B, C, and Clara cell secretory protein in developing mouse lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1996; 44:1183-1193.
- 119. Kimura S, Hara Y, Pineau T et al. The T/ebp null mouse thyroid-specific enhancer-binding protein is essential for the organogenesis of the thyroid, lung, ventral forebrain, and pituitary. Gene Develop 1996; 10:60-69.
- 120. Clevidence DE, Overdier DG, Peterson RS et al. Members of the HNF-3/forkhead family of transcription factors exhibit distinct cellular expression patterns in lung and regulate the surfactant protein B promoter. Develop Biol 1994; 166:195-209.
- 121. Ikeda K, Shaw-White JR, Wert S et al. Hepatocyte nuclear factor 3 activates transcription of thyroid transcription factor 1 in respiratory epithelial cells. Mol Cell Biol 1996; 16:3626-3636.
- 122. Peterson RS, Clevidence DE, Ye HG et al. Hepatocyte nuclear factor-3 alpha promoter regulation involves recognition by cell-specific factors thyroid transcription factor-1, and autoactivation. Cell Growth Differ 1997; 8:69-82.
- 123. Monaghan AP, Kaestner KH, Grau E et al. Postimplantation expression patterns indicate a role for the mouse forkhead/HNF-3 alpha, beta and gamma genes in determination of the definitive endoderm, chordamesoderm and neuroectoderm. Development 1993; 119:567-578.
- 124. Toonen RFG, Gowan S, Bingle CD. The lung enriched transcription factor TTF-1 and the ubiquitously expressed proteins Sp1 and Sp3 interact with elements located in the minimal promoter of the rat Clara cell secretory protein gene. Biochem J 1996; 316:467-473.
- 125. Bruno MD, Bohinski RJ, Huelsman KM et al. Lung cell-specific expression of the murine surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene is mediated by interactions between the SP-A promoter and thyroid transcription factor-1. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:6531-6536.
- 126. Kelly SE, Bachurski CJ, Burhans MS et al. Transcription of the lung-specific surfactant protein C gene is mediated by thyroid transcription factor 1. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:6881-6888.
- 127. Margana RK, Boggaram V. Functional analysis of surfactant protein B (SP-B) promoter— Sp1, Sp3, TTF-1, and HNF-3alpha transcription factors are necessary for lung cell-specific activation of SP-B gene transcription. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:3083-3090.
- 128. Ballard PL, Liley HG, Gonzales LW et al. Interferon-gamma and synthesis of surfactant components by cultured human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:137-143.
- 129. Dhar V, Hallman M, Lappalainen U et al. Interleukin-1 alpha upregulates the expression of surfactant protein-A in rabbit lung explants. Biol Neonate 1997; 71:46-52.
- 130. Pope TS, Rooney SA. Effects of glucocorticoid and thyroid hormones on regulatory enzymes of fatty acid synthesis and glycogen metabolism in developing rat lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 918:141-148.
- 131. Schellhase DE, Shannon JM. Effects of maternal dexamethasone on expression of SP-A, SP-B and SP-C in the fetal rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:304-312.
- 132. Venkatesh VC, Iannuzzi DM, Ertsey R et al. Differential glucocorticoid regulation of the pulmonary hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993; 8:222-228.
- 133. Ballard PL, Ertsey R, Gonzales LW et al. Transcriptional regulation of human pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C by glucocorticoids. Amer J Respir Cell Molec Biol 1996; 14:599-607.
- 134. Floros J, Gross I, Nichols KV et al. Hormonal effects on the surfactant protein B (SP-B) mRNA in cultured fetal rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:449-454.
- 135. Xu JJ, Yao LJ, Possmayer F. Regulation of mRNA levels for pulmonary surfactant-associated proteins in developing rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1254:302-310.

- 136. O'Reilly MA, Gazdar AF, Morris RE et al. Differential effects of glucocorticoid on expression of surfactant proteins in a human lung adenocarcinoma cell line. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 970:194-204.
- 137. O'Reilly MA, Gazdar AF, Clark JC et al. Glucocorticoids regulate surfactant protein synthesis in a pulmonary adenocarcinoma cell line. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L385-L392.
- 138. O'Reilly MA, Clark JC, Whitsett JA. Glucocorticoid enhances pulmonary surfactant protein B gene transcription. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L37-L43.
- 139. Phelps DS, Floros J. Dexamethasone in vivo raises surfactant protein-B messenger RNA in alveolar and bronchiolar epithelium. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L146-L152.
- 140. Fisher JH, McCormack F, Park SS et al. In vivo regulation of surfactant proteins by glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:63-70.
- 141. Cole TJ, Blendy JA, Monaghan AP et al. Targeted disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor gene blocks adrenergic chromaffin cell development and severely retards lung maturation. Gene Develop 1995; 9:1608-1621.
- 142. Ballard PL, Gonzales LW, Williams MC et al. Differentiation of type-II cells during explant culture of human fetal lung is accelerated by endogenous prostanoids and adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate. Endocrinology 1991; 128:2916-2924.
- 143. Yan C, Whitsett JA. Protein kinase A activation of the surfactant protein B gene is mediated by phosphorylation of thyroid transcription factor1. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 17327-17332.
- 144. Ulich TR, Yi ES, Longmuir K et al. Keratinocyte growth factor is a growth factor for type II pneumocytes in vivo. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:1298-1306.
- 145. Panos RJ, Rubin JS, Aaronson SA et al. Keratinocyte growth factor and hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor are heparin-binding growth factors for alveolar type II cells in fibroblast-conditioned medium. J Clin Invest 1993; 92:969-977.
- 146. Sugahara K, Rubin JS, Mason RJ et al. Keratinocyte growth factor increases mRNAs for SP-A and SP-B in adult rat alveolar type II cells in culture. Am J Physiol 1995; 13:L344-L350.
- 147. Metzler MD, Snyder JM. Retinoic acid differentially regulates expression of surfactant-associated proteins in human fetal lung. Endocrinology 1993; 133:1990-1998.
- 148. Bogue CW, Jacobs HC, Dynia DW et al. Retinoic acid increases surfactant protein mRNA in fetal rat lung in culture. Amer J Physiol 1996; 15:L862-L868.
- 149. Cardoso WV, Williams MC, Mitsialis SA et al. Retinoic acid induces changes in the pattern of airway branching and alters epithelial cell differentiation in the developing lung in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:464-476.
- Gregory TJ, Longmore WJ, Moxley MA et al. Surfactant chemical composition and biophysical activity in acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Clin Invest 1991; 188:1976-1981.
- 151. Ballard PL, Nogee LM, Beers MF et al. Partial deficiency of surfactant protein B in an infant with chronic lung disease. Pediatrics 1995; 96:1046-1052.
- 152. Akinbi HT, Breslin JS, Ikegami M et al. Rescue of SP-B knockout mice with a truncated SP-B proprotein. Function of the C-terminal propeptide. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:9640-9647.
- 153. Clark JC, Weaver TE, Iwamoto HS et al. Decreased lung compliance and air trapping in heterozygous SP-B-deficient mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 16:46-52.
- 154. Pryhuber GS, Oreilly MA, Clark JC et al. Phorbol ester inhibits surfactant protein SP-A and SP-B expression. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:20822-20828.
- 155. Whitsett JA, Clark JC, Wispé JR et al. Effects of TNF- α and phorbol ester on human surfactant protein and MnSOD gene transcription in vitro. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L688-L693.
- 156. Pryhuber GS, Bachurski C, Hirsch R et al. Tumor necrosis factor-α decreases surfactant protein B mRNA in murine lung. Amer J Physiol 1996; 14:L714-L721.
- 157. Pryhuber GS, Church SL, Kroft T et al. 3'-Untranslated region of SP-B mRNA mediates inhibitory effects of TPA and TNF-α on SP-B expression. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L16-L24.
- 158. McWhinney CD. A downstream AP-1 element regulates in vitro lung transcription from the human pulmonary surfactant protein B promoter. DNA Cell Biol 1996; 15:519-529.
- 159. Venkatesh VC, Planer BC, Schwartz M et al. Characterization of the promoter of human pulmonary surfactant protein B gene. Am J Physiol 1995; 12:L674-L682.

- 160. Fujiwara T, Chida S, Watabe Y et al. Artificial surfactant therapy in hyaline-membrane disease. Lancet 1980; 1:55-59.
- 161. Enhorning G, Shennan A, Possmayer F et al. Prevention of neonatal respiratory distress syndrome by tracheal instillation of surfactant: A randomized clinical trial. Pediatrics 1985; 76:145-153.
- 162. Kwong MS, Egan EA, Notter RH et al. Double-blind clinical trial of calf lung surfactant extract for the prevention of hyaline membrane disease in extremely premature infants. Pediatrics 1985; 76:585-592.
- 163. Rider ED, Ikegami M, Whitsett JA et al. Treatment responses to surfactants containing natural surfactant proteins in preterm rabbits. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:669-676.
- 164. Wang ZD, Gurel O, Baatz JE et al. Differential activity and lack of synergy of lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in interactions with phospholipids. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:1749-1760.
- 165. Mizuno K, Ikegami M, Chen CM et al. Surfactant protein-B supplementation improves in vivo function of a modified natural surfactant. Pediatr Res 1995; 37:271-276.
- 166. Nogee LM, Garnier G, Dietz HC et al. A mutation in the surfactant protein B gene responsible for fatal neonatal respiratory disease in multiple kindreds. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:1860-1863.
- 167. Nogee LM, DeMello DE, Dehner LP et al. Deficiency of pulmonary surfactant protein B in congenital alveolar proteinosis. N Engl J Med 1993; 328:406-410.
- 168. Vorbroker DK, Profitt SA, Nogee LM et al. Aberrant processing of surfactant protein C (SP-C) in hereditary SP-B deficiency. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L647-L656.
- 169. Hamvas A, Cole FS, Demello DE et al. Surfactant protein B deficiency: Antenatal diagnosis and prospective treatment with surfactant replacement. J Pediatr 1994; 125:356-361.
- 170. Wang ZD, Hall SB, Notter RH. Dynamic surface activity of films of lung surfactant phospholipids, hydrophobic proteins, and neutral lipids. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:1283-1293.
- 171. Wang ZD, Hall SB, Notter RH. Roles of different hydrophobic constituents in the adsorption of pulmonary surfactant. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:790-798.
- 172. Yu SH, Possmayer F. Reconstitution of surfactant activity by using the 6 kDa apoprotein associated with pulmonary surfactant. Biochem J 1986; 236:85-89.
- 173. Notter RH, Shapiro DL, Ohning B et al. Biophysical activity of synthetic phospholipids combined with purified lung surfactant 6000 dalton apoprotein. Chem Phys Lipids 1987; 44:1-17.
- 174. Amirkhanian JD, Bruni R, Waring AJ et al. Full length synthetic surfactant proteins, SP-B and SP-C, reduce surfactant inactivation by serum. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993; 1168:315-320.
- 175. Veldhuizen RAW, Inchley K, Hearn SA et al. Degradation of surfactant-associated protein-B (SP-B) during in vitro conversion of large to small surfactant aggregates. Biochem J 1993; 295:141-147.
- 176. Putman E, Creuwels LAJM, vanGolde LMG et al. Surface properties, morphology and protein composition of pulmonary surfactant subtypes. Biochem J 1996; 320:599-605.
- 177. Takeuchi IK, Takeuchi YK, Murashima Y et al. Altered axon terminals containing concentric lamellar bodies of cerebellar Pukinje cells in Mongolian gerbil. Experientia 1996; 52:531-534.

Molecular Processing and Cellular Metabolism of Surfactant Protein C

Michael F. Beers

The pioneering observations of Pattle¹ and Clements² over 40 years ago provided the initial convincing evidence for the presence of a pulmonary "surfactant" (<u>surface active</u> agent) and related the pressure-volume properties of the lung to the surface tension-surface area behavior of the alveolar lining material. Based upon a voluminous literature on the composition, structure and function of lung surfactant which has accumulated since its discovery in pulmonary edema fluid, lung slices and alveolar lavage, we have come to recognize the diversity of structure, function and metabolism of individual surfactant components. Following the initial description of the effect of surfactant on alveolar surface tension, it was soon established that phospholipids, particularly phosphatidylcholines, make up the major mass of surfactant.³⁻⁴ Early research initiatives focused primarily on the description of the composition, biophysical properties and metabolism of these phospholipids and these are extensively reviewed in other chapters of this volume.

The cell-free, lipid-rich pellet obtained by differential centrifugation of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from a variety of species is composed of 90% lipids and 10% proteins.⁵⁻⁷ Much of the protein fraction in isolated surfactant consists of serum proteins.⁸⁻¹⁰ However, over the past 25 years we have come to recognize a small but important group of surfactant specific proteins which have been shown to be essential for normal surfactant biophysical function and metabolism. In 1973, King and colleagues working in Clements' laboratory reported the isolation of a unique glycoprotein from the surface active material obtained from canine lung lavage (variably termed SP26-35 or SAP-A).¹¹ After the initial characterization of what is now known as surfactant protein A (SP-A), two other smaller and more hydrophobic surfactant associated proteins were soon described. In 1979, Phizackerly reported on a family of proteins obtained from organic extracts of surfactant fractions of pig lung lavage and lung homogenate.¹² In 1984, Claypool and colleagues described a small, hydrophobic peptide obtained from an ethanol-diethylether extraction of purified rat surfactant which their group termed Apo-Et.13 Similar peptides (3.5-6.0 kDa, reduced) were subsequently isolated from human (SP-Val, SAP-6),¹⁴⁻¹⁶ bovine,¹⁶ porcine¹⁷ and canine (SP5)¹⁸ sources. The cDNA sequence for these proteins as well as rat, rabbit, murine and mink surfactant protein C (SP-C) have been determined.¹⁹⁻²³ A consensus conference in 1988 unified the nomenclature for surfactant proteins and designated the lowest molecular weight surfactant protein as SP-C.24

The alveolar form of SP-C recovered in lung lavage from a variety of species is a 3.5-3.7 kDa lung-specific peptide whose primary sequence represents one of the most hydrophobic proteins known.²⁵ Purified SP-C, when reconstituted with surfactant phospho-

lipid components, has been shown both in vitro and in vivo to enhance the biophysical surface activity of these lipid mixtures.²⁶⁻²⁸ This protein is also an active component of some clinical surfactant preparations.²⁹ See chapter 1 for a detailed discussion of the biophysical properties of SP-C and its interactions with other surfactant proteins.

This chapter will review the molecular and cellular mechanisms underlying the expression and metabolic life cycle of SP-C. Early studies of SP-C were concerned with isolation and biochemical characterization of SP-C protein and of the cloning and tissue specific expression of the SP-C gene. In the decade since its isolation and cloning, attention has focused upon the important regulatory elements of SP-C gene expression, the synthesis and post-translational processing of SP-C and the use of SP-C promoters for the direction of lung-specific expression of a variety of genes in transgenic mouse models. Each of these topics will be discussed in the context of both developmental and adult models. In addition, the unique structural properties of SP-C will also be highlighted, and the abnormalities in post-translational processing of SP-C recently underscored by the syndrome of congenital surfactant protein B (SP-B) deficiency will be reviewed.

Structure and Properties of SP-C

The structure and properties of SP-C render it markedly different from either SP-B or the more hydrophilic SP-A and surfactant protein D (SP-D). Differences in structure, posttranslational modifications and functional properties between SP-C and the other surfactant proteins are summarized in Table 5.1.

Primary Sequence

The alveolar form of SP-C ("mature" SP-C; SP-C_{3.7}) isolated from lung lavage fractions of various species is composed of 33-35 amino acids.¹⁴⁻²³ Among species, the majority of amino acid residues in the SP-C primary sequence are highly conserved (Fig. 5.1). SP-C is a predominantly hydrophobic molecule due to a high content of Val, Ile and Leu (~60-65% of the primary sequence).²⁵ Although most of the amino acids comprising SP-C are apolar, the molecule does contain a degree of amphipathicity. The amino terminus contains positively charged, hydrophilic residues, while the center of the peptide is made up of a 23 amino acid, polyvaline, hydrophobic domain.

Based upon amino acid sequencing of purified preparations, the NH₂-terminus of most species of SP-C contains a fair degree of heterogeneity, with the presence of N, N-1, and N-2 forms.^{16,30} The presence of truncated forms is probably due to variability of N-terminal proteolysis during synthetic processing from a larger proprotein precursor (see Metabolic Life Cycle of SP-C, below).

Homology of the SP-C sequence with other proteins has not been widely reported. One report has suggested a minor sequence similarity between a region of 5 amino acids in the N-terminal portion of mature SP-C (residues 3-7), the C-terminus of SP-B and the primordial nonheme containing oxygen binding proteins hemerythrin and myoheme-rythrin.³¹ While functional similarities for these sets of proteins are not obvious, the authors proposed that these sequences function as adhesive patches and could provide a means of sticking SP-C and SP-B together (i.e., biochemical velcro[®]).³¹

By sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, the relative molecular mass (M_r) of SP-C ranges from 3,500 to 9,000.^{15-18,32-33} Part of this variability is related to analytical difficulties imposed by the molecule's intrinsic properties (see Special Analytical Problems in the Quantitation and Characterization of SP-C, below). However, under nonreducing conditions, the presence of oligomers has been consistently documented in electrophoretic analyses of SP-C from nearly all species but in the presence of reducing agents (β -mercaptoethanol or dithiothreitol), the higher molecular weight forms are

Property	Hydrop	hobic	Hydr	ophilic
	SP-C	SP-B	SP-A	SP-D
Structure				
Mr (x 10 ⁻³) reduced (nonreduced)	3.7 (6-7)	9 (18)	36 (72-700)	43 (130)
Primary translation product, kDa	21	42	26	39
Homology	None*	Prosaposin	C1q+;C-Lectins+;Collagen+	C1q+;Collagen+;C-Lectins+
α-helix	Yes	No	No	No
Membrane integration	Yes	No	No	No
Post-translational processing				
Signal peptide	No	Yes	Yes	No
Propeptide cleavage (no.)	Yes (2)	Yes (3)	No	No
Glycosylation	No	Proprotein only	Yes (N-linked)	Yes (to lysine)
Palmitoylation	Yes	No	No	No
Functions∞				
Phospholipid adsorption	Yes (<sp-b)< td=""><td>Yes (>SP-C)</td><td>± (Needs SP-B)</td><td>No</td></sp-b)<>	Yes (>SP-C)	± (Needs SP-B)	No
Tubular myelin	No	Yes	Yes	No
Resistance to inactivation	Yes (<sp-b,>SP-A)</sp-b,>	Yes	Yes	No
Monolayer formation	Yes (>SP-B)	Yes	No	No
Vesicle fusion	Yes	Yes	No	No
Host defense	No	No	Yes	Yes
Regulation of lipid secretion	No	No	Yes (1)	Yes
Regulation of lipid uptake	+1	+1	Yes (🕽)	No

95

	10	20	30
Human	FGIPCCPVHL	KRLLIVVVVV	VLIVVVIVGA LLMGL
Porcine	LRIPCCPVXL	KRLLVVVVV	V L V V V I V G A L L M G L
Bovine	хЦірссрухі	KRLLIVVVVV	V L L V V V I V G A L L M G L
Canine	LGIPCFPSSL	KRLLIIVVVI	VLVVVIVGA LLMGL
Rat	FRIPCCPVHL	KRLLIVVVVV	VLVVVIVGA LLMGL
Murine	FRIPCCPVHL	KRLLIVVVVV	VLVVVVIVGA LLMGL
Rabbit	FGIPCCPVHL	KRLLIVVVVV	VLVVVVVGA LLMGL
Mink	FGLPCFPSSL	KRLLIIVVVI	VUVVVVGA LLMGL

Fig. 5.1. Complete amino acid sequence of the mature SP-C peptide. Deduced amino acid sequence of SP-C_{3,7} from 8 mammalian species (from refs.14-23). Boxed regions indicate nonhomologous amino acid substitutions (compared to the human sequence). Alternative NH₂-termini determined from direct amino acid sequencing data appear shaded (Direct NH₂-terminal sequence data for rat, murine, rabbit and mink SP-C are not available).

converted to a low molecular weight form. A naturally occurring dimeric form of SP-C (SP-C₂) has been isolated from bovine and canine lung lavage.³²⁻³³ Both monomeric and dimeric forms appear to exhibit biophysical activity; however, there are differences in calcium requirements and efficiency of monolayer insertion. The relative amounts of each SP-C form in the alveolus and the physiological significance of SP-C₂ remain to be established.

Secondary Structure

From the cDNA sequence, modeling of the secondary structure of monomeric SP-C had indicated that the polyvaline stretch contained in the primary sequence of the protein is highly α -helical and capable of spanning phospholipid bilayers in the liquid crystalline phase.³⁴ The remainder of the secondary structure was predicted to be in a mainly random coil conformation.

The existence of the valyl-rich α -helix was confirmed by analyses of the secondary structure of SP-C from several species, using a variety of biophysical techniques including Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR),^{32,35-36} circular dichroism (CD)³³ and ²H and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR).³⁷⁻³⁸ FT-IR measurements of bovine SP-C in dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (DPPC) films has shown that the long axis of the α -helix of mature SP-C associates with lipid layers in an orientation parallel to lipid acyl chains.³⁵⁻³⁶ CD studies of monolayers of lipid and canine SP-C at an air-liquid interface measured at two different surface pressures demonstrated a similar secondary structure.³³ A ¹H-NMR structure determination of native porcine SP-C dissolved in apolar solvent mixtures demonstrated an outstandingly regular helical structure between amino acid positions 9 and 34.³⁷ ²H-NMR of selectively deuterated SP-C also indicated the presence of an α -helix with the N-terminal dodecapeptide segment of SP-C calculated to be in proximity to the lipid bilayer.38 Taken together, the biophysical measurements indicate that a significant portion of the secondary structure of monomeric SP-C (46-90%) is an α -helix. Such a stretch would encompass 13-25 of the total residues, resulting in a helical length of 27-37 Å. This is clearly sufficient to achieve membrane spanning orientation of most lipid bilayers.

Despite the unequivocal presence of an α -helix, there is some variability in the estimates of the amounts of random coil and β -sheet structure in monomeric SP-C. Variations

in these determinations made by the techniques detailed above appear to be dependent upon differences in the solvent and lipid environments used. Additional differences in these secondary structures exist for dimeric SP-C₂ (versus monomeric forms), but further characterization is required.³²⁻³³ Neither X-ray diffraction measurements nor a crystal structure determination of SP-C or SP-C₂ have been accomplished to date.

Palmitoylation

In addition to the extreme hydrophobicity conveyed by its primary sequence, mature SP-C is known to be a true lipopeptide, i.e., it contains covalently linked lipid residues. In this regard, SP-C is unique among surfactant proteins. Two groups have separately shown that monomeric SP-C isolated from the surfactant of five mammalian species exists in a palmitoylated form with a palmitoyl thioester linkage to either one serine or two cysteine residues near the N-terminus (Fig. 5.2).³⁹⁻⁴¹ Greater than 90% of natural bovine, canine and human SP- $C_{3,7}$ is found in the palmitoylated form. Using mass spectroscopy and high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis, treatment of isolated alveolar SP-C with either hydroxylamine or KOH has been reported to result in cleavage of covalently linked palmitic acid groups. In vitro palmitoylation of recombinantly synthesized SP-C has also been described.⁴⁰ On a molar basis, the number of palmitate residues is proportional to the number of cysteine residues in the primary sequence. With the exception of canine and mink SP-C, all other species contain a double palmitoylation motif at residues cys₅-cys₆ of the mature molecule. Monopalmitoylation of dog and mink SP-C probably occurs at cys₅. Although intracellular pools of SP-C_{3.7} have not been analyzed directly for the presence of covalent lipid, palmitoylation of SP-C is most likely an early post-translational modification which occurs in the Golgi (see Metabolic Life Cycle of SP-C, below).

The addition of palmitic acid to the SP-C molecule represents a novel and potentially important feature. Covalent modifications of proteins with fatty acids are associated with enhancement of protein-membrane interactions.⁴²⁻⁴³ Structurally, the covalent palmitoylation modification converts the relatively hydrophilic N-terminal region of mature SP-C into a more hydrophobic domain, and palmitoylation of an a priori hydrophobic protein is not unprecedented.⁴⁴ The exact biological role of SP-C palmitoylation is as yet unknown. Based upon a review of the literature, potential functions for a palmitoylated SP-C can be categorized based upon either recent data on the effect of palmitoylation of SP-C in surfactant biophysics^{27-28,43-45} or extrapolation from the known functions of palmitoylation of other proteins in other biological systems (reviewed in refs. 42-43). From these studies, two major possibilities exist:

- Palmitoylation directly contributes to the structural and/or biophysical properties of SP-C;
- 2. Palmitoylation functions in a regulatory role affecting a nonsurfactant function of SP-C, such as its intra-/extra-cellular metabolism.

The effect of palmitoylation on SP-C structure and function has been partially addressed. Using natural and recombinant proteins and utilizing biochemical and biophysical techniques, several groups have identified structural and physical differences between palmitoylated and nonpalmitoylated SP-C.^{27-28,35,43-46} Palmitoylation of SP-C further increases both its hydrophobicity and α -helical content.^{35,45} The effect of acylation on surfactant biophysical functions mediated by SP-C is dependent on the methodology utilized. By Wilhelmy balance measurements, acylated SP-C is more efficient at promotion of minimal surface tension by phospholipid mixtures than the deacylated form. Using a captive bubble surfactometer, Qanbar and Possmayer recently demonstrated that SP-C palmitoylation does not influence overall surface tension reduction during quasistatic expansion and compression, but acylation does appear to enhance its effect on lipid respreading and film stability.²⁸
	³ нс (₂ нс)		CH ₃ ,	4				
Human Canine	Phe-Gly-lle-Prc Leu	s s - Cys-Cys	s-Pro-V	-Val-His-Leu-Lys- Arg-Leu-Leu-l Ser-Ser	lle-Val-Val Val-Val Ile	-Val-Le Ile	su-Ile-Vai-Vai-Ile-Vai-Giy-Ata-Leu-Leu-Met-Giy-Leu Vai	
ig. 5.2. Str below the h	ructure of intact	t SP-C. T 2. In the h	he am	mino acid sequence of the hun n form, two palmitoylation site	nan form is show es occur at cys ₅ ai	n. Residue nd cys ₆ . Th	es which differ from the canine molecule are indicate the canine species contains a single palmitic acid residu	



In addition to a potential role in the augmentation of biophysical function, palmitoylation of SP-C could also play a regulatory role in either the post-translational processing, intracellular targeting or secretion of newly synthesized SP-C. The properties of some well-characterized palmitoylated proteins are listed in Table 5.2. From other experimental models, the palmitoylation of proteins plays important regulatory roles in the cell biology of their metabolism and/or function and in the mediation of cell physiological events. Some of the nonsurfactant, biological functions of palmitoylation include:

- 1. Enhancement of membrane association and/or protein function;
- 2. Functional modification of existing transmembrane proteins; and
- 3. Regulation of intracellular protein and receptor trafficking.

Enhancement of membrane association and/or protein function

Studies of nonglycosylated-palmitoylated membrane proteins such as myelin proteolipid protein,⁴⁷ p21_{ras}⁴⁸ and ankryrin⁴⁹ suggest that acylation is a prerequisite for membrane association. Mutational analysis of reversible palmitoylation of G-protein α subunits in COS cells has been implicated in the regulation of G $_{\alpha}$ localization and function.⁵⁰ Covalent acylation of apolipoprotein A1 before secretion appears to enhance its interactions with lipids.⁵¹

Functional modification of existing transmembrane proteins

Acylation is important for normal signal transduction by G-protein coupled receptors. Site directed mutagenesis of the β -receptor inhibited GTP-modulated high-affinity agonist binding.⁵² The serotonin 5-HT_{1B} receptor also contains palmitate residues in a structurally similar position.⁵³

Regulation of intracellular protein and receptor trafficking

Palmitoylation of the transferrin receptor is associated with an inhibition in the rate of ligand-receptor endocytosis.⁵⁴ Addition of the palmitoylated N-terminus of GAP-43 to chloramphenicol acetyl transferase (CAT) can direct the translocation of CAT to the plasma membrane and growth cones of nerve cells.⁵⁵

Though structural and biochemical analyses have documented the presence of palmitate residues on SP-C, the kinetics of incorporation, sites of acylation and/or deacylation, enzymes involved and effects of palmitate on SP-C synthetic processing and/or secretion have not yet been fully delineated. Biosynthesis of palmitoylated SP-C precursors has been demonstrated in murine fetal lung and Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells transfected with a human SP-C cDNA.⁵⁶ Addition of cerulenin, an inhibitor of palmitate incorporation, to type II cells blocked the normal post-translational proteolytic processing profile of the SP-C proprotein.⁵⁷ It is therefore plausible to consider an expanded function for palmitoylation of SP-C beyond biophysical modification to include a role in membrane-association and/or targeting of SP-C to specific intracellular sites during synthetic processing. Additional studies utilizing metabolic inhibition and site-directed mutagenesis will be required to fully define these effects.

Isolation of SP-C

The isolation and characterization of SP-C from lung lavage, purified surfactant, lung tissue homogenate and amniotic fluid has both exploited and been victimized by the apolar properties of the molecule. Attempting to separate SP-C from both phospholipids and other surfactant proteins is often a tedious task requiring multiple step procedures.

Most methods currently in use utilize at least a three step process. An organic solvent extract of surfactant or lung tissue (using either 1-butanol^{18,58} or chloroform-methanol¹⁵) is used to pool phospholipids and hydrophobic proteins (SP-B, SP-C). In the second step,

Myelin proteolipid protein (47)Myelin sheathp21 _{ras} (48)Human cell linesD3ErythrocytesAnkyrin (49)ErythrocytesGa protein (50)COS cellsApolipoprotein A-1 (51)Liver cell line (HEP G2)B-adrenergic receptor (52)Muscle cell lineSerotinin 5HT-1B (53)Sf9 cells	Plasma membrane Plasma membrane Cytoskeleton Plasma membrane	Targets MLP to growth cones Targets p21 to plasma membrane Site-specific targeting Cellular localization
p21 _{ras} (48) Human cell lines Ankyrin (49) Erythrocytes G _a protein (50) COS cells Apolipoprotein A-1 (51) Liver cell line (HEP G2) β-adrenergic receptor (52) Muscle cell line Serotinin 5HT-1B (53) Sf9 cells	COD COD Corrected	Targets p21 to plasma membrane Site-specific targeting Cellular localization Linid interactions/lipoprotein metabolism
Ankyrin (49)ErythrocytesGa protein (50)COS cellsApolipoprotein A-1 (51)Liver cell line (HEP G2)β-adrenergic receptor (52)Muscle cell lineSerotinin 5HT-1B (53)Sf9 cells	Cytoskeleton Plasma membrane conceded	Site-specific targeting Cellular localization Linid interactions/lipoprotein metabolism
Ga protein (50)COS cellsApolipoprotein A-1 (51)Liver cell line (HEP G2)β-adrenergic receptor (52)Muscle cell lineSerotinin 5HT-1B (53)Sf9 cells	Plasma membrane	Cellular localization Linid interactions/lipoprotein metabolism
Apolipoprotein A-1 (51)Liver cell line (HEP G2)β-adrenergic receptor (52)Muscle cell lineSerotinin 5HT-1B (53)Sf9 cells	ED () Correted	I inid interactions/lipoprotein metabolism
β-adrenergic receptor (52) Muscle cell line Serotinin 5HT-1B (53) Sf9 cells	rt nz) jecieleu	
Serotinin 5HT-1B (53) Sf9 cells	Plasma membrane	G protein coupling/agonist binding
	Plasma membrane	? —see β receptor
Transferrin receptor (54) Human T cell line	e Plasma membrane	Receptor cycling
GAP 43-CAT chimera (55) Neuronal cell lines	es Plasma membrane/growth cone	Directs targeting
SP-C (27-28) Type II cells/surfactant	actant LB/secreted	Biophysical function
ProSP-C (57) Type II cells	Exocytic pathway	? intracellular targeting

delipidation of the hydrophobic proteins is effected by performing liquid chromatography with either silicic acid or Sephadex LH-20.^{13,18,59} Alternatively, HPLC with Lipidex columns has been used.¹⁵ Finally, SP-C is separated from the delipidated mixture of hydrophobic proteins by LH-60 chromatography.^{13,15,18,59} While currently still available, the continued production and distribution of Sephadex LH-60 is in doubt (Haagsman HP, personal communication). Alternatively, purification utilizing isocratic HPLC or gradient reversed phase HPLC^{15,60-61} has been performed, but the overall yield appears somewhat less and could be limiting for certain types of studies.

As might be ascertained from a review of these techniques, the purity of many SP-C preparations is potentially compromised by other surfactant components which exhibit overlapping solubility properties. Contamination of the final product with phospholipids⁶² or surfactant protein B²⁵ can occur.

Tissue Content of SP-C

The amount of SP-C in surfactant has not been precisely quantified, but estimates range from 2% to 4% of total protein based on indirect methods.^{25,63} In addition to lavage fractions and purified surfactant preparations, SP-C_{3.7} has been found in type II cell specific storage organelles (lamellar bodies).^{12,63} SP-C content of lamellar bodies has been measured indirectly by fluorescamine and comprises up to 22% of lamellar body protein.⁶³ This, however, may be an overestimate (see Special Analytical Problems In The Quantitation And Characterization of SP-C, below). The quantitation or characterization of SP-C in commercially available natural surfactant preparations or cell fractions has not been reported.

Special Analytical Problems in the Quantitation and Characterization of SP-C

The reliable analysis of SP-C in purified protein preparations or in isolated lung fractions has proven to be extremely difficult because of the molecule's preferential solubility in organic solvents, the presence of a rather large continuous hydrophobic segment and the occurrence of NH₂-truncated forms. Given its unusual properties, it is not surprising that there are many problems in detecting SP-C_{3.7} by general protein methods. Poor solubility in aqueous solutions, lipid/detergent interference, a low molecular weight, propensity for aggregation, oligomer formation and poor staining properties on acrylamide gels are but a few of the problems which can combine to create havoc with quantitation of absolute protein content, electrophoretic analysis and N-terminal sequence determination.^{25,30} Additionally, unlike the other surfactant proteins against which antibodies have been raised and for which enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) assays are available, attempts at producing monospecific antisera have not been successful, making SP-C specific detection and quantitation in surfactant and tissue fractions more problematic.

Quantitation of the protein content of isolated SP-C preparations can be affected by contaminating phospholipids. Protein quantitation using fluorescamine dye is often an overestimate of true content due to contaminating phosphatidylethanolamine.⁶⁴ Likewise, the Lowry assay⁶⁵ underestimates protein content because SP-C lacks tyrosine residues required for signal development by this colorimetric assay. SP-C incompletely binds Coomassie blue dye⁶⁶ so that protein quantitation by the Bradford assay⁶⁷ also underestimates true content. Even amino acid composition determination, often a 'gold standard' measurement, underestimates protein content due to difficulty with complete hydrolysis of the polyvaline-leucine region. Johansson and colleagues have shown marked variability in amino acid composition of SP-C depending upon the conditions of hydrolysis.^{16,30} Acid hydrolysis of SP-C peptides requires both prolonged incubation time (>24 h) and elevated temperatures (>150°C) for complete recovery of aliphatic branched chain amino acids but at the expense of isoleucine recovery.¹⁶ The routine hydrolytic analysis of protein samples using extended hydrolysis conditions (3 days) is impractical. At present, standardization of a colorimetric protein assay (Lowry or Bradford) with either synthetic peptide standards or purified natural SP-C simultaneously quantitated by amino acid composition under routine (24 hours at 110°C) and extended (150°C for 72 hours) conditions seems to offer the best current approach for precise quantitation of isolated SP-C content.

Two methods for determination of SP-C content in pulmonary surfactant preparations have recently been described. One procedure for simultaneous quantitation of SP-C and SP-B is based on the method for purification of these proteins described by Curstedt and co-workers.¹⁵ After butanol extraction, the mixture of phospholipid, SP-B and SP-C is fractionated by HPLC on Sephadex LH-60 with an isocratic elution buffer containing dichloromethane and methanol.⁶⁸ Factors limiting the widespread application of this technique include prolonged run lengths (70 minutes total) and a broad elution peak for SP-C (eluting at approximately 35 minutes), making large scale sample analyses difficult. The molar extinction coefficient of SP-C (1.92 x 10^4 /M/cm at 228 nm) also contributes to a relatively high limit of detection (4 µg SP-C).

A chemical method for the detection and quantification of SP-C in surfactant based on the release of free sulfhydryl groups during depalmitoylation has been described.⁶⁹ Surfactant is reacted with ¹⁴C-iodoacetamide in the presence of triethylamine, a deacylating agent. By attack of the palmitic acid-SP-C thioester linkages and subsequent replacement of palmitate with iodoacetamide, the resultant ¹⁴C-product can be visualized on fluorograms following sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS/PAGE) separation. The reaction is stoichiometric and quantitation can be achieved by direct scintillation counting and comparison to a standard curve generated with purified SP-C. While the assay is sensitive to nanogram levels (~100 ng), the application of this method appears limited to quantitation of SP-C in surfactant and as an adjunct in following the fate of SP-C during purification.

Early interpretation of electrophoretic profiles of SP-C yielded variability in assignment of accurate M_r due to the molecule's tendency to aggregate in aqueous solution (even in the presence of detergent), rendering gels laden with multimers as well as extra bands from phospholipid. Other problems include smearing and distortion of bands below 10 kDa with use of the Laemmli method for protein separation⁷⁰ and the variability of staining SP-C with both Coomassie blue and silver stains.⁶⁶ At present, the use of Tricine SDS/PAGE⁷¹ and a modified double staining protocol for gels with both Coomassie and silver stains⁶⁶ appears to offer good electrophoretic resolution.

SP-C, as well as SP-B, has N-terminal heterogeneity. The variability of the amino terminal residue of SP-C due to truncated (N-1, N-2) forms, as well as similarity of the SP-C amino terminus (Fig. 5.1) with that of the SP-B NH₂-terminus (phe-pro-ile-pro for human SP-B⁷²), often leads to multiple amino acid assignments at each cycle of sequencing (if contaminating SP-B is present). Interpretation of N-terminal amino acid sequence analysis must therefore be done cautiously.

Finally, the use of immunotechniques for the analysis of mature SP-C is hampered by the lack of monospecific antibody probes. The production of specific antisera (polyclonal or monoclonal) using purified mature SP-C has not been reported to date. However, antiserum 559, which recognizes the mature SP-B peptide, is a polyclonal antibody generated against organic solvent extracts of bovine surfactant containing both SP-B and SP-C; it detects mature SP-C only after electrophoresis in the presence of 2-mercaptoethanol and at very low dilutions (1:50) of the antibody.⁷³ Based upon published studies, the threshold of antiserum 559 appears to be ~1-2 μ g SP-C. Using enhanced chemilumnescence, we have noticed a similar crossreactivity with a polyclonal SP-B antibody previously produced⁷⁴



Fig. 5.3. Epitope diagram of monospecific proSP-C antibodies. A Kyte-Doolittle hydrophobicity plot of the entire SP-C propeptide (based on data from ref. 25) is superimposed over a linearized schematic diagram of the full length proSP-C sequence (proSP-C₂₁). Values are obtained from averages over 11 amino acid residues, and values >0.5 are considered hydrophobic. The mature SP-C peptide (residues 24-59) represents the most hydrophobic portion of the molecule. The locations recognized by epitope specific antisera against rat epitopes produced using synthetic peptides,⁷⁷⁻⁷⁸ human epitopes using recombinantly produced portions of proSP-C^{57,121} or human epitopes using synthetic peptides¹³⁵ are shown.

using a similar bovine proteolipid preparation containing both hydrophobic proteins (Survanta®; Abbott Pharmaceuticals, Chicago, IL) (Beers MF, unpublished observations).

Traditionally, the antigenic regions within a protein molecule are characterized by areas of high local hydropathicity (low hydrophobicity), greater mobility, a tendency to form reverse turns (hairpins) and surface exposure.⁷⁵⁻⁷⁶ Figure 5.3 illustrates a hydrophobicity plot for the proSP-C molecule. The sequence of the mature SP-C peptide (residues 24-59) contains extremely hydrophobic residues (Kyte-Doolittle index >0.5). Thus the poor antigenicity of mature SP-C is probably related to the hydrophobic nature of the peptide, its avidity for lipid membranes and its rigid secondary structure (α -helix).

The low titer and high affinity for SP-B renders the currently available SP-B/SP-C antisera discussed above impractical for immunocytochemical localization, ELISA analysis of SP-C content in lung tissue or immunoprecipitation analysis of SP-C metabolism. Alternative approaches have exploited the hydrophilicity of the SP-C propeptide regions (Fig. 5.3). Resulting antisera produced using either synthetic peptides or recombinant protein containing sequences of the proSP-C flanking domains have been used for immunocytochemical localization of proSP-C and for metabolic labeling studies of proSP-C synthesis and post-translational processing (detailed in Metabolic Life Cycle of SP-C, below).^{56,57,77-80}

Genomic Structure and Tissue Expression of SP-C mRNA

The SP-C Gene

The human SP-C (*hSP-C*) gene is localized on the short arm of chromosome 8 (distinct from SP-A and SP-B).¹⁴ The gene is organized into 6 exons encompassing ~2.7-3.0 kb (Fig. 5.4). The organization of the mouse SP-C (*muSP-C*) gene is similar but contains an insert of 553 bp in the first intron,²⁰ and the gene is localized to chromosome 14.⁸¹ In both genes, there is a small (25 bp) 5' untranslated region on exon 1 with part of exon 5 and all of exon 6 encoding for the 3'-untranslated region. Restriction mapping of human genomic DNA indicates the presence of two highly homologous genes which may be alleles.⁸² Sequence comparison reveals that the nucleotide sequences of the two genes differ at only 19 sites in exon 6, indicating that the translated regions (exons 1-5) are identical.

Two classes of *hSP-C* cDNAs encoding for SP-C proproteins with slightly different amino acid sequences have been characterized.^{14,18,82} Both are ~0.9 kb in length. Since deletions are not detected in genomic DNA, the different cDNAs are the result of alternate splice sites. Differential splicing of the primary transcript from either *hSP-C* gene at the 5' end of exon 5 results in an 18 bp deletion, producing an mRNA encoding a protein reduced in size by 6 amino acids. Another minor SP-C mRNA species contains an 8 bp deletion at the 3' end of exon 5 which does not alter the size of the encoded protein. Alternative splicing of the rabbit SP-C gene (single gene) near the 3' end of exon 5 has been reported by two different groups to produce either a 27 bp²¹ or 31 bp²² mRNA polymorphism. As for *hSP-C*, these variants occur in the 3' untranslated region and the amino acid sequence of translated protein is unaffected. The *muSP-C* gene encodes a single mRNA of 0.8 kb.²⁰ Although the cDNA sequence of rat SP-C has been determined, its genomic DNA structure is undefined.

Tissue and Cell Specific Expression of SP-C mRNA

In the adult, Northern and/or reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analyses of human, rat, mouse and rabbit tissues established that SP-C mRNA expression is limited exclusively to the lung.^{14,19-20,22} In the rat lung, message expression is markedly enriched in freshly isolated type II cells versus lung homogenate.¹⁹ In situ hybridization studies in mouse, rabbit, rat and humans have demonstrated that expression of SP-C mRNA is limited to type II cells.⁸³⁻⁸⁷ In contrast, SP-A and SP-B mRNA are present in Clara cells in addition to type II cells.^{83-84,87}

SP-C Promoter

Of particular interest are the findings that the 5' upstream flanking regions of both the human and murine SP-C genes (0-3.7 kb for human; 0-4.7 kb for mouse) appear to contain the complete promoter elements for the control of lung specific expression observed in the in situ hybridization studies.⁸⁸⁻⁸⁹ In addition to the coding regions, the 5' flanking region of both *hSP-C* and *muSP-C* have been isolated and sequenced.^{14,20,83} The compactness of the coding region and promoter elements has been exploited in transgenic animal models to investigate cis-acting elements regulating gene expression in specific tissues. Transgenic mice bearing a chimeric gene containing 3.7 kb of the 5' sequence of *hSP-C* and the bacterial



Fig. 5.4. Structure of the human SP-C gene and derivation of the mature SP-C peptide. Production of alveolar SP-C_{3.7} begins with transcription and splicing of the 6 exons of the SP-C gene to yield a 0.9 kb mRNA. Not shown are alternative splicing motifs discussed in the text. Full length SP-C mRNA contains small 5' and larger 3' untranslated regions (UTR). The primary translation product of SP-C is a 21 kDa propeptide which then undergoes palmitoylation followed by Cand N-terminal cleavage of propeptide flanking domains to yield the mature 3.7 kDa peptide.

diphtheria toxin had distal respiratory cell ablation and respiratory failure in newborn pups, demonstrating the lung specific expression conferred by this segment of the SP-C gene, but the precise cells expressing the diphtheria toxin transgene were not discernible.⁸⁸ Subsequently, constructs containing the same 3.7 kb upstream fragment of *hSP-C* and the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter gene resulted in developmentally regulated, lung specific and glucocorticoid responsive CAT mRNA expression in both type II cells and bronchiolar cells, expression being greater in Clara cells than in type II cells.^{83,89} Parallel experiments with a 4.8 kb 5' segment of the *muSP-C* promoter yielded similar expression patterns.⁹⁰ These results indicate that this 5' flanking domain is sufficient to drive lung specific expression of SP-C, but that other factors (either additional cis-elements elsewhere in the gene or trans-acting factors) may be required to produce the fidelity of type II cell expression seen for native SP-C.⁹⁰

Further characterization of cis-acting elements in the *muSP-C* gene has been performed. The activation of the *muSP-C* promoter was analyzed in immortalized mouse lung epithelial cells (MLE-15 cell line, discussed below) and HeLa cells after cotransfection with a vector expressing thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1). TTF-1 is a homeodomain-containing transcription factor the expression of which parallels that of SP-C and that activates transcription of SP-A and SP-B.⁹¹⁻⁹² TTF-1 transactivated muSP-C-CAT constructs containing -13 to -320 bp of the SP-C 5' flanking region. Essential cis-acting elements are functionally localized to between -320 and -180 bp. TTF activation is abolished by site-directed mutagenesis of two consensus TTF sites located between -197 and -158 bp. In addition to TTF sites, the region -197 to -158 bp contains enhancer activity in both MLE and HeLa cells. Recently, lung specific enhancer activity has been found at approximately -320 bp of *hSP-C* (Glasser SW, personal communication). This work supports a model whereby TTF-1 is necessary but not sufficient for the regulation of SP-C transcription. It is likely that unique combinations of TTF-1 with other factors specific to lung, as well as variations in TTF binding affinities to DNA sequences are required for cell-, organ- and developmental-specific expression of SP-C

The SP-C Promoter and Transgenic Mouse Models

The lung specificity of the 3.7 kb *hSP-C* promoter region has been exploited for the creation of new models of disease through selective targeting of chimeric transgenes expressing a variety of protein products.^{88,89,93-104} Table 5.3 summarizes the results of the transgenic mouse models produced to date. Four major categories of hSP-C-transgenic models are presently in use:

- 1. Targeted overexpression of protein products;
- 2. Targeted expression of cytokines and messengers;
- 3. Targeted dominant negatives;
- 4. Targeted replacement of deficient proteins.

Targeted overexpression of protein products

Overexpression of manganese superoxide dismutase confers additional protection from oxidant injury in airway epithelial cells.¹⁰³ Lung specific expression of the large T-antigen chimeric gene leads to postnatal development of pulmonary adenocarcinoma in young mice (4-6 months of age).⁹³ By limiting dilution, multiple clonal lines of murine pulmonary epithelial cells have been produced—the MLE cells.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁵ These cell lines are phenotypically diverse, expressing a mosaic of surfactant mRNAs and morphologic features of type II cells (microvilli, multivesicular bodies, lamellar bodies). Some lines, such as MLE-15, have been used to study regulation of surfactant protein gene transcription.

Targeted expression of cytokines and messengers

Other models expressing cytokine transgenes (transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1, TGF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and keratinocyte growth factor) or signaling factors (bone morphogenic protein-4) develop either arrested lung morphogenesis during development or postnatal pulmonary fibrosis.

Targeted dominant negatives

Using the *huSP-C* promoter, the targeted expression of a dominant negative fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor in transgenic mice results in complete inhibition of branching morphogenesis and epithelial cell differentiation, thus establishing a specific role for FGFs in normal mammalian lung development.

Targeted replacement of deficient proteins

Expression of a construct consisting of 3.7 *huSP-C* and the granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) gene in GM-CSF null background mice leads to a reversal of the alveolar proteinosis previously described in the original knockout animal.¹⁰⁴ Human SP-C_{3.7} has also been used to target human cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) to the distal respiratory epithelium of normal mice and has been proposed as a method of restoring gene function to CFTR deficient animals.

As can be ascertained from this list, the use of the human SP-C promoter in combination with transgenic technology represents an important experimental paradigm for the advancement of our understanding of pulmonary cell biology.

Chimeric Transgene	Result	Ref.
hSP-C-Diphtheria Toxin	Obliteration of distal respiratory epithelium	88
hSP-C-CAT	Definition of promoter driven developmental pattern of CAT expression	89
hSP-C-Large T Antigen	a) Model of lung adenocarcinoma b) Production of immortalized lung epithelial cell lines	93 94, 95
hSP-C-MnSOD	Conference of protection from oxidant injury	103
hSP-C-TGF-β ₁	Arrested lung morphogenesis and epithelial differentiation	96
hSP-C-KGF	Disrupted branching of morphogenesis	67
hSP-C-TGF- α	Pulmonary fibrosis	98
hSP-C-TNF- α	Fibrosing alveolitis	66
hSP-C-bmp-4	Inhibition in differentiated type II cells/disrupted morphogenesis	100
hSP-C-FGF#	Inhibition of all branching morphogenesis	101
hSP-C-hCFTR	Lung specific human CFTR expression	102
hSP-C-GM-CSF	Restoration of surfactant homeostasis+	104
KGF = keratinocyte growth fac conductance regulator. Other # Targeted dominant negative + Transgene expression in GM	ctor; bmp-4 = bone morphogenic protein; MnSOD = manganese superoxide dismutase; CFTR = cystic fib abbreviations as in the text. • of abnormal FGF receptor 1-CSF-/- background	rosis transmembrane

Molecular Processing and Cellular Metabolism of Surfactant Protein C

Metabolic Life-Cycle of SP-C Protein

Figure 5.4 schematically depicts the gene structure for human SP-C and the derivation of the active peptide. The full length SP-C mRNA (0.9 kb), produced by splicing of multiple exons, yields a primary translation product 197 amino acids in length. In vitro translation of human lung RNA produces SP-C primary translation products of Mr 21,000-22,000.¹⁴ Similar sized products have been detected in primary cultures of rat type II cells^{57,79,105-106} and produced in CHO cells transfected with a human SP-C cDNA.⁵⁶ Like SP-B, mature SP-C is contained within the sequence of a larger precursor proprotein (proSP-C). The predominant form of SP-C isolated from extracellular surfactant is composed of 35 amino acids extending from residues 24 to 59 of the proprotein. Unlike SP-A and SP-B, the NH2terminal flanking region does not contain a classic 'signal sequence' and there are no sites for asparagine-linked glycosylation (Table 5.1).^{3,12,113} Nonetheless, SP-C must undergo proteolytic processing for production of the 35 amino acid form secreted into the airways. Generation of mature SP-C from the larger proSP-C precursor involves removal of 23-25 residues of N-terminal peptide, cleavage of 133-139 residues of C-terminus and post-translational addition of covalent palmitic acid.²⁵ Mature SP-C, packaged with phospholipid in the lamellar body, is secreted into the air space and, in order to maintain normal homeostasis, must then be cleared.

Immunocytochemical Localization of SP-C Synthesis

While SP-A and SP-B peptides have been localized immunocytochemically to granular inclusions within the apical cytoplasm of type II cells,^{87,107-110} actual immunocytochemical localization of the mature SP-C peptide has not been reported due to unavailability of monospecific SP-C_{3.7} antisera. We and others have used immunocytochemistry with monospecific antisera directed against portions of proSP-C to characterize expression of the precursor molecule.^{57,77-79,105} In the adult rat lung, SP-C propeptides can be localized intracellularly to alveolar epithelial cells which also show binding to Maclura pomifera antigen (i.e., type II cells).⁷⁷ Fluorescence immunochemical staining of isolated rat type II cells shows a subcellular distribution of proSP-C peptides in endoplasmic reticulum (ER), Golgi and highly acidic phospholipid enriched cytoplasmic organelles (i.e., lamellar bodies).79,105 Ultrastructural localization of proSP-C expression in the rat using immunogold electron microscopy has demonstrated the presence of proSP-C peptides in the ER, Golgi and transport vesicles of the late secretory pathway (multivesicular bodies), but ultrathin cryomicrotomy failed to detect proSP-C in lamellar bodies.^{57,80} However, in sections prepared in the latter manner, lamellar bodies also failed to show preservation of the classic lamellated morphology of vesicular surfactant lipid, raising the issue of phospholipid and lipid-associated proSP-C extraction during fixation.

Synthesis, Post-translational Processing and Intracellular Targeting of proSP-C

Details of the proteolytic processing pathway are partially elucidated. In addition to problems generating antisera against mature SP-C, the complete characterization of the post-translational processing pathway for proSP-C is hampered by the lack of a cultured cell line which exhibits stable expression and complete processing of proSP-C to SP-C_{3.7}. Alveolar type II cells isolated from rats and placed in primary culture on tissue culture plastic exhibit rapid loss of both SP-C mRNA¹¹¹ and proprotein expression.⁷⁹ To circumvent these technical difficulties, epitope-specific antisera against proSP-C have been used to study proSP-C synthetic processing in surrogate models (e.g., isolated perfused adult rat lung, fresh rat type II cells, murine fetal lung, cultured human fetal lung, transfected cell

lines and in vitro translation systems) which mimic some or most aspects of in vivo type II cell function and proSP-C synthetic processing.

The production and characterization of several epitope-specific polyclonal antibodies directed against rat proSP-C using synthetic peptides corresponding to spatially distinct regions of the proSP-C primary sequence have been reported by our group^{77,78} and others.^{56,57} A schematic diagram of the published proSP-C antisera is shown in Figure 5.3. Using these reagents, analyses using the experimental models mentioned above have begun to dissect the post-translational processing pathways. Progress to date has occurred in five major areas:

- 1. Palmitoylation;
- 2. Post-translational proteolysis;
- 3. Membrane association and orientation;
- 4. Cis-acting elements of proSP-C sequence regulating intracellular trafficking;
- 5. Trans-acting factors affecting proSP-C processing.

Palmitoylation

³H-Palmitic acid labeling of CHO cells stably transfected with a full-length *hSP-C* resulted in palmitoylation of proSP-C₂₁ and appearance of a 26 kDa *hSP-C* intermediate.⁵⁶ A 21.5 kDa form has been found in rat type II cells.⁵⁷ In both systems, addition of cerulenin, an inhibitor of fatty acid incorporation, blocked the appearance of higher molecular weight forms. In the case of human SP-C, the change in M_r (5 kDa) is larger than would be expected by the addition of two palmitic acid residues alone and the authors have raised the possibility of a second palmitoylation-dependent modification.

Post-translational proteolysis

In our laboratory, immunoprecipitation with epitope-specific antisera of homogenates from a perfused rat lung preparation and lysates from freshly isolated type II cells labeled with ³⁵S-methionine/cysteine identified the ³⁵S-labeled 21 kDa SP-C primary translation product.⁷⁸⁻⁷⁹ Pulse-chase experiments demonstrated processing of proSP-C₂₁ through 16 kDa and 6 kDa intermediate forms (proSP-C₁₆, proSP-C₆) by cleavage of C-terminal propeptide domains which was blocked by brefeldin A (BFA). In the rat type II cells, the presence of these intermediates in pulse-chase profiles preceded the appearance of a mature SP-C_{3.7} band detected by Tricine SDS/PAGE of organic extracts of the cell lysates.¹⁰⁵ Inhibition of proSP-C proteolysis by BFA also inhibited production of mature SP-C. Vorbroker et al reported similar findings using proSP-C antisera and fresh rat type II cells.⁵⁷ Although the sizes of the proSP-C intermediates identified were different, they confirmed the early cleavage of C-terminal domains and mimicked the BFA effect on post-translational proteolysis through the use of low temperature (20°C) to completely block cleavage of proSP-C. The effects of BFA and temperature observed in these two reports indicate that all post-translational proteolysis occurs distal to the trans-Golgi network.

Membrane association and orientation

Using membrane association and protease digestion assays, Keller et al demonstrated by in vitro translation of an epitope tagged proSP-C mRNA in the presence of canine pancreatic microsomal vesicles that proSP- C_{21} is a type II bitopic membrane protein (= COOH in the ER lumen) with the sequence corresponding to mature SP-C within the propeptide acting as the membrane anchoring domain.¹¹² Vorbroker et al⁵⁶ showed that membrane fractions from CHO cells expressing transfected SP-C cDNA contain proSP- C_{21} which is resistant to NaCO₃ extraction, confirming integral membrane association of proSP-C. However, protease protection assays of native human proSP-C and pancreatic microsomes indicated that $proSP-C_{21}$ may be a type III protein (= NH_2 in ER lumen).⁵⁷ A preliminary report using $NaCO_3$ extraction of membrane fractions from rat type II cells, lamellar bodies and microsomes has also found integral membrane association of $proSP-C_{21}$ and $proSP-C_6$.¹¹³ The exact orientation of membrane associated proSP-C intermediates in native type II cell membranes remains to be clarified.

Cis-acting elements of proSP-C sequence regulating intracellular trafficking

Cis-acting elements within the proSP-C sequence have also been proposed to direct its intracellular trafficking. Although a classic signal sequence is lacking, either the mature SP-C sequence (phe₂₄-his₅₉), palmitoylated moieties or domains flanking the mature SP-C sequence in proSP-C₂₁ could play a role in its intracellular targeting and processing. In CHO cells transfected with truncated human SP-C constructs, immunofluoresence localization has shown that intracellular targeting of proSP-C to cytoplasmic vesicular structures is dependent upon the last 22 amino acids (C-terminus) of proSP-C₂₁ (= gly₁₇₆-ile₁₉₇).¹¹⁴ A similar deletion of the C-terminus of rat proSP-C blocks the normal targeting of wild type proSP-C to cytoplasmic vesicles in A549 cells and results in inhibition of proteolysis (Beers MF, unpublished observations). Between species, there is 82% amino acid homology for this region. Other proSP-C domains which have a high degree of homology include met₁-arg₂₁ (96%) and met₆₀-gly₇₄ (93%); their role in targeting has not been fully characterized. Intracellular targeting of site-directed mutants deleted for either the mature SP-C region or the palmitoylated cysteine residues (cys₂₈; cys₂₉) has not been characterized.

Trans-acting factors affecting proSP-C processing

In addition to cis-acting elements contained within the proSP-C sequence, it is likely that other cell related (trans-acting) factors are also required for proper SP-C synthesis and processing. The complete proteolytic processing pattern of proSP-C appears to be lung epithelial cell specific. Expression of recombinant human proSP-C₂₁ protein in CHO cells results in generation of SP-C₂₁ and a single intermediate.⁵⁶ Similarly, proSP-C expressed in mammary tissue via a cell-specific promoter is secreted as a partially processed proSP-C intermediate in the transgenic milk.¹¹⁵ In preliminary studies, transfection of rat SP-C into A549 cells resulted in a processing profile identical to that in rat type II cells; two nonlung epithelial cell lines transfected with the same construct failed to process translated proSP-C₂₁.¹¹⁶

In addition to effects of BFA and temperature, post-translational proteolysis of proSP-C is also inhibited by disruption of the progressive acidification normally present in organellar compartments along the exocytic pathway.¹⁰⁵ The membrane permeable weak base, methylamine, as well as the lysosomotropic agent chloroquine, the proton ionophore monensin, and bafilomycin A₁, a specific vacuolar H⁺-ATPase inhibitor, each disrupted proSP-C proteolysis in a similar manner leading to inhibition of SP-C_{3.7} formation. These results are consistent with similar effects of these reagents on processing of prohormones by neuroendocrine cells.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁸ At present, none of the proteases which process SP-C are currently defined, nor is the effect of pH on actual targeting known.

The results detailed above can be integrated into a working model for SP-C synthetic processing. As Figure 5.5 demonstrates, the post-translational processing of proSP-C is complex and requires several intracellular compartments. Following synthesis of proSP-C₂₁ in a microsomal (ER) compartment, it is most likely that palmitoylation takes place post-translationally (independent of de novo protein synthesis) in the Golgi. This event is followed by proteolysis of palmitoylated proSP-C (proSP-C_{21, 21.5, 24 or 26}) which entails initial cleavage of C-terminal flanking domains in acidic intracellular organellar compartments. Final cleavage of the N-terminal flanking domains occurs later in the secretory pathway.



Fig. 5.5. Schematic diagram of SP-C synthetic processing pathway in alveolar type II cells. Diagrammatic representation of proSP-C processing pathway in the adult rat depicting the major proteolytic steps and the intracellular compartments involved in post-translational processing (based on data from refs. 56, 57, 78,79 and 105). (Left) The M_r of the major intermediates are given. (Right) The major subcellular compartments involved in processing and the intraorganellar pH along the exocytic pathway (based upon data in refs. 105 and 117), showing progressive acidification of the secretory pathway, is schematically illustrated. Inhibition of proSP-C processing steps can be accomplished using: (1) The acidotropic agents methylamine (MA) and chloroquine (CQ), both of which neutralize the organellar pH of all acidic compartments; (2) Bafilomycin (BAF A₁), which blocks vesicular ATPase-mediated proton translocation; (3) Brefeldin A, which completely blocks proSP-C processing by inhibition of Golgi-budded vesicle formation.

The data published to date also indicate that all proteolytic processing of $proSP-C_{21}$ to mature $SP-C_{3.7}$ occurs distal to the trans-Golgi network.

Based upon currently available data, the most likely sites for proteolytic processing of proSP-C along the secretory pathway include the multivesicular body and the lamellar body. Immunogold electron microscopy studies identified proSP-C within multivesicular bodies of human lung tissue,⁸⁰ and a highly purified lamellar body fraction from rat lung is enriched in proSP-C₆₋₁₀.⁷⁸⁻⁷⁹ In addition, ultrastructural analysis of lungs from infants with congenital SP-B deficiency has shown disruption of normal vesicle formation, the presence of morphologically abnormal lamellar bodies, aberrant SP-C processing resulting in the accumulation of proSP-C intermediates and a lack of detectable mature SP-C_{3.7}.¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹ Taken together, evidence to date indicates that delivery of proSP-C to compartments of the late secretory pathway, which include the multivesicular body and lamellar body, is important

for proper processing of proSP-C to mature SP-C. Additional morphological and biochemical characterization are required to more accurately define the processing compartments.

Secretion and Clearance of SP-C

From biochemical analysis of lamellar bodies and surfactant, it is likely that SP- $C_{3,7}$ is stored in the lamellar bodies of type II cells along with synthesized surfactant phospholipid prior to release to the alveolar space.^{5,63} The effect of the known phospholipid secretagogues (see chapter 7) on the kinetics of SP-C secretion is undefined but it is likely that if SP-C is cosecreted with the phospholipid, then these same signal transduction mechanisms would play a part.

Once secreted into the alveolar space, the fate of SP-C in the adult lung is relatively unknown. A significant body of data exists to support the notion of reuptake and reutilization of phospholipids, SP-A and SP-B by type II pneumocytes.¹²²⁻¹²⁶ Morphological and ¹²⁵I-binding studies in isolated type II cells confirm saturable binding, internalization, and appearance in endosomes of both SP-A and SP-B.

Based on limited studies to date, reuptake of SP-C by type II cells also occurs.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ Biosynthesized, radiolabeled SP-C instilled into lungs of neonatal rabbits accumulates in lamellar body-enriched fractions in a time dependent manner.¹²⁷ Cell association of ¹²⁵I-SP-C with isolated type II cells occurs in a concentration-, time- and temperature-dependent manner but is not saturable up to 150 μ g/ml.¹²⁹ In animal models, the time course for clearance of SP-C and of simultaneously instilled lipid (labeled DPPC) is similar and the internalized SP-C is not degraded.^{128,129}

Developmental Expression and Metabolism of SP-C

Temporal and Spatial Pattern of Expression

Expression of SP-C mRNA in developing human lung occurs early in the second trimester and at an equivalent gestational age in other species.^{83,86,130-132} Using Northern blot analysis, SP-C mRNA can be detected in human fetal lung tissue as early as 13 weeks gestation but remain at 5-10% of adult levels until very late in the second trimester, reaching 15% of adult levels by 24-25 weeks.¹³¹ Compared to SP-B, the levels of expression of SP-C mRNA are relatively lower (as a percentage of term lung) and the increase at the end of the second trimester lags slightly behind that of SP-B mRNA. The presence of detectable message for both hydrophobic proteins precedes the differentiation of type II cells, synthesis of surfactant phospholipids, production of SP-A and appearance of most lamellar bodies, i.e., before complete phenotypic differentiation of the type II cell.^{131,133-134}

Using in situ hybridization, the expression of SP-C mRNA is seen in air-space epithelial cells prior to formation of alveoli in both the mouse and rabbit. Localization of SP-C mRNA by in situ hybridization and SP-C proprotein by immunocytochemistry with polyclonal antiserum generated against proSP-C showed expression of both mRNA and proprotein exclusively in airway epithelial cells of early second trimester human fetal lung at ~14-16 weeks.^{86,88,132,135} After 24 weeks, SP-C mRNA and precursor protein are detected in type II cells and then increase with advancing gestational age.¹³²

Despite the presence of detectable message and proprotein, the fetal lung appears incapable of fully processing synthesized proSP-C. Immunoprecipitation of ³⁵S-labeled murine fetal lung explants demonstrated synthesis of proSP-C₂₁ and an ~24 kDa intermediate, but failed to detect the presence of lower molecular weight intermediates (indicative of proteolysis).⁵⁶ Similarly, by Western blotting and immunoprecipitation of second trimester human fetal lung tissue with an epitope-specific proSP-C antiserum directed against the NH_2 terminus (anti-NPROSP-C), proSP-C₂₁ is detected as early as week 12. However, as for the murine model, lower molecular weight forms are not detected up to week 24.¹³⁵

Hormonal and Explant Culture Modulation of SP-C Expression

Maturation of the pulmonary surfactant system is well known to be under hormonal regulation. Clinically, antenatal glucocorticoids are administered as early as 24 weeks gestation to mothers at risk for premature delivery.¹³⁶ In several animal models, administration of antenatal steroids markedly affects both lung maturation and expression of SP-C.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ In vivo experiments in fetal rabbits demonstrated increased expression of SP-C mRNA in lung tissue after maternal administration of glucocorticoids; however some of this effect could be attributed to a stress response.¹³⁷ Increases in SP-C mRNA have also been observed after in vivo antenatal administration of dexamethasone to rats.¹³⁸⁻¹³⁹

The culture of explanted human fetal lung tissue stimulates morphological maturation and surfactant production.^{133-134,140} Second trimester human lung tissue placed in explant culture in defined medium exhibits morphogenic changes including increased airspace size, precocious cytodifferentiation of airway epithelial cells, lamellar body formation and accompanying increases in steady state levels of SP-A and SP-B mRNA.^{131,133,141} In contrast, SP-C mRNA levels remain low (<10% of adult levels).¹³¹ However, addition of glucocorticoids (10-100 nM dexamethasone) results in a ~20- to 30-fold increase in SP-C mRNA content,¹³¹ induction of a further increase (2- to 3-fold) in SP-B mRNA,^{131,141} additional increases in lamellar body number^{133-134,140} and induction of lipogenic enzymes (see chapter 2). In fetal rat lung, explant culture in the presence of dexamethasone initiates similar changes in SP-C message expression.¹⁴²

The mechanism of corticosteroid induction of human SP-C mRNA levels has been investigated using in vitro techniques.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵ In cultured human fetal lung, SP-C mRNA levels rise in response to 100 nM dexamethasone, reach maximal levels in 24 hours and are accompanied by a parallel increase (~10- to 12-fold) in the rate of SP-C gene transcription. Compared to that of SP-B, the increase in SP-C mRNA occurs at a slower rate and requires higher hormone concentrations. For SP-C (but not SP-B), the corticosteroid effect also requires ongoing protein synthesis (i.e., it is cyclohexamide inhibitable), which likely reflects involvement of a labile transcription factor, but does not involve a change in mRNA stability.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁴ In fetal rabbit lung explants, on the other hand, increased SP-C mRNA stability is induced by dexamethasone; this may represent species variability.¹⁴⁵ A palindromic glucocorticoid response element (GRE) exists at -1.9 kb of the human SP-C gene,⁸³ although confirmation that this is a functional GRE has not been forthcoming.

Preliminary studies suggest that the changes in steady state SP-C message induced by explant culture and corticosteroids are accompanied by changes in SP-C protein expression and processing. By immunocytochemistry, proSP-C immunoreactivity in airway epithelial cells is markedly enhanced by culture of human fetal lung explants in dexamethasone.¹³⁵ Immunoprecipitation revealed a 15-fold increase in ³⁵S-proSP-C₂₁ in dexamethasone-treated versus control lungs which parallels the reported changes in mRNA content.¹³¹ In contrast to either preculture or culture controls, synthesis of proSP-C₂₁ in the steroid treated fetal lung explant is followed by early appearance of a 24-26 kDa form and subsequent appearance of smaller processing intermediates including 6-10 kDa forms. Therefore, dexamethasone treatment of the fetal lung results in coordinated increases in proSP-C protein expression and mRNA content which are mediated by enhanced transcription. Through secondary effects on lung maturation, corticosteroids also appear to increase the ability of the immature lung to process translated protein.

In addition to corticosteroids, several other factors have been shown to regulate expression of SP-C in the fetal lung (Table 5.4).^{146,147} However, the effects of thyroid hormone,

Agent	SP-C mRNA	Experimental Model	Ref.
Glucocorticoid	↑	HFL	131
Glucocorticoid	↑	RFL; RIV	138-139, 142
Glucocorticoid	↑	Rabbit in vivo	137
cyclic AMP	⇔, ↑	HFL	139
Forskolin	\leftrightarrow	HFL	131
Thyroid hormone	\leftrightarrow	HFL	139
Interferon-γ	\leftrightarrow	HFL	147
Hyperglycemia	Ļ	Streptozotocin treated rat	148-149
Insulin	↔	' HFL	150
Androgens	\leftrightarrow	HFL	131
Estrogens	\Leftrightarrow	HFL	131
Retinoic acid	\downarrow	RFL	151

Table 5.4. Factors regulating SP-C mRNA expression during development

Abbreviations used:HFL = Cultured human fetal lung; RFL = Cultured rat fetal lung; RIV = Rat in vivo; MFL = Cultured mouse fetal lung

insulin, cyclic AMP, androgens and hyperglycemia are less clearly defined, appear to be species-dependent and are influenced by experimental conditions (explants vs. in vivo models).^{131,137-139,142,148-151} With the exception of corticosteroids and thyroid hormone, the physiological role of other multihormone regimens remains to be defined.

Regulation of SP-C Expression and Metabolism

In the adult lung, expression of SP-C mRNA can be modulated by a variety of factors including in vitro culture, hormones, cytokines and environmental factors (Table 5.5).^{111,152-158}

Negative Modulators

There is a time dependent decrease in SP-C mRNA steady-state levels in type II cells cultured on plastic for 24-48 hours or on Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm matrix that is associated with a commensurate loss of proSP-C protein expression.⁷⁹ It remains to be established if the downregulation in tissue culture is due to decreased rates of transcription or increased mRNA degradation.

The proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α decreases SP-C mRNA levels in mice within 24 hours of intratracheal administration. Recombinant murine TNF- α also inhibits endogenous SP-C mRNA in vitro in MLE-12 cells in a time- and dose-dependent manner.¹⁵² TGF- β_1 , a peptide growth factor often elaborated by many cells during the course of lung injury, decreases the abundance of SP-C mRNA in isolated type II cells; this occurs without altering cellular morphology and is accompanied by an increase in fibronectin mRNA.¹⁵³

Positive Modulators

As in the fetus, corticosteroids increase SP-C mRNA levels in adult lungs. Rats given subcutaneous corticosteroids show upregulation of SP-C mRNA, as well as that of SP-A and SP-B.¹⁵⁴ Adrenalectomy, however, does not alter SP-C mRNA levels, raising doubts as to the physiological role of glucocorticoids in the regulation of SP-C expression in adult lung.

SP-C MKNA	Experimental Model	Ref.	
V	Murine IT in vivo	152	
¥		152	
↓ I	Rat type II cells in vitro	153	
¥	Kat type in cens in vitro		
î	Rat in vivo	154	
↑	Rat in vivo	155	
1	Hamster in vivo	156	
\Leftrightarrow	Rabbits in vivo	157	
1	Rat in vivo	158	
	$\downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \uparrow \uparrow$	 ↓ Murine IT in vivo ↓ MLE-12 cells in vitro ↓ Rat type II cells in vitro ↓ Rat type II cells in vitro ↑ Rat in vivo ↑ Rat in vivo ↑ Hamster in vivo ↑ Rat in vivo ↑ Rat in vivo ↑ Rat in vivo 	

Table 5.5.	Factors r	egulating	SP-C ml	RNA expr	ession in	adult (p	ost-natal)	lung

Changes in steady state SP-C mRNA levels are also modulated by oxygen. Exposure of rats to 85% oxygen for 5 days causes a 2-fold increase in SP-C mRNA as assayed by Northern blotting.¹⁵⁵ Semiquantitative measurement with a polyspecific antiserum showed a 5-fold increase in the amount of SP-C in lung lavage recovered from oxygen-exposed animals. The precise response to hyperoxia may be dependent on the species and the extent of exposure. Hamsters in a hyperoxic environment (100% oxygen for 8 days) have increases in SP-C mRNA content,¹⁵⁶ but exposure of rabbits to 100% oxygen for 64 hours has no detectable effect on SP-C mRNA levels.⁸⁴

Intratracheal instillation of adult rats with endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide) increases SP-C mRNA levels in alveolar type II cells as determined by Northern blotting and in situ hybridization.¹⁵⁸ As for hyperoxia, it is not certain whether the endotoxin-induced increase in SP-C mRNA is a direct physiological response mediated by induction of gene transcription or a marker of type II cell proliferation which occurs in response to lung injury.

SP-C in Congenital and Acquired Lung Disease

The potential role of SP-C in the pathophysiology of both congenital and acquired lung disease is becoming increasingly recognized. To date, neither a transgenic knockout mouse model of the SP-C gene nor the detection of an SP-C gene abnormality in humans has been reported. Nonetheless, downregulation of SP-C gene expression, disruptions of its normal synthetic processing and altered metabolism have been demonstrated in both clinical and animal models, emphasizing the importance of the protein in normal lung physiology.

SP-B Deficiency

Recently, evidence for the importance of proper intracellular targeting and proteolysis in the biosynthesis and post-translational processing of SP-C is underscored by the phenotypic characterization of congenital SP-B deficiency resulting from mutational disruption of the SP-B gene.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹ In both the 121ins2¹¹⁹ and R236C¹⁵⁹ mutations, the SP-B deficient phenotype is associated with abnormal post-translational processing of SP-C manifested as an abnormal accumulation of a 6-12 kDa proSP-C intermediate with concomitant lack of detectable SP-C_{3.7}.^{119,120,159} Electron microscopy of SP-B deficient lung tissue has shown absence of well formed lamellar bodies in type II cells and loss of directional secretion.¹²⁰ Similar phenotypic features have been noted in the recently described SP-B knockout mouse.¹⁶⁰ Thus, the severe hypoxia and altered lung mechanics associated with inactivation of the SP-B gene results in a double phenotypic knockout of both the mature SP-B and SP-C proteins.

Pulmonary Alveolar Proteinosis (PAP)

Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis is a clinical syndrome of a diffuse infiltrative lung disease characterized by the excessive accumulation of surfactant phospholipids and proteins within the alveolar space.¹⁶¹ Although an animal model of the disease has been created with the GM-CSF knockout mouse,¹⁶² the etiology in humans remains unknown. The primary structures of SP-A, SP-B and SP-C have all been reported to be abnormal.¹⁶³ While SP-C from normal lung lavage possesses thioester linked palmitate and N-terminal fraying (34-35 amino acids), SP-C_{3.7} from alveolar proteinosis patients is modified by partial removal of palmitate residues and additional N-terminal degradation resulting in some forms with less than 34 amino acids. These results have not been correlated with changes in surfactant biophysics.

Chronic Lung Disease of the Newborn and Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Although chronic lung disease of the newborn and adult respiratory distress syndrome are both associated with abnormalities in surfactant biophysics, SP-C expression and metabolism in these conditions is largely unknown. Based on in vitro and animal data, the presence of TNF- α , TGF- β_1 and other cytokines in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with these conditions would be expected to alter SP-C mRNA and protein expression. TGF- β_1 downregulates SP-C mRNA and proprotein synthesis in fetal lung explant cultures while simultaneously enhancing lung matrix deposition.¹⁶⁴

Conclusions and Future Directions

Despite the difficulties intrinsic to the unique structure of the smallest surfactant protein, we have learned much since its discovery nearly 20 years ago. Our traditional thinking about surfactant-associated proteins has centered principally around their effects on the biophysical properties of surfactant phospholipid. It is now apparent that the surfactant proteins are a biochemically, biophysically and functionally diverse group of mammalian peptides.

From studies presented in this review, it is apparent that SP-C represents a physiologically important peptide with novel structural properties; extreme hydrophobicity, membrane spanning potential (α -helix) and a unique post-translational modification, i.e., palmitoylation. A full understanding of SP-C remains incomplete, but progress to date includes characterization of its biophysical properties, partial mapping of the SP-C gene including detailed information on the promoter and regulation of transcription, and understanding of proSP-C processing in normal and SP-B deficient conditions.

Some of the future areas which are ripe for investigation include:

- 1. Development of better methodologies for accurate quantitation of the hydrophobic SP-C_{3.7} in both surfactant and intracellular compartments;
- 2. Further characterization of SP-C synthetic processing including a detailed understanding of the role of palmitoylation, the determinants of intracellular targeting, the proteases responsible for propeptide cleavage and the potential regulators of proprotein processing;
- 3. Further progress in understanding the three dimensional structure of SP-C as well as its interactions with phospholipids and the other surfactant proteins;

- Quantitation of SP-C levels and its biophysical function and metabolism in inflammatory, infectious and congenital lung disease;
- 5. Additional characterization of the SP-C promoter and development of its use as a tissue specific promoter to augment gene therapy of the lung.

Improved understanding in these and other areas will undoubtedly lead to new applications and permit novel approaches to the treatment of some pulmonary diseases.

References

- 1. Pattle RE. Properties, function and origin of the alveolar lining layer. Nature 1955; 175:1125-1126.
- 2. Clements JA. Surface tension of lung extracts. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1957; 95:170-172.
- 3. King RJ, Clements JA. Surface-active materials from dog lung II: Composition and physiological correlations. Am J Physiol 1972; 223:715-726.
- 4. Pfleger RC, Thomas HG. Beagle dog pulmonary surfactant lipids. Arch Intern Med 1971; 127:863-872.
- 5. Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994 8:957-967.
- 6. Hawgood S. Pulmonary surfactant apoproteins: A review of protein and genomic structure. Am J Physiol 1989; 262:L13-L22.
- 7. Weaver TE, Whitsett JA. Function and regulation of expression of pulmonary surfactantassociated proteins. Biochem J 1991; 273:249-264.
- 8. Scarpelli EM, Clutario BC, Taylor FA. Preliminary identification of the lung surfactant system. J Appl Physiol 1967; 23:880-886.
- 9. Cherniak RM. The BAL Cooperative Group Steering Committee. Bronchoalveolar lavage constituents in healthy individuals, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, and selected comparison groups. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141:S169-S202.
- 10. Wright JR, Benson BJ, Williams MC et al. Protein composition of rabbit alveolar surfactant subfractions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 791:320-332.
- 11. King RJ, Klass DJ, Gikas EG et al. Isolation of apoproteins from canine surface active material. Am J Physiol 1973; 224:788-795.
- 12. Phizackerly PJ, Town RMH, Newman GE. Hydrophobic proteins of lamellated osmiophilic bodies isolated from pig lung. Biochem J 1979; 183:731-736.
- 13. Claypool WD, Wang DL, Chander A et al. An ethanol-ether soluble apoprotein from rat lung surfactant augments liposome uptake by isolated granular pneumocytes. J Clin Invest 1984; 74:677-684.
- 14. Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Weaver TE et al. cDNA, deduced polypeptide structure and chromosomal assignment of human surfactant proteolipid SPL (pVal). J Biol Chem 1988; 257:13135-13143.
- 15. Curstedt T, Jornvall H, Robertson B et al. Two hydrophobic low-molecular mass protein fractions of pulmonary surfactant-characterization and biophysical activity. Eur J Biochem 1987; 168:255-262.
- 16. Johansson J, Jornvall H, Eklund A et al. Hydrophobic 3.7 kD surfactant polypeptide: Structural characteristics of the human and bovine forms. FEBS Letts 1988; 232:61-64.
- 17. Johansson J, Curstedt T, Robertson B et al. Size and structure of the hydrophobic low molecular weight surfactant associated peptide. Biochemistry 1988; 27:3544-3547.
- Warr RG, Hawgood SH, Buckley I et al. Low molecular weight human pulmonary surfactant protein (SP5): Isolation, characterization, cDNA sequence and amino acid sequence. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 1988; 84:7915-7919.
- 19. Fisher JH, Shannon JM, Hofmann T et al. Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of the hydrophobic surfactant protein SP-C from rat: Expression in alveolar type II cells and homology with SP-C from other species. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 995:225-230.
- 20. Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD et al. Structure and expression of the pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C gene in the mouse. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:21986-21991.

- 21. Connelly I, Possmayer F. cDNA sequence and alternative mRNA splicing of surfactantassociated protein C (SP-C) in rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1127:199-207.
- 22. Boggaram V, Margana RK. Rabbit surfactant protein C: cDNA, cloning and regulation of alternatively spliced surfactant protein C mRNAs. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L634-L644.
- 23. Christensen J, Belousov J, Storgaard T et al. Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of the hydrophobic surfactant protein C from mink. Genebank Database Accession number Z19516, 1993.
- 24. Possmayer F. A proposed nomenclature for pulmonary surfactant-associated proteins. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 138:990-998.
- 25. Beers MF, Fisher AB. Surfactant protein C: A review of its unique properties. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L151-160.
- 26. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis MA, Haagsman HP, van Golde LMG et al. Characterization of lipid insertion into monomolecular layers mediated by lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Biochemistry 1991; 30:10965-10971.
- 27. Qanbar R, Possmayer F. On the surface activity surfactant associated protein C (SP-C): Effects of palmitoylation and pH. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1255:251-259.
- 28. Qanbar R, Cheng S, Possmayer F et al. Role of palmitoylation of surfactant-associated protein C in surfactant film formation and stability. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L572-580.
- 29. Boncuk-Dayanikli P, Taeusch HW. Essential and non essential constituents of exogenous surfactants. In: Robertson B, Taeusch HW, eds. Surfactant Therapy for Lung Disease. New York: Marcel-Dekker, 1995:217-238.
- 30. Johannsen J, Curstedt T, Persson P et al. Hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C: Special analytical problems. In: Jornvall H, ed. Methods in Protein Sequence Analysis. Basel: Birkhauser Verlag, 1990:197-204.
- 31. Perez-Gil J, Keough KM. Identical and similar amino acid sequences in the pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C and hemerythrin and myohemerythrin—an example of biochemical velcro[®]. Biochem Internat 1992; 25:715-721.
- 32. Baatz JE, Smyth KL, Whitsett JA et al. Structure and functions of a dimeric form of surfactant protein SP-C: A Fourier transform infrared and surfactometry study. Chem Physics Lipids 1992; 63:91-104.
- 33. Creuwels LAJM, Demel RA, van Golde LMG et al. Characterization of a dimeric canine form of surfactant protein (SP-C). Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1254:326-332.
- 34. Takahshi A, Waring AJ, Amirkhanian J et al. Structure-function relationships of bovine pulmonary surfactant proteins: SP-B and SP-C. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1044:43-49.
- 35. Vandenbussche G, Clercx A, Curstedt TA et al. Structure and orientation of the surfactant-associated protein C in a lipid bilayer. Eur J Biochem 1992; 203:201-209.
- 36. Pastrana B, Mautone AJ, Mendelsohn R. Fourier transform infrared studies of secondary structure and orientation of pulmonary surfactant SP-C and its effect on the dynamic surface properties of phospholipids. Biochemistry 1991; 30:10058-10064.
- 37. Johansson J, Szyperski T, Curstedt T et al. NMR structure of the pulmonary surfactantassociated polypeptide SP-C in an apolar solvent contains a valyl-rich α -helix. Biochemistry 1994; 33:6015-6023.
- 38. Morrow MR, Taneva S, Simatos GM et al. ²H NMR studies of the effect of the pulmonary surfactant SP-C on the 1,2,dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine headgroup: A model for transbilayer peptides in surfactant and biological membranes. Biochemistry 1993; 32:11338-11344.
- 39. Johansson J, Persson P, Lowenadler B et al. Canine hydrophobic surfactant polypeptide SP-C—a lipopeptide with one thioester-linked palmitoyl group. FEBS Letts 1991; 281:119-122.
- 40. Stults JT, Green PR, Leskiar DD et al. Lung surfactant protein SP-C from human, bovine, and canine sources contains palmityl cysteine thioester linkages. Am. J Physiol 1991; 261:L118-L125
- 41. Curstedt T, Johansson J, Persson P et al. Hydrophobic surfactant-associated polypeptides: SP-C is a lipopeptide with two palmitoylated cysteine residues, whereas SP-B lacks co-valently linked fatty acyl groups. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 1990; 87:2985-2989.

- 42. Schmidt MFG. Fatty acylation of proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 988:411-426.
- 43. Grand RJ. Acylation of viral and eukaryotic proteins. Biochem. J 1989; 258:625-638.
- 44. Creuwels LAR, Demel RA, van Golde LMG et al. Effect of acylation on structure and function of surfactant protein C at the air-liquid interface. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:26752-26758.
- 45. Shiffer K, Hawgood S, Haagsman HP et al. Lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C alter the thermodynamic properties of phospholipid membranes; a differential calorimetry study. Biochemistry 1993; 32:590-597.
- 46. Wang Z, Gurel O, Baatz JE et al. Acylation of pulmonary surfactant protein-C is required for its optimal surface active interactions with phospholipids. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:19104-19109.
- 47. Folch J, Lees M. Myelin PLP is a proteolipid. J Biol Chem 1951; 191:807-817.
- 48. Chen ZQ, Ulsh LS, Dubois G et al. Post-translational processing of P-21 ras proteins involves palmitoylation of the C-terminal tetrapeptide containing cysteine-186. J Virol 1985; 56:607-612.
- 49. Staufenbiel M, Lazarides E. Ankryin is fatty acylated in erythrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986 83:318-322.
- 50. Parenti M, Vigano MA, Newman CMH et al. Novel N-terminal motif for palmitoylation of G-protein α subunits. Biochem J 1993; 291:349-353.
- 51. Hoeg JM, Meng MS, Ronan R et al. Human lipoprotein A1. Post-translational modification by fatty-acid acylation. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:3911-3914.
- 52. O'Dowd BF, Hnatowich M, Caron MG et al. Palmitoylation of the human beta-2 adrenergic receptor. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:7564-7569.
- Gordon YK, Ng SR, Zastawny RL et al. Human serotonin_{1B} receptor expression in Sf9 cells: Phosphorylation, palmitoylation, and adenyl cyclase inhibition. Biochemistry 1993; 32:11727-11733.
- 54. Alvarez E, Girones N, Davis RJ. Inhibition of the receptor mediated endocytosis of diferric transferrin is associated with the covalent modification of the transferrin receptor with palmitic acid. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:16644-16655.
- 55. Zuber M.X, Stritsmater SM, Fishman MC. A membrane-targeting signal in the amino terminus of the neuronal protein GAP-43. Nature 1989; 341:345-348
- 56. Vorbroker DK, Dey C, Weaver TE et al. Surfactant protein C precursor is palmitoylated and associates with subcellular membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1105:161-169.
- 57. Vorbroker DK, Voorhout WF, Weaver TE et al. Posttranslational processing of surfactant protein-C in rat type II cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 269:L727-L733.
- 58. Hawgood SH, Benson BJ, Schilling JG et al. Nucleotide and amino acid sequences of surfactant protein SP-18 and evidence for cooperation between SP-18 and SP-28-36 in surfactant lipid adsorption. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:66-70.
- 59. Revak SD, Merrit TA, Degryse E et al. Use of human surfactant low molecular weight apoproteins in the reconstitution of surfactant biological activity. J Clin Invest 1988; 81:826-833.
- 60. Arjomaa P, Hallman M. Purification of a hydrophobic surfactant peptide using high performance liquid chromatography. Anal Biochem 19987; 171:207-212.
- 61. Takahashi A, Fujiwara T. Proteolipid in bovine lung surfactant: Its role in surfactant function. Biochim Biophys Res Commun 1986; 135:527-531.
- 62. Bates SR, Ibach PB, Fisher AB. Phospholipids co-isolated with rat surfactant protein C account for the apparent protein-enhanced uptake of liposomes into lung granular pneumocytes. Exp Lung Res 1989; 15:695-708.
- 63. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis MA, van Eijk M, van Beul BLM et al. Surfactant protein composition of lamellar bodies isolated from rat lung. Biochem J 1991; 274:115-119.
- 64. Bohlen P, Stein S, Dairman W et al. Fluorometric assay of proteins in the nanogram range. Arch Biochem Biophys 1973; 155:213-220.
- 65. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL et al. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951; 193:265-275.

- 66. Fan BR, Nguyen T, Waring A et al. Staining properties of bovine low molecular weight hydrophobic surfactant proteins after polyacrylamide electrophoresis. Anal Biochem 1990; 186:41-45.
- 67. Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem 1976; 72:248-254.
- 68. van Eijik M, DeHaas CGM, Haagsman HP. Quantitative analysis of pulmonary surfactant proteins B and C. Anal Biochem 1995; 232:231-237.
- 69. Qanbar R, Possmayer F. A quantitative method for detecting surfactant-associated protein C in pulmonary surfactant. Anal Biochem 1994; 216:262-270.
- 70. Laemmli U. Cleavage of structural protein during assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 1970; 227:680-685.
- 71. Schagger H, von Jagow G. Tricine-sodium dodecyl sulfate gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. Anal Biochem 1987; 166:368-379.
- 72. Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Weaver TE et al. cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence of human pulmonary surfactant-associated proteolipid SPL(phe). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:4007-4011
- 73. Voorhout WF, Veenendaal T, Haagsman HP et al. Intracellular processing of pulmonary surfactant protein B in an endosomal/lysosomal compartment. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L479-L486.
- 74. Beers MF, Bates SR, Fisher AB. Differential extraction for the rapid purification of bovine surfactant protein B. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L773-L778.
- 75. Miller EJ, Cohen AB. Use of antibodies in the study of protein structure and function in lung diseases. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L1-L12.
- 76. Shinnick TM, Sutcliffe JG, Green N et al. Synthetic peptide immunogens as vaccines. Annu Rev Microbiol 1983; 37:425-446.
- 77. Beers MF, Wali A, Eckenhoff MEF et al. An antibody with specificity for surfactant protein C precursors: Identification of proSP-C in rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 7:368-378.
- 78. Beers MF, Kim CY, Dodia C et al. Localization, synthesis and processing of surfactant protein SP-C in rat lung analyzed by epitope specific antipeptide antibodies. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:20318-20328.
- 79. Beers MF, Lomax C. Synthesis and processing of hydrophobic surfactant protein C by isolated type II cells. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L744-L753.
- 80. Voorhout WF, Weaver TE, Haagsman HP et al. Biosynthetic routing of pulmonary surfactant proteins in alveolar type II cells. Microscopy Research and Technique 1993; 26:366-373.
- 81. Moore KJ, D'Amore-Bruno MA, Korfhagen TR et al. Chromosomal localization of three pulmonary surfactant protein genes in the mouse. Genomics 1992; 12:388-93.
- Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Perme CM et al. Two SP-C genes encoding human pulmonary surfactant proteolipid. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:10326-10331.
- 83. Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR, Wert SE et al. Genetic element from human surfactant protein SP-C gene confers brochiolar-alveolar specificity in transgenic mice. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:L349-356.
- 84. Horowitz S, Watkins RH, Auten RL et al. Differential accumulation of surfactant protein A, B, and C mRNAs in two epithelial cell types in hyperoxic lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:511-515.
- 85. Phelps DS, Floros J. Localization of surfactant protein synthesis by in situ hybridization. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:939-942.
- 86. Wohlford CL, Durham P. Snyder J. Localization of surfactant associated protein-C (SP-C) mRNA in fetal rabbit tissue by in-situ hybridization. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6:225-234.
- 87. Phelps DS, Floros J. Localization of pulmonary surfactant proteins using immunocytochemistry and tissue in situ hybridization. Exp Lung Res 1991; 17:985-995.
- 88. Korfhagen TR, Glasser SW, Wert SE et al. Cis-acting sequences from a human surfactant protein gene confer pulmonary-specific gene expression in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990; 87:6122-6126.

- 89. Wert SE, Glasser SW, Korfhagen TR et al. Transcriptional elements from the human SP-C gene direct expression in the primordial respiratory epithelium of transgenic mice. Develop Biol 1993; 156:426-43.
- 90. Kelly SE, Bachurski CJ, Burhans MS et al. Transcription of the lung-specific surfactant protein C gene is mediated by thyroid transcription factor 1. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:6881-6888.
- 91. Bruno MD, Bohinski RJ, Huelsman KM et al. Lung cell-specific expression of the murine surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene is mediated by interactions between the SP-A promoter and thyroid transcription factor-1. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:8108-8114.
- 92. Bohinski RJ, DiLauro R, Whitsett JA. The lung specific surfactant protein B gene promoter is a target for thyroid transcription factor 1 and hepatocyte nuclear factor 3, indicating common factors for organ specific gene expression along foregut axis. Mol Cell Biol 1994; 14:5671-5681.
- 93. Wikenheiser KA, Clark JC, Linnoila RI et al. Simian virus 40 large T antigen directed by transcriptional elements of the human surfactant protein C gene produces pulmonary adenocarcinomas in transgenic mice. Cancer Res 1992; 52:5342-52.
- 94. Ikeda K, Clark JC, Bachurski CJ et al. Immortalization of subpopulations of respiratory epithelial cells from transgenic mice bearing SV40 large T antigen. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L309-317.
- 95. Wikenheiser KA, Vorbroker DK, Rice WR et al. Production of immortalized distal respiratory epithelial cell lines from surfactant protein C/simian virus 40 large tumor antigen transgenic mice. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 1993; 90:11029-11033.
- 96. Zhou L, Dey CR, Wert SE et al. Arrested lung morphogenesis in transgenic mice bearing an SP-C-TGF-β1 chimeric gene. Develop Biol 1996; 175:227-38.
- 97. Simonet WS, DeRose ML, Bucay N et al. Pulmonary malformation in transgenic mice expressing human keratinocyte growth factor in the lung. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:12461-12465.
- 98. Korfhagen TR, Swantz RJ, Wert SE et al. Respiratory epithelial cell expression of human transforming growth factor-alpha induces lung fibrosis in transgenic mice. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:1691-1699.
- 99. Miyazaki Y, Araki K, Vesin C et al. Expression of a tumor necrosis factor-alpha transgene in murine lung causes lymphocytic and fibrosing alveolitis: A mouse model of progressive pulmonary fibrosis. J Clin Invest 1995; 96:250-259.
- 100. Bellusci S, Henderson R, Winnier G et al. Evidence from normal expression and targeted misexpression that bone morphogenetic protein (Bmp-4) plays a role in mouse embryonic lung morphogenesis. Development 1996; 122:1693-1702.
- 101. Peters K, Werner S, Liao X et al. Targetted expression of a dominant negative FGF receptor blocks branching morphogenesis and epithelial cell differentiation of the mouse lung. EMBO J 1994; 13:3296-3301.
- 102. Whitsett JA, Dey CR, Stripp BR et al. Human cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator directed to respiratory epithelial cells of transgenic mice. Nature Genetics 1992; 2:13-20.
- 103. Wispe JR, Warner BB, Clark JC et al. Human Mn-superoxide dismutase in pulmonary epithelial cells of transgenic mice confers protection from oxygen injury. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:23937-23941.
- 104. Huffman JA, Hull WM, Dranoff G et al. Pulmonary epithelial cell expression of GM-CSF corrects the alveolar proteinosis in GM-CSF-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:649-655.
- 105. Beers MF. Inhibition of cellular processing of surfactant protein C by drugs affecting intracellular pH gradients. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:14361-14370.
- 106. Weaver TE, Whitsett JA. Processing of hydrophobic pulmonary surfactant protein B in rat type II cells. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L100-L108.
- 107. Katyal SI, Singh G, Ryan L et al. Hydrophobic surfactant-associated proteins: Electrophoretic and immunologic analyses and cellular localization in human lung. Exp Lung Res 1988; 14:665-669.

- 108. Auten RL, Watkins RH, Shapiro DL et al. Surfactant apoprotein A (SP-A) is synthesized in airway cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:491-496.
- 109. Weaver TE, Sarin VK, Sawtell N et al. Identification of surfactant proteolipid SP-B in human surfactant and fetal lung. J Appl Physiol 1988; 65:982-987.
- 110. Williams MC, Hawgood S, Schenk D et al. Monoclonal antibodies to surfactant proteins SP-28-36 label canine type II and non-ciliated bronchiolar cells by immunofluoresence. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:399-405.
- 111. Shannon JM, Emrie PA, Fisher JH et al. Effect of a reconstituted basement membrane on expression of surfactant apoproteins in cultured adult rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:183-192.
- 112. Keller A, Eistetter HR, Voss T et al. The pulmonary surfactant protein (SP-C) is a type II transmembrane protein. Biochem. J 1991; 277:493-499.
- 113. Beers MF, Lomax CA, Bowers S et al. Post-translational processing of surfactant protein C involves integral membrane association and proteolysis in a post-microsomal compartment. FASEB J 1994; 8:A270.
- 114. Keller A, Steinbilber W, Schafer KP et al. The C-terminal domain of the pulmonary surfactant protein C precursor contains signals for intracellular targeting. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6:601-608.
- 115. Wei Y, Yarus S, Greenberg NM et al. Production of human surfactant protein C in milk of transgenic mice. Transgenic Research 1995; 4:232-240.
- 116. Beers MF, Lomax CA, Solarin KO et al. Post-translational proteolytic processing of surfactant protein C by in vitro models: Cell and species specificity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:A103.
- 117. Orci L, Ravazzola M, Amherdt et al. Coversion of proinsulin to insulin occurs coordinately with acidification of maturing secretory granule. J Cell Biol 1986; 103:2273-2281.
- 118. Loh YP, Brownstein MJ, Gainer H. Proteolyis in neuropeptide processing and other functions. Annu Rev Neurosci 1984; 7:189-222.
- 119. Nogee LM, deMello DE, Dehner LP et al. Brief report: Deficiency of pulmonary surfactant protein B in congenital alveolar proteinosis. N Eng J Med 1993; 328:406-410.
- 120. deMello DE, Heyman S, Phelps DS et al. Ultrastructure of lung in surfactant protein B deficiency. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11:230-239.
- 121. Vorbroker DK, Profitt SA, Nogee LM et al. Aberrant processing of surfactant protein C in hereditary SP-B deficiency. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L647-L656.
- 122. Ryan RM, Morris RE, Rice WR et al. Binding and uptake of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A by pulmonary type II epithelial cells. J Histochem Cytochem 1989; 37:429-440.
- 123. Kuroki Y, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Alveolar type II cells express a high affinity receptor for pulmonary surfactant protein A. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988; 85:5566-5570.
- 124. Wright JR, Borchelt JD, Hawgood S. Lung surfactant apoprotein SP-A (26-36 kDa) binds with high affinity to alveolar type II cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86:5410-5414.
- 125. Bates SR, Beers MF, Fisher AB. Binding and uptake of surfactant protein B by alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L333-L341.
- 126. Breslin JS, Weaver TE. Binding, uptake and localization of surfactant protein B in isolated rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L699-L707.
- 127. Baritussio A, Benevento M, Pettenazzo A et al. The life cycle of low-molecular-weight protein of surfactant (SP-C) in 3 day-old rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989;1006:9-25.
- 128. Pinto RA, Wright JR, Lesikar D et al. Uptake of pulmonary surfactant protein C into adult rat lung lamellar bodies. J Applied Physiol 1993; 74:1005-1011.
- 129. Baritussio A, Pettenazzo A, Benevento M et al. Surfactant protein C is recycled from the alveoli to the lamellar bodies. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L607-611.
- 130. Connelly IH, Hammond GI, Harding PGR et al. Levels of surfactant-associated protein messenger ribonucleic acids in rabbit lung during perinatal development and after hormonal treatment. Endocrinology 1991; 129:2583-2591.
- 131. Liley HG, Tyler-White R, Warr RG et al. Regulation of messenger RNAs for the hydrophobic surfactant proteins in human lung. J Clin Invest 1989; 83:1191-1197.

- 132. Khoor A, Stahlman MT, Gray ME et al. Temporal-spatial distribution of SP-B and SP-C Proteins and mRNAs in developing respiratory epithelium of human lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1994; 46:1187-1199.
- 133. Chinoy MR, Gonzales LW, Ballard PL et al. Elemental composition of lamellar bodies from fetal and adult human lung Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 13:99-108.
- 134. Gonzales LW, Ballard PL, Ertsey R et al. Glucocorticoids and thyroid hormones stimulate biochemical and morphological differentiation of human fetal lung in organ culture. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1986; 62:678-691.
- 135. Solarin KO, Ballard PL, Guttentag SH et al. Expression and glucocorticoid regulation of surfactant protein C in human fetal lung. Pediatr Res 1997; 42:356-364.
- 136. Collaborative Group on Antenatal Steroids. Effect of antenatal dexamethasone administration on the prevention of respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1981; 141:276-283.
- 137. Durham P, Wohlford-Leanane CL, Snyder JM. Glucocorticoid regulation of surfactant-associated proteins in rabbit fetal lung in vivo. Anatomical Record 1993; 237:365-77.
- 138. Schellhase DF, Shannon JM. Effects of maternal dexamethasone on expression of SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in the fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 8:304-312.
- 139. Whitsett JA, Weaver TE, Clark JC et al. Glucocorticoid enhances surfactant proteolipid pPhe and pVal synthesis and RNA in fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:15618-15623.
- 140. Ballard PL, Ertsey R, Gonzalez L et al. Isolation and characterization of differentiated alveolar type II cells from fetal human lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 883:335-344.
- 141. Beers MF, Shuman H, Liley HG et al. Surfactant protein-B in human fetal lung: Developmental and glucocorticoid regulation. Pediatr Res 1994; 38:668-675.
- 142. Veletza SV, Nichols KV, Gross I et al. Surfactant protein C: Hormonal control of SP-C mRNA levels in vitro. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:684-687.
- 143. Venketash VC, Ianuzzi DM, Ertsey R et al. Differential glucocorticoid regulation of pulmonary hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993; 8:222-228.
- 144. Ballard PL, Ertsey R, Gonzales LW et al. Transcriptional regulation of human pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C by glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Cell Biol 1996; 14:599-607.
- 145. Boggaram V, Margana RK. Developmental and hormonal regulation of surfactant protein C (SP-C) gene expression in fetal lung. Role of transcription and mRNA stability. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:27767-27772.
- 146. Odom MW, Ballard PL. Developmental and hormonal regulation of the surfactant system. In: Macdonald JM, ed. Lung Growth and Development. New York: Marcel-Dekker, 1996:495-576.
- 147. Ballard PL, Liley HG, Gonzales LW et al. Interferon gamma and synthesis of surfactant components by cultured human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:137-143.
- 148. Guttentag SH, Phelps DS, Warshaw JB et al. Delayed hydrophobic surfactant protein (SP-B, SP-C) expression in fetuses of streptozotocin-treated rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 7:190-197.
- 149. Sugahara K, Iyama K, Sano K et al. Differential expressions of surfactant protein SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C mRNAs in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes demonstrated by in situ hybridization. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11:397-404.
- 150. Dekowski SA, Snyder JM. Insulin regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid for the surfactant-associated proteins in human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1992; 131:669-76.
- 151. Cardoso WV, Williams MC, Mitsialis SA et al. Retinoic acid induces changes in the pattern of airway branching and alters epithelial cell differentiation in the developing lung in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:464-476.
- 152. Bachurski CJ, Pryhuber GS, Glasser SW et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits surfactant protein C gene transcription. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:19402-19407.
- 153. Maniscalco WM, Sinkin RA, Watkins RH et al. Transforming growth factor-β1 modulates type II cell fibronectin and surfactant protein C expression. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L569-577.

- 154. Fisher JH, McCormack F, Park SS et al. In vivo regulation of surfactant proteins by glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Cell. Mol Biol 1991; 5:63-70.
- 155. Nogee LM, Wispe JR, Clark JC et al. Increased expression of pulmonary surfactant proteins in oxygen-exposed rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:102-107.
- 156. Minoo P, King RJ, Coalson JJ. Surfactant proteins and lipids are regulated independently during hyperoxia. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L291-298.
- 157. Horowitz S, Watins RH, Auten RL Jr et al. Differential accumulation of surfactant protein A, B, and C mRNAs in two epithelial cell types of hyperoxic lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:511-515.
- 158. Sugahara K, Iyama K, Sano K et al. Overexpression of surfactant protein SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C mRNA in rat lungs with lipopolysaccharide-induced injury. Lab Invest 1996; 74:209-20.
- 159. Ballard PL, Nogee LM, Beers MF et al. Partial deficiency of surfactant protein B in a compound heterozygote with a new mutation. J Pediatr 1995; 96:1046-1052.
- 160. Clark JC, Wert SE, Bachurski CJ et al. Targeted disruption of the surfactant protein B gene disrupts surfactant homeostasis, causing respiratory failure in newborn mice. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA1995; 92:7794-7798.
- 161. Beers MF, Tino G. Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. In: Fishman AP, ed. Compendium to Pulmonary Diseases and Disorders. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1994:121-126.
- 162. Dranoff G, Crawford AD, Sadelain M et al. Involvement of granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor in pulmonary homeostasis. Science 1994; 264:713-716.
- 163. Voss T, Schafer KP, Nielsen PF et al. Primary structure differences of human surfactantassociated proteins isolated from normal and proteinosis lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1138:261-267.
- 164. Solarin KO, Ballard PL, Gonzales LW et al. TGF-β₁ modulates epithelial cell differentiation in cultured human fetal lung. Pediatr Res 1997:41:52A.

Biosynthesis and Secretion of Surfactant Protein D

Erika C. Crouch

Introduction

Surfactant protein D (SP-D) is a pulmonary glycoprotein that is believed to play important roles in the response of the lung to microorganisms.¹⁻⁶ It is structurally and functionally related to surfactant protein A (SP-A), and is a member of the same family of collagenous, carbohydrate-binding host defense proteins, designated collectins. This chapter reviews the structure, biosynthesis and secretion of SP-D. The biologic activities of the protein are only briefly discussed in order to emphasize the importance of certain structural features for SP-D function. For more details relating to the probable host defense activities of SP-D see chapter 9.

Overview of Function

SP-D binds to saccharide ligands expressed on a wide variety of bacterial, fungal and viral organisms with resulting agglutination and enhanced association with alveolar macrophages and neutrophils.^{1,7-11} SP-D may also modulate inflammatory and immunologically-mediated events within the airspace through lectin dependent or receptor mediated interactions with macrophages and other host defense cells.¹²⁻¹⁴ Underlying these interactions is the capacity of the lectin domain to bind to specific glycoconjugates associated with the microbial cell wall,^{7,15} or adsorbed to particles.¹⁶ Although SP-D is a member of the mannose type subgroup of C-type lectins it shows preferential interaction with α -D-glucose-containing sugars or structurally related molecules.¹⁷

SP-D shows specific binding to specific components of the airspace lining material, primarily phosphatidylinositol and glucosylceramide.¹⁸⁻²⁰ The binding to both components involves the carboxy-terminal domain and can be inhibited with specific saccharides or EDTA.^{21,22} Although there is currently no evidence that SP-D influences the biophysical properties of the surface active layer it is possible that it contributes to the metabolism of airspace surfactant under some conditions in vivo.²³

Molecular Structure of SP-D

As for other collectins, SP-D is characterized by four discrete structural domains: an amino-terminal crosslinking domain, a triple helical collagen domain, a linking peptide or neck domain and the carboxy-terminal, carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) (Fig. 6.1).^{2,24} The collagen domain contains the single consensus for N-linked glycosylation and contains both hydroxylysine and hydroxylysyl-glycosides. The CRD contains four



Fig. 6.1. Macromolecular forms of natural and recombinant SP-Ds. The diagram compares natural SP-D (upper left) with multimers of dodecamers (right). Also shown are two recombinant rat (Rr) mutants: The N-linked glycosylation mutant RrSP-Dala₇₂ and the single arm mutant RrSP-Dser_{15/20}. The former lacks a consensus for asparagine linked glycosylation (asn-gly-ser→asn-gly-ala) while the latter mutant lacks the two conserved cysteine residues within the amino-terminal domain ($cys_{15/20} \rightarrow ser_{15/20}$). The maximum distance between trimeric CRDs is approximately 110 nM. RrSP-Dser_{15/20} bears structural similarity to single arm forms of natural SP-D. SP-D multimers, which can contain as many as eight or more dodecamers, constitute the majority of SP-D extracted from the insoluble fraction of human alveolar proteinosis lavage.

conserved cysteine residues that contribute to the formation of intrachain bonds that stabilize the calcium and ligand binding sites. Each 43 kDa chain participates in the formation of a trimeric subunit.²⁴ These subunits can further associate at their amino-termini and these amino-terminal interactions are stabilized by interchain disulfide crosslinks. The predominant molecular form of SP-D isolated from normal lung is a dodecamer (4 x 3 = 12 chains). However, individual trimeric subunits (single arms) and higher order multimers with up to 96 or more chains have also been isolated.²⁵⁻²⁸

Structure-Function Correlations

Monomeric CRDs show specific but relatively low affinity binding interactions with ligands in solid phase assays.^{2,22} A trimeric CRD, as exists within the trimeric subunits of the natural molecule (3 x 43 kDa), is required for high affinity binding interactions with various saccharide ligands. Trimers can mediate certain effects on leukocytes such as chemotaxis and effects on lymphocyte proliferation. However, multimers of trimers are required for microbial agglutination and the enhancement of microbial binding to host leukocytes.^{27,29} Given the above, it should not be too surprising that trimeric subunits can competitively inhibit some agglutination and agglutination-dependent activities. Thus, the regulation of

assembly of SP-D trimers and of higher order multimers is consider to be critical for SP-D function.

Cellular Sites of SP-D Production

Contributions of Lung Epithelial Cells

Alveolar type II and nonciliated bronchiolar epithelial cells are the major sites of SP-D in the lung as assessed by in situ hybridization and immunochemical assays.³⁰⁻³² In situ hybridization and immunochemical studies of isolated rat type II and Clara cells suggest that these cell types have a similar capacity for SP-D production (Longmore WJ and Moxley MA, unpublished data). However, given that the lung yields many more type II than Clara cells, it seems likely that type II cells account for the majority of SP-D in the distal airways and alveoli.

There is evidence for heterogeneity in the production or accumulation of SP-D by these cell populations in vivo. For example, double labeling studies have shown that there are differences in the relative production of SP-D and SP-A among populations of rat bronchiolar cells.³³ Many cells show cytoplasmic labeling for both proteins but some cells show labeling for only SP-A or SP-D.³²

Immunoelectronmicroscopic studies have shown that the majority of cytoplasmic SP-D in rat type II cells is contained within the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) and Golgi.^{32,34} There is no detectable association with lamellar bodies or extracellular tubular myelin, suggesting the majority of the protein is secreted by a different pathway than SP-A. Nonciliated bronchiolar cells show intense labeling over the periphery of secretory granules with comparatively little staining of other cytoplasmic organelles.³⁰ Together, these observations are consistent with a constitutive secretion pathway in type II cells and a regulated pathway involving granule exocytosis in Clara cells. Although there appears to be granule to granule variation in SP-D content most apical granules contain some immunoreactive SP-D.³³ Double labeling studies have also shown SP-D and SP-A within the same granule,³² albeit in different granular sub-compartments, suggesting that there may be coregulation of secretion of these proteins by some nonciliated cells in vivo.

Airspace Accumulation of SP-D

The majority of the secreted SP-D accumulates in the lung as a soluble protein. However, it can also associate with insoluble components of the airspace lining material. Ultrastructural studies have shown that the insoluble immunoreactive material in normal and silicotic rat lavage is associated with granular to amorphous electron-dense material similar to the contents of Clara cell granules.³⁴ The fraction of soluble protein in bronchoalveolar lavage is species-dependent (e.g., 50% in human to 70-90% in rat),³⁴⁻³⁷ but is highly dependent on the conditions of lavage and centrifugation. The insoluble protein can be quantitatively solubilized with specific sugars (e.g., maltose) or EDTA.^{17,38}

Nonpulmonary Sites of SP-D Production and Accumulation

Although the lung is the major site of SP-D production and accumulation,³⁹⁻⁴¹ there is growing evidence that it is not a lung specific protein. SP-D is produced by mucus cells in the stomach and possibly urinary bladder,⁴² and SP-D or immunologically crossreactive proteins have been identified in tracheobronchial, lacrimal and salivary glands and at other sites in the bowel of mice and rodents.^{41,43} Proteins crossreactive with antibodies to SP-D have been identified in serum from normal human adults (~70 ng/ml), and the protein accumulates in amniotic fluid during late gestation.^{31,37,44} Although the lung is almost certainly the site of production of amniotic fluid SP-D,⁴⁵ a possible contribution from amnionic

epithelial cells has not been excluded.⁴⁴ Significantly, SP-D mRNA has not been detected in liver, the major source of the known serum collectins. Human alveolar macrophages show variable but often strong cytoplasmic staining for SP-D.¹ However, these cells lack SP-D message and the immunoreactive material is entirely contained within phagolysosomal compartments.

Genomic Organization

SP-D Gene Structure

Human SP-D is encoded by a single gene with at least 8 exons spanning >11 kilobases (kb) (Fig. 6.2).^{46,47} There are seven exons encoding translated sequence. The first encodes three bases of the 5' untranslated region, the signal peptide, the NH₂-terminal domain and the first seven Gly-X-Y triplets of the collagen domain of SP-D (SNC1). Although this collagenous sequence is homologous to sequences in the first translated exons of SP-A, the remainder of the collagen domain appears distinct from SP-A and highly homologous to the collagen domains of the related bovine serum lectins, conglutinin and CL-43.^{26,48} It is encoded by four homologous 117 base pair (bp) exons (C2-C5). The linking peptide and CRD are each encoded by a single exon as described for SP-A and other members of the collectin family.⁴⁹ Protein, cDNA and genomic sequencing together suggest the existence of a number of alleles, some of which are characterized by amino acid substitutions in the coding region.

A Collectin Gene Cluster on 10q

The human SP-D gene has been localized to chromosome 10q22.2-23.1 in proximity to the SP-A genes.^{46,50-54} Kölble and coworkers have reported the isolation of cosmid clones containing both SP-D and SP-A gene sequences.⁵⁰

Modulation of SP-D Production

Lung Organ Cultures

SP-D production is stimulated by glucocorticoids in rat and human fetal lung explants as well as in fetal rat lung in vivo.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ These effects are in part mediated at the level of gene transcription. Interestingly, expression of SP-D in rat gastric mucosa is increased by administration of glucocorticoids or indomethacin and increased additively in the presence of both.⁴² SP-D mRNA is also increased in human fetal lung explants by 8-bromo cyclic AMP.⁵⁷ Despite their obvious similarities, SP-D and SP-A show differences in developmental expression and different patterns of regulation by glucocorticoids, cytokines and other factors in human lung explants.⁵⁸ Specifically, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and γ-interferon have no effect on SP-D production in this system.⁵⁷

Primary Epithelial Cell Cultures

The capacity of isolated rat type II cells to produce SP-A and SP-D rapidly declines during the first several hours of culture on plastic concomitant with a marked decrease in the levels of total and translatable mRNA.⁴¹ Although production of SP-A can be maintained when cells are cultured on a suitable matrix and in the presence of various growth factors including keratinocyte growth factor,^{59,60} similar studies with SP-D have not yet been published.



Fig. 6.2. SP-D gene structure compared to SP-A and MBP. The gene for human SP-D is compared to one of the human SP-A genes and the gene for serum MBP. The spatial organization of exons is remarkably similar. In each case, a short segment of the untranslated region (UTR), signal peptide, amino-terminal crosslinking domain and a homologous collagenous sequence are encoded by a single exon (SNC1). The remainder of the collagen helix is encoded by one to four additional exons. Separate exons encode the linking peptide (L) and the entire CRD. A comparison of the bovine conglutinin gene and a bovine SP-D cDNA suggest that there may be an additional untranslated exon within intron 1 of the human gene that is preferentially deleted from mature lung transcripts by alternative splicing.

Lung Tumor Cell Lines

SP-D is synthesized by a few human lung adenocarcinoma cell lines with ultrastructural evidence of type II and/or Clara cell differentiation. The well characterized H441 cell line does not secrete detectable amounts of protein. Unfortunately, the few cell lines which do secrete SP-D are difficult to propagate and systematic studies of SP-D synthesis have not yet been undertaken.

Transcriptional Regulation of SP-D Gene Expression

The SP-D Promoter

Approximately 3 kb of upstream sequence of the human SP-D gene, and smaller regions of the rat gene, have been isolated and sequenced.^{46,47} Within the first 1 kb are numerous potential cis-regulatory elements including AP-1 and AP-1 like sequences, CREB-like sequences, E-box motifs and a variety of sequences that may participate in the regulation of the acute phase response (NF-IL-6, PEA3, APF-1). In this regard, most of these putative regulatory elements show high homology and positional conservation with sequences in the bovine acute phase protein, conglutinin.^{47,61}

Studies of SP-D promoter activity have thus far primarily utilized H441 cells which express small but detectable amounts of SP-D mRNA. Transient transfection assays in these cells using 5'-deletion mutants in chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter constructs have demonstrated a complex profile of CAT activity consistent with the existence of important negative and positive regulatory elements in the "distal promoter" between -698 and -804 bp and -285 and -698 bp,⁴⁷ and within the "proximal promoter" between -285 and -231 bp and -161 and -231 bp.

Interactions with AP-1 Proteins

A conserved canonical AP-1 consensus (5'-TGAGTCA-3'; at -109 bp) is important for the regulation of basal and dexamethasone-stimulated expression as shown by site-directed mutagenesis of the consensus within XS285-CAT reporter constructs (Crouch EC et al, unpublished data). Gel supershift experiments and cotransfection studies using H441 nuclear extracts or cells, respectively, suggest that the effects are not mediated by c-Jun homodimers or c-Jun/c-Fos heterodimers. The binding site is preferentially occupied by Fos-related antigens and other Jun family members in unstimulated cells, predominantly Fra-1 and JunD. Cotransfections with various sense and antisense Fos and Jun cDNA-containing plasmids suggest that alterations in the composition of the AP-1 complex can yield bidirectional changes in promoter activity. Other experiments suggest that the modulation of gene expression through the conserved AP-1 element involves interactions with upstream sites as well as downstream sequences near the site of transcriptional initiation. Thus environmental modulation of the expression or activity of AP-1 proteins may play an important role in modulating the production of SP-D.

Transcriptional Activation by Glucocorticoids

Transfection studies using CAT reporter constructs in H441 lung adenocarcinoma cells have demonstrated dexamethasone-mediated increases (up to 5-fold) in SP-D promoter activity.⁴⁷ However, these sequences lack classical full-site glucocorticoid response elements (GRE), and a deletion construct lacking the single half-site GRE in the SP-D proximal promoter (FS-161) still shows a 2-fold increase in CAT activity in the presence of 50 nM dexamethasone. Under conditions where overexpression of glucocorticoid receptor (GR) stimulates the activity of a GRE-containing control plasmid in H441 cells, SP-D promoter activity is decreased, consistent with transcriptional interference of AP-1 proteins or other SP-D transactivating factors by GR. Thus, at least some of the transcriptional effects of glucocorticoids are indirect and probably involve the binding of transactivating factors other than GR. In this regard, the cells must be exposed to dexamethasone for at least 24 hours to achieve maximal stimulation, suggesting a contribution of new protein synthesis.

Regulation of Cell Type Restricted Expression

Sequences within 161 bp of the start site also appear to confer cell-type restricted expression in pulmonary adenocarcinoma cells compared to hepatoma (HepG2) cells. Although the region immediately upstream of the conserved AP-1 contains a sequence similar to the thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1) consensus, SP-D promoter constructs do not show TTF-1 responsiveness in cotransfection experiments and oligomers containing the sequence do not bind TTF-1 in gel shift and supershift assays (Crouch EC, unpublished data). Preliminary experiments implicating TTF-1 in the regulation of SP-D gene expression by the proximal promoter were apparently spurious, because the pSK-CAT vector used for the original SP-D deletion constructs was itself responsive to TTF-1.

Post-Transcriptional Regulation

Primer extension assays and cDNA cloning have identified a single major transcript in human and rat lung.^{39,40,47,62} However, bovine conglutinin, believed to be evolutionarily derived from SP-D, contains 9 exons with an additional untranslated exon (72 bp) between the previously designated first and second exons of the human gene.⁶¹ Comparison of the conglutinin gene sequence with the published 5'-untranslated sequence of a bovine lung SP-D cDNA⁵¹ demonstrates the presence of a sequence virtually identical to exon 2 of conglutinin. Unless this represents a bovine specific sequence, which seems unlikely, this obser-

vation strongly suggests alternative splicing of this exon, with a predominance of short transcripts in the lung.

Pathway of Biosynthesis and Secretion

Model Systems

Until recently, studies of SP-D biosynthesis and secretion have been hampered by the lack of a satisfactory model. As indicated above, isolated type II cells rapidly lose the capacity to produce SP-D within several hours. Clara cells have thus far proven difficult to isolate in sufficient purity and numbers to permit detailed studies. We have therefore used a mammalian expression system in which CHO-K1 cells have been stably transfected with wild-type or mutant SP-D cDNAs.^{25,27,63,64}

The validity of this system as a model of assembly and constitutive secretion by type II cells is supported by the apparent structural and functional identity of the natural and recombinant wild-type proteins and by similarities in the kinetics of secretion with freshly isolated type II cells.⁶³ SP-D is secreted quite slowly from CHO-K1 cells with a half-life of approximately 3 hours and an estimated minimum synthesis/secretion time of 1.2 hours. A synthesis/secretion of approximately 1.4 hours was obtained for partially purified suspensions of freshly isolated rat type II cells.

Pathway of Secretion

Studies using the model system suggest that folding of the CRD, trimerization of monomers, N-linked glycosylation of asn₇₀, prolyl and lysyl hydroxylation of the collagen domain, triple helix formation, the amino-terminal association of trimeric subunits and the formation of intersubunit disulfide crosslinks all occur in the RER (Fig. 6.3).⁶³ Although monomers can associate to form disulfide-bonded trimers within approximately 30 minutes,⁶³ the subsequent association and crosslinking of trimeric subunits requires a minimum of 30 additional minutes in the RER. Oligosaccharide maturation and terminal sialylation of the oligosaccharide at asn₇₀ are relatively rapid events that occur in the Golgi immediately prior to secretion.

Role of the Neck Region in the Trimerization of 43 kDa Subunits

Recent studies by Reid and coworkers have shown that the linking peptide or neck region of bovine SP-D can spontaneously form stable trimers consistent with a trimeric coiled-coil.⁶⁵ The efficient secretion of trimeric species in the absence of a triple helical collagen domain (see below) strongly suggests that trimerization is primarily driven by interactions between the linking peptides in vivo.

Within the context of the full length molecule, the neck domain may serve to register the three polypeptide chains prior to folding of the collagen helix.⁶⁵ In addition, interactions between the linking peptide and CRD may precisely determine the spatial distribution of the CRD within a trimeric subunit, thereby contributing to the generation of a single high affinity saccharide binding site.²²

Oligomerization of Trimeric Subunits and Inter-Subunit Crosslinking

Studies of recombinant rat SP-D (RrSP-D) biosynthesis indicate that the amino-terminal interchain disulfide bonds also form very rapidly, covalently stabilizing the association of trimeric intermediates.⁶³ The assembly of multimers of trimeric subunits, each with a high affinity saccharide binding site, confers multivalency and the capacity to participate in bridging interactions between spatially segregated ligands.



Fig. 6.3. Model pathway of SP-D assembly and secretion. Pulse-chase studies suggest that newly synthesized monomers rapidly associate to form disulfide-bonded trimers.⁶³ The subunits then associate to form crosslinked oligomers which gradually assemble to form mature dodecamers. Oligomers appear to be specifically retained within the RER until the processes of subunit association and disulfide crosslinking are complete. Transport of the assembled dodecamer to the Golgi with final trimming and sialylation is accomplished shortly prior to secretion.

The oligomerization of trimeric subunits with the formation of specific disulfide crosslinks between the subunits appears to be rate limiting for dodecamer assembly and secretion.⁶³ The important role of disulfide bonding in the secretion of the full-length molecule is supported by several observations:

- 1. 2-2'dipyridyl (DP), an inhibitor of prolyl hydroxylation, interferes with the formation of interchain disulfide bonds and completely blocks the secretion of rat SP-D by freshly isolated type II cells or transfected CHO-K1 cells;
- 2. low concentrations of dithiothreitol reversibly inhibit disulfide crosslinking and secretion;
- 3. rat SP-D mutants with a single substitution of serine for cysteine 15 or cysteine 20 are not secreted. These effects probably result from a mispairing of cysteine residues (or the presence of free cysteines) rather than from the absence of disulfide crosslinks, because a mutant protein with serine substitutions at both positions (RrSP-Dser_{15/20}) is efficiently secreted as trimeric subunits.⁶⁴

Biosynthetic studies have also shown that the major trimeric cellular intermediate, which elutes from gel filtration columns in the position of SP-D trimers (i.e., 3 x 43 kDa) under nondenaturing conditions, migrates as disulfide-bonded trimers by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in the absence of reducing agents.⁶³ This strongly suggests that newly synthesized trimeric subunits are initially stabilized by intra-subunit interchain disulfide bonds. These subunits then associate to form oligomers which

gradually assemble to form mature dodecamers. Thus, the formation of mature crosslinks involves the apposition of previously unpaired cysteines and a process of rearrangement that converts a specific subset of intra-subunit disulfide bonds to inter-subunit bonds. The mechanism driving chain association prior to stabilization by interchain disulfide bonds is not known. However, the high predicted hydrophobicity of sequences surrounding the amino-terminal cysteines suggests that the initial interactions are hydrophobic.

Role of the Collagen Domain in Assembly and Secretion

The inhibition of SP-D secretion by DP was initially believed to result from inhibition of triple helix formation and specific retention of molecules with unfolded collagen domains.⁶⁶ However, RrSP-Dser_{15/20}, which lacks amino-terminal cysteines, is efficiently secreted as a trimer both in the absence and presence of DP even though the trimers secreted in the presence of the inhibitor have a pepsin-sensitive (nontriple helical) collagen domain. Thus, inhibition of secretion by DP more likely results as a consequence of interfering with the normal crosslinking of amino-terminal cysteines.⁶³

Nevertheless, there is evidence that the formation of dodecamers and higher order multimers depends on conformational constraints imposed by the triple helical collagen domain.⁶⁷ RrSP-D mutants lacking the collagen domain are secreted as trimers stabilized by interchain crosslinks but fail to assemble as dodecamers. In the latter case, trimerization of the coiled coil domain (neck region) is presumably sufficient to allow correct folding and crosslinking of the amino-terminal domain without an intervening collagen helix.

In summary, the folding of the collagen helix is required for the correct pairing of amino-terminal cysteine residues in the full length protein. Efficient secretion in turn requires an appropriate pairing of cysteine residues, either within or between trimeric subunits, and the elimination of free cysteines. If the amino-terminal peptide is deleted or if both cysteines are mutated there is no potential for abnormal crosslinking or folding and the mutant protein is efficiently secreted. The assembly and secretion of stable dodecamers involves the formation of appropriate intersubunit disulfide bonds as well as the collagen domain.

Acquisition of Lectin Activity

The formation of intrachain disulfide bonds within the CRD occurs very rapidly, probably on the nascent chains.⁶³ The subsequent trimerization of 43 kDa SP-D monomers appears to provide all the additional structural information needed for extracted intermediates to bind to saccharide-affinity columns. For example, intermediates accumulating in the presence of DP, which prevents collagen helix formation and normal interchain crosslinking, bind efficiently to maltosyl-agarose. This is also consistent with the ability of bacterially expressed trimeric carboxy-terminal domains to bind to specific saccharide ligands in solid phase assays.⁶⁸

Given that many glycoproteins are transiently glucosylated in the RER, it seems likely that the SP-D intermediates are maintained in an inactive form or are somehow sequestered from other glycoproteins within the cell. It is possible that local calcium concentrations are important in this regard. Inhibition of SP-D activity by EDTA or EGTA is readily reversible by the addition of excess calcium.¹⁷ Thus, exposure of isolated intermediates to calcium may allow rapid acquisition of an appropriate conformation for ligand binding even though they are inactive prior to secretion in vivo.

Glycosylation of Asparagine 70

All SP-Ds thus far characterized show utilization of the single consensus for N-linked glycosylation at asn₇₀ within exon C2. Although some (but not all) metabolic inhibitor studies
of SP-A biosynthesis suggest that N-linked glycosylation is required for secretion,^{69,70} tunicamycin did not inhibit the secretion of rat SP-D by freshly isolated type II cells and RrSP-D by CHO-K1 cells.⁶³ Consistent with this observation, elimination of the conserved N-linked oligosaccharide at asn₇₀ in SP-D by site directed mutagenesis did not significantly alter the kinetics of secretion of dodecamers.⁶³

Interestingly, the secretion of a single arm mutant of SP-D (RrSP-Dser_{15/20}), which cannot form stable dodecamers, is inhibited by tunicamycin. Thus, the intracellular pathway of SP-D secretion may depend on the conformation, oligomerization or crosslinking of the amino-terminal peptide domain. It is possible that the oligosaccharide determines the interaction of SP-D with specific chaperones under some circumstances in vivo, or participates in regulating the secretion of single arm forms of the protein. A subtle secretory role is consistent with the observation that the deglycosylated mutant appears indistinguishable from the wild type protein with respect to biologic activity and resistance to proteolytic degradation in vitro.

There is evidence for heterogeneity in the structure of the oligosaccharide at asn₇₀. SP-D migrates as a fairly broad band on SDS-PAGE. When SP-D dodecamers are resolved by DEAE chromatography under nondenaturing conditions the larger or more slowly migrating species elute earlier in the gradient than more rapidly migrating species (Crouch EC and Persson A, unpublished data). This observation strongly suggests that the larger components are more acidic than the smaller species and indicates that similarly modified chains preferentially associate within a single SP-D dodecamer. Interestingly, mutations that interfere with the multimerization of trimeric subunits are associated with alterations in oligosaccharide structure and increased sialylation, leading to a slower mobility on SDS-PAGE.⁶⁴ Thus, differences in the level of sialylation probably account for at least part of the charge heterogeneity and polydispersity on SDS-PAGE. The significance of these observations is uncertain.

Modulation of SP-D Production In Vivo

The "Acute-Phase" Response

Immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization studies strongly suggest that the production of SP-D is usually increased in association with epithelial activation as a consequence of acute and chronic lung injury. Because the mRNAs for the lung collectins are increased within several hours to a few days following injury it has been suggested that they are pulmonary acute phase proteins, similar to liver-derived mannose binding protein (MBP) and conglutinin, which are generally recognized as systemic acute phase reactants.⁷¹ Although SP-D gene expression is not increased by LPS in human fetal lung organ culture,⁵⁷ intratracheal instillation of LPS in adult rats results in a relatively rapid increase in SP-D mRNA and protein.⁷¹ It seems likely that secondary inflammatory mediators or more general effects on epithelial function are involved. In any case, such findings suggest that it is prudent to be cautious in extrapolating from fetal lung explants to the situation in mature lung in vivo.

Experimental Lung Injury

SP-D is also increased in other forms of experimental lung injury and human disease. Intratracheal instillation of crystalline silica in rats results in an increase in SP-D mRNA and protein associated with the development of alveolar proteinosis.^{34,72} Reactive pneumocytes and Clara cells show intense staining and increased labeling by in situ hybridization at 2-3 weeks following instillation (Crouch EC, unpublished data). Increases in immunostaining of reactive pneumocytes have also been observed within several days following bleomycin instillation in rats (Crouch EC, unpublished data) and in association with hyperoxic injury.⁷³

Alterations in SP-D Accumulation Associated with Human Disease

Immunohistochemical studies have demonstrated increased cytoplasmic staining of reactive type II cells in biopsies from patients with pulmonary fibrosis.¹ Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and pulmonary alveolar proteinosis are also associated with marked increases in the serum levels of proteins immunologically crossreactive with well characterized antibodies to SP-D.⁴⁵ Cigarette smoking is associated with a decreased recovery of SP-D from lung lavage⁷⁴ but the mechanism remains to be elucidated.

Questions and Directions for Future Research

What are the extra-pulmonary sites of SP-D production? How is the tissue-restricted gene expression of SP-D regulated? Are there tissue specific differences in post-transcriptional regulation and post-translational modification? How are differences in the extent of sialylation regulated? How is SP-D targeted to secretory granules in Clara cells, and how is secretion regulated? Is there coordinate regulation of SP-A and SP-D secretion by these cells in vivo? How is the acquisition of lectin activity regulated within the cell? How is the degree of subunit oligomerization regulated? What is the site and mechanism of the multimerization of dodecamers? How are the trimeric subunits oriented in the molecule? Are they in parallel as for SP-A? What is the specific pattern of interchain disulfide bonding within the dodecamer? What are the major cellular mechanisms contributing to the increased production and accumulation of SP-D in various forms of lung injury? Is it part of a generalized, activated or postinjury phenotype involving keratinocyte growth factor or other mediators?

References

- 1. Crouch EC, Kuan SF, Persson A. Surfactant Protein D (SP-D). Possible roles in pulmonary host defense. In: Muller B, von Wichert P, eds. Lung Surfactant: Basic Research in the Pathogenesis of Lung Disorders. Basel: Karger Press, 1994:132-140.
- 2. Hoppe HJ, Reid KB. Collectins—soluble proteins containing collagenous regions and lectin domains—and their roles in innate immunity. Protein Sci 1994; 94:1143-1158.
- 3. van Golde LMG. Potential role of surfactant proteins A and D in innate lung defense against pathogens. Biol Neonate 1995; 67:2-17.
- 4. Reid KB. Structure/function relationships in the collectins (mammalian lectins containing collagen-like regions). Biochem Soc Trans 1993; 21:464-468.
- 5. Sastry K, Ezekowitz RA. Collectins: Pattern recognition molecules involved in first line host defense. Curr Opin Immunol 1993; 5:59-66.
- 6. Phelps DS. Pulmonary surfactant modulation of host defense function. Appl Cardiopulmon Pathophysiol 1995; 5:221-229.
- 7. Kuan SF, Rust K, Crouch E. Interactions of surfactant protein D with bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Surfactant protein D is an Escherichia coli-binding protein in bronchoalveolar lavage. J Clin Invest 1992; 90:97-106.
- 8. Hartshorn KL, Crouch EC, White MR et al. Evidence for a protective role of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D) against influenza A viruses. J Clin Invest 1994; 94:311-319.
- 9. O'Riordan DM, Standing JE, Kwon K et al. Surfactant Protein D interacts with *Pneumocystis carinii* and mediates organism adherence to alveolar macrophages. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:2699-2710.
- 10. Pikaar JC, van Golde LMG, van Strijp JAG et al. Opsonic activities of surfactant proteins A and D in phagocytosis of gram-negative bacteria by alveolar macrophages. Journal Infect Dis 1995; 172:481-489.

- 11. Schelenz S, Malhotra R, Sim RB et al. Binding of host collectins to the pathogenic yeast Cryptococcus neoformans: Human surfactant protein D acts as an agglutinin for acapsular yeast cells. Infect Immun 1995; 95:3360-3366.
- 12. Kuan SF, Persson A, Parghi D et al. Lectin-mediated interactions of surfactant protein D with alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:430-436.
- 13. Crouch EC, Persson A, Griffin GL et al. Interactions of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D) with human blood leukocytes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:410-415.
- 14. Miyamura K, Leigh LE, Lu J et al. Surfactant protein D binding to alveolar macrophages. Biochem J 1994; 300:237-242.
- 15. Hartshorn KL, Liou LS, White M et al. Neutrophil deactivation by influenza A virus: Role of hemagglutinin binding to specific sialic acid-bearing cellular proteins. J Immun 1995; 154:3952-3960.
- Wang JY, Kishore U, Lim BL et al. Interaction of human lung surfactant proteins A and D with mite (dermatophagoides pteronyssinus) allergens. Clin Exp Immun 1996; 106:367-373.
- 17. Persson A, Chang D, Crouch E. Surfactant protein D is a divalent cation-dependent carbohydrate-binding protein. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:5755-5760.
- 18. Persson AV, Gibbons BJ, Shoemaker JD et al. The major glycolipid recognized by SP-D in surfactant is phosphatidylinositol. Biochemistry 1992; 31:12183-12189.
- 19. Ogasawara Y, Kuroki Y, Akino T. Pulmonary surfactant protein D specifically binds to phosphatidylinositol. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:21244-21249.
- 20. Kuroki Y, Gasa S, Ogasawara Y et al. Binding specificity of lung surfactant protein SP-D for glucosylceramide. Biochem Biophy Res Commun 1992; 187:963-969.
- 21. Ogasawara Y, Voelker DR. Altered carbohydrate recognition specificity engineered into surfactant protein D reveals different binding mechanisms for phosphatidylinositol and glucosylceramide. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:14725-14732.
- 22. Kishore U, Wang JY, Hoppe HJ et al. The alpha-helical neck region of human surfactant protein D is essential for the binding of the carbohydrate recognition domains to lipopolysacharides and phospholipids. Biochem J 1996; 318:505-511.
- 23. Kuroki Y, Shiratori M, Murata Y et al. Surfactant protein D (SP-D) counteracts the inhibitory effect of surfactant protein A (SP-A) on phospholipid secretion by alveolar type II cells. Interaction of native SP-D with SP-A. Biochem J 1991; 91:115-119.
- 24. Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D et al. Molecular structure of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D). J Biol Chem 1994; 269:17311-17319.
- Crouch E, Chang D, Rust K et al. Recombinant pulmonary surfactant protein D. Post-translational modification and molecular assembly. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:15808-15813.
- 26. Lu J, Wiedemann H, Holmskov U et al. Structural similarity between lung surfactant protein D and conglutinin. Two distinct, C-type lectins containing collagen-like sequences. Eur J Biochem 1993; 215:793-799.
- 27. Hartshorn K, Chang D, Rust K et al. Interactions of recombinant human pulmonary surfactant protein D and SP-D multimers with influenza A. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L753-L762.
- Mason RJ, Nielsen LD, Matsuura E et al. Surfactant protein D exists as a 50 kDa protein as well as the previously reported 43 kDa protein. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:A314.
- 29. Hartshorn KL, Reid KB, White MR et al. Neutrophil deactivation by influenza A viruses: Mechanisms of protection after viral opsonization with collectins and hemagglutinationinhibiting antibodies. Blood 1996; 87:3450-3461.
- 30. Crouch E, Parghi D, Kuan SF et al. Surfactant protein D: Subcellular localization in nonciliated bronchiolar epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L60-66.
- 31. Crouch E, Rust K, Mariencheck W et al. Developmental expression of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D). Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:13-18.
- 32. Voorhout WF, Veenendaal T, Kuroki Y et al. Immunocytochemical localization of surfactant protein D (SP-D) in type II cells, Clara cells, and alveolar macrophages of rat lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1992; 40:1589-1597.
- 33. Kasper M, Albrecht S, Grossmann H et al. Monoclonal antibodies to surfactant protein D: Evaluation of immunoreactivity in normal rat lung and in a radiation-induced fibrosis model. Exp Lung Res 1995; 21:577-588.

- 34. Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D et al. Surfactant protein D. Increased accumulation in silica-induced pulmonary lipoproteinosis. Am J Pathol 1991; 139:765-776.
- Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D. Accumulation of surfactant protein D in human pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Am J Pathol 1993; 142:241-248.
- 36. Kuroki Y, Shiratori M, Ogasawara Y et al. Characterization of pulmonary surfactant protein D: Its copurification with lipids. Biochim Biophy Acta 1991; 91:185-190.
- 37. Inoue T, Matsuura E, Nagata A et al. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for human pulmonary surfactant protein D. J Immunol Methods 1994; 173:157-164.
- 38. Persson A, Chang D, Rust K et al. Purification and biochemical characterization of CP4 (SP-D), a collagenous surfactant-associated protein. Biochemistry 1989; 28:6361-6367.
- 39. Rust K, Grosso L, Zhang V et al. Human surfactant protein D: SP-D contains a C-type lectin carbohydrate recognition domain. Arch Biochem Biophys 1991; 290:116-126.
- 40. Shimizu H, Fisher JH, Papst P et al. Primary structure of rat pulmonary surfactant protein D. cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:1853-1857.
- 41. Crouch E, Rust K, Persson A et al. Primary translation products of pulmonary surfactant protein D. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L247-53.
- 42. Fisher JH, Mason R. Expression of pulmonary surfactant protein D in rat gastric mucosa. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:13-18.
- 43. Wong CJ, Akiyama J, Allen L et al. Localization and developmental expression of surfactant proteins D and A in the respiratory tract of the mouse. Pediatr Res 1996; 39:930-937.
- 44. Miyamura K, Malhotra R, Hoppe HJ et al. Surfactant proteins A (SP-A) and D (SP-D): Levels in human amniotic fluid and localization in the fetal membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1210:303-307.
- 45. Honda Y, Kuroki Y, Matsuura E et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein D in sera and bronchoalveolar lavage fluids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 95:1860-1866.
- 46. Crouch E, Rust K, Veile R et al. Genomic organization of human surfactant protein D (SP-D). SP-D is encoded on chromosome 10q22.2-23.1. J Biol Chem 1993;2 68:2976-2983.
- Rust K, Bingle L, Mariencheck W et al. Characterization of the human surfactant protein D promoter: Transcriptional regulation of SP-D gene expression by glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:121-130.
- Lim BL, Willis AC, Reid KB et al. Primary structure of bovine collectin-43 (CL-43). Comparison with conglutinin and lung surfactant protein-D. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:11820-11824.
- Drickamer K. Evolution of Ca²⁺ dependent animal lectins. In: Cohn WE, Moldave K, eds. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology. New York: Academic Press, 1993; 207-232.
- 50. Kolble K, Lu J, Mole SE et al. Assignment of the human pulmonary surfactant protein D gene (SFTP4) to 10q22-q23 close to the surfactant protein A gene cluster. Genomics 1993; 17:294-298.
- Lim BL, Lu J, Reid KB. Structural similarity between bovine conglutinin and bovine lung surfactant protein D and demonstration of liver as a site of synthesis of conglutinin. Immunology 1993; 78:159-165.
- 52. Schuffenecker I, Narod SA, Ezekowitz RA et al. The gene for mannose-binding protein maps to chromosome 10 and is a marker for multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. Cytogenet Cell Genet 1991; 91;56:99-102.
- 53. Fisher JH, Kao FT, Jones C et al. The coding sequence for the 32,000-dalton pulmonary surfactant-associated protein A is located on chromosome 10 and identifies two separate restriction-fragment-length polymorphisms. Am J Hum Genet 1987; 87:503-511.
- 54. Bruns G, Stroh H, Veldman GM et al. The 35 kd pulmonary surfactant-associated protein is encoded on chromosome 10. Hum Genet 1987; 87:58-62.
- 55. Deterding RR, Shimizu H, Fisher JH et al. Regulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in vitro and in vivo. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:30-37.
- 56. Mariencheck W, Crouch E. Modulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in fetal rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:419-429.
- 57. Dulkerian SJ, Gonzales LW, Ballard PL. Developmental and hormonal regulation of surfactant protein D mRNA in human lung. Pediatr Res 1994; 35:66A.

- 58. Dulkerian SJ, Gonzales LW, Ning Y et al. Regulation of surfactant protein D in human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 15:781-786.
- 59. Kawada H, Shannon JM, Mason RJ. Improved maintenance of adult rat alveolar type II cell differentiation in vitro: Effect of serum-free, hormonally defined medium and a reconstituted basement membrane. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:33-43.
- 60. Sugahara K, Rubin JS, Mason RJ et al. Keratinocyte growth factor increases mRNAs for SP-A and SP-B in adult rat alveolar type II cells in culture. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L344-50.
- 61. Kawasaki N, Itoh N, Kawasaki T. Gene organization and 5'-flanking region sequence of conglutinin: A C-type mammalian lectin containing a collagen-like domain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 198:597-604.
- 62. Lu J, Willis AC, Reid KB. Purification, characterization and cDNA cloning of human lung surfactant protein D. Biochem J 1992; 284:795-802.
- 63. Brown-Augsburger P, Chang D, Rust K et al. Biosynthesis of surfactant protein D. Contributions of conserved NH2-terminal cysteine residues and collagen helix formation to assembly and secretion. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:18912-18919.
- 64. Brown-Augsburger P, Hartshorn K, Chang D et al. Site-directed mutagenesis of Cys-15 and Cys-20 of pulmonary surfactant protein D. Expression of a trimeric protein with altered anti-viral properties. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:13724-13730.
- 65. Hoppe HJ, Barlow PN, Reid KB. A parallel three stranded alpha-helical bundle at the nucleation site of collagen triple-helix formation. FEBS Lett 1994; 344:191-195.
- 66. Persson A, Rust K, Chang D et al. CP4: A pneumocyte-derived collagenous surfactantassociated protein. Evidence for heterogeneity of collagenous surfactant proteins. Biochem 1988; 27:8576-8584.
- 67. Ogasawara Y, Voelker DR. The role of the amino-terminal domain and the collagenous region in the structure and the function of rat surfactant protein D. J Biol Chem 1995; 95:19052-19058.
- 68. Lim BL, Wang JY, Holmskov U et al. Expression of the carbohydrate recognition domain of lung surfactant protein D and demonstration of its binding to lipopolysaccharides of gram-negative bacteria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 202:1674-1680.
- 69. Whitsett JA, Ross G, Weaver T et al. Glycosylation and secretion of surfactant-associated glycoprotein A. J Biol Chem 1985; 260:15273-15279.
- 70. Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. Trafficking of surfactant protein A in fetal rabbit lung in organ culture. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L27-L35.
- 71. McIntosh JC, Swyers AH, Fisher JH et al. Surfactant proteins A and D increase in response to intratracheal lipopolysaccharide. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 15:509-519.
- 72. Crouch E, Persson A, Rust K et al. Surfactant Protein D (SP-D): Increased accumulation in silica-induced pulmonary lipoproteinosis. FASEB J 1989; 3:A1048.
- 73. Aderbigbe AO, Thomas RF, Auten RL. Expression of surfactant protein D (SP-D) mRNA in hyperoxia exposed rat lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:A308.
- 74. Honda Y, Takahashi H, Kuroki Y et al. Decreased contents of surfactant proteins A and D in BAL fluids of healthy smokers. Chest 1996; 109:1006-1009.

Regulation of Surfactant Secretion

Seamus A. Rooney

The goal of this chapter is to review current knowledge of the mechanisms regulating surfactant secretion. Surfactant homeostasis is maintained by a balance between synthesis, secretion and removal. Upon synthesis, surfactant components can be either secreted immediately into the alveolar lumen or stored and subsequently secreted in response to an appropriate signal. After participating in lowering surface tension or the additional functions described in other chapters, surfactant components are ultimately removed from the alveolar space either by catabolism or by re-uptake into the type II cells and recycling into new surfactant. Although secretion is but one of many steps in the overall context of surfactant metabolism, there is every indication that it is a vital one and critical in maintaining adequate levels of extracellular surfactant.

Lamellar Bodies and Surfactant Secretion

Secretion from mammalian cells can be either constitutive or regulated. Constitutive secretion is a continuous process that is limited only by the amount of material available for secretion. In the regulated mechanism, the material to be secreted is stored in secretory organelles and only released in response to an appropriate stimulus. There is evidence that surfactant components are secreted by both mechanisms.

The phospholipid components of surfactant are secreted largely by a regulated mechanism. As discussed subsequently, surfactant phospholipids are secreted in response to a variety of pharmacological and physiological stimuli. The secretory organelle is the lamellar inclusion body, a characteristic morphological component of the type II pneumocyte (Fig. 7.1). Consistent with being intracellular storage sites, isolated lamellar bodies are enriched in phospholipid,^{1,2} the composition of which is very similar to that of extracellular surfactant obtained from lung lavage.³ Phospholipid secretion occurs by exocytosis, a process in which the lamellar body membrane fuses with the plasma membrane of the type II cell and the lamellar body contents are released into the alveolar lumen. Lamellar bodies in the process of exocytosis have been captured by electron microscopy.^{4,5} An example of such an event is illustrated in Figure 7.2. Although surfactant phospholipids are largely secreted by regulated exocytosis, the possibility of some constitutive secretion cannot be excluded. The basal secretion of phospholipids that is observed in isolated type II cells cultured without secretagogues may well be a constitutive process.

Secretion of the protein components of surfactant has been much less studied than that of the phospholipids. There is considerable evidence that surfactant protein A (SP-A) is secreted independently of the lipid components of surfactant. SP-A secretion in cultured type II cells is not stimulated by agents that increase phospholipid secretion^{6,7} and secretion of SP-A and phosphatidylcholine (PC) exhibit different time courses.⁷ Radiolabeled SP-A

Lung Surfactant: Cellular and Molecular Processing, edited by Seamus A. Rooney. ©1998 R.G. Landes Company.



Fig. 7.1. A type II pneumocyte isolated from human lung. Reproduced with permission from Dobbs LG. Isolation and culture of alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1990; 258:L134-L147.

appears considerably earlier in alveolar lavage than in lamellar bodies from the lungs of animals injected in vivo with ³⁵S-methionine suggesting that secretion of SP-A is independent of lamellar bodies.^{8,9} Although lamellar bodies were reported to be enriched in SP-A is some studies,¹⁰⁻¹² they were reported to contain relatively little in others.^{2,13,14} Clearly, if only a fraction of SP-A is associated with lamellar bodies, its secretion must be independent of those organelles. Taken together, these data suggest that the bulk of SP-A is secreted independently of lamellar bodies and by a constitutive rather than a regulated mechanism.

Secretion of surfactant protein D (SP-D) also appears to be constitutive (chapter 6). Lamellar bodies have been reported to be devoid of SP-D;^{15,16} therefore, it cannot be secreted by the same regulated mechanism as the phospholipids. However, whether secretion of SP-D is stimulated by surfactant secretagogues has not been examined. As discussed in chapters 4 and 5, there is evidence that surfactant protein B (SP-B) and surfactant protein C (SP-C) are processed through lamellar bodies. These hydrophobic proteins were first described in lamellar bodies¹⁷ and isolated lamellar bodies were reported to be enriched in SP-B and SP-C.² Therefore, SP-B and SP-C are most likely secreted from lamellar bodies by regulated exocytosis along with the phospholipids. Indeed, in vivo experiments with radio-labeled precursors showed that the labeling kinetics of PC and SP-B in alveolar lavage were similar and that both products appeared in lamellar bodies earlier than in the lavage.¹⁸ There is currently no information on whether secretion of SP-B and SP-C is stimulated by surfac-



Fig. 7.2. A lamellar body in the process of exocytosis from a type II cell. Reproduced with permission from Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994; 8:957-967.

tant phospholipid secretagogues. Indeed, because of the difficulty of accurate quantitation (chapter 5) such experiments would be difficult to carry out in the case of SP-C.

In summary, secretion of surfactant phospholipids, as well as that of SP-B and SP-C, occurs largely by regulated exocytosis of lamellar bodies, whereas secretion of SP-A and SP-D appears to be constitutive.

Experimental Models

Surfactant secretion has been investigated in several experimental models. Early studies employed intact animals in vivo, isolated perfused lungs and lung slices.^{3,19,20} The intact animal is undoubtedly the best model in which to study the physiological regulation of surfactant secretion, but it suffers from the disadvantage that direct effects on the lung cannot be distinguished from those mediated by other organs. As the end-point is usually the amount of surfactant recovered in lung lavage, another disadvantage of the intact animal model, and one that is shared by the isolated perfused lung, is that effects on surfactant synthesis, as well as those on its removal or degradation, are not easily distinguished from effects on secretion.

The isolated type II cell in primary culture is now the model of choice for most studies on regulation of surfactant secretion. The majority of such studies have been carried out on cells isolated from adult rats, but surfactant secretion has also been examined in type II cells isolated from rabbits²¹⁻²³ and humans.^{7,24} Isolated type II cells in primary culture secrete surfactant as defined by its lipid composition,^{3,25} surface activity,²⁵ presence of SP-A^{6,25} and morphological appearance.²⁵ Although secretion of SP-A has also been examined,^{6,7,25} most studies on surfactant secretion from isolated type II cells have focused on its lipid components, particularly PC or disaturated PC. However, it appears that all surfactant phospholipids are secreted together, as the phospholipid composition of the secreted material is not altered by secretagogues.^{24,25}

In most secretion studies, the intracellular PC pool is labeled by incubating the cells overnight with ³H- or ¹⁴C-choline, after which the rate of appearance of radiolabeled-PC in the medium is measured. In some studies PC was separated from other lipids, but that step is not necessary when the cells are pulsed with radiolabeled choline, as PC accounts for over 95% of the total lipid radioactivity in both the cells and culture medium.²⁶⁻²⁹ PC secretion is expressed as the amount of radiolabeled PC in the medium as a fraction of the total in the cells and medium combined. The basal rate of PC secretion is about 0.5% to 1% per hour under such conditions.^{27,28,30-32} That is undoubtedly an underestimate of the true rate of surfactant secretion because the denominator includes total cellular PC and not just that in lamellar bodies. Although surfactant secretagogues do not increase the rate of lactate dehydrogenase release.^{26,33,34} That raises the question of whether basal secretion is a reflection of cell leakiness rather than true secretion. However, the composition of the material released is similar to that of surfactant isolated from lung lavage³ and different from that of the cells,²⁵ indicating that it is indeed true secretion.

Although the type II cell in primary culture has been extensively used for studies on the regulation of surfactant phospholipid secretion, it is not an ideal model. Culture of cells on plastic or extracellular matrix is obviously an unphysiological system and the possibility of tissue culture artifacts must always be considered. Type II cells rapidly loose their characteristic phenotype, particularly their distinct phospholipid profile and the presence of lamellar bodies, after not much more than a day in culture.³⁵⁻³⁸ The response to secretagogues also decreases with time in culture.³⁹ However, that is not a serious problem, as phospholipid secretion can easily be measured within 24 hours of isolating the cells. Some phenotypic characteristics of the type II cells can be preserved for an extended period when culture is carried out in defined media and on special substrata.^{40,41} However, it is not clear if the ability to secrete surfactant and to respond to secretagogues is retained under such conditions.

A practical disadvantage in using primary cultures is that fresh cells have to be isolated for each experiment. A continuous cell line would be more convenient and less expensive and would also be useful for molecular approaches that are impossible in primary cultures. However, although a number of immortalized type II cell lines have been developed,⁴²⁻⁴⁵ none are suitable for studies on surfactant PC secretion either because they lack lamellar bodies, do not have the typical phospholipid composition of type II cells or do not respond to surfactant secretagogues. Two older cell lines were considered as type II cell models before methods for isolation of authentic type II cells were established: A549 cells, derived from a human lung carcinoma,⁴⁶ and L-2 cells, clonally derived from rat lung.⁴⁷ Although both were initially reported to contain lamellar bodies,^{46,47} the cells currently available do not.⁴⁸ Furthermore, neither A549^{49,50} nor L-2⁵⁰ cells have the characteristic phospholipid composition of authentic type II cells. In summary, at present there is no type II cell line available that is suitable for studies on surfactant PC secretion, so that the isolated type II cell in primary culture remains the model of choice.

Surfactant Secretagogues

A large number of physiological and pharmacological agents can stimulate surfactant secretion. In early studies, β -adrenergic and cholinergic agonists were reported to stimulate surfactant secretion in vivo.^{3,19} It was subsequently established that β -agonists act directly on the type II cell. Beta-receptors exist on the type II cell^{51,52} and β -agonists stimulate surfactant secretion in isolated type II cells in primary culture.^{3,33,53} On the other hand, cholinergic agonists do not stimulate surfactant secretion in the isolated perfused lung,⁵⁴ in lung slices⁵⁵ or in isolated type II cells.^{33,53} The stimulatory effect of cholinergic agonists in vivo is an indirect effect on the lung that is probably mediated by catecholamines released by the adrenal medulla.⁵⁶ Beta-receptors are coupled to adenylate cyclase (AC) and their activation is characteristically associated with increased formation of cyclic AMP (cAMP).⁵⁷ Not surprisingly, other agents that stimulate cAMP formation also stimulate surfactant secretion in type II cells. They include cholera toxin,⁵⁸ forskolin⁵⁹ and agonists that activate an adenosine receptor that is also coupled to AC activation.^{60,61}

Other well established surfactant secretagogues in type II cells include ionophores, ionomycin and A23187, which promote Ca²⁺ influx into the cell, and the phorbol ester 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA), and cell-permeable diacylglycerols (DAGs), 1-oleoyl-2-acetylglycerol and dioctanoylglycerol, which activate protein kinase C (PKC).³

Although the extent of stimulation can vary considerably, in general surfactant secretion is increased 2- to 3-fold by agonists that activate AC and by Ca²⁺ ionophores, and 5-fold or more by TPA and other PKC activators.³ Combinations of agonists acting via different signaling mechanisms have been reported to stimulate surfactant secretion as much as 12-fold.^{27,62} Mastoparan, an agent that activates several signaling mechanisms, has been reported to increase surfactant secretion 8- to 10-fold over the rate in control type II cells.⁶³ The P2 purinoceptor agonist adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), which also acts via a number of signaling mechanisms, has been reported to stimulate surfactant secretion as much as 5- to 6-fold,^{30,34,64-66} although less stimulation has also been reported.^{26,61,67}

Other agonists that have been reported to stimulate surfactant secretion in type II cells include arachidonic acid,^{68,69} other unsaturated fatty acids,⁶⁹ prostaglandins,⁷⁰ leukotrienes,⁷¹ vasopressin,⁷² histamine,⁷³ antihistamines,⁷⁴ serum lipoproteins,⁷⁵ gastrin-releasing peptide⁷⁶ and endothelin-1.²⁹

Agents that Inhibit Surfactant Secretion

There are a number of agents that inhibit surfactant phospholipid secretion in type II cells. SP-A can completely abolish the stimulatory effects of secretagogues and it also inhibits basal secretion.⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹ The plant lectins concanavalin A^{78,80,81} and wheat germ⁸⁰ and *Maclura pomifera* agglutinins,^{78,80} proteins that have some structural characteristics in common with SP-A, also inhibit surfactant phospholipid secretion. Other inhibitors of surfactant secretion include substance P,⁸² adenosine A₁ receptor agonists²⁶ and compound 48/80, an agent that promotes histamine release from mast cells.⁸³

Signal Transduction Mechanisms

Transduction of an extracellular signal into a physiological response can be a complex process involving a number of intermediate proteins and signaling molecules.⁸⁴ The existence of multiple forms of transducer proteins among which positive and negative interactions can occur has led to the realization that signal transduction can be finely regulated.⁸⁵ A schematic representation of the signal transduction mechanisms that mediate surfactant

secretion is presented in Figure 7.3. Although an oversimplification, it summarizes most of the currently elucidated signaling steps in the type II cell.

Surfactant secretagogues include agents that activate receptors on the surface of the type II cell as well as those that penetrate the cell and activate downstream signaling steps. At least three cell surface receptors can regulate surfactant secretion. Those are β -adrenergic receptors that are activated by secretagogues such as epinephrine,³³ terbutaline^{33,74} and isoproterenol,^{33,53,74} adenosine receptors that are activated by adenosine and adenosine analogs such as 5'(N-ethylcarboxyamido)adenosine (NECA)^{60,61,86} and P2 purinoceptors that are activated by ATP,^{30,61,64} uridine 5'-triphosphate (UTP)^{67,87} and ATP analogues.⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ Surfactant secretagogues that bypass cell surface receptors include cholera toxin and forskolin, which activate AC; TPA and cell-permeable DAGs that activate PKC; and ionophores that promote Ca²⁺ influx.³

The signaling mechanisms mediating surfactant secretion consist of three distinct pathways, although there are overlap and interactions among them:^{5,62}

- 1. Activation of AC, generation of cAMP and activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase (protein kinase A, PKA);
- 2. Activation of PKC, either directly or indirectly as a consequence of receptor activation;
- 3. Increased levels of intracellular Ca²⁺, either as uptake from outside the cell promoted by ionophores or as release from intracellular storage sites in response to receptor activation.

Beta-Adrenoceptors and Adenosine Receptors Coupled to Adenylate Cyclase Activation

Three β -adrenoceptors, β_1 , β_2 and β_3 , are known to exist.⁵⁷ The β_3 receptor does not appear to be expressed in the lung⁵⁷ but the β_1 and β_2 genes are both expressed in the type II cell.⁹¹ However, pharmacological data^{51,52} suggest that surfactant secretion is regulated by the β_2 receptor. There are four subtypes of adenosine receptors (P1 purinoceptors), A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_{33} ,⁹² and all four are expressed in the type II cell (Xu ZX and Rooney SA, unpublished). However, whereas the A_2 subtypes are coupled to activation of AC, activation of the A_1 and A_3 receptors leads to decreased cAMP formation.⁹² As adenosine and the adenosine analogs that stimulate surfactant secretion increase cAMP formation,^{60,61} it is evident that surfactant secretion is regulated by one of the A_2 receptors. The adenosine receptor on the type II cell could not be characterized with radioligands because of the presence of large amounts of a NECA-binding protein.⁸⁶ However, the potency order of adenosine receptor agonists and antagonists in the type II cell^{60,86} is consistent with that reported for the A_{2B} receptor in other systems⁹² and suggests that it is the adenosine A_{2B} receptor which regulates surfactant secretion.

The β_2 -adrenergic⁵⁷ and A_{2B} adenosine⁹³ receptors are coupled to AC via the heterotrimeric guanosine 5'-triphosphate-binding protein (G-protein) G_s in other systems, and are presumably similarly coupled in the type II cell (Fig. 7.3). Activation of AC results in formation of cAMP, and that second messenger in turn activates PKA. Two surfactant secretagogues bypass a receptor to activate AC. Forskolin directly activates AC, while cholera toxin irreversibly activates G_s. Cholera toxin⁵⁸ and forskolin,⁵⁹ as well as surfactant secretagogues that activate β -adrenergic^{33,53,60} and adenosine $A_{2B}^{60,61}$ receptors, have all been shown to stimulate cAMP formation in the type II cell. The increase in cAMP in response to terbutaline and forskolin in type II cells was reported to be associated with increased PKA activation.⁵⁹

At least nine mammalian AC isoforms⁹⁴ and multiple PKA isoforms⁹⁵ are known to exist. AC II and AC IV, but not AC I, are expressed in the type II cell.⁹⁶ However, there is no information on which PKA isoform(s) exist in the type II cell or which AC and PKA



Fig. 7.3. Schematic representation of signal transduction mechanisms mediating surfactant phospholipid secretion in type II cells. Beta-adrenergic agonists bind to β_2 -receptors that are coupled to adenylate cyclase (AC) via the heterotrimeric GTP-binding protein (G-protein) G_s. Adenosine and its analogs bind to adenosine A_{2B} receptors that are similarly coupled to AC. Forskolin directly activates AC, while cholera toxin permanently activates Gs. Activation of AC results in the generation of cAMP, which in turn activates cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA). ATP and UTP bind to $P2Y_2$ purinoceptors that are coupled to phospholipase C β (PLC β) via G_q. Activation of PLC_β results in the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (not shown) and generation of diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP₃). DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC) which in turn activates phospholipase D (PLD). PLD hydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine leads to the formation of choline (not shown) and phosphatidic acid (PA). Phosphatidate phosphatase (not shown) converts PA to DAG which then further activates PKC. 12-Otetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) and cell permeable DAGs, such as 1-oleoyl-2acetylglycerol and dioctanoylglycerol, directly activate PKC. ATP also binds to an AC-coupled methylxanthine-sensitive receptor that is distinct from the adenosine A2B receptor. IP3 promotes mobilization of calcium from intracellular stores, while the ionophores ionomycin and A23187 promote calcium influx into the cell. Calcium activates a Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaCM-PK) and may also act synergistically with DAG to activate PKC. Protein phosphorylation by PKA, PKC or CaCM-PK ultimately leads to surfactant secretion. See text for further details and supporting references. Adapted from Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994; 8:957-967.

isoform(s) are activated by surfactant secretagogues. The finding that the stimulatory effect of terbutaline on surfactant secretion is not additive to that of adenosine or NECA⁶⁰ suggests that β -receptors and adenosine A_{2B} receptors are coupled to activation of the same AC and PKA isoforms. On the other hand, the effects of terbutaline and forskolin on surfactant secretion are additive,⁵⁹ suggesting that forskolin may activate different isoform(s) from those coupled to receptor activation.

P2 Purinoceptors and Activators of Protein Kinase C

P2 receptors are divided into two major groups: P2X and P2Y.^{97,98} P2X receptors are ion channels, whereas P2Y receptors are coupled to G-proteins.^{97,98} At present, seven P2X subtypes and seven P2Y subtypes have been cloned.⁹⁷ There is good evidence that the P2 purinoceptor responsible for stimulation of surfactant is P2Y₂. (The P2Y₂ receptor was termed P_{2u} in an older nomenclature system).⁹² ATP and UTP are equally potent at P2Y₂ receptors^{92,98} and both nucleotides stimulate surfactant secretion in type II cells, with similar concentrations eliciting half maximal effects (EC₅₀ values).⁸⁷ Additional agonist potency order data are also consistent with the P2Y₂ receptor.⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹ The P2Y₂ receptor is expressed in the type II cell.^{87,99} Indeed the rat P2Y₂ receptor was first cloned using a type II cell cDNA library.⁹⁹

Signal transduction data are also consistent with P2Y₂ receptor regulation of surfactant secretion. The P2Y₂ receptor is coupled to phosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C (PPI-PLC),⁹⁸ an enzyme that acts on phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate to generate the two second messengers inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and DAG (Fig. 7.3).¹⁰⁰ DAG activates PKC¹⁰⁰ and IP₃ promotes the mobilization of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores.¹⁰¹ ATP has been shown to promote formation of IP₃ and DAG, ^{30,32,61,102,103} to decrease phosphoinositide levels, ^{32,102} to increase intracellular Ca²⁺ levels^{30,65} and to activate PKC^{30,66} in type II cells. The P2Y₂ receptor is generally coupled to the pertussis toxin resistant G-protein G_q.¹⁰⁴ Effects of ATP in the type II cell are only partly inhibited by pertussis toxin,^{65,102,105} so it is likely that the P2Y₂ receptor on the type II cell is similarly coupled. However, the fact that there is some pertussis toxin inhibition suggests that the subunits of G_i may also have a role in coupling the P2Y₂ receptor to PPI-PLC.⁸⁵ In that context, it is of interest that G_i was recently reported to mediate lipoprotein induced surfactant secretion in type II cells.¹⁰⁶

Eleven mammalian PKC isoforms are known to exist¹⁰⁰ and the α , β I, β II, δ , η , θ , ζ and μ isoforms have been identified in the type II cell by immunoblotting.¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ However, little is currently known concerning the identity of the PKC isoform(s) activated by P2Y₂ agonists in the type II cell. PKC α , PKC β (β I and β II were not distinguished),¹⁰⁷ PKC δ and PKC η were reported to be activated by TPA¹⁰⁷ in the type II cell and, in a preliminary report, PKC α and PKC β II were reported to be activated by ATP.¹⁰⁸ It remains to be determined if the same PKCs are activated by P2Y₂ agonists and by the cell-permeable DAGs that stimulate surfactant secretion. There are three groups of PPI-PLC enzymes, PLC- β , PLC- δ and PLC- γ ,^{110,111} but only PLC- β is activated by G-proteins.⁸⁵ As the P2Y₂ receptor is coupled to a G-protein, it follows that PLC- β is involved in surfactant secretion. Four isoforms of PLC- β exist.¹¹¹ The β_1 and β_3 isoforms are widely distributed whereas β_2 and β_4 are largely confined to hematopoietic cells and the retina, respectively.¹¹¹ Immunoblotting revealed the presence of PLC- β_3 in type II cells whereas the β_1 , β_2 and β_4 isoforms were not detected.¹⁰⁹ It remains to be determined if PLC-PLC- β_3 is activated by surfactant secretiant secretion.¹⁰⁹ It remains to be determined if PLC-PLC- β_3 is activated by surfactant secretant secretant.¹⁰⁹ It remains to be determined if PLC-PLC- β_3 is activated by surfactant secretant secretant.¹⁰⁹ It remains to be determined if PLC-PLC- β_3 is activated by surfactant secretant secretant.¹⁰⁹ It remains to be determined if PLC-PLC- β_3 is activated by surfactant secretangogues that activate PKC in the type II cell.

Activation of Phospholipase D

There is biphasic formation of DAG in response to ATP in the type II cell.^{32,102} There is an initial transient increase within seconds after addition of ATP, followed by a larger and more sustained increase 5-10 min later. There is also a sustained increase in phosphatidic acid formation which corresponds to the second DAG peak.¹⁰² The same increases in DAG and phosphatidic acid formation occur in response to UTP.⁸⁷ The initial increase in DAG is accompanied by IP₃ formation and is, therefore, consistent with activation of PPI-PLC. The second DAG peak is not accompanied by an increase in IP₃¹⁰² and cannot, therefore, be due to activation of PPI-PLC.



Fig. 7.4. The actions of phospholipase D (PLD) and phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C (PC-PLC) on phosphatidylcholine. PLD normally catalyzes a hydrolytic reaction in which the choline moiety of phosphatidylcholine is replaced by water and phosphatidic acid is the lipid product. However, in the presence of an alcohol, PLD catalyzes a transphosphatidylation reaction in which the lipid product is a phosphatidylalcohol rather than phosphatidic acid. When the alcohol is ethanol, the product of the PLD reaction is phosphatidylethanol. The action of PC-PLC leads to the formation of a diacylglycerol (DAG) and choline phosphate. Phosphatidic acid can be hydrolyzed to DAG by the action of phosphatidate phosphatase (PAPase), and DAG can be converted to phosphatidic acid by the action of DAG kinase.

Phospholipases other than PPI-PLC are known to be involved in signaling mechanisms.¹⁰⁰ Activation of phospholipase D (PLD) occurs in many systems¹¹² and there is also evidence of activation of a phospholipase C (PLC), distinct from PPI-PLC, that acts on phospholipids other than phosphoinositides, e.g., PC.^{113,114} (That PLC is designated PC-PLC, although it can act on a number of glycerophosphatides in addition to PC).¹¹⁵ The reactions catalyzed by PLD and PC-PLC are illustrated in Figure 7.4. Phosphatidic acid is the immediate product of the action of PLD, whereas DAG is the immediate product of PC-PLC. Phosphatidic acid and DAG are metabolically interconvertible. Phosphatidic acid can be converted to DAG in a dephosphorylation reaction catalyzed by phosphatiate phosphatase (PAPase) and can be formed from DAG in a phosphorylation reaction catalyzed by DAG kinase (Fig. 7.4). Thus, the increase in DAG and phosphatidic acid formation in response to ATP and UTP in the type II cell could be due to activation of either PC-PLC or PLD.

It is possible to distinguish between PC-PLC and PLD by taking advantage of the fact that PLD catalyzes a transphosphatidylation reaction^{112,116} whereby in the presence of ethanol it forms phosphatidylethanol rather than phosphatidic acid (Fig. 7.4). Addition of ethanol and either ATP or UTP to type II cells results in the rapid formation of phosphatidylethanol.^{87,105} Such data suggest that the second peak of DAG formation is due to activation of PLD.

PLD is also activated by TPA and dioctanoylglycerol,¹⁰⁵ surfactant secretagogues that activate PKC. However, it is not activated by secretagogues that do not activate PKC.¹⁰⁵ In addition, phosphatidylethanol formation in response to ATP, TPA and dioctanoylglycerol is antagonized by PKC inhibitors.¹⁰⁵ Those data suggest that activation of PLD in the type II cell, as in many other systems,¹¹² is mediated by PKC. Both ATP and TPA stimulate formation of choline in type II cells, suggesting that PC is the substrate for PLD.⁸⁷

Similar to the other signaling proteins discussed above, several isozymes of mammalian PLD are believed to exist and one has recently been cloned.¹¹² Currently, there is no information on whether more than one PLD isoform exist in the type II cell.

As shown in Figure 7.3, activation of PLD provides a mechanism by which $P2Y_2$ receptor agonists can sustain secretion of surfactant. Activation of PPI-PLC β results in formation of DAG, which in turn activates PKC. Protein phosphorylation then initiates PC secretion. As phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate is a minor lipid in most cells, it is unlikely that that mechanism could maintain prolonged stimulation of surfactant secretion. However, PKC also activates PLD and that enzyme, acting on the much more abundant PC,⁸⁷ generates larger quantities of DAG. Such DAGs in turn further activate PKC and perpetuate the cycle. Sustained PKC activation then maintains surfactant secretion for a prolonged period.

Intracellular Ca²⁺ Elevation

In addition to the PKC pathway, activation of the $P2Y_2$ receptor results in the formation of IP₃ (Fig. 7.3) and that second messenger promotes release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores.¹⁰¹ ATP increases type II cell intracellular Ca²⁺ levels³⁰ and they are also increased by ionophores that stimulate surfactant secretion.²⁰ Ca²⁺ is known to activate a number of the PKC isozymes.¹⁰⁰ Hence, there is overlap between the PKC and Ca²⁺ signaling pathways (Fig. 7.3). Interestingly, effects of both ATP and ionomycin on surfactant secretion are decreased by calmodulin antagonists,^{62,65} suggesting that a calmodulin dependent step is involved in the regulation of surfactant secretion. Calmodulin has been reported to be associated with lamellar bodies.¹¹⁷ Whether it is Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaCM-PK) that regulates surfactant secretion, as shown in Figure 7.3, or another calmodulin dependent step, remains to be determined.

Adenylate Cyclase Coupled ATP Receptor

ATP stimulates cAMP formation in the type II cell.^{61,87,89} That suggests that, in addition to the PKC and calcium-activated pathways, ATP also activates the AC pathway of surfactant secretion. UTP does not promote cAMP formation,⁸⁷ so that ATP activation of AC is not mediated by the P2Y₂ receptor. Indeed, there is no evidence that the P2Y₂ receptor is coupled to AC in any system.¹¹⁸ The fact that ATP activates the AC signaling mechanism in addition to P2Y₂ receptor-coupled mechanisms may explain the fact that ATP stimulates surfactant secretion to a greater extent than UTP,^{67,87} even though the two agonists have the same EC₅₀8.⁸⁷ In contrast, both nucleotides stimulate formation of DAG and phosphatidic acid as well as PLD activation to similar extents,^{87,105} showing that they are equally effective as P2Y₂ agonists.

At least three mechanisms could account for ATP stimulation of cAMP formation. Firstly, ATP could be degraded by ectonucleotidases to adenosine, which could then act directly at the adenosine A_{2B} receptor on the type II cell.^{118,119} ATP could also be degraded to adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP), another potential adenosine receptor agonist.⁹² Secondly, ATP itself could act directly at the adenosine A_{2B} receptor on the type II cell. Thirdly, ATP could activate an unrelated AC-coupled receptor.

There are synergistic interactions between the AC and PLC signal transduction pathways of surfactant secretion.⁸⁹ The stimulatory effects of surfactant secretagogues acting via the AC pathway are synergistic with those that activate PKC^{88,120} or increase Ca²⁺ levels.^{120,121} Thus, the effect of NECA was reported to be synergistic with those of TPA, dioctanoylglycerol and ionomycin,¹²⁰ as were the effects of cAMP and forskolin with that of ionomycin¹²¹ and the effect of adenosine with that of TPA.⁸⁸ It is therefore difficult to assess the ATP-activated AC and PLC signaling pathways when both are active. Ideally, the AC pathway should be investigated in the absence of the P2Y₂ pathways. That situation is difficult to achieve in adult type II cells, as there are no selective P2Y₂ antagonists available at present. However, type II cells from newborn animals provide a model in which the P2Y₂ receptor is not functional. UTP does not stimulate surfactant secretion, and neither ATP or UTP stimulate DAG formation or PLD activation in type II cells isolated from 1-2 day old rats.⁶⁷ On the other, ATP does stimulate surfactant secretion, albeit to a lesser extent than in adult type II cells, and also promotes cAMP formation.⁶⁷ Therefore, the AC-coupled signaling mechanism is functional in the newborn cells, whereas the P2Y₂ receptor-coupled mechanisms are not. Consequently, type II cells from 1-2 day old rats provide a natural model in which the AC-coupled ATP signaling mechanism can be investigated in the absence of interactions with the P2Y₂ receptor pathway.

Newborn type II cells were, therefore, employed to examine the AC-coupled ATP signaling mechanism of surfactant secretion.⁶⁷ Inclusion of sufficient adenosine deaminase in the culture medium to completely abolish the stimulatory effect of adenosine on surfactant secretion has no effect on that of the same concentration of ATP. Similarly, a combination of adenosine deaminase and 5'-nucleotidase completely blocks the stimulatory effect of AMP on secretion but does not significantly decrease that of ATP. The stimulatory effect of ATP on surfactant secretion in adult rat type II cells is similarly unaffected by adenosine deaminase⁸⁸ or AMP deaminase.⁸⁹ Such data establish that the effect of ATP on cAMP formation is not mediated by its degradation to metabolites that directly activate the adenosine A_{2B} receptor.

Subsequent experiments suggested that ATP and adenosine A_{2B} receptor agonists activate the same receptor on type II cells from newborn rats.⁶⁷ First, the stimulatory effects of ATP and NECA on surfactant secretion and cAMP formation are not additive. Second, several adenosine A_{2B} receptor antagonists decrease the stimulatory effects of both ATP and NECA on surfactant secretion. Methylxanthine adenosine receptor antagonists also decrease the stimulatory effects of ATP on PC secretion and cAMP formation in adult rat type II cells.^{61,64,89} Third, desensitization of the A_{2B} receptor results in a marked decrease in the stimulatory effects of NECA, adenosine and ATP. In those experiments, type II cells from 1-2 day old newborn rats were cultured overnight with NECA, washed with fresh medium and then incubated with NECA, adenosine, ATP or terbutaline. cAMP formation in response to NECA, adenosine and ATP is drastically reduced in the cells incubated overnight with NECA compared to cells similarly incubated without it. In contrast, the stimulatory effect of terbutaline on cAMP formation is not affected by the prolonged exposure to NECA. Similarly, prolonged exposure to ATP virtually abolishes the subsequent stimulatory effects of NECA, adenosine and ATP or caMP formation.

As there is substantial evidence that it is the adenosine A_{2B} receptor that mediates the stimulatory effects of adenosine, NECA and other adenosine analogs on surfactant secretion,^{60,67,86} the above data lead to the conclusion that ATP also activates the A_{2B} receptor. Rat A_{2B} receptors have been cloned and expressed in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells that normally do not contain an A_{2B} receptor.^{122,123} The ability of ATP to stimulate cAMP formation in the transfected CHO cells was therefore examined. Although adenosine and NECA produce a more than 100-fold increase in cAMP formation in the transfected cells compared to control CHO cells, ATP produces only a small increase (2-fold at best), and that is significantly decreased by adenosine deaminase (Xu ZX and Rooney SA, unpublished). It is,

therefore, clear that ATP does not activate the adenosine A_{2B} receptor. This suggests that ATP activates a separate AC-coupled receptor (Fig. 7.3).

AC-coupled ATP receptors have also been described in other systems. An AC-coupled receptor activated by NECA, adenosine and ATP was reported in Xenopus laevis follicular oocytes and considered to be a novel P1 purinoceptor subtype.¹²⁴ It differs from the AC-coupled ATP receptor on the type II cell, however, as it is activated by CGS-21680, an adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist⁹² that has little effect on surfactant secretion.⁸⁶ A receptor in a neuroblastoma-glioma hybrid cell line is similar to the AC-coupled ATP receptor on the type II cell in that it is activated by ATP and adenosine but not by UTP, effects of ATP and adenosine are not additive, adenosine receptor antagonists block the effect of ATP, and prolonged exposure to NECA markedly decreases the subsequent response to NECA, adenosine and ATP.¹²⁵ AC-coupled ATP receptors have also been reported in a number of other systems.¹²⁶⁻¹³² Although it has often been assumed that increased cAMP formation in response to ATP is mediated by adenosine resulting from ATP degradation,^{118,119} that possibility was clearly eliminated in most of the above studies, 124-131 as well as in type II cells. 67 As in type II cells⁶⁷ and brain cells,¹²⁵ cAMP formation in response to ATP in aortic endothelial cells¹²⁶ and thyroid cells¹²⁸ is antagonized by methylxanthines. On the other hand, the AC-coupled ATP receptor in kidney epithelial cells is activated by UTP but not by adenosine,129 whereas adenosine and ATP activate different AC-coupled receptors in myoblasts127 and vascular smooth muscle cells.¹³⁰ ATP stimulation of cAMP formation in myoblasts is antagonized by suramin,¹²⁷ a P2 antagonist⁹² that has little effect on ATP stimulated surfactant secretion in type II cells.¹³³ Therefore, it is possible that there are a number of different AC-coupled ATP receptors. In several studies the effect of ATP on cAMP formation was postulated to be mediated by a novel P2 receptor.125-127,130-132,134

In summary, it is clear that ATP stimulation of surfactant secretion is mediated by an AC-coupled receptor in addition to the $P2Y_2$ receptor (Fig. 7.3). Molecular cloning will be necessary to elucidate the precise identity of the AC-coupled ATP receptor on the type II cell and to determine if it is the same as those described in other systems.

Other Mechanisms

The above data show that surfactant secretion in type II cells is mediated by at least three signal transduction pathways (Fig. 7.3). However, the possibility of additional signaling mechanisms cannot be excluded. In addition to PLC β and PLD, other phospholipases may also be involved in signaling mechanisms that regulate surfactant secretion. TPA was reported to generate formation of lyso-PC in type II cells, suggesting activation of phospholipases A₂.¹⁰³ P2 receptors have also been reported to activate phospholipase A₂ in other systems,¹¹⁹ including airway epithelium.¹³⁵

Based on the observation that ATP stimulated formation of choline phosphate in type II cells, it was concluded that activation of PC-PLC was quantitatively more important than that of PLD in the generation of DAGs.³² In other studies on type II cells, however, ATP was reported to stimulate release of choline but not of choline phosphate.^{87,103}

The stimulatory effects of terbutaline, NECA, ATP, TPA, dioctanoylglycerol and ionomycin on surfactant secretion in type II cells are drastically reduced by Ro-318220,¹³⁶ a purported specific inhibitor of PKC.^{137,138} Furthermore, the concentrations of Ro-318220 that decrease the effects of terbutaline, NECA, TPA and ionomycin by 50% (IC₅₀ values) are similar,¹³⁶ suggesting that Ro-318220 antagonizes a common step in the AC, PKC and calcium signaling pathways of surfactant secretion. Such a step is likely to be distal to the reactions depicted in Figure 7.3. Ro-318220 inhibits expression of mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase phosphatase-1¹³⁹ and the activity of MAP kinase activated protein kinase;¹⁴⁰ in a recent preliminary communication, components of the MAP kinase signaling pathway

were reported to be activated by TPA and ATP in type II cells.¹⁰⁸ The MAP kinase signaling cascade is also activated by ATP and UTP in rat kidney cells¹⁴¹ and in a human endothelial cell line,¹⁴² and in the latter system MAP kinase activation is inhibited by Ro-318220. It remains to be established if components of the MAP kinase signaling pathway or other kinases are inhibited by Ro-318220 in type II cells and if inhibition of such a step accounts for the Ro-318220 inhibition of agonist-stimulated surfactant secretion.¹³⁶

Distal Steps in Surfactant Secretion

Downstream steps in surfactant secretion have not been extensively investigated. As shown in Figure 7.3, all of the signal transduction pathways result in activation of specific protein kinases and phosphorylation of proteins. However, the steps distal to protein kinase activation that ultimately lead to fusion of the lamellar body membrane with the plasma membrane of the type II cell and exocytosis of surfactant have not been elucidated.

Although protein kinases and protein phosphorylation occupy key positions in cell signaling mechanisms,¹⁴³ little is known about the identity of the proteins that are phosphorylated by the protein kinases activated by surfactant secretagogues. It is not known if the same or different proteins are phosphorylated by PKA, PKC and CaCM-PK in type II cells. Many of the synergistic effects observed to occur between surfactant secretagogues^{62,120} could be due to interactions at the level of protein phosphorylation. It is possible, for instance, that phosphorylation of a protein by one agonist facilitates subsequent phosphorylation by a second.

Activation of PKA in response to cAMP^{144,145} and terbutaline¹⁴⁶ promotes phosphorylation of a number of proteins in the type II cell. In one study, actin (43 kDa) was identified as the major PKA substrate in type II cell cytosol,¹⁴⁵ although cAMP promoted the phosphorylation of three additional proteins, 260 kDa, 240 kDa and 22 kDa.¹⁴⁴ In another study, terbutaline was reported to promote the phosphorylation of 47 kDa and 112 kDa proteins, but not of actin.¹⁴⁶ Inclusion of TPA in the culture medium was reported to promote phosphorylation of three proteins, 50 kDa pI 5.8, 50 kDa pI 5.7 and 25 kDa, in the type II cell, and addition of the protein phosphatase inhibitor okadaic acid together with TPA resulted in phosphorylation of additional proteins.¹⁴⁷ With the exception of actin,¹⁴⁵ the type II cell proteins that are phosphorylated in response to surfactant secretagogues have not been identified.

Limited proteolysis of PKA in response to calpain, Ca²⁺-activated neutral protease, was suggested to prolong protein phosphorylation and thus sustain surfactant secretion in response to agonists acting via the PKA signaling mechanism.¹⁴⁶ A role for calpain in surfactant secretion is further suggested by the findings that A23187, TPA and terbutaline activate endogenous calpain in type II cells,¹⁴⁸ and that a calpain inhibitor antagonizes the effects of those secretagogues.¹⁴⁹

The steps beyond protein phosphorylation that ultimately result in exocytosis of lamellar bodies are also largely unknown. Involvement of cytoskeletal elements is suggested by the findings that colchicine and vinblastine, agents that disrupt microtubules, inhibit surfactant secretion in intact lungs,¹⁵⁰ lung slices^{55,151} and isolated type II cells.¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴ Actin is generally involved in secretion¹⁵⁵ and, in agreement with the finding that actin phosphorylation is promoted by cAMP,¹⁴⁵ a number of studies suggest a role for actin filaments in surfactant secretion.^{55,154,156-159} In an elegant morphological study, lamellar bodies in the process of exocytosis at the apical surface of the type II cell were reported to be surrounded by actin filaments, whereas actin was less frequently associated with lamellar bodies at the basal surface of the cell.¹⁵⁶ In the same study, the amount of actin in the type II cell was increased by isoproterenol, a β -agonist that also promotes lamellar body exocytosis.¹⁵⁷ Cytochalasin D, an agent known to disrupt actin filaments, decreased lamellar body exocytosis as measured morphologically¹⁵⁶ and abolished the stimulatory effect of isoproterenol.¹⁵⁷ Cytochalasin B was also reported to inhibit surfactant secretion when measured biochemically in lung slices.⁵⁵ Such data suggest that intact microfilaments are necessary for surfactant secretion. In other studies, however, cytochalasins stimulated surfactant secretion,^{154,158} suggesting that disruption of actin filaments promotes secretion. Some of these discrepancies may be due to differences in cytochalasin concentrations. A delicate balance between actin polymerization and depolymerization is known to be essential for secretion, and disruption of actin filaments secretagogues, terbutaline and TPA, were recently reported to promote actin depolymerization in type II cells,¹⁵⁹ a finding consistent with the notion that disruption of microfilaments is associated with secretion.¹⁵⁵

Fusion of the limiting membrane of the lamellar body with the plasma membrane of the type II cell is obviously a prerequisite for surfactant exocytosis. Studies have been designed to identify proteins involved in such membrane fusion. Annexins are a group of proteins that bind phospholipids in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner and that are implicated in membrane fusion and exocytosis in a number of systems.^{160,161} Several annexins are expressed in type II cells¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴ and there is evidence that annexins may have a role in surfactant secretion.

Synexin (annexin VII) promotes fusion of lamellar bodies and plasma membranes in vitro.^{165,166} A physiological role for synexin in surfactant secretion is suggested by the findings that stilbene disulfonates antagonize the increase in surfactant secretion in response to alkalosis, ATP and terbutaline in type II cells¹⁶⁷ and also inhibit synexin-dependent membrane aggregation and fusion.¹⁶⁸ Another annexin, annexin II, also promotes fusion of lamellar bodies with liposomes at physiological concentrations of calcium, an effect similarly antagonized by a stilbene disulfonate.¹⁶⁹ In addition, annexin II enhances surfactant secretion in response to Ca²⁺ in permeabilized type II cells that are depleted of the normal complement of annexins.¹⁶³ Finally, although there is no evidence that it has a role in surfactant secretion, annexin IV binds to both lamellar bodies and SP-A in type II cells.¹⁶²

A combination of genetic studies in yeast and biochemical studies on mammalian neurosecretory cells has led to a generalized paradigm of the final steps in exocytosis.^{155,161,170} In that model the cytoplasmic proteins, N-ethylmaleimide sensitive fusion protein (NSF) and soluble NSF attachment proteins (SNAPs), form a complex with SNAP receptors (SNAREs). The SNARE hypothesis states that in the process of vesicle docking, proteins on the vesicle (v-SNAREs) bind to their counterparts on the target membrane (t-SNAREs). The NSF-SNAP-SNARE fusion complex disassembles after ATP hydrolysis, mediated by the ATPase NSF, in a process that results in membrane fusion and release of vesicle contents. Numerous proteins are known to be involved in the SNARE mechanism of exocytosis^{161,171} and several were recently reported to be expressed in the type II cell.¹⁷² In a preliminary communication, expression of NSF, SNAP and SNAREs was reported in intact type II cells while the t-SNARE syntaxin and the v-SNARE synaptobrevin were identified in plasma membrane and lamellar body fractions, respectively.¹⁷² These data are consistent with the involvement of the SNARE mechanism in surfactant secretion. Whether annexin-mediated secretion is part of the SNARE mechanism in type II cells or a separate secretory pathway remains to be established. In other systems, however, annexins have been integrated into the SNARE exocytosis model, although their precise role has not been established.^{161,171}

An increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ is often the trigger of exocytosis and has been postulated to be involved both in the SNARE model^{155,170} and in annexin-mediated effects.¹⁶⁰ Whether an increase in Ca²⁺ is obligatory for the initiation of exocytosis, however, is less clear. A number of surfactant secretagogues clearly promote an increase in Ca²⁺ levels in the type II cell. They include ionophores^{20,121,173} and ATP.^{30,65} Some surfactant secretagogues, however, do not appear to promote an increase in Ca^{2+} . There are data that suggest that a minimum level of Ca^{2+} may be necessary for surfactant secretion,¹⁷³ but the evidence that β -agonists increase Ca^{2+} in the type II cell is not impressive and there is no evidence that TPA or diacylglycerols increase Ca^{2+} levels.^{121,173} Clearly much remains to be learned regarding distal steps in surfactant secretion and particularly how annexins and the SNARE paradigm can be integrated into a generalized model of surfactant exocytosis.

Physiological Regulation of Surfactant Secretion

The fact that surfactant secretion can be stimulated by many different agonists suggests that its physiological regulation may be a highly redundant process. It is likely that secretion is a critical factor in overall surfactant homeostasis and that such redundancy assures that surfactant secretion is not disrupted. There is no known pathological condition attributable to a defect in surfactant secretion. The insufficiency in surfactant that occurs in premature infants and that can lead to the respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) appears to be largely due to lung immaturity and insufficient surfactant synthesis. There is no evidence that a defect in surfactant secretion contributes to RDS.

How is surfactant secretion regulated in vivo? A number of agonists stimulate surfactant secretion in vivo. They include β -agonists,^{56,174} cholinergic agonists^{56,175,176} and adenosine.¹⁷⁷ However, the mere fact that an agent has an effect in vivo does not establish that it has a physiological role. Blockade of a physiological response, on the other hand, can yield information on the pharmacological mechanism involved. At least two physiological factors, ventilation and labor, are know to stimulate surfactant secretion in vivo.

Ventilation stimulates surfactant secretion in both adult^{174,175} and newborn^{176,178} animals as determined by the amount of surfactant phospholipid recovered in lung lavage. A morphological study confirmed that the effect of ventilation is on lamellar body exocytosis.¹⁷⁹ Ventilation also stimulates surfactant secretion in the isolated perfused lung.⁵⁴ At least part of the effect of ventilation may be due to a direct mechanical effect on the type II cell, as stretch increases surfactant secretion in cells cultured on a stretchable membrane.¹⁸⁰ Labor is another physiological factor that stimulates surfactant secretion. Significantly greater amounts of surfactant phospholipid are recovered in lung lavage from newborn rabbits delivered after labor than from those delivered by cesarean section before the onset of labor at the same gestational age.¹⁸¹ The stimulatory effect of labor on surfactant secretion is also apparent in lung slices and in that model it was established that the effect was primarily on secretion rather than on synthesis.¹⁸² Labor also increases lamellar body secretion as measured morphologically in the newborn rat.¹⁸³

The stimulatory effects of ventilation¹⁷⁴ and labor¹⁸² are antagonized by β -antagonists. As discussed earlier, β -receptors exist on the type II cell^{51,52} and β -agonists stimulate surfactant secretion in primary cultures of type II cells,^{3,33,53} isolated perfused lungs⁵⁴ and in vivo.¹⁷⁴ Taken together, such data strongly suggest that the β -adrenergic system has a role in the physiological regulation of surfactant secretion.

The effect of ventilation in vivo is also blocked by atropine,^{175,176,178} suggesting that a cholinergic mechanism has a role in the physiological regulation of surfactant secretion. However, although cholinergic agonists stimulate surfactant secretion in vivo their effects are blocked by both β -antagonists and adrenalectomy.^{56,184} Such data, together with the findings that cholinergic agonists do not stimulate surfactant secretion in isolated perfused lungs,⁵⁴ lung slices⁵⁵ or isolated type II cells^{33,53} led to the conclusion that cholinergic regulation of surfactant secretion is an indirect effect mediated by the adrenal medulla.^{56,184} Nevertheless, the cholinergic system may be very important in the physiological regulation of surfactant secretion.

A physiological role for prostaglandins in the regulation of surfactant secretion is suggested by the findings that inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis antagonize the stimulatory effects of labor¹⁸² and ventilation^{174,176} in the rabbit. Such inhibitors also antagonize the normal developmental increase in surfactant secretion in fetal lambs.¹⁸⁵

Some of the other agents reported to stimulate surfactant secretion in type II cells may also have a physiological role. Indeed, the finding that the ventilation-induced increase in surfactant secretion in the isolated perfused lung is not antagonized by propranolol, atropine or indomethacin⁵⁴ suggests that agents other than β-agonists, cholinergic agonists and prostaglandins mediate surfactant secretion. That the ventilation-induced increase in surfactant in lung lavage in the newborn rabbit is decreased by leukotriene antagonists and by a lipoxygenase inhibitor¹⁷⁶ suggests a physiological role for leukotrienes. The possibility that a methylxanthine-sensitive receptor may play a physiological role in surfactant secretion is suggested by the finding that the injection of newborn rabbits with 8-phenyltheophylline significantly attenuates the ventilation-induced increase in surfactant secretion that occurs immediately after birth.¹⁷⁶ Such a receptor could be the adenosine A_{2B} receptor or the AC-coupled ATP receptor. That it may be the A_{2B} receptor is suggested by the finding that infusion of pregnant rabbits with adenosine increased surfactant secretion in the fetuses.¹⁷⁷ On the other hand, injection of newborn rabbits with NECA does not increase the amount of surfactant in lung lavage.¹⁷⁶ It is possible, however, that endogenous levels of adenosine or ATP in the newborn lungs are already increased in response to ventilation, so that the exogenous agonist has no further effect.

There is no information on whether the P2Y₂ receptor on the type II cell has a physiological role in the regulation of surfactant secretion. There is good evidence that ATP may be a physiological agonist in other systems, but a physiological role for UTP is less well established.⁹² ATP levels were measured in adult rat bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and, based on tissue culture data,⁹⁰ were sufficient to stimulate surfactant secretion.¹⁸⁶ However, there was no correlation between ATP concentration and surfactant content as ATP levels were decreased in animals exposed to oxygen, whereas surfactant levels were increased.¹⁸⁶ It is, therefore, not clear if ATP has a physiological role in regulation of surfactant secretion. Because there are no specific P2Y₂ antagonists, it is difficult to establish such a role for ATP or UTP by blocking the increase in surfactant secretion induced by ventilation or labor. The stretch-induced increase in surfactant secretion in type II cells was accompanied by an increase in cellular Ca²⁺ levels.¹⁸⁰ A mechanical stimulus was reported to promote ATP release¹⁸⁷ and IP₃ formation¹⁸⁸ in airway epithelial cells. These data raise the possibility that the stimulatory effect of stretch on surfactant secretion is mediated by the type II cell P2Y₂ receptor.

Apart from ATP and UTP, the only well established surfactant secretagogues that activate the PKC signaling pathway are nonphysiological agonists such as TPA and cell permeable DAGs, while those that activate the CaCM-PK pathway are the equally unphysiological ionophores ionomycin and A23187. It is highly likely that some physiological agonist activates those signaling mechanisms and it is tempting to speculate that ATP or UTP may be such an agonist. However, at present there is no direct evidence to support a physiological role for P2Y₂ receptors in the regulation of surfactant secretion.

The finding that SP-A inhibits surfactant phospholipid secretion⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹ and promotes its uptake¹⁸⁹ by type II cells in vitro led to the notion that SP-A might have a physiological role in the regulation of extracellular surfactant phospholipid levels. However, the findings that surfactant secretion and uptake appear to be normal in SP-A knockout mice¹⁹⁰ make a physiological role for SP-A in regulation of surfactant metabolism unlikely.

Future Directions

There is considerable information available on agents that stimulate surfactant phospholipid secretion in isolated type II cells and on the signal transduction mechanisms by which their effects are mediated. However, information on the ACs, PKCs and PLCs involved in the signaling process is only beginning to become available and little is known about the identity of other signaling molecules. Much also remains to be learned about distal steps in surfactant secretion, in particular the steps beyond activation of protein kinases. Virtually nothing is known about how the lamellar body membrane fuses with the plasma membrane of the type II cell to ultimately expel surfactant components into the alveolar lumen. The elucidation of such steps and, in particular, the identification of individual proteins involved in the process will be a major goal of future research.

Other aspects of surfactant secretion that need to be elucidated include the mechanisms by which the surfactant proteins are secreted. Is secretion of SP-A entirely constitutive? How is secretion of SP-D effected? Is secretion of the hydrophobic proteins SP-B and SP-C subject to the same regulatory mechanisms as that of surfactant phospholipids?

Finally, although several groups of agonists and at least three signal transduction mechanisms can regulate surfactant secretion in isolated type II cells, relatively little is known about how surfactant secretion is physiologically regulated. There is good evidence that the β -adrenergic system has a physiological role and it is also likely that cholinergic regulation is of physiological importance. However, virtually nothing is known about other physiological mediators. Is the P2Y₂ receptor involved in the regulation of surfactant secretion? Does ATP or UTP have a physiological role? What other physiological agonists might activate the PKC and calcium-mediated signaling mechanisms? Are there negative modulators of surfactant secretion? Although the recent data on the SP-A deficient mouse suggests that SP-A is probably not involved in the physiological regulation of surfactant metabolism, other similar proteins such as SP-D and C1q may have such a role.¹⁹⁰ What are the physiological consequences of deleting expression of specific genes involved in surfactant secretion signaling? Is there such redundancy that deletion of one pathway is compensated by activation of others? What are the consequences of deleting genes in more than one signaling pathway? Is survival possible in situations where surfactant secretion is seriously compromised?

It is likely that the elucidation of these and related questions will occupy those interested in surfactant secretion for the foreseeable future.

Acknowledgment

Work in the author's laboratory was supported by a grant (HL-31175) from the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute.

References

- 1. Post M, Batenburg JJ, Schuurmans EAJM et al. Lamellar bodies isolated from adult human lung tissue. Exp Lung Res 1982; 3:17-28.
- 2. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis MA, van Eijk M, van Buel BLM et al. Surfactant protein composition of lamellar bodies isolated from rat lung. Biochem J 1991; 274:115-119.
- 3. Rooney SA. Phospholipid composition, biosynthesis, and secretion. In: Parent RA, ed. Comparative Biology of the Normal Lung. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1992:511-544.
- Gail DB, Lenfant CJM. Cells of the lung: Biology and clinical implications. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983; 127:366-387.
- Rooney SA, Young SL, Mendelson CR. Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant. FASEB J 1994; 8:957-967.
- 6. Rooney SA, Gobran LI, Umstead TM et al. Secretion of surfactant protein A from rat type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L586-L590.

- 7. Froh D, Gonzales LW, Ballard PL. Secretion of surfactant protein A and phosphatidylcholine from type II cells of human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993; 8:556-561.
- 8. Ikegami M, Lewis JF, Tabor B et al. Surfactant protein A metabolism in preterm ventilated lambs. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L765-L772.
- 9. Ikegami M, Ueda T, Purtell J et al. Surfactant protein A labeling kinetics in newborn and adult rabbits. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:413-418.
- O'Reilly MA, Nogee L, Whitsett JA. Requirement of the collagenous domain for carbohydrate processing and secretion of a surfactant protein, SP-A. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 969:176-184.
- 11. Young SL, Ho Y-S, Silbajoris RA. Surfactant apoprotein in adult rat lung compartments is increased by dexamethasone. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L161-L167.
- 12. Alcorn JL, Mendelson CR. Trafficking of surfactant protein A in fetal rabbit lung in organ culture. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L27-L35.
- 13. Froh D, Ballard PL, Williams MC et al. Lamellar bodies of cultured human fetal lung: Content of surfactant protein A (SP-A), surface film formation and structural transformation in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1990; 1052:78-89.
- Doyle IR, Barr HA, Nicholas TE. Distribution of surfactant protein A in rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11:405-415.
- 15. Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D et al. Surfactant protein D. Increased accumulation in silicainduced pulmonary lipoproteinosis. Am J Pathol 1991; 139:765-776.
- Voorhout WF, Veenendaal T, Kuroki Y et al. Immunocytochemical localization of surfactant protein D (SP-D) in type II cells, Clara cells, and alveolar macrophages of rat lung. J Histochem Cytochem 1992; 40:1589-1597.
- 17. Phizackerley PJR, Town MH, Newman GE. Hydrophobic proteins of lamellated osmiophilic bodies isolated from pig lung. Biochem J 1979; 183:731-736.
- Henry M, Ikegami M, Ueda T et al. Surfactant protein B metabolism in newborn rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1300:97-102.
- 19. Chander A, Fisher AB. Regulation of lung surfactant secretion. Am J Physiol 1990; 258:L241-L253.
- 20. Wright JR, Dobbs LG. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant secretion and clearance. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:395-414.
- 21. Finkelstein JN, Maniscalco WM, Shapiro DL. Properties of freshly isolated type II alveolar epithelial cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 762:398-404.
- 22. Hendriks-Munoz KD, Finkelstein JN, Shapiro DL. Membrane phospholipid methylation is associated with surfactant secretion in rabbit type II alveolar epithelial cells. Exp Lung Res 1989; 15:63-76.
- 23. Scott JE. Influence of protein kinase C activation by 4β-phorbol ester or 1-oleoyl-2acetylglycerol on disaturated phosphatidylcholine synthesis and secretion, and protein phosphorylation in differentiating fetal rabbit type II alveolar cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1221:297-306.
- 24. Robinson PC, Voelker DR, Mason RJ. Isolation and culture of human alveolar type II epithelial cells. Characterization of their phospholipid secretion. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984; 130:1156-1160.
- Dobbs LG, Mason RJ, Williams MC, Benson BJ, Sueishi K. Secretion of surfactant by primary cultures of alveolar type II cells isolated from rats. Biochim Biophys Acta 1982; 713:118-127.
- 26. Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Adenosine A₁ receptor-mediated inhibition of surfactant secretion in rat type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1990; 258:L45-L51.
- 27. Dobbs LG, Gonzalez RF, Marinari LA et al. The role of calcium in the secretion of surfactant by rat alveolar type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 877:305-313.
- 28. Sano K, Voelker DR, Mason RJ. Involvement of protein kinase C in pulmonary surfactant secretion from alveolar type II cells. J Biol Chem 1985; 260:12725-12729.
- 29. Sen N, Grunstein MM, Chander A. Stimulation of lung surfactant secretion by endothelin-1 from rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L255-L262.

- 30. Rice WR, Dorn CC, Singleton FM. P₂-purinoceptor regulation of surfactant phosphatidylcholine secretion. Relative roles of calcium and protein kinase C. Biochem J 1990; 266:407-413.
- 31. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Ontogeny of surfactant secretion in type II pneumocytes from fetal, newborn, and adult rats. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L337-L343.
- 32. Sen N, Chander A. Alkalosis- and ATP-induced increases in the diacylglycerol pool in alveolar type II cells are derived from phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylinositol. Biochem J 1994; 298:681-687.
- 33. Dobbs LG, Mason RJ. Pulmonary alveolar type II cells isolated from rats. Release of phosphatidylcholine in response to β-adrenergic stimulation. J Clin Invest 1979; 63:378-387.
- 34. Rice WR, Singleton FM. P₂-purinoceptors regulate surfactant secretion from rat isolated alveolar type II cells. Br J Pharmacol 1986; 89:485-491.
- 35. Mason RJ, Dobbs LG, Greenleaf RD, Williams MC. Alveolar type II cells. Fed Proc 1977; 36:2697-2702.
- 36. Dobbs LG, Williams MC, Brandt AE. Changes in biochemical characteristics and pattern of lectin binding of alveolar type II cells with time in culture. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 846:155-166.
- 37. Saito K, Lwebuga-Mukasa J, Barrett C, Light D, Warshaw JB. Characteristics of primary isolates of alveolar type II cells from neonatal rats. Exp Lung Res 1985; 8:213-225.
- 38. Paine R, Joyce-Brady M, Clement A et al. Serum accelerates the loss of type II cell differentiation in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:311-323.
- Suwabe A, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Temporal secregation of surfactant secretion and lamellar body biogenesis in primary cultures of rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 5:80-86.
- 40. Kawada H, Shannon JM, Mason RJ. Improved maintenance of adult rat alveolar type II cell differentiation in vitro: effect of serum-free, hormonally defined medium and a reconstituted basement membrane. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:33-43.
- 41. Shannon JM, Jennings SD, Nielsen LD. Modulation of alveolar type II cell differentiated function in vitro. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L427-L436.
- 42. Wikenheiser KA, Vorbroker DK, Rice WR et al. Production of immortalized distal respiratory epithelial cell lines from surfactant protein C/simian virus 40 large tumor antigen transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993; 90:11029-11033.
- 43. Mallampalli RK, Floerchinger CS, Hunninghake GW. Isolation and immortalization of rat pre-type II cell lines. In Vitro Cell Develop Biol. 1992; 28A:181-187.
- 44. Steele MP, Levine RA, Joyce-Brady M et al. A rat alveolar type II cell line developed by adenovirus 12E1A gene transfer. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992; 6:50-56.
- 45. Sigurdson SL, Lwebuga-Mukasa JS. Divalent cation-dependent regulation of rat alveolar epithelial cell adhesion and spreading. Exp Cell Res. 1994; 213:71-79.
- 46. Lieber M, Smith B, Szakal A et al. A continuous tumor-cell line from a human lung carcinoma with properties of type II alveolar epithelial cells. Internat J Cancer 1976; 17:62-70.
- Douglas WHJ, Kaighn ME. Clonal isolation of differentiated rat lung cells. In Vitro 1974; 10:230-237.
- 48. Hay R, Caputo J, Chen TR et al. Catalogue of Cell Lines and Hybridomas. 7th Edition. Rockville, MD: American Type Culture Collection, 1992.
- 49. Rooney SA, Nardone LL, Shapiro DL et al. The phospholipids of rabbit type II alveolar epithelial cells: Comparison with lung lavage, lung tissue, alveolar macrophages and a human alveolar tumor cell line. Lipids 1977; 12:438-442.
- 50. Mason RJ, Williams MC. Phospholipid composition and ultrastructure of A549 cells and other cultured pulmonary epithelial cells of presumed type II cell origin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1980; 617:36-50.
- 51. Fabisiak JP, Vesell ES, Rannels DE. Interactions of beta adrenergic antagonists with isolated rat alveolar type II pneumocytes. I. Analysis, characterization and regulation of specific beta adrenergic receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1987; 241:722-727.
- 52. Ewing CK, Duffy DM, Roberts JM. Characterization of the β-adrenergic receptor in isolated human fetal lung type II cells. Pediatr Res 1992; 32:350-355.

- 53. Brown LAS, Longmore WJ. Adrenergic and cholinergic regulation of lung surfactant secretion in the isolated perfused rat lung and in the alveolar type II cell in culture. J Biol Chem 1981; 256:66-72.
- 54. Nicholas TE, Barr HA. Control of release of surfactant phospholipids in the isolated perfused rat lung. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:90-98.
- 55. Marino PA, Rooney SA. Surfactant secretion in a newborn rabbit lung slice model. Biochim Biophys Acta 1980; 620:509-519.
- 56. Abdellatif MM, Hollingsworth M. Effect of oxotremorine and epinephrine on lung surfactant secretion in neonatal rabbits. Pediatr Res 1980; 14:916-920.
- 57. Barnes PJ. Beta-adrenergic receptors and their regulation. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 152:838-860.
- 58. Mescher EJ, Dobbs LG, Mason RJ. Cholera toxin stimulates secretion of saturated phosphatidylcholine and increases cellular cyclic AMP in isolated rat alveolar type II cells. Exp Lung Res 1983; 5:173-182.
- 59. Rice WR, Hull WM, Dion CA et al. Activation of cAMP dependent protein kinase during surfactant release from type II pneumocytes. Exp Lung Res 1985; 9:135-149.
- 60. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Functional evidence for adenosine A₂ receptor regulation of phosphatidylcholine secretion in cultured type II pneumocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1987; 241:907-914.
- 61. Warburton D, Buckley S, Cosico L. P1 and P2 purinergic receptor signal transduction in rat type II pneumocytes. J Appl Physiol 1989; 66:901-905.
- 62. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Signal-transduction mechanisms of ATP-stimulated phosphatidylcholine secretion in rat type II pneumocytes: Interactions between ATP and other surfactant secretagogues. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993; 1167:85-93.
- 63. Joyce-Brady M, Rubins JB, Panchenko MP et al. Mechanisms of mastoparan-stimulated surfactant secretion from isolated pulmonary alveolar type 2 cells. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:6859-6865.
- 64. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Purinoceptor agonists stimulate phosphatidylcholine secretion in primary cultures of adult rat type II pneumocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 917:18-23.
- 65. Voyno-Yasenetskaya TA, Dobbs LG, Williams MC. Regulation of ATP-dependent surfactant secretion and activation of second-messenger systems in alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1991; 261 Suppl. (Oct.):105-109.
- 66. Chander A, Sen N, Wu AM et al. Protein kinase C in ATP regulation of lung surfactant secretion in type II cells. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L108-L116.
- 67. Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Adenylate cyclase-coupled ATP receptor and surfactant secretion in type II pneumocytes from newborn rats. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L187-L196.
- 68. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Arachidonic acid metabolites stimulate phosphatidylcholine secretion in primary cultures of type II pneumocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 833:336-341.
- 69. Baybutt RC, Smith JE, Gillespie MN et al. Arachidonic acid and eicosapentaenoic acid stimulate type II pneumocyte surfactant secretion. Lipids 1994; 29:535-539.
- 70. Anderson GG, Cidlowski JA, Absher PM et al. The effect of dexamethasone and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ on production and release of surfactant in type II alveolar cells. Prostaglandins 1978; 16:923-929.
- 71. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Leukotrienes stimulate phosphatidylcholine secretion in cultured type II pneumocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 876:22-27.
- 72. Brown LAS, Wood LH. Stimulation of surfactant secretion by vasopressin in primary cultures of adult rat type II pneumocytes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1001:76-81.
- 73. Chen M, Brown LAS. Histamine stimulation of surfactant secretion from rat type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1990; 258:L195-L200.
- 74. Gilfillan AM, Lewis AJ, Rooney SA. Effects of thiazinamium chloride and other antihistamines on phosphatidylcholine secretion in rat type II pneumocyte cultures. Biochem Pharmacol 1987; 36:277-281.

- 75. Voyno-Yasenetskaya TA, Dobbs LG, Erickson SK et al. Low density lipoprotein- and high density lipoprotein-mediated signal transduction and exocytosis in alveolar type II cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993; 90:4256-4260.
- Asokananthan N, Cake M. Stimulation of surfactant lipid secretion from fetal type II pneumocytes by gastrin-releasing peptide. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L331-L337.
- 77. Dobbs LG, Wright JR, Hawgood S et al. Pulmonary surfactant and its components inhibit secretion of phosphatidylcholine from cultured rat alveolar type II cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84:1010-1014.
- 78. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Surfactant lipid uptake and secretion in type II cells in response to lectins and secretagogues. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:L434-L442.
- 79. Rice WR, Ross GF, Singleton FM et al. Surfactant-associated protein inhibits phospholipid secretion from type II cells. J Appl Physiol 1987; 63:692-698.
- 80. Rice WR, Singleton FM. Regulation of surfactant phospholipid secretion from isolated rat alveolar type II cells by lectins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 958:205-210.
- 81. Kuroki Y, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Chemical modification of surfactant protein A alters high affinity binding to rat alveolar type II cells and regulation of phospholipid secretion. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:17596-17602.
- 82. Rice WR, Singleton FM. Regulation of surfactant secretion from isolated type II pneumocytes by substance P. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 889:123-127.
- 83. Rice WR, Whitsett JA. Inhibition of surfactant release from isolated type II cells by compound 48/80. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 805:261-267.
- 84. Gudermann T, Schoneberg T, Schultz G. Functional and structural complexity of signal transduction via G-protein-coupled receptors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 1997; 20:399-427.
- 85. Exton JH. Phosphoinositide phospholipases and G-proteins in hormone action. Annu Rev Physiol 1994; 56:349-369.
- Griese M, Gobran LI, Douglas JS et al. Adenosine A₂-receptor-mediated phosphatidylcholine secretion in type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L52-L60.
- Gobran LI, Xu ZX, Lu Z et al. P_{2u} purinoceptor stimulation of surfactant secretion coupled to phosphatidylcholine hydrolysis in type II cells. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L625-L633.
- 88. Gilfillan AM, Rooney SA. Functional evidence for involvement of P₂ purinoceptors in the ATP stimulation of phosphatidylcholine secretion in type II alveolar epithelial cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 959:31-37.
- 89. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. A₂ and P₂ purine receptor interactions and surfactant secretion in primary cultures of type II cells. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:L140-L147.
- 90. Rice WR, Singleton FM. $P_{2\gamma}$ purinoceptor regulation of surfactant secretion from rat isolated alveolar type II cells is associated with mobilization of intracellular calcium. Br J Pharmacol 1987; 91:833-838.
- 91. Isohama Y, Matsuo T, Kai H et al. Changes in β_1 and β_2 -adrenoceptor mRNA levels in alveolar type II cells during cultivation. Biochem Mol Biol Internat. 1995; 36:561-568.
- 92. Fredholm BB, Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G et al. Nomenclature and classification of purinoceptors. Pharmacol Rev 1994; 46:143-156.
- 93. Palmer TM, Stiles GL. Adenosine receptors. Neuropharmacology 1995; 34:683-694.
- 94. Hanoune J, Pouille Y, Tzavara E et al. Adenylyl cyclases: Structure, regulation and function in an enzyme superfamily. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1997; 128:179-194.
- 95. Rubin CS. A kinase anchor proteins and the intracellular targeting of signals carried by cyclic AMP. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1224:467-479.
- 96. Pian MS, Dobbs LG. Evidence for Gβγ-mediated cross-talk in primary cultures of lung alveolar cells. Pertussis toxin-sensitive production of cAMP. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:7427-7430.
- 97. Fredholm BB, Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G et al. Towards a revised nomenclature for P1 and P2 receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1997; 18:79-82.
- 98. Burnstock G, King BF. Numbering of cloned P2 purinoceptors. Drug Develop Res. 1996; 38:67-71.
- 99. Rice WR, Burton FM, Fiedeldey DT. Cloning and expression of the alveolar type II cell P_{2u}-purinergic receptor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:27-32.

- Nishizuka Y. Protein kinase C and lipid signaling for sustained cellular responses. FASEB J 1995; 9:484-496.
- 101. Berridge MJ. Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signalling. Nature 1993; 361:315-325.
- 102. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. ATP-stimulated inositol phospholipid metabolism and surfactant secretion in rat type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L586-L593.
- 103. Dubrovin LC, Brown LAS. Stimulation of phosphatidylcholine hydrolysis in type II alveolar epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L42-L50.
- 104. Alexander SPH, Ford APD. Purines '96. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1996; 17:385-388.
- 105. Rooney SA, Gobran LI. Activation of phospholipase D in rat type II pneumocytes by ATP and other surfactant secretagogues. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L133-L140.
- 106. Pian MS, Dobbs LG. Lipoprotein-stimulated surfactant secretion in alveolar type II cells: Mediation by heterotrimeric G-proteins. Am J Physiol 1997; 273:634-639.
- 107. Linke MJ, Burton FM, Fiedeldey DT et al. Surfactant phospholipid secretion from rat alveolar type II cells: Possible role of PKC isozymes. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L171-L177.
- 108. Edwards YS, Power JHT, Nicholas TE et al. Effect of secretagogues on protein kinase-C (PKC) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-regulated pathways in rat alveolar type II cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 155:A211.
- 109. Gobran LI, Xu ZX, Rooney SA. PKC isoforms and other signaling proteins involved in surfactant secretion in developing rat type II cells. Am J Physiol 1998; 274:L901-907.
- Rhee SG, Choi KD. Regulation of inositol phospholipid-specific phospholipase C isozymes. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:12393-12396.
- 111. Exton JH. Cell signalling through quanine-nucleotide-binding regulatory proteins (G-proteins) and phospholipases. Eur J Biochem 1997; 243:10-20.
- 112. Exton JH. Phospholipase D: Enzymology, mechanisms of regulation, and function. Physiol Rev 1997; 77:303-320.
- 113. Lee MW, Severson DL. Signal transduction in vascular smooth muscle: Diacylglycerol second messengers and PKC action. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:C659-C678.
- 114. van Dijk MCM, Muriana FJG, de Widt J et al. Involvement of phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C in platelet-derived growth factor-induced activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in rat-1 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:11011-11016.
- 115. Roberts MF. Phospholipases: Structural and functional motifs for working at an interface. FASEB J 1996; 10:1159-1172.
- 116. Dawson RMC. The formation of phosphatidylglycerol and other phospholipids by the transferase activity of phospholipase D. Biochem J 1967; 102:205-210.
- 117. Hill DJ, Wright TC, Andrews ML et al. Localization of calmodulin in differentiating pulmonary type II epithelial cells. Lab Invest 1984; 51:297-306.
- 118. Harden TK, Boyer JL, Nicholas RA. P₂-Purinergic receptors: Subtype-associated signaling responses and structure. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1995; 35:541-579.
- 119. Dubyak GR, El-Moatassim C. Signal transduction via P₂-purinergic receptors for extracellular ATP and other nucleotides. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:C577-C606.
- 120. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Potentiation of A₂ purinoceptor-stimulated surfactant phospholipid secretion in primary cultures of rat type II pneumocytes. Lung 1993; 171:75-86.
- 121. Sano K, Voelker DR, Mason RJ. Effect of secretagogues on cytoplasmic free calcium in alveolar type II epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1987; 253:C679-C686.
- Rivkees SA, Reppert SM. RFL9 encodes an A_{2b}-adenosine receptor. Mol Endocrinol 1992; 6:1598-1604.
- 123. Stehle JH, Rivkees SA, Lee JJ et al. Molecular cloning and expression of the cDNA for a novel A_{2b}-adenosine receptor subtype. Mol Endocrinol 1992; 6:384-393.
- 124. King BF, Pintor J, Wang S et al. A novel P₁ purinoceptor activates and outward K⁺ current in follicular oocytes of *Xenopus laevis*. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1996; 276:93-100.
- 125. Matsuoka I, Zhou Q, Ishimoto H et al. Extracellular ATP stimulates adenylyl cyclase and phospholipase C through distinct purinoceptors in NG108-15 cells. Mol Pharmacol 1995; 47:855-862.

- 126. Côte S, van Sande J, Boeynaems JM. Enhancement of endothelial cAMP accumulation by adenine nucleotides: Role of methylxanthine-sensitive sites. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:H1498-H1503.
- 127. Henning RH, Duin M, den Hertog A et al. Characterization of P₂-purinoceptor mediated cyclic AMP formation in mouse C2C12 myotubes. Br J Pharmcol 1993; 110:133-138.
- 128. Sato K, Okajima F, Kondo Y. Extracellular ATP stimulates three different receptor-signal transduction systems in FRTL-5 thyroid cells. Biochem J 1992; 283:281-287.
- 129. Post SR, Jacobson JP, Insel PA. P₂ purinergic receptor agonists enhance cAMP production in Madin-Darby canine kidney epithelial cells via an autocrine/paracrine mechanism. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:2029-2032.
- 130. Tada S, Okajima F, Mitsui Y et al. P₂ purinoceptor-mediated cyclic AMP accumulation in bovine vascular smooth muscle cells. Eur J Pharmacol 1992; 227:25-31.
- 131. Yakushi Y, Watanabe A, Murayama T et al. P₂ purinoceptor-mediated stimulation of adenylyl cyclase in PC12 cells. Eur J Pharmacol 1996; 314:243-248.
- 132. Choi S-Y, Kim K-T. Extracellular ATP-stimulated increase of cytosolic cAMP in HL-60 cells. Biochem Pharmacol 1997; 53:429-432.
- 133. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Cibacron blue stimulation of surfactant secretion in rat type II pneumocytes. Br J Pharmacol 1992; 106:373-379.
- 134. Pirotton S, Motte S, Côte S et al. Control of endothelial function by nucleotides: multiple receptors and transduction mechanisms. Cellular Signalling 1993; 5:1-8.
- 135. Lazarowski ER, Boucher RC, Harden TK. Calcium-dependent release of arachidonic acid in response to purinergic receptor activation in airway epithelium. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:C406-C415.
- 136. Rooney SA, Gobran LI. Influence of the protein kinase C inhibitor 3-{1-[3-(amido-thio)propyl]-1H-indoyl-3-yl}-3-(1-methyl-1H-indoyl-3- yl)maleimide methane sulfonate (Ro-318220) on surfactant secretion in type II pneumocytes. Biochem Pharmacol 1997; 53:597-601.
- 137. Davis PD, Hill CH, Keech E et al. Potent selective inhibitors of protein kinase C. FEBS Letts 1989; 259:61-63.
- 138. Wilkinson SE, Hallam TJ. Protein kinase C: Is its pivotal role in cellular activation overstated? Trends Pharmacol Sci 1994; 15:53-57.
- 139. Beltman J, McCormick F, Cook SJ. The selective protein kinase C inhibitor, Ro-31-8220, inhibits mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1) expression, induces c-Jun expression, and activates Jun N-terminal kinase. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:27018-27024.
- 140. Alessi DR. The protein kinase C inhibitors Ro 318220 and GF 109203X are equally potent inhibitors of MAPKAP kinase-1B (Rsk-2) and p70 S6 kinase. FEBS Letts 1997; 402:121-123.
- 141. Huwiler A, Pfeilschifter J. Stimulation by extracellular ATP and UTP of the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade and proliferation of rat renal mesangial cells. Br J Pharmcol 1994; 113:1455-1463.
- 142. Graham A, McLees A, Kennedy C, Gould GW, Plevin R. Stimulation by the nucleotides, ATP and UTP of mitogen-activated protein kinase in EAhy 926 endothelial cells. Br J Pharmcol 1996; 117:1341-1347.
- 143. Cohen P. Signal integration at the level of protein kinases, protein phosphatases and their substrates. Trends Biochem Sci 1992; 17:408-413.
- 144. Whitsett JA, Matz S, Darovec-Beckerman C. cAMP-dependent protein kinase and protein phosphorylation in developing rat lung. Pediatr Res 1983; 17:959-966.
- 145. Whitsett JA, Hull W, Dion C et al. cAMP dependent actin phosphorylation in developing rat lung and type II epithelial cells. Exp Lung Res 1985; 9:191-209.
- 146. Zimmerman UJP, Wang M, Nelson JB et al. Secretagogue-induced proteolysis of cAMPdependent protein kinase in intact rat alveolar epithelial type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1311:117-123.
- 147. Warburton D, Tayag A, Buckley S et al. Protein phosphorylation and dephosphorylation in type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L548-L554.

- 148. Zimmerman UJP, Speicher DW, Fisher AB. Secretagogue-induced proteolysis of lung spectrin in alveolar epithelial type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1137:127-134.
- 149. Zimmerman UJP, Wang M, Liu L. Inhibition of secretion from isolated rat alveolar epithelial type II cells by the cell permeant calpain inhibitor II (N-acetyl-leucyl-leucylmethioninal). Cell Calcium 1995; 18:1-8.
- 150. Corbet AJ, Voelker RM, Murphy FM et al. Inhibition by colchicine of phospholipid secretion induced by lung distension. J Appl Physiol 1988; 65:1710-1715.
- 151. Delahunty TJ, Johnston JM. The effect of colchicine and vinblastine on the release of pulmonary surface active material. J Lipid Res 1976; 17:112-116.
- 152. Dobbs LG, Mason RJ. Stimulation of secretion of disaturated phosphatidylcholine from isolated alveolar type II cells by 12-0-tetradecanoyl-13-phorbol acetate. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978; 118:705-713.
- 153. Mettler NR, Gray ME, Schuffman S et al. β-Adrenergic induced synthesis and secretion of phosphatidylcholine by isolated pulmonary alveolar type II cells. Lab Invest 1981; 45:575-586.
- 154. Brown LAS, Pasquale SM, Longmore WJ. Role of microtubules in surfactant secretion. J Appl Physiol 1985; 58:1866-1873.
- 155. Bajjalieh SM, Scheller RH. The biochemistry of neurotransmitter secretion. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:1971-1974.
- 156. Tsilibary EC, Williams MC. Actin in peripheral rat lung: S1 labeling and structural changes induced by cytochalasin. J Histochem Cytochem 1983; 31:1289-1297.
- 157. Tsilibary EC, Williams MC. Actin and secretion of surfactant. J Histochem Cytochem 1983; 31:1298-1304.
- 158. Rice WR, Osterhoudt KC, Whitsett JA. Effect of cytochalasins on surfactant release from alveolar type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 805:12-18.
- 159. Bhandari V, Lu H, Pachter J et al. Actin depolymerization is developmentally regulated in rat type II cells exposed to terbutaline. Pediatr Res 1997; 41:166-171.
- 160. Zaks WJ, Creutz CE. Evaluation of the annexins as potential mediators of membrane fusion in exocytosis. J Bioenerget Biomembr. 1990; 22:97-120.
- 161. Linial M, Parnas D. Deciphering neuronal secretion: tools of the trade. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1286:115-152.
- 162. Sohma H, Matsushima N, Watanabe T et al. Ca²⁺ dependent binding of annexin IV to surfactant protein A and lamellar bodies in alveolar type II cells. Biochem J 1995; 312:175-181.
- 163. Liu L, Wang M, Fisher AB et al. Involvement of annexin II in exocytosis of lamellar bodies from alveolar epithelial type II cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L668-L676.
- 164. Mayran N, Traverso V, Maroux S et al. Cellular and subcellular localizations of annexins I, IV and VI in lung epithelia. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L863-L871.
- 165. Chander A, Wu RD. In vitro fusion of lung lamellar bodies and plasma membrane is augmented by lung synexin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1086:157-166.
- 166. Sen N, Spitzer AR, Chander A. Calcium-dependence of synexin binding may determine aggregation and fusion of lamellar bodies. Biochem J 1997; 322:103-109.
- 167. Chander A, Sen N. Inhibition of phosphatidylcholine secretion by stilbene disulfonates in alveolar type II cells. Biochem Pharmacol 1993; 45:1905-1912.
- 168. Liu L, Chander A. Stilbene disulfonic acids inhibit synexin-mediated membrane aggregation and fusion. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1254:274-282.
- 169. Liu L, Fisher AB, Zimmerman UJP. Lung annexin II promotes fusion of isolated lamellar bodies with liposomes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1259:166-172.
- 170. Thiel G. Recent breakthroughs in neurotransmitter release: paradigm for regulated exocytosis. News Physiol Sci 1995; 10:42-46.
- 171. Burgoyne RD, Morgan A. Regulated exocytosis. Biochem J 1993; 293:305-316.
- 172. Li HL, Zimmerman UJP. Expression and subcellular distribution of vesicle docking/fusion complex proteins in lung alveolar epithelial type II cell. FASEB J 1997; 11:A321.

- 173. Pian MS, Dobbs LG, Duzgunes N. Positive correlation between cytosolic free calcium and surfactant secretion in cultured rat alveolar type II cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 960:43-53.
- 174. Oyarzun MJ, Clements JA. Control of lung surfactant by ventilation, adrenergic mediators and prostaglandins in the rabbit. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978; 117:879-891.
- 175. Oyarzun MJ, Clements JA. Ventilatory and cholinergic control of pulmonary surfactant in the rabbit. J Appl Physiol 1977; 43:39-45.
- 176. Rooney SA, Gobran LI. Adenosine and leukotrienes have a regulatory role in lung surfactant secretion in the newborn rabbit. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 960:98-106.
- 177. Ekelund L, Andersson KE, Enhorning G. Release of fetal lung surfactant: Effects of xanthines and adenosine. In: Andersson KE, Persson CGA, eds. Anti-asthma Xanthines and Adenosine. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1985:202-208.
- 178. Lawson EE, Birdwell RL, Huang PS et al. Augmentation of pulmonary surfactant by lung expansion at birth. Pediatr Res 1979; 13:611-614.
- 179. Massaro GD, Massaro D. Morphologic evidence that large inflations of the lung stimulate secretion of surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983; 127:235-236.
- 180. Wirtz HRW, Dobbs LG. Calcium mobilization and exocytosis after one mechanical stretch of lung epithelial cells. Science 1990; 250:1266-1269.
- 181. Rooney SA, Gobran LI, Wai-Lee TS. Stimulation of surfactant production by oxytocininduced labor in the rabbit. J Clin Invest 1977; 60:754-759.
- 182. Marino PA, Rooney SA. The effect of labor on surfactant secretion in newborn rabbit lung slices. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 664:389-396.
- 183. Faridy EE, Thliveris JA. Rate of secretion of lung surfactant before and after birth. Respir Physiol 1987; 68:269-277.
- 184. Massaro D, Clerch L, Massaro GD. Surfactant secretion: Evidence that cholinergic stimulation of secretion is indirect. Am J Physiol 1982; 243:C39-C45.
- 185. Kitterman JA, Liggins GC, Clements JA et al. Inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis, tracheal fluid, and surfactant in fetal lambs. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:1562-1567.
- 186. Rice WR, Burhans M, Wispe JR. Effect of oxygen exposure on ATP content of rat bronchoalveolar lavage. Pediatr Res 1989; 25:396-398.
- 187. Grygorczyk R, Hanrahan JW. CFTR-independent ATP release from epithelial cells triggered by mechanical stimuli. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:C1058-C1066.
- 188. Felix JA, Woodruff ML, Dirksen ER. Stretch increases inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate concentration in airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:296-301.
- 189. Wright JR, Wager RE, Hawgood S et al. Surfactant apoprotein Mr = 26,000-36,000 enhances uptake of liposomes by type II cells. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:2888-2894.
- 190. Ikegami M, Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD et al. Surfactant metabolism in surfactant protein A-deficient mice. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L479-L485.

Lung Surfactant Clearance and Cellular Processing

Aron B. Fisher

I nitial studies following the discovery of lung surfactant focused on its chemical composition and pathways for synthesis and secretion. More recently, there has been increasing exploration of the mechanisms and pathways for removal of surfactant from the alveolar space. Since either a deficit or an excess of alveolar surfactant can be detrimental, the process and mechanisms for surfactant clearance are important for understanding lung function. Furthermore, secretion and removal of surfactant from the alveolar space require coordination in order to prevent significant alterations in the extracellular pool size. As described in chapter 1, surfactant represents a complex mixture of lipids and proteins rather than a uniform product, and extracellular surfactant may exist in multiple forms, including structured tubular myelin, multilamellar or unilamellar liposomes, micelles, molecular aggregates and monomers. It is possible that the various surfactant components and its physical forms are cleared by different mechanisms. While much has been learned in recent years, the precise pathways for clearance, the role of physical form and mechanisms for coordination of secretion and clearance are still not fully understood. This chapter will emphasize the mechanisms for clearance of phosphatidylcholine (PC) and surfactant protein A (SP-A), the major lipid and protein components of surfactant, by the normal adult lung with reference to the neonatal lung where appropriate. Currently, there is little reliable data available on clearance of other components of surfactant or on abnormalities of clearance associated with disease.

Various terms have been used to describe the processes involved in surfactant removal from alveoli. This chapter will use the following definitions: Surfactant clearance represents the disappearance of surfactant (or a surfactant component) from the alveolar space; surfactant reuptake represents removal of surfactant from the alveolar space by the lung epithelium; surfactant recycling indicates resecretion of surfactant lipid or protein components (without degradation) following their reuptake; surfactant reutilization indicates the use of degraded surfactant components for surfactant resynthesis. Recent reviews have emphasized one or more of these processes.¹⁻⁶

Surfactant Turnover

Biological Half Time of Alveolar Lipids

What is the life time of surfactant in the alveolar space following secretion? Many studies to evaluate the turnover of alveolar surfactant lipids have utilized a common experimental design: intravenous (or intraperitoneal) injection of a radiolabeled precursor of PC Fig. 8.1. Turnover of lung surfactant as evaluated by PC specific activity in lung lavage. Rats were injected intravenously with radiolabeled palmitate and sacrificed at intervals from 1-24 hours. PC specific activity (cpm per µg PC) is shown on a log scale and plotted vs. time of sacrifice. Increasing specific activity indicates secretion of PC into the alveolar space followed by clearance with a half time of 12 hours. Derived from original data in ref. 8.



followed by sacrifice of animals at varying time points for alveolar lavage to evaluate PC specific activity. The radiolabeled substrates utilized as tracers for PC synthesis are palmitate for the fatty acyl moiety, choline to label the head group, glycerol or glucose for the glyceride backbone and phosphate to label the lipid phosphorus. PC specific activity in the extracellular fraction obtained from the alveolar space reflects the balance between surfactant PC secretion and removal. With this protocol, there is a rapid increase in alveolar PC specific activity that peaks at about 6 hours, followed by a semilogarithmic decline (Fig. 8.1). The biological half time is calculated from the slope of the decreasing specific activity, representing the time required for PC specific activity in the alveolar wash to decrease by 50%. Results obtained by various laboratories and with several species (rats, rabbits, mice) have shown remarkable similarity.⁷⁻¹⁵

A striking observation is that the value for biological half time varies with the PC precursor label (Table 8.1). Based on palmitate and glyceryl labels, the biological half time for surfactant removal is approximately 16 hours. In contrast, the biological half times are consistently prolonged for the choline and phosphate labels in PC. A proper understanding of these differences is clouded by the uncertain kinetics for labeling of the individual precursor pools. The actual reason(s) for the differences is not known and could be trivial. A potentially important explanation for the discrepancy in half times between palmitate/glyceryl and choline/phosphate labels is that the latter are regenerated by PC degradation and are reutilized by the lung cells for resynthesis and resecretion of PC. In contrast to choline (and choline phosphate) which are utilized in the lung primarily for PC synthesis, regenerated palmitate and glycerol would enter the general metabolic pool where they could be metabolized to CO_2 or utilized for synthesis of other complex lipids. Additional evidence has now confirmed the metabolic reutilization of components of PC.

If surfactant components are extensively reutilized, results for biological half time are difficult to interpret in terms of actual rates of surfactant clearance. This issue has been approached through calculations of turnover time using precursor-product analysis, with the assumption that lung lamellar bodies are the precursor of alveolar surfactant (the product). The analysis, based on the relationships proposed by Zilversmit et al,¹⁶ requires measurement of PC specific activity in lamellar bodies and in the lung lavage fraction. Assuming bi-directional flux between the lung tissue and alveolar space, the calculated surfactant PC turnover time in adult rats and rabbits is approximately 4-11 hours.^{10,14,17-19} The bio-

Species	Radiolabeled PC Precursor			
	Palmitate	Glycerol/Glucose	Choline	Phosphate
Rat ⁷	14	14		
Rat ⁸	12			
Rat ⁹	15		42	45
Rat ¹⁰	16	16	47	
Rabbit ^{11,12}	17	16	35	61
Rabbit ¹³	18			
Rabbit ¹⁴	20		45	90
Mouse ¹⁵		16		
Mean	16	16	42	65

Table 8.1. Biological half time in	hours of lung surfactant	PC in the alveolar spa	ace
------------------------------------	--------------------------	------------------------	-----

Values were calculated from a semilogarithmic plot of PC specific activity in material obtained by lung lavage vs. time after intravenous injection of radiolabeled precursor.

logical half time in the absence of recycling will equal turnover time multiplied by 0.69 (i.e., ln 0.5); thus, the turnover time required to give a biological half time of 16 hours for palmitate would be approximately 22 hours. This is more than twice the turnover time estimated with the Zilversmit equations. This discrepancy is compatible with extensive recycling and/or reutilization of palmitate-labeled PC. However, precise quantitation of turnover time is complicated by difficulties in isolating pure fractions (surfactant; lamellar bodies) and their compositional heterogeneity.²⁰ In any event, the primary data for surfactant PC clearance indicate rapid turnover with replacement of approximately 5-10% of alveolar PC per hour.

Models for the Study of Surfactant Clearance

The primary experimental protocol used to evaluate of the clearance of lung surfactant in the intact lung has been to measure the disappearance of label from alveoli and/or its appearance in lung tissue at intervals following endotracheal instillation of radiolabeled lipid or protein. Anesthetized animals and the isolated perfused lung preparation have both proven useful as models. Each has its advantages, and the two approaches have resulted in complementary data. Distribution of lipid following its instillation is an important issue for the interpretation of results. Fortunately (both for study and therapy), surfactant lipids instilled into the trachea rapidly distribute throughout all lung regions although there is heterogeneity at both macro- and microscopic levels.²¹⁻²⁵ The precise effects on clearance of this sort of heterogeneity have not been determined. Another unexplored factor is the extent and type of association between instilled and endogenous alveolar lipids and the consequent effects on clearance.

Cell culture systems also have been utilized to study surfactant clearance. Availability of isolated cells presents an opportunity to evaluate mechanisms and pathways, although they obviously cannot reproduce the kinetics of the intact lung. Unfortunately, no cultured cell line appears to represent a satisfactory model for these investigations so that primary cell cultures have been necessary. Cuboidal alveolar epithelial cells (type II cells) isolated from rat or rabbit lungs by enzymatic digestion and maintained in primary culture retain the capacity to accumulate phospholipids from the incubation medium. However, phenotypic expression in these primary cell cultures is relatively unstable, and rigorous consideration of culture conditions is required for interpretation of uptake data. The cell culture matrix appears to be important in maintaining the differentiated phenotype; as an example, cells cultured on microporous membranes show significantly greater rates of dipalmitoyl PC (DPPC) and SP-A internalization and SP-A receptor density as compared to cells cultured on plastic supports.^{26,27} Different coatings for plastic supports, including collagen, polylysine and Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm tumor basement membrane, have significant effects on intracellular trafficking patterns by type II cells,²⁸⁻³⁰ indicating the need for utmost caution in the interpretation of results. Sadly, there seems to be no ideal system at present for adequately maintaining the differentiated type II cell phenotype in long term culture.

Another important issue for surfactant clearance studies is the choice of substrate. Radiolabeled natural surfactant can be prepared in a donor animal by addition of an appropriate precursor to the perfusion medium of an isolated lung³¹⁻³³ or by intravenous injection^{20,34,35} or endotracheal instillation³⁶ in an intact animal. While clearly the most physiological substrate, the labor intensity involved in the preparation of labeled natural surfactant represents a major drawback. Furthermore, important sub-forms may be lost during the surfactant isolation procedure and alteration of the natural product may occur with storage and reconstitution. Radiolabeled natural surfactant also has been generated by its coincubation with radiolabeled liposomes.³⁷ The surfactant and added lipids associate and the product generally appears to behave similarly to endogenously labeled material,³⁴ although subtle differences could exist and would be difficult to corroborate experimentally.

Synthetic lipids represent an alternative and readily available substrate for study of surfactant clearance. Because of their hydrophobicity, these cannot be presented as a simple solution, but rather are presented as liposomes prepared from mixtures of synthetic or natural lipids. Unilamellar liposomes of relatively uniform size and defined composition can be generated reproducibly, although this approach does not reproduce the precise physical forms present in the alveolar space. Since the phase transition temperature for DPPC is above physiologic temperature, it must be mixed with other lipids in order to generate a fluid liposome at 37°C. The composition of lipids affects the fluidity of the mixture and undoubtedly will influence interactions with cell membranes. Composition and method of preparation can also have a variety of other effects. For example, multilamellar liposomes appear to be poorly internalized by cells, possibly because of their bulk.³⁸ As another example, the presence of phosphatidylglycerol (PG) in the liposome increases cellular uptake, presumably related to its negative charge.^{21,39} To standardize conditions, our laboratory has utilized negatively charged unilamellar liposomes of uniform size (approximately 100 nm in diameter) prepared from a lipid mixture that approximates the composition of lung surfactant: 50% DPPC, 25% mixed PC, 10% PG and 15% cholesterol.

Clearance of Alveolar Lipids

Clearance of DPPC from Lung Alveoli

Clearance of surfactant lipids from the alveoli has been studied following endotracheal instillation of radiolabeled natural surfactant or liposomes. Administration of exogenous surfactant augments the alveolar pool so that subsequent clearance represents a combination of normal turnover plus any regulatory mechanisms designed to restore the normal alveolar surfactant pool size. For example, endotracheal instillation of 0.5 mg DPPC in a 250 g rat will approximately double the alveolar DPPC content.

Lung lavage of animals sacrificed at intervals has demonstrated a rapid decrease in lipid label in the alveolar space with a corresponding increase in lung tissue-associated label that occurs within minutes following endotracheal instillation (Fig. 8.2). The recovery of labeled lipid in the lung tissue at this initial time point is not decreased by adding mild Fig. 8.2. Uptake of ³H-DPPC in mixed unilamellar liposomes from the alveolar space by the isolated perfused rat lung under control conditions and with addition of 10⁻⁴ M terbutaline to the perfusate. Zero time represents lung uptake 5 minutes after endotracheal instillation of liposomes in the anesthetized rat. Compiled from original data in refs. 23 and 41.



detergents or proteolytic enzymes to the lavage fluid, indicating that the instilled lipid has become cell-associated.²³ Radioautography of rat lungs fixed at one minute following aerosolization of ³H-DPPC has confirmed its rapid cell association.⁴⁰ This very rapid uptake may represent, in large part, the tight binding or fusion of lipids with epithelial cell membranes. Following endotracheal administration of liposomes (1 µmol PC), approximately 10% of label is incorporated into the tissue within five minutes after instillation; with labeled natural surfactant, the rapid association of label with tissue is approximately three times greater, suggesting an important effect of lipid physical form, the presence of surfactant-associated proteins or other undetermined factors.²³

Following the initial rapid phase, there is a progressive decrease in label recovered by lung lavage and a corresponding linear accumulation of radiolabel in the lung. Studies with the isolated perfused rat lung show clearance at about 5% per hour for PC in liposomes (Fig. 8.2) with slightly greater values for clearance of natural surfactant.²³ The addition of terbutaline to the perfusate significantly stimulates uptake,⁴¹ as shown in Figure 8.2; the effect of this and other secretagogues is discussed in greater detail below. Values for clearance measured in vivo for various species are similar: Uptake in rabbits is 4-8% of instilled dpm per hour^{13,21} and in mice about 3-5%.^{15,42} Thus, these experiments with endotracheally instilled natural surfactant or lipids confirm the rapid turnover of alveolar surface active material.

Using increasing concentrations of instilled liposomes under conditions of uptake stimulated by the presence of terbutaline, the rate of clearance of DPPC instilled into the alveolar space is saturable in the perfused rat lung model.⁴¹ In this system, the stimulated maximal uptake rate of about 0.35 µmol PC per hour is reached at about 1 µmol of instilled PC. Delayed clearance of very large amounts (3 times the endogenous pool) of instilled surfactant from alveoli of neonatal rabbits is compatible with a saturable process.²⁴ Saturation suggests the presence of specific mechanisms for the uptake of surfactant lipids.
Pathways for Surfactant Lipid Clearance

Theoretically, there are five possible pathways for clearance of surfactant from the alveolar space. These are:

- 1. transport up the mucociliary escalator;
- 2. pericellular transport (or transcytosis) into the pulmonary interstitium for removal by lymphatics or capillary blood;
- 3. degradation in situ by extracellular enzymes;
- 4. uptake and degradation by alveolar macrophages; and
- 5. reuptake by the alveolar epithelium.

The possible role of tracheobronchial clearance mechanisms (i.e., transport up the mucociliary escalator) was studied by collecting gastric contents in rabbits following endotracheal instillation of labeled surfactant or following intravenous injection of labeled surfactant precursors.⁴³ Only 3-7% of total labeled surfactant is recovered in the gastric contents after 24 hours, indicating that this pathway plays a minor role in lung surfactant clearance. Possible clearance of surfactant from the alveoli by pericellular mechanisms (i.e., transcytosis into the lung interstitium) for removal by lymphatic drainage or pulmonary blood flow was evaluated by collecting lung lymph in a chronic sheep preparation following intravenous injection of labeled palmitate.⁴⁴ Lipid label recovered in lung lymph during 100 hours is only 4% of the activity in lung tissue and does not follow the pattern of disaturated PC in alveolar surfactant. Thus, lymphatic clearance does not play a role in clearance of alveolar surfactant PC. A study of lymph and blood clearance following endotracheal instillation of labeled DPPC reached a similar conclusion.⁴⁵ With respect to possible in situ degradation, several studies have shown the presence of phospholipase activity in lung lavage fluid. However, activity of these enzymes is low even when assayed in vitro under optimal conditions.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ Degradation products are not detected in the lung lavage fluid after endotracheal instillation of lipid.^{47,50} DPPC analogs (D-isomer of DPPC and L-α-DPPC ether) that are resistant to degradation by the major phospholipase (phospholipase A₂, PLA₂) are cleared to the same extent as DPPC.^{21,51} Finally, clearance in the perfused rat lung is unchanged by the presence of a phospholipase A2 inhibitor.⁵² These results indicate that DPPC clearance does not depend on its intra-alveolar degradation.

The ability of alveolar macrophages to ingest and degrade surfactant phospholipids has been shown clearly by electron microscopic examination of lung tissue⁵³ and by in vitro studies with alveolar macrophages obtained by lung lavage.54-57 However, the distribution of alveolar macrophages in the lung implies that a major role in the normal clearance of surfactant is unlikely. For example, the normal rat lung contains approximately 28 x 10⁶ alveoli and 23 x 106 alveolar macrophages.58 Since macrophages are not evenly distributed throughout the gas exchange region, it appears that they are not reasonably located in order to maintain a relatively constant surfactant concentration in individual alveoli and to promote rapid surfactant turnover. For reference, the normal rat lung has approximately 126 x 10⁶ type II epithelial cells (granular pneumocytes), which are relatively evenly distributed throughout the alveolar region.58 In vivo studies with lipids instilled into the lung have confirmed that the fraction of alveolar surfactant PC removed by alveolar macrophages is relatively small. At 2 hours after treatment of rats with nebulized labeled DPPC, autoradiography showed that three times more type II cells than alveolar macrophages contain significant radiolabel.⁴⁰ At 8 hours after instillation of radiolabeled surfactant into rabbit lungs, only 8% is recovered in alveolar macrophages, compared to 52% present in the postlavage lung tissue.³¹ As a confounding variable, alveolar macrophages could rapidly catabolize ingested surfactant and release the radiolabeled products into the extracellular space, which would result in an underestimate of their role. With isolated alveolar macrophages, degradation of internalized DPPC is about 50% during a 2 hour incubation,⁵⁷

suggesting that the total macrophage contribution to clearance is somewhat greater than predicted from analysis of the cellular contents. Using a nonmetabolizable DPPC analog, the clearance of label by alveolar macrophages from the alveolar space of rabbits is about 20% of the instilled lipid.⁵⁹ This would appear to be the approximate upper limit for normal clearance of lipid by alveolar macrophages.

Thus, tracheobronchial transport, transcytosis with lymphatic (or blood) removal, in situ degradation or uptake by alveolar macrophages appear to contribute relatively little to surfactant clearance from the alveoli. It is now clear that surfactant clearance is primarily by reuptake into the alveolar epithelium.

Uptake of DPPC by Alveolar Epithelium

Considerable evidence has now accumulated to indicate that type II cells are mainly responsible for clearance of surfactant from the alveolar space. The endocytic potential of these cells was originally suggested by Niden,⁶⁰ who presented electron microscopic evidence of carbon ingestion by mouse type II cells in situ and proposed their role in surfactant clearance. However, this idea was not readily accepted because the notion that a cell would secrete and remove the same material was considered unlikely. It has since been demonstrated that some cells re-accumulate their secretory products by receptor-mediated endocytosis, and the idea that type II cells may do the same is no longer counterintuitive. An example of secretion followed by receptor-mediated endocytosis in response to a physiological stimulus is the processing of thyroglobulin by the thyroid follicular cell. This macromolecule is secreted into the thyroid acinus, where it forms a storage pool for thyroid hormone. Subsequent receptor-mediated endocytosis of the protein by the thyroid follicular cell results in internalization of the complex for generation of free thyroid hormone. Endocytosis by type II cells has been confirmed by electron microscopic studies which show uptake of cationic ferritin from the alveolar space into an endosomal compartment and subsequent transfer to lamellar bodies.⁶¹ Of note, type II cells seem incapable of phagocytosis (the ingestion of material of large dimension), and the original studies showing uptake of colloidal carbon⁶⁰ could not be confirmed.^{61,62} This would suggest a preference for smaller lipid forms for uptake by the cells.

Several studies have provided direct experimental evidence for uptake of surfactant by type II cells. Surfactant lipids incubated with rabbit lung slices or instilled into the airway appear in lamellar bodies, the unique type II cell organelle.^{13,63} Isolated type II cells in primary culture show time dependent uptake of labeled liposomal PC from the incubation medium.^{39,64} Type II cells isolated from rat lungs instilled with labeled DPPC and then perfused in vitro for varying times show the presence of the label.³³ Electron microscopic autoradiography of rat lungs following nebulization or instillation of radiolabeled DPPC show accumulation primarily within type II cells.^{25,40} Localization of a lipid PC analog by confocal fluorescence microscopy gives similar results,⁶⁵ as shown in Figure 8.3. While both radiolabeled as well as fluorescent lipid can associate with membranous alveolar epithelial (type I) cells at early time points, subsequent accumulation of label in these cells has not been demonstrated. Careful cell fractionation studies during the 24 hours following endotracheal instillation of labeled DPPC in rabbits shows that more than 65% of recovered label is associated with type II cells.⁵⁹

Mechanisms for Cellular Uptake of Lipids

Potential mechanisms for lipid uptake by cells include lipid exchange between cell membranes and extracellular lipids, fusion of liposomes with the cell membrane and endocytosis. The initial rapid association of lipid vesicles with type II cells is sensitive to treatment with trypsin, but the percentage released by trypsin treatment decreases progressively



Fig. 8.3 Fluorescence microscopy of rat lungs fixed at intervals (5, 30 and 60 minutes) following endotracheal instillation of mixed unilamellar liposomes labeled with the fluorescent PC analog NBD-PC. Lungs were examined at low (upper panels; A, B, C) and high (lower panels; D, E, F) magnifications. A low level of diffuse fluorescence at the early (5 minute) time point leads to subsequent greater lipid accumulation with primarily discrete fluorescence in type II cells by 60 minutes. Reproduced with permission from Chinoy MR, Fisher AB, Shuman H. Confocal imaging of time-dependent internalization and localization of NBD-PC in intact rat lungs. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L713-L721.

with time, compatible with their internalization.³⁹ In addition to the lipid "envelope," cells internalize the enclosed aqueous contents of liposomes.³⁹ Uptake is inhibited by incubation at 4°C and by metabolic inhibitors that decrease ATP availability.^{39,64,66,67} Thus, these results exclude lipid exchange as a significant mechanism and are compatible with liposome binding to the cell membrane, with subsequent endocytosis as the major mechanism for lipid uptake by the cells.

Effect of Surfactant Proteins on Lipid Uptake

Several observations suggest a role for surfactant-associated proteins in lipid endocytosis:

- 1. with instillation of labeled natural surfactant into rabbit lungs, there is significantly greater uptake of surfactant subfractions containing surfactant proteins;²⁰
- 2. In isolated rat type II cells, labeled lipid in natural surfactant is accumulated at a more rapid rate than synthetic liposomes and metabolic inhibitors have a greater effect on its uptake;⁶⁴
- 3. Uptake of lipid in natural surfactant by isolated cells is decreased following treatment with a protein reducing agent or with an antibody to SP-A;⁶⁴
- 4. SP-A added to liposomes significantly stimulates the uptake of liposomal DPPC by isolated type II cells.^{27,49,66,68-70}

The degree of stimulation appears to vary greatly depending primarily on the rate of lipid uptake in the absence of SP-A. Increased internalization of lipid by the cells is indicated by insensitivity of cell-associated label to treatment with trypsin, its increased appearance in lamellar bodies and an increased intracellular generation of degradation products (described below).^{27,49,70} Stimulation of DPPC uptake has been demonstrated with freshly

isolated type II cells^{68,70} and with cells in culture on microporous membranes,²⁷ but may be more difficult to demonstrate with cells cultured on plastic.⁶⁶ This effect correlates with decreased binding of SP-A to type II cells that have been cultured on plastic vs. microporous membrane.²⁷ The effect of SP-A on lipid uptake is saturable and is not observed with unrelated proteins or with other cell types (fibroblasts), indicating specificity of the effect.^{27,68} Specific site directed mutations in SP-A (glu₁₉₅ \rightarrow gln and arg₁₉₇ \rightarrow asp) reverses the effect of SP-A on DPPC uptake by type II cells.⁷¹

In the isolated rat lung, uptake of natural surfactant radiolabeled in lipid (PC) and protein (primarily SP-A) components after 2 hours of perfusion is similar for the two labels, suggesting that they are internalized as a unit.⁷² Since DPPC is known to preferentially bind to SP-A,^{49,73} a reasonable conclusion is that the SP-A:DPPC complex is taken up more efficiently by type II cells than is DPPC itself. Supporting evidence is the observation that SP-A is much less effective in promoting uptake of lipids that it binds less well.⁷⁰

Is the SP-A mediated stimulation of DPPC uptake as demonstrated with isolated type II cells physiologically relevant? While SP-A can promote surfactant lipid uptake, it inhibits secretion, at least in isolated cell systems.^{71,74} Thus, SP-A is possibly the regulator to fine tune the extracellular pool of surfactant through coordination of secretion and clearance. Although an attractive possibility, knockout mice totally deficient in SP-A have relatively little alteration in the extracellular pool size of surfactant lipids.⁴² This could imply upregulation of non-SP-A mediated processes for DPPC uptake or could indicate that the stimulation of uptake noted in isolated cells is an in vitro phenomenon. Thus, the possible role of SP-A in the regulation of the extracellular DPPC pool size remains to be established.

The hydrophobic surfactant proteins, surfactant protein B (SP-B) and surfactant protein C (SP-C), may also modify lipid uptake by type II cells, although evidence for a physiological role is less compelling. Liposome uptake by isolated cells was stimulated by a hydrophobic protein⁷⁵ (later determined to be SP-C) but subsequently it was demonstrated that lipids coisolating with the protein could account for the effect.⁷⁶ Cellular uptake of lipid is stimulated by synthetic SP-B and SP-C peptides, but these effects are not saturable and are not type II cell specific.⁶⁹ These effects of hydrophobic peptides may be due to their interaction with lipids, with a resultant change in physical form as the mechanism for increased uptake by isolated cells. For example, a shift to smaller forms could account for the increased uptake of multilamellar liposomes in the presence of SP-B or SP-C.³⁸ SP-C appears to be more effective, as predicted from its greater hydrophobicity.

Mechanism for DPPC Association with Type II Cells

Although type II cells make up only about 5% of the cells lining the alveolar surface, they are responsible for the majority of DPPC uptake. Thus, specific mechanisms must exist to promote the role of type II cells in the clearance of DPPC. A reasonable hypothesis is that the type II cell membrane possesses specific recognition sites for the lipid or its ligands. By contrast, the type I epithelial cell, which constitutes the bulk of the alveolar surface, appears to be unable to endocytose DPPC. Although association of DPPC with type I epithelium has been demonstrated in situ, this is limited to the initial time observed and most likely represents lipid exchange or fusion with the cell membrane rather than lipid endocytosis.^{25,40}

Since DPPC can specifically bind to SP-A, specificity for lipid uptake by type II cells could be mediated through cellular recognition of the lipid:protein complex. While there is still debate concerning its precise identification, it is now clear that type II cell membranes possess a protein(s) with SP-A receptor-like activity. In the presence of SP-A, binding of liposomes to plasma membranes isolated from type II cells increases more than 4-fold.⁷⁷ Specificity, at least in part, is evident, since the association of SP-A with type II cell plasma

membranes is significantly greater than that observed with plasma membranes from liver. Currently, three candidate receptor proteins have been described with molecular masses of about 30 kDa,⁷⁸ 55 kDa⁷⁹ and 210 kDa⁸⁰ based on gel electrophoresis under reducing conditions. An anti-idiotypic antibody to the 55 kDa "receptor" protein inhibits both binding of SP-A and SP-A mediated lipid uptake by isolated type II cells.⁸¹ Site specific SP-A mutations result in loss of both the SP-A effect on DPPC uptake by type II cells and the ability to compete with labeled SP-A for binding to the cell membrane.⁷¹ Thus, the cell membrane SP-A receptor potentially confers specificity for DPPC uptake by type II cells through cellular recognition of the SP-A:lipid complex.

Receptor-mediated endocytosis is a well-recognized mechanism for internalization of ligands and occurs predominantly through receptors clustered on the cell membrane at sites of clathrin-coated pits.⁸² These receptors, with or without the ligand, continuously recycle between the membrane-associated coated pit and internal coated vesicles. Electron microscopy using immunogold techniques has demonstrated that SP-A binding is clustered in coated pits of type II cells.²⁸ These observations suggest a role for clathrin-mediated uptake of SP-A and, by inference, the SP-A mediated uptake of DPPC.

While SP-A stimulates uptake of DPPC by type II cells, these cells also endocytose lipid vesicles in the absence of added SP-A.^{26,39,64,66,67} This may be important physiologically, since the molar ratio of DPPC to SP-A in the alveolar space is approximately 10,000 (the stoichiometry of DPPC binding to SP-A is not known). Uptake of DPPC by isolated cells is inhibited in part by cytochalasin D,^{66,67} suggesting that internalization of lipid is associated with actin-dependent cell membrane retrieval. Thus, the type II cell membrane may have a specialized affinity or high affinity binding sites for DPPC unrelated to SP-A receptors. One possibility is that these specialized binding sites represent patches of lamellar body membrane inserted into the type II cell plasma membrane (Shuman H, Zen K, personal communication), but the precise mechanism is not yet known.

Coordination of Secretion and Clearance

Is clearance of surfactant from the alveolar space regulated, i.e., under physiological control, or is it cleared at some constitutive rate which could vary with the alveolar pool size? Intuitively, it would seem likely that the extracellular pool size of a substance as crucial as lung surfactant would be tightly controlled. If the pool size is regulated, then secretion and clearance should be physiologically linked. Several lines of evidence have provided evidence for physiological regulation of surfactant clearance and its linkage to secretion, although the precise mechanisms are not yet known.

Increased lung ventilation is a potent stimulus for surfactant secretion (see chapter 7) and also enhances the rate of surfactant clearance. Alveolar clearance of lipid instilled in the trachea of anesthetized rabbits increases by 70% (to 13.3% of instilled PC cleared per hour) when ventilation doubles consequent to added external dead space.²¹ Vigorous exercise in rats (swimming) results in an increase in alveolar surfactant pool size, possibly related to hyperventilation, that returns to control level within 3 hours following cessation of the exercise,⁸³ indicating balance between secretion and clearance pathways. On the other hand, instillation of large amounts of surfactant into lungs has no apparent gross effect on the rate of surfactant lipid secretion.^{24,84} Thus, endogenous signals related to secretion may be important for its coordination with uptake.

Agonists for β -adrenergic, protein kinase C (PKC) and purinergic systems are potent secretagogues for surfactant (see chapter 7) and have been shown to also increase the rate of alveolar lipid clearance. In the isolated perfused rat lung, addition to the perfusate of terbutaline, 8-bromo cyclic AMP (cAMP), 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) or ATP increases the rate of alveolar DPPC clearance by the lung.⁴¹ Uptake is approximately

5% of instilled label per hour under control conditions and approximately doubles in the presence of any one of the secretagogues. A similar effect is observed by addition of a β -adrenergic agonist (metaproterenol) to radiolabeled surfactant instilled endotracheally in intact rabbits.⁸⁵ Secretagogues also stimulate uptake of lipid in isolated type II cells in primary culture on microporous membranes, although not in cells cultured on plastic.^{26,66} Since the secretory response to secretagogues is maintained under both culture conditions, the linkage between secretion and reuptake of DPPC would appear to be an indirect rather than a direct coupling.

A possible mechanism for the secretagogue-mediated increase in lipid clearance is suggested by studies of the SP-A receptor. Exposure of type II cells to agonists (terbutaline, cAMP analog, TPA and ATP) results in increased SP-A binding to the cell membrane compatible with increased receptor expression.⁸⁶ Increased SP-A receptor expression on the cell surface could promote increased reuptake of DPPC through its binding to SP-A, as described above. Stimulation of uptake by secretagogues also occurs in the absence of SP-A,²⁶ so that an effect of these agonists on the SP-A receptor-independent pathway of endocytosis is likely. This effect could be mediated through stimulation of the rate of plasma membrane internalization.

Clearance of Other Lipids

Compared to DPPC, only a smattering of studies related to clearance of other lipids have been reported. Lung uptake of mixed liposomes containing labeled PG, phosphatidylethanolamine, cholesterol or lyso-PC has been described.85,87,88 Since uptake of liposomal DPPC is by endocytosis, it follows that any lipid presented in mixed liposomes with DPPC should be internalized by type II cells. Furthermore, liposomes instilled into the alveolar space will mix with endogenous surfactant so that independent uptake of the lipid of interest cannot be assumed. Under these experimental conditions, mechanisms for recognition of the DPPC component of the mixed liposome could dominate the uptake process and determine the kinetics. With plasma membranes from isolated type II cells, SP-A mediated binding of 1-palmitoyl-2-linolenyl PC in mixed liposomes is decreased by 45% compared with DPPC,77 compatible with the experimentally-determined binding affinity of lipids for SP-A.⁷³ This suggests that lung clearance of non-DPPC lipids through SP-A mediated uptake could be relatively impaired. However, the preponderance of DPPC as a lipid component in the alveolar space makes it unlikely that its total segregation from other lipids is unlikely to occur physiologically. More studies are required to define clearance of these other lipids, although the imperative for physiological understanding is not great.

Intracellular Lipid Trafficking

Fate of Internalized Lipid

Potential fates for lipid internalized by type II cells are:

- 1. degradation;
- 2. transport to lamellar bodies for resecretion; or
- 3. transfer to the interstitium (transcytosis) for clearance by lymphatics or blood.

As described above, clearance of intact lipid via the lymphatics or blood does not occur. Both degradation and resecretion of DPPC have been described, and the relative contribution of the two pathways may vary with physiological conditions. The partition between these pathways represents a potential additional control point for regulation of surfactant turnover.



Fig. 8.4. Pathways for catabolism and reutilization of choline-labeled DPPC via phospholipase A (PLA₁ or PLA₂) (panel A) or phospholipase C (panel B). Only choline-containing products are indicated. Catabolism via phospholipase D (not shown) would generate labeled choline directly, but would otherwise follow the reactions in panel B. GPC, glycerophosphorylcholine.

Degradation of Internalized Lung DPPC

In the isolated perfused rat lung, there is significant degradation of the labeled lipid in the 2 hours following endotracheal instillation of choline-labeled liposomes or natural surfactant.^{32,52,72} Choline label in these experiments is recovered in both the aqueous fraction (containing glycerophosphorylcholine, choline phosphate and free choline) and organic fraction of the lung homogenate, as expected from known degradative pathways (Fig. 8.4). The aqueous fraction also shows radiolabel in CDPcholine, indicating reutilization of choline for generation of the rate-limiting substrate for PC synthesis via the de novo pathway (see chapter 2). In the organic fraction, label is found in DPPC (the original substrate), in lyso-PC (a degradation product) and in PC containing unsaturated fatty acids. The latter also indicates reutilization of the choline label for resynthesis of PC, either through reacylation of lyso-PC (with an unsaturated fatty acid) or through the de novo pathway. Degradation of lipid and reutilization of the resulting components are seen in isolated type II cells incubated with liposomes or natural surfactant.^{64,89,90}

Determination of the fractional degradation of internalized lipid is difficult in the intact lung because the metabolic pool cannot be pulse-labeled, and recovery of metabolic products is cumbersome. Nonetheless, estimations of rates of metabolism suggest that about two-thirds of lipid internalized by the perfused lung is degraded,^{50,91} as indicated in Figure 8.5. Since reutilization of the choline label would be expected to regenerate DPPC as a major product, the extent of DPPC degradation in the perfused lung experiments may be underestimated. Less extensive studies evaluating degradation of radiolabeled natural surfactant yield similar results.⁵⁰ Fig. 8.5. Uptake and degradation of ³H-choline labeled DPPC by the isolated rat lung during a 2 hour perfusion in the presence or absence (control) of 10-4 M 8-bromo cAMP (8-BrcAMP) in the perfusate. ³H-DPPC in mixed unilamellar liposomes was instilled into the trachea. Uptake and degradation were calculated assuming linear rates between 5 minutes and 2 hours of perfusion. The height of the bar indicates total DPPC uptake by the lung. The total height minus the DPPC fraction represents degradation. The recovery of 3H in radiolabeled components is indicated by the different shadings. The lyso-PC and aqueous fractions represent degradation products. The unsaturated PC fraction



represents degradation followed by metabolic reutilization for PC synthesis. DPPC represents either the original material or that resynthesized from labeled degradation products. The presence of the cAMP analog resulted in a significant stimulation of both DPPC uptake and degradation. Compiled from original data in Fisher et al³² as modified in Fisher and Dodia.⁵⁰

The foregoing analysis indicates reutilization of choline-label from DPPC for resynthesis and resecretion. Reutilization of fatty acid (palmitate) from monoenoic PC or from PG for synthesis of phospholipids has been observed in rabbit lungs and isolated rat type II cells.^{39,88,89} Reutilization of a particular component will depend on its metabolic pool. For example, choline is actively transported into the type II cell against a concentration gradient with an affinity of the transporter for choline in the micromolar range.^{92,93} Therefore, it is expected that the choline liberated intracellularly following lipolytic activity would be avidly retained. Further, choline is utilized almost exclusively for PC synthesis, so that its rate of reutilization in the type II cell would be reflected in an analysis of surfactant. Fatty acids, on the other hand, enter a pool that is utilized for various metabolic reactions including mitochondrial oxidation to CO₂ and synthesis of glycerides and other complex lipids. Consequently, its rate of reutilization for PC synthesis would be expected to be lower, reflecting its multiple potential fates. These differences in reutilization could account for the apparent differences in biological half times for PC as determined by various substrates (Table 8.1). The similar half times for choline and phosphate suggest that choline may be reutilized primarily as choline phosphate rather than as the free base.

The rate of intracellular surfactant degradation is normally not rate limiting for surfactant clearance. As evidence, rates of clearance for DPPC and its nonmetabolizable analogs (the D-isomer or the ether analog) are similar.^{21,51,94} Uptake is also not altered in the presence of an inhibitor of DPPC catabolism.⁵² Clearly, long term alterations of surfactant degradation could have consequences for surfactant clearance, but this potential effect has not yet been evaluated.

Phospholipases and DPPC Degradation

Liposomal lipids are degraded during incubation with lung homogenate,^{21,52} indicating the action of one or more phospholipases. The pattern of recovery of metabolic products in the isolated perfused rat lung following endotracheal instillation of labeled DPPC indicates that PLA₂ is the predominant degradative enzyme. In perfused lung experiments with label in the *sn*-2 palmitate of DPPC, the ratio of label recovery in free fatty acids vs. diacylglycerol is 34:1.⁵² The action of PLA₂ generates lyso-PC and the free fatty acid. Lyso-PC in turn can be reacylated to PC or degraded by lysophospholipases and various esterases to simpler water soluble constituents as described above. Activities of other phospholipases (phospholipase A₁, phospholipase C and phospholipase D), which are characterized by their site of hydrolytic cleavage (Fig. 8.4), have been identified in lung tissue and type II cells (see Fisher and Dodia⁹⁰ for a more extensive discussion). A significant role for them in the turnover of internalized surfactant DPPC is not likely, although one or more may be crucial in terms of intracellular signaling pathways (see chapter 7).

PLA₂ represents a diverse family of enzymes including both Ca²⁺-dependent and Ca²⁺independent forms. Examples of the former include pancreatic PLA2 (type I secreted), PLA2 associated with inflammatory exudates (type II secreted) and the cytosolic PLA₂ that appears to be coupled to eicosanoid biosynthesis.⁹⁵ Secreted PLA₂ forms have a molecular mass of about 15 kDa and the cytosolic PLA2 of about 85 kDa; all have pH optima in the neutral to alkaline range. Several of these Ca²⁺-dependent PLA₂ forms have been demonstrated in alveolar type II cells.^{90,96} Ca²⁺-independent PLA₂s represent another large group that have been categorized as brush border (membrane), cytosolic and lysosomal enzymes.97 Ca²⁺-independent PLA₂ activity has been identified in lungs, type II cells and lamellar bodies.98-100 Of particular interest are in vitro assays showing considerable activity with a pH 4 optimum, indicating a lysosomal type enzyme. Studies with a transition-state phospholipid-analog inhibitor indicate that this Ca2+-independent lysosomal type PLA2 is responsible for the major fraction of surfactant DPPC degradation in type II cells.^{52,90} This enzyme (designated aiPLA₂) has now been identified with a cDNA clone and in vitro expression of a 26 kDa protein.¹⁰¹ It has been localized to lung lamellar body and lysosomal fractions,⁹⁰ both acidic organelles.¹⁰² Lysosomatrophic agents inhibit degradation of DPPC in type II cells, providing evidence for involvement of an acidic compartment as required for aiPLA₂. activity.⁹⁰ Colocalization of surfactant phospholipid with a lysosomal marker enzyme has been demonstrated in freshly isolated type II cells, compatible with its intracellular transfer to that organelle.²⁹ Accumulation of a nonmetabolizable DPPC analog in a lysosome-enriched fraction isolated from rabbit lungs provides additional evidence for lysosomes as the primary site for DPPC degradation.¹⁰³

Degradation of DPPC by isolated type II cells is decreased when SP-A is added to liposomes prior to incubation with the cells.^{49,68,70} One possibility for this effect is that SP-A mediates direct transfer of DPPC to lamellar bodies, i.e., recycling as described in the next section. Another possibility is that SP-A directly inhibits the degradative enzyme. Inhibition of aiPLA₂ activity in vitro by the presence of SP-A has been demonstrated.⁴⁹ Inhibition requires the native SP-A form and can be reversed by reduction/alkylation of the protein. Activity of ai PLA₂ in isolated rat lung lamellar bodies is increased significantly by addition of reducing/alkylating agents presumably through reversal of in situ SP-A inhibition (aiPLA₂ itself is insensitive to these reagents).⁴⁹ Thus, the presence of SP-A in lamellar bodies may protect DPPC against the action of phospholipase, although the "reason" for the presence of aiPLA₂ in these organelles is not yet apparent. These data are compatible with a role for SP-A in modulation of intracellular DPPC degradation through its regulation of aiPLA₂ activity.

Recycling of DPPC

Is the DPPC molecule recycled, i.e., internalized and resecreted, without prior degradation? Intact DPPC could follow a pathway similar to ferritin, which is transported directly from the alveolar space to lamellar bodies.⁶¹ However, evidence for recycling of intact DPPC has been difficult to obtain. Jacobs et al¹⁹ used a two-compartment model of surfactant flux to calculate a reutilization rate for DPPC in rabbits, assuming bidirectional flux between lamellar bodies and alveolar space, with provision for loss of label from the alveolar space due to other processes. Using precursor-product relationships, they estimated PC reutilization at 23% for the adult rabbit. A subsequent study reported a reutilization rate in adult rabbits of 40-45%, although specific activity in lamellar bodies was not measured directly.⁹⁴ These results must be interpreted cautiously since the scatter in the calculations is great. As discussed above, the inability to pulse label the relevant pools and difficulty in isolating pure fractions can result in gross inaccuracies in calculation of flux based on the assumed precursor-product model. Thus, the extent of direct surfactant recycling in adult animals remains unresolved, but in any event does not appear to be the major pathway. Surfactant lipid recycling may be more prominent in neonatal animals since the calculated recycling rate in newborn rabbits is greater than 90%.³⁴

It is possible that SP-A is important for the direct recycling of lipid and that DPPC bound to SP-A is preferentially targeted to lamellar bodies for resecretion. SP-A promotes the incorporation of radiolabeled DPPC into lamellar bodies in rabbit lungs and isolated rat type II cells.^{68,70} At 2 hours of isolated rat lung perfusion, both labeled DPPC and SP-A are found in isolated lamellar bodies, although the DPPC:SP-A ratio is about twice that in the original surfactant.^{72,104} The label in the isolated lamellar bodies could represent lipid that is transferred directly in association with SP-A. However, lipid that has been resynthesized utilizing the labeled products of DPPC degradation could also contribute. As described above, degradation of DPPC is decreased in the presence of SP-A,^{49,68,70} possibly due to SP-A inhibition of aiPLA₂.⁴⁹ Thus, SP-A could mediate the direct transfer of DPPC to lamellar bodies or could inhibit DPPC degradation. These mechanisms are not incompatible but their relative contributions are not known.

In rat lungs, internalized lipid plus protein labels are found in a lamellar body fraction that is relatively heavy on sucrose density centrifugation (dense lamellar bodies), while a less dense fraction (light lamellar bodies) is enriched in labeled lipid.¹⁰⁴ These results can be interpreted as reflecting two populations of lamellar bodies, a lighter population (possible containing newly synthesized lipid) and a denser population (possibly containing recycled lipid and protein),^{105,106} but it is difficult to distinguish this concept from possible loss of protein components during lamellar body isolation.

Clearance of Surfactant-Associated Proteins

SP-A Clearance

The role of SP-A in the clearance of lipids from the alveolar space is described above. The proposed mechanism is endocytosis of the SP-A:DPPC complex following its binding to a type II cell membrane receptor for SP-A. This process, of course, would also result in SP-A internalization. Both DPPC and SP-A can be taken up individually by isolated type II cells but, based on estimated binding affinity and their respective concentrations, it is unlikely that free SP-A (i.e., without associated DPPC) exists in the alveolar space.

Clearance of SP-A and DPPC has been compared in several types of experiments. The ratio of SP-A to DPPC clearance by isolated perfused rat lungs is similar to that in the original surfactant, suggesting that these components are internalized as a unit.⁷² In rat and

mouse lungs, clearance in vivo of reconstituted liposomes plus iodinated SP-A are similar,^{104,107} but in rabbits the rate of SP-A clearance from the air space is approximately twice that of DPPC (the half time for DPPC clearance is significantly longer in rabbits compared to mice).¹⁰⁸ SP-A is also cleared more rapidly than DPPC from dog lungs following in vivo labeling with radioactive precursors¹⁰⁹ and from lungs of preterm lambs and newborn rabbits after endotracheal instillation.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² On the other hand, type II cells in culture showed an approximately 2-fold greater rate of uptake of lipid compared with labeled protein in natural surfactant,²⁶ but this difference is likely a manifestation of decreased expression of cell membrane receptors for SP-A in cultured cells²⁷ and may not reflect the physiological condition.

A greater rate of SP-A clearance from the alveolar space after endotracheal instillation of labeled SP-A and DPPC can be explained by similar rates of uptake of the two components with greater resecretion of the lipid label. Indeed, the ratio of labeled lipid to SP-A in the secretory organelle (lamellar body) after endotracheal administration of surfactant is approximately double that of the original instillate.^{72,104} However, SP-A may be resecreted by other pathways as described below. Since the epithelial surfactant uptake system is saturable, the apparent removal rates for each component will depend on dilution of the respective SP-A and DPPC pools by the exogenous labeled material. If the SP-A pool is diluted to a lesser degree by the instilled labeled SP-A (compared to DPPC dilution of the DPPC pool), its apparent clearance rate might be greater. The kinetics are obviously complex and will require additional study for full understanding of relative clearance rates for these major surfactant components.

Mechanism of SP-A Uptake

SP-A uptake by the type II cell appears to occur through receptor mediated endocytosis and, therefore, the nature of the receptor and its affinity for SP-A are of interest. As described above, recent studies provide evidence for at least one and possibly two or three binding proteins for SP-A on type II cell membranes;⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰ continuing investigations will likely precisely define the molecular characteristics and relationships among these candidate "receptors" in the near future. Using immunogold techniques, SP-A binding was localized to coated pits on the surface of type II cells²⁸ suggesting clustering of SP-A receptors in those sites. Thus, uptake of SP-A by the cells is apparently mediated through the classical pathway of binding to a receptor and endocytosis via clathrin-coated pits.⁸² Receptor binding by SP-A is mediated through its noncollagenous, carbohydrate recognition domain at the C terminus.^{71,113}

SP-A binding to the receptor on isolated type II cells is saturable at an SP-A concentration of about 1-5 μ g/ml.^{86,113} The number of binding sites is sensitive to culture conditions and is increased approximately 5-fold in cells cultured on microporous membranes as compared with plastic dishes.⁸⁶ SP-A binding is greater in the presence of phospholipids, possibly related to conformational changes in either SP-A or in the membrane receptor.²⁷ The number of binding sites approximately doubled when cells were exposed briefly (about 20 minutes) to a β -adrenergic agonist or PKC activator, suggesting recruitment of an intracellular pool of "receptors" to the cell surface.⁸⁶ This could be the mechanism for the secretagogue-mediated increase in SP-A uptake by perfused rat lung and cultured rat type II cells.^{26,72}

Intracellular Processing of Internalized SP-A

The pathway for intracellular trafficking of SP-A following internalization by type II cells appears to follow the expected route for receptor mediated endocytosis,⁸² although none of the studies with lung have been definitive. Using colloidal gold or ¹²⁵I radioautographic techniques to follow SP-A, the label associated with clathrin coated pits on the cell membrane appears to move rapidly (within 2-5 minutes) to clathrin coated and then uncoated vesicles, within 15 minutes to multi-vesicular bodies (MVB) and finally to lamellar bodies.^{25,28,30,114} There is significant transfer of labeled SP-A to lamellar bodies in rat lungs within 2 hours following its endotracheal instillation,²⁵ whereas the process is slower in isolated type II cell cultures. The latter most likely represents alteration of normal intracellular trafficking by cell culture conditions. For example, with type II cells cultured on plastic, significant labeling of lamellar bodies with SP-A-bound colloidal gold label is not observed,²⁸ while 20% of lamellar bodies in cells cultured on a polylysine coated surface are labeled during the first hour.³⁰ Immunofluorescence studies show colocalization of SP-A and a lysosomal protein in cells cultured on plastic but a different pattern for cells grown on a more physiologic matrix.²⁹ Forms representing apparent fusion between MVB and lamellar bodies are prominent on ultrastructural analysis of type II cells. However, the precise role of MVB has not been defined since autoradiography of intact rat lung failed to demonstrate time-dependent appearance of alveolar ¹²⁵I-SP-A in these organelles.²⁵ Further, the relationship between electron lucent MVB as possible transfer organelles and electron dense MVB as possible degradative organelles has not been resolved.²⁵

At 2 hours of isolated lung perfusion following endotracheal instillation of biosynthesized radiolabeled surfactant, subcellular fractionation showed a ratio of protein to lipid accumulation in the lamellar bodies that was about 50% of the ratio of material bound to the plasma membrane; the ratio of material bound to plasma membranes was similar to the original surfactant.⁷² A similar disparity between endocytosed DPPC and SP-A in lamellar bodies is observed in rats in vivo using liposomes reconstituted with iodinated SP-A obtained from alveolar proteinosis patients¹⁰⁴ and, in rabbits, using iodinated rabbit SP-A.¹⁰⁸ These results indicate at least partial dissociation of the lipid:protein complex after internalization with subsequent differential targeting of the two surfactant components. While the "free" lipid may be preferentially targeted to a degradative organelle (e.g., lysosomes) as suggested by the high rate of DPPC degradation, the pathway for "free" SP-A has not been determined. The low ratio of labeled protein to lipid in lamellar bodies is evidence against targeting of excess SP-A to this organelle. Current evidence suggests that SP-A is not measurably degraded by type II cells.¹¹⁵ Preferential targeting of iodinated SP-A (possibly degraded) to the Golgi has been suggested, although the total flux to this compartment is small.²⁵ These results suggest an endosomal storage pool for internalized SP-A which has yet to be identified. The putative storage process is likely a prelude to resecretion, perhaps through a constitutive secretory pathway. This process, i.e., recycling from the milieu to endosomes and back, has been termed retroendocytosis and has been described for other carrier proteins116,117 but not as yet for SP-A.

SP-A Metabolism and Alveolar Macrophages

While uptake and recycling represent the primary fate of SP-A, it is also degraded in the lung, but at a significantly slower rate than DPPC. SP-A fragments have been identified in rat and rabbit lungs 1-4 hours after endotracheal instillation of iodinated SP-A.^{104,118} In the isolated perfused rat lung, only 2% of internalized surfactant protein is degraded to trichloroacetic acid-soluble components compared with 10% degradation of phospholipid during a 2 hour study period.⁷² In vitro, alveolar macrophages are capable of SP-A degradation,^{56,115} a process that can be upregulated significantly by simple overnight culture on plastic dishes.⁵⁷ These cells show Ca²⁺-dependent binding of SP-A through a receptor (210 kDa) that may be identical to a type II cell membrane SP-A receptor.^{80,119} The binding protein on alveolar macrophage is not present on macrophages isolated from other sites.¹²⁰ Freshly isolated rat alveolar macrophages degrade approximately 50% of internalized iodinated SP-A during a 3 hour continuous incubation, while isolated type II cells have markedly

lower rates of degradation which could be due entirely to macrophage contamination of the preparation.¹¹⁵ Therefore, macrophages appear to be the primary cell for SP-A degradation in the lung. It is possible that macrophages primarily degrade SP-A that has been modified from its native state, as would occur with iodination of protein. Thus, protein modified in vivo, by oxidation or other alterations related to repeated cycling in and out of the cell, could be a target for removal by macrophages. These alterations would have to be subtle, since biosynthesized and iodinated SP-A are handled by the lung in a grossly similar fashion.¹⁰⁸ Of note, macrophages lavaged from the lungs of rabbits following endotracheal instillation of iodinated SP-A contain little of the label.¹⁰⁸ Thus, the role of alveolar macrophages in the normal turnover of SP-A remains undefined.

Clearance of Hydrophobic Surfactant Proteins

There is relatively limited information concerning the clearance of the hydrophobic surfactant proteins. Iodinated SP-B instilled into the lungs of rabbits is cleared with a half time of 7 hours, similar to that for SP-A but more rapid than that for DPPC (11 hours).¹²¹ However, the half time for clearance of ¹²⁵I-SP-B in mice is 14 hours vs. 8-9 hours for DPPC and 6 hours for SP-A.^{42,107} The caveats described above for the role of pool sizes in analysis of relative rates of SP-A vs. DPPC clearance apply here as well. As an example, clearance of SP-B (as well as SP-A and SP-C) in neonatal rabbits is similar to that for DPPC between 2 and 4 hours after endotracheal instillation of surfactant, although the uptake during the initial 2 hours is greater for each of the proteins.¹¹² At best, it can be concluded that SP-B turnover is rapid and comparable to the other major surfactant components.

Electron microscopic autoradiography demonstrated binding of labeled SP-B to the plasma membrane of isolated type II cells which is independent of coated pits.¹²² Thus, unlike SP-A, uptake of SP-B may not involve clathrin. Protein endocytosis through nonclathrin pathways has been demonstrated in nonlung cultured cell lines and appears to result in delivery to the same endosomes as for endocytosis through coated pits.¹²³ Binding of iodinated SP-B to type II cells is saturable, suggesting the presence of a cell membrane receptor for the protein,¹²⁴ although this putative "receptor" has not yet been identified. Internalization of labeled SP-B by type II cells through endosomes to lamellar bodies was demonstrated.¹²² SP-B accumulates in lamellar bodies proportionately to DPPC,¹²¹ in contrast to SP-A where, as described above, the ratio of accumulation is about half that of DPPC. Also in contrast to SP-A, approximately 20% of the iodinated SP-B internalized during a 4 hour incubation is degraded by type II cells, as well as by alveolar macrophages.¹²⁵ How the clearance kinetics for SP-A and SP-B relate to the observed differences in uptake and metabolism of these proteins in vitro remains to be determined.

Study of recombinant iodinated SP-C has demonstrated clearance from the alveoli and transfer to lamellar bodies with a time course similar to that for DPPC in adult rats,^{126,127} while biosynthesized SP-C is cleared from alveoli at a slightly greater rate than that observed for DPPC in neonatal rabbits.¹²⁸ The difficulties related to SP-C assay and lack of satisfactory antibodies for the mature peptide (see chapter 5) have hampered studies of SP-C turnover.

Summary and Future Directions

The cellular turnover and processing of lung surfactant components is certainly complex. Based on current evidence, the major clearance pathways for SP-A and DPPC would appear to occur through the following steps (Fig. 8.6):

1. Binding of an SP-A:DPPC complex to a membrane SP-A receptor localized to the clathrin-coated pit of type II cells. This is the receptor-mediated endocytosis pathway.



Fig. 8.6. Schematic representation of pathways for uptake of SP-A and DPPC by type II cells. These pathways are described in the text.

- 2. Internalization of the SP-A:DPPC complex and the SP-A receptor into a coated vesicle and then to an endosomal compartment where the receptor is dissociated for return to the cell surface.
- 3. Processing of endosomal SP-A:DPPC is a branch-point in the clearance pathways. The SP-A:DPPC complex can be processed in two ways: (a) Dissociation of the complex with transfer of SP-A to vesicles for resecretion (retroendocytosis) and transfer of DPPC to lysosomes; (b) Transfer of the complex to lamellar bodies for resecretion (recycling).
- 4. DPPC in the lysosomes is degraded by a Ca²⁺-independent 26 kDa PLA₂ that is regulated by SP-A.
- 5. A second pathway also functions in DPPC uptake. DPPC binds to the type II cell membrane (at sites of inserted lamellar body membrane?) with internalization by actin-dependent cell-membrane retrieval pathways. Internalized DPPC is directed to lysosomes for degradation (or possibly to lamellar bodies for resecretion).
- 6. Components of degraded DPPC are "reutilized" by the cellular synthetic processes, including the resynthesis of DPPC, and its transfer to lamellar bodies.
- 7. "Damaged" SP-A is cleared by alveolar macrophages via a cell membrane receptor and degraded (not shown in Fig. 8.6).

Is the above scheme fact or fancy? Probably some of both. It should be apparent from the foregoing that the evidence in many important areas is fragmentary or inconclusive so that the synthesis presented in Figure 8.6 represents largely "one man's opinion." Key questions remain, notably regarding the mechanisms for intracellular sorting of endocytosed material and the mechanisms for coordinating secretion and removal pathways. Furthermore, this chapter has not addressed a very basic question: Why is surfactant turnover so rapid? A logical possibility is to remove "damaged" and restore "normal" components. Another possibility is that rapid turnover is the most efficient means to maintain the normal extracellular concentration of surfactant. These questions remain for future experimentation. However, the indisputable fact is that the lung alveolar type II epithelial cell plays in the major leagues of cell biology.

Acknowledgments

Many colleagues have contributed to the formation of ideas and conduct of research that are described in this chapter and I am grateful to them all. I especially thank Chandra Dodia, Jonathan Held, Elaine Primerano and Susan Turbitt for their support in the preparation of the manuscript and Drs. Sandra Bates and Henry Shuman for our continued scientific interactions and their valuable suggestions.

References

- 1. Fisher AB, Chander A. Intracellular processing of surfactant lipids in the lung. Annu Rev Physiol 1985; 47:789-802.
- 2. Wright JR, Clements JA Metabolism and turnover of lung surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:426-444.
- 3. Wright JR. Clearance and recycling of pulmonary surfactant. Am J Physiol 1990; 259:L1-L12.
- 4. Wright JR, Dobbs LG. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant secretion and clearance. Annu Rev Physiol 1991; 53:395-414.
- 5. Jobe A, Rider ED. Catabolism and recycling of surfactant. Robertson B, van Golde LMG, Batenburg JJ, eds. In: Pulmonary Surfactant. New York: Elsevier, 1992:313-337.
- 6. Nicholas TE. Control of turnover of alveolar surfactant. News Physiol Sci 1993; 8:12-18.
- 7. Tierney DF, Clements JA, Trahan D. Rates of replacement of lecithins and alveolar instability in rat lungs. Am J Physiol 1967; 213:671-676.
- Thomas TJ, Rhoades RA. Incorporation of palmitate-1-¹⁴C into lung tissue and "alveolar" lecithin. Am J Physiol 1970; 219:1535-1538.
- 9. Spitzer HL, Norman JR. The biosynthesis and turnover of surfactant lecithin and protein. Arch Intern Med 1971; 127:429-435.
- 10. Toshima N, Akino T, Ohno K. Turnover time of lecithin in lung tissue and alveolar wash of rat. Tohoku J Exp Med 1972; 108:265-277.
- 11. Jobe A. The labeling and biological half-life of phosphatidylcholine in subcellular fractions of rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1977; 489:440-453.
- 12. Jobe A, Kirkpatrick E, Gluck L. Labeling of phospholipids in the surfactant and subcellular fractions of rabbit lung. J Biol Chem 1978; 253:3810-3816.
- 13. Hallman M, Epstein BL, Gluck L. Analysis of labeling and clearance of lung surfactant phospholipids in rabbit. Evidence of bi-directional surfactant flux between lamellar bodies and alveolar lavage. J Clin Invest 1981; 68:742-751.
- 14. Jacobs H, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. Surfactant phosphatidylcholine source, fluxes, and turnover times in 3-day-old, 10-day-old, and adult rabbits. J Biol Chem 1982; 257:1805-1810.
- 15. Gross NJ, Barnes E, Narine KR. Recycling of surfactant in black and beige mice: Pool sizes and kinetics. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64:2017-2025.
- Zilversmit DB, Entenman C, Fishler MC. On the calculation of "turnover time" and "turnover rate" from experiments involving the use of labeling agents. J Gen Physiol 1943; 26:325-331.
- 17. Baritussio AG, Magoon MW, Goerke J et al. Precursor product relationship between rabbit type 2 cell lamellar bodies and alveolar surface active material: Surfactant turnover time. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 666:382-393.
- Young SL, Kremers SA, Apple JS et al. Rat lung surfactant kinetics: Biochemical and morphometric correlation. J Appl Physiol 1981; 51:248-253.

- 19. Jacobs HC, Ikegami M, Jobe AH et al. Reutilization of surfactant phosphatidylcholine in adult rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 837:77-84.
- Wright JR, Wager RE, Hamilton RL et al. Uptake of lung surfactant subfractions into lamellar bodies of adult rabbit lungs. J Appl Physiol 1986; 60:817-825.
- Oyarzun MJ, Clements JA, Baritussio A. Ventilation enhances pulmonary alveolar clearance of radioactive dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine in liposomes. Am Rev Respir Dis 1980; 121:709-721.
- 22. Morimoto Y, Adachi Y. Pulmonary uptake of liposomal phosphatidylcholine upon intratracheal administration to rats. Chem Pharm Bull 1982; 30:2248-2251.
- 23. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A. Beta-adrenergic mediators increase pulmonary retention of instilled phospholipids. J Appl Physiol 1985; 59:743-748.
- 24. Oguchi K, Ikegami M, Jacobs H et al. Clearance of large amounts of natural surfactants and liposomes of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine from the lungs of rabbits. Exper Lung Res 1985; 9:221-235.
- 25. Young SL, Fram EK, Larson E et al. Recycling of surfactant lipid and apoprotein-A studied by electron microscopic autoradiography. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L19-L26.
- 26. Chinoy MR, Dodia C, Fisher AB. Increased surfactant internalization of rat type II cells cultured on microporous membranes. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L300-L307.
- Bates SR, Dodia C, Fisher AB. Surfactant protein A regulates uptake of pulmonary surfactant by lung type II cells on microporous membranes. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L753-L760.
- 28. Ryan RM, Morris RE, Rice WR et al. Binding and uptake of pulmonary surfactant protein (SP-A) by pulmonary type II epithelial cells. J Histochem Cytochem 1989; 37:429-440.
- 29. Gibson KF, Widnell CC. The relationship between lamellar bodies and lysosomes in type II pneumocytes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4:504-513.
- 30. Kalina M, McCormack FX, Crowley H et al. Internalization of surfactant protein A (SP-A) into lamellar bodies of rat alveolar type II cells in vitro. J Histochem Cytochem 1993; 41:57-70.
- 31. Desai R, Tetley TD, Curtis CG et al. Studies on the fate of pulmonary surfactant in the lung. Biochem J 1978; 176:455-462.
- 32. Fisher AB, Dodia, C, Chander A. Degradation and reutilization of alveolar phosphatidylcholine by rat lungs. J Appl Physiol 1987; 62:2295-2299.
- 33. Moxley MA, Jacoby J, Longmore WJ. Uptake and reutilization of surfactant phospholipids by type II cells of isolated perfused lung. Am J Physiol 1991; 260:L268-L273.
- Jacobs HC, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. The significance of reutilization of surfactant phosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem 1983; 258:4159-4165.
- 35. Lewis RW, Harwood JL, Richards RJ. A method for preparing radiolabelled rat pulmonary surfactant. Biochem J 1986; 235:75-79.
- Jacobs H, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. Route of incorporation of alveolar palmitate and choline into surfactant phosphatidylcholine in rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 752:178-181.
- 37. Ikegami M, Jobe A, Duane G. Liposomes of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine associate with natural surfactant. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 835:352-359.
- 38. Horowitz AD, Moussavian B, Whitsett JA. Roles of SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in modulation of lipid uptake by pulmonary epithelial cells in vitro. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L69-L79.
- Chander A, Claypool WD, Strauss J et al. Uptake of liposomal phosphatidylcholine by isolated rat granular pneumocytes in primary culture. Am J Physiol 1983; 245:C397-C404.
- 40. Geiger K, Gallagher M, Hedley-White J. Cellular distribution and clearance of aerosolized dipalmitoyl lecithin. J Appl Physiol 1975; 39:759.
- 41. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A. Secretagogues for lung surfactant increase lung uptake of alveolar phospholipids. Am J Physiol 1989; 257:L248-L252.
- 42. Ikegami M, Korfhagen TR, Bruno MD et al. Surfactant metabolism in surfactant protein A-deficient mice. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:L479-L485.
- 43. Pettenazzo A, Jobe A, Humme J et al. Clearance of surfactant phosphatidylcholine via the upper airways in rabbits. J Appl Physiol 1988; 65:2151-2155.
- 44. Tarpey MM, O'Brodovich HM, Young SL. Role of lymphatics in removal of sheep lung surfactant lipid. J Appl Physiol 1983; 54:984-988.

- 45. Davis PA, Gunther RA, Cross CE. Clearance of instilled surfactant lipid from the lungs of unanesthetized sheep: Lipids are differentially transported by nonlymphatic pathways. J Lab & Clin Med 1987; 109:191-200.
- 46. Miles PR, Castranova V, Bowman L. Catabolism of rat surfactant disaturated phosphatidylcholines during incubation of alveolar lavage materials in vitro at 37°C. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 836:39-44.
- 47. Lewis RW, Harwood JL, Richards RJ. The fate of instilled pulmonary surfactant in normal and quartz-treated rats. Biochem J 1987; 243:679-685.
- 48. Lindahl M, von Schenck HM, Tagesson C. Isolation and characterization of phospholipase A₂ from rat lung with affinity chromatography and two dimensional gel electrophoresis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1005:282-288.
- 49. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A. Inhibition of lung calcium-independent phospholipase A₂ by surfactant protein A. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L335-L341.
- 50. Fisher AB, Dodia C. Regulation of surfactant metabolism: Degradation of internalized alveolar phosphatidylcholine. Prog Respir Res 1994; 27:74-83.
- 51. Jacobs H, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. Reutilization of phosphatidylcholine analogues by the pulmonary surfactant system. The lack of specificity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984; 793:300-309.
- 52. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A et al. A competitive inhibitor of phospholipase A₂ decreases surfactant phosphatidylcholine degradation by the rat lung. Biochem J 1992; 288:407-411.
- 53. Nichols BA. Normal rabbit alveolar macrophages. I. The phagocytosis of tubular myelin. J Exp Med 1976; 144:906-919.
- 54. Stern N, Riklis S, Kalina M et al. The catabolism of lung surfactant by alveolar macrophages. Biochim Biophys Acta 1986; 877:323-333.
- 55. Miles PR, Ma JYC, Bowman L. Degradation of pulmonary surfactant disaturated phosphatidylcholines by alveolar macrophages. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64:2474-2481.
- 56. Wright JR, Youmans DC. Degradation of surfactant lipids and surfactant protein A by alveolar macrophages in vitro. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L772-L780.
- 57. Bates SR, Xu J, Dodia C et al. Macrophages primed by overnight culture demonstrate a marked stimulation of surfactant protein A degradation. Am J Physiol 1997; 273:L831-L839.
- 58. Randell SH, Mercer RR, Young SL. Neonatal hyperoxia alters the pulmonary alveolar and capillary structure of 40-day-old rats. Am J Pathol 1990; 136:1259-1266.
- 59. Rider ED, Ikegami M, Jobe AH. Localization of alveolar surfactant clearance in rabbit lung cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L201-L209.
- 60. Niden AH. Bronchiolar and large alveolar cell in pulmonary phospholipid metabolism. Science 1967; 158:1323-1324.
- 61. Williams MC. Endocytosis in alveolar type II cells: Effect of charge and size of tracers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81:6054-6058.
- 62. Corrin B. Phagocytic potential of pulmonary alveolar epithelium with particular reference to surfactant metabolism. Thorax 1971; 25:110-115.
- 63. Tsao FH. Specific transfer of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine in rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1980; 601:415-426.
- 64. Fisher AB, Chander A, Reicherter J. Uptake and degradation of natural surfactant by isolated rat granular pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1987; 253:C792-C796.
- 65. Chinoy MR, Fisher AB, Shuman H. Confocal imaging of time-dependant internalization and localization of NBD-PC in intact rat lungs. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L713-L721.
- 66. Griese M, Gobran LI, Rooney SA. Surfactant lipid uptake and secretion in type II cells in response to lectins and secretagogues. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:L434-L442.
- 67. Muller WJ, Zen K, Fisher AB et al. Pathways for uptake of fluorescently labeled liposomes by alveolar type II cells in culture. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L11-L19.
- 68. Wright JR, Wager RE, Hawgood S et al. Surfactant apoprotein $M_r = 26,000-36,000$ enhances uptake of liposomes by type II cells. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:2888-2894.
- 69. Rice WR, Sarin VK, Fox JL et al. Surfactant peptides stimulate uptake of phosphatidylcholine by isolated cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1006:235-245.

- Tsuzuki A, Kuroki Y, Akino T. Pulmonary surfactant protein A-mediated uptake of phosphatidylcholine by alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L193-L199.
- 71. McCormack FX, Kuroki Y, Stewart JJ et al. Surfactant protein A amino acids Glu195 and Arg197 are essential for receptor binding, phospholipid aggregation, regulation of secretion, and the facilitated uptake of phospholipid by type II cells. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:29801-29807.
- 72. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A. Alveolar uptake of lipid and protein components of surfactant. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:L334-L340.
- Kuroki Y, Akino T. Pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) specifically binds dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:3068-3073.
- Kuroki Y, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Pulmonary surfactant apoprotein A structure and modulation of surfactant secretion by rat alveolar type II cells. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:3388-3394.
- 75. Claypool WD, Wang DL, Chander A et al. An ethanol/ether soluble apoprotein from rat lung surfactant augments liposome uptake by isolated granular pneumocytes. J Clin Invest 1984; 74:677-684.
- 76. Bates SR, Ibach PB, Fisher AB. Phospholipids co-isolated with rat surfactant protein C account for the apparent protein-enhanced uptake of liposomes into lung granular pneumocytes. Exp Lung Res 1989; 15:695-708.
- 77. Kuroki Y, Shiratori M, Ogasawara Y et al. Interaction of phospholipid liposomes with plasma membrane isolated from alveolar type II cells: Effect of pulmonary surfactant protein A. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1281:53-59.
- Strayer DS. Identification of a cell membrane protein that binds alveolar surfactant. Am J Pathol 1991; 138:1085-1095.
- 79. Stevens PA, Wissel H, Sieger D et al. Identification of a new surfactant protein A binding protein at the cell membrane of rat type II pneumocytes. Biochem J 1995; 308:77-81.
- 80. Chroneos ZC, Abdolrasulnia R, Whitsett JA et al. Purification of a cell-surface receptor for surfactant protein A. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:16375-16383.
- Wissel H, Looman AC, Fritzsche I et al. SP-A binding protein BP55 is involved in surfactant endocytosis by type II pneumocytes. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L432-L440.
- Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Anderson RG et al. Receptor-mediated endocytosis: Concepts emerging from the LDL receptor system. Annu Rev Cell Biol 1985; 1:1-39.
- 83. Nicholas TE, Power JH, Barr HA. Surfactant homeostasis in the rat lung during swimming exercise. J Appl Physiol 1982; 53:1521-1528.
- Pettenazzo A, Ikegami M, Seidner S et al. Clearance of surfactant phosphatidylcholine from adult rabbit lungs. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64:120-127.
- 85. Pettenazzo A, Jobe A, Ikegami M et al. Clearance of phosphatidylcholine and cholesterol from liposomes loaded with metaproterenol and rabbit surfactant from adult rabbit lungs. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 139:752-758.
- 86. Chen Q, Bates SR, Fisher AB. Secretagogues increase the expression of surfactant protein A receptors on lung type II cells. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:25277-25283.
- 87. Jacobs HC, Jobe AH, Ikegami M et al. Reutilization of phosphatidylglycerol and phosphatidylethanolamine by the pulmonary surfactant system in 3 day old rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1985; 834:172-179.
- 88. Jacobs HC, Lima DM, Fiascone JM et al. Reutilization of surfactant phosphatidylglycerol and lysophosphatidylcholine by adult rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 962:227-233.
- 89. Chander A, Reicherter J, Fisher AB. Degradation of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine by isolated rat granular pneumocytes and reutilization for surfactant synthesis. J Clin Invest 1987; 79:1133-1138.
- 90. Fisher AB, Dodia C. Role of phospholipase A₂ enzymes in degradation of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine by granular pneumocytes. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:1057-1064.
- 91. Fisher AB, Chander A, Dodia C. Modulation of lung surfactant clearance. Prog Respir Res 1990; 25:149-157.
- 92. Fisher AB, Dodia C, Chander A et al. Transport of choline by plasma membrane vesicles from lung-derived epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263: C1250-C1257.

- 93. Kleinzeller A, Dodia C, Chander A et al. The Na⁺-dependent and Na⁺-independent systems of choline transport by plasma membrane vesicles of the A549 lung cell line. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:C1279-C1287.
- 94. Rider ED, Ikegami M, Jobe AH. Intrapulmonary catabolism of surfactant-saturated phosphatidylcholine in rabbits. J Appl Physiol 1990; 69:1856-1862.
- 95. Dennis EA. Diversity of group types, regulation, and function of phospholipase A₂. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:13057-13060.
- 96. Neagos GR, Feyssa A, Peters-Golden M. Phospholipase A₂ in alveolar type 2 epithelial cells: Biochemical and immunologic characterization. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L261-L268.
- 97. Ackermann EJ, Dennis EA. Mammalian calcium-independent phospholipase A₂. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1259:125-136.
- Ohta M, Hasegawa H, Ohno K. Calcium independent phospholipase A₂ activity in rat lung supernatant. Biochim Biophys Acta 1972; 280:552-558.
- 99. Heath MF, Jacobson W. Phospholipases A₁ and A₂ in lamellar inclusion bodies of the alveolar epithelium of rabbit lung. Biochim Biophys Acta 1976; 441:443-452.
- 100. Chander A, Fisher AB, Strauss JF. Role of an acidic compartment in synthesis of disaturated phosphatidylcholine by rat granular pneumocytes. Biochem J 1982; 208:651-658.
- 101. Kim T-S, Sundaresh CS, Feinstein SI et al. Identification of a human cDNA clone for lysosomal-type Ca⁺⁺-independent phospholipase A₂ and properties of the expressed protein. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:2542-2550.
- 102. Chander A, Johnson RG, Reicherter J et al. Lung lamellar bodies maintain an acidic internal pH. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:6126-6131.
- 103. Rider ED, Pinkerton KE, Jobe AH. Characterization of rabbit lung lysosomes and their role in surfactant dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine catabolism. J Biol Chem 1991; 266:22522-22528.
- 104. Young SL, Wright JR, Clements J. Cellular uptake and processing of surfactant lipids and apoprotein SP-A by rat lung. J Appl Physiol 1989; 66:1336-1342.
- 105. Magoon MW, Wright JR, Baritussio A et al. Subfractionation of lung surfactant: Implications for metabolism and surface activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983; 750:18-31.
- 106. Doyle IR, Barr HA, Davidson KG et al. Differential changes in SP-A and disaturated phospholipids in the isolated perfused rat lung and in vivo. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L374-L382.
- 107. Ikegami M, Ueda T, Hull W et al. Surfactant metabolism in transgenic mice after granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor ablation. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L650-L658.
- 108. Ueda T, Ikegami M, Jobe AH. Clearance of surfactant protein A from rabbit lungs. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:89-94.
- 109. King RJ, Martin H, Mitts D et al. Metabolism of the apoproteins in pulmonary surfactant. J Appl Physiol 1977; 42:483-491.
- 110. Ikegami M, Lewis JF, Tabor B et al. Surfactant protein A metabolism in preterm ventilated lambs. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L765-L772.
- 111. Ikegami M, Ueda T, Purtell J et al. Surfactant protein A labeling kinetics in newborn and adult rabbits. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:413-418.
- 112. Baritussio A, Alberti A, Quaglino D et al. SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in surfactant subtypes around birth: Reexamination of alveolar life cycle of surfactant. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L436-L447.
- 113. Murata Y, Kuroki Y, Akino T. Role of the C-terminal domain of pulmonary surfactant protein A in binding to alveolar type II cells and regulation of phospholipid secretion. Biochem J 1993; 291:71-76.
- 114. Kalina M, Socher R. Internalization of pulmonary surfactant into lamellar bodies of the cultured rat pulmonary type II cells. J Histochem Cytochem 1990; 38:483-492.
- 115. Bates SR, Fisher AB. Surfactant protein A is degraded by alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L258-L266.
- 116. Aulinskas TH, van der Westhuyzen DR, Bierman EL et al. Retro-endocytosis of low density lipoprotein by cultured bovine aortic smooth muscle cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981; 66:255-265.

- 117. Ghosh RN, Gelman DL, Maxfield FR. Quantification of low density lipoprotein and transferrin endocytic sorting HEp2 cells using confocal microscopy. J Cell Sci 1994; 107:2177-2189.
- 118. Snyder JM, Rodgers HF, Nielsen HC et al. Uptake of the 35 kDa major surfactant apoprotein (SP-A) by neonatal rabbit lung tissue. Biochim Biophys Acta 1988; 1002:1-7.
- 119. Chroneos Z, Shepherd VL. Differential regulation of the mannose and SP-A receptors on macrophages. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L721-L726.
- 120. Ohmer-Schrock D, Schlatterer C, Plattner H et al. Interaction of lung surfactant protein A with alveolar macrophages. Microscopy Research and Technique 1993; 26:374-380.
- 121. Ueda T, Ikegami M, Henry M et al. Clearance of surfactant protein B from rabbit lungs. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L636-L641.
- 122. Breslin JS, Weaver TE. Binding, uptake and localization of surfactant protein B by isolated rat alveolar type 2 cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:L699-L707.
- 123. Hansen SH, Sandvig K, van Deurs B. Molecules internalized by clathrin-independent endocytosis are delivered to endosomes containing transferrin receptors. J Cell Biol 1993; 123:89-97.
- 124. Bates SR, Beers MF, Fisher AB. Binding and uptake of surfactant protein B by alveolar type 2 cells. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L333-L341.
- 125. Bates SR, Fisher AB. Degradation of surfactant protein B by alveolar type II cells. Am J Physiol 1993; 265:L448-L455.
- 126. Baritussio A, Pettenazzo A, Beneverito M et al. Surfactant protein C is recycled from the alveoli to lamellar bodies. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L607-L611.
- 127. Pinto RA, Wright JR, Lesikar D et al. Uptake of pulmonary surfactant protein C into adult rat lung lamellar bodies. J Appl Physiol 1993; 74:1005-1011.
- 128. Baritussio A, Benevento A, Pettenazzo A et al. The life cycle of a low molecular weight protein of surfactant (SP-C) in 3 day old rabbits. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 1006:19-25.

Host Defense Functions of Surfactant

Jo Rae Wright

In addition to reducing surface tension at the air-liquid interface (see chapter 1), surfactant also plays an important role in regulating host defense and inflammation in the lung. Although investigations of the host defense functions of surfactant began over twenty years ago, the field was not of major interest until two relatively recent developments. First, two of the surfactant proteins, surfactant protein A (SP-A) and surfactant protein D (SP-D), were found to be collectins—a family of proteins located in both the lung and the blood that serve as important host defense molecules (see below). Second, the introduction of surfactant replacement therapy for treatment of premature infants suffering from respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) has resulted in a growing awareness that such therapy may have multiple actions in the lung.

The goal of this chapter is to review the current literature on the host defense functions of surfactant. A rationale will be presented for these potential functions, important issues related to studies on host defense will be discussed and a summary of the effects of surfactant on a variety of immune cell functions will follow. The changes in the levels of surfactant components that have been documented in various disease states will be summarized, and a general model for a role of surfactant in host defense will be presented in conclusion.

A Rationale for Host Defense Functions of Surfactant

What is the rationale for proposing or investigating the possibility that surfactant may regulate immune cell function? The literature indicates that many of the early studies from the 1970s investigating the effects of surfactant on alveolar macrophage function were motivated by the fact that surfactant and macrophages exist in close physical proximity in the alveolar hypophase, which is the thin layer of liquid that covers the alveolar epithelium. It has been proposed that the existence of a local defense system in the lung would be highly beneficial since an enormous number of particles and pathogens are likely to be inhaled during normal breathing¹ and deposited onto the thin, delicate lung epithelium. Damage to this epithelium, which can occur if the inflammatory cascade spirals out of control, often leads to flooding of the alveolar space with serum components and a resultant impairment of gas exchange. Thus, a fast, local, well controlled host defense response in the lung seems beneficial.

Further rationale for the involvement of surfactant in the immune response has been supported by the observation that SP-A is structurally homologous to C1q,² the first component of the complement cascade, and the recent categorization of surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D as collectins.³ Collectins are identified by an N-terminal collagen-like (col-) domain and a C-terminal lectin-like domain (-lectin) (reviewed in refs. 4, 5). In addition to SP-A and SP-D, this family includes the serum mannose binding protein (MBP) and two proteins that have thus far been identified only in the sera of cows, collectin-43 and conglutinin (see Fig. 9.1).

The collectins and the complement proteins are all involved in innate^{6,7} (nonantibody mediated) host defense. Innate immunity differs from adaptive (antibody-mediated) immunity in several ways. First, innate immunity is not improved by repeated infection; in adaptive immunity antibody levels are elevated by repeated infection. Second, the effector cells of the adaptive immune system are T lymphocytes; the effector cells of the innate immune system are phagocytic cells including macrophages and monocytes.⁸ Finally, the innate immune system is generally regarded as a rapid, first line of defense, in which pathogens are opsonized or coated by a protein opsonin and targeted for uptake and killing by the phagocytic cell.

The finding that low levels of serum MBP correlate with an increased and unexplained incidence of infection in children provided compelling evidence that this family of proteins may be involved in host defense (reviewed in ref. 9). The molecular basis for the opsonic defect has been traced to three point mutations in the MBP gene, all occurring in its coding region (reviewed in refs. 10-12). Although an equivalent disease of SP-A deficiency in humans has not been identified, recent studies with mice in which the SP-A gene has been ablated have shown that the SP-A deficient mice have an increased susceptibility to infection¹³ and provide strong support for an in vivo role of SP-A in host defense (discussed in detail below).

In vitro studies have shown that MBP (and surfactant proteins, see below) bind to a variety of pathogens, including bacteria and viruses, and stimulate the respiratory burst of immune cells (reviewed in refs. 4, 9). Although MBP, SP-A, and C1q are all structurally homologous, only MBP can substitute for C1q in activation of the complement pathway.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ It is interesting that the genes for human SP-A,¹⁷ MBP¹⁸ and SP-D¹⁹ are all localized on chromosome 10. That raises the possibility that these proteins may be subject to similar regulatory mechanisms.

The collectins are all highly oligomerized and bind to specific carbohydrates. For example, SP-A binds to many monosaccharides including mannose, glucose, fucose and galactose, but does not bind to amino sugars.²⁰ SP-D binds to glucose containing sugars and phosphatidylinositol (PI).²¹ The functional significance of the carbohydrate binding specificity is not clearly understood, although it has been proposed, and some data support the possibility, that the interaction of SP-A and SP-D with various pathogens and immune cells may involve their lectin-like domains.

Issues Related to the Study of Host Defense Functions of Surfactant

"Whole surfactant" is a very complex mixture of lipids, surfactant proteins, and other (e.g., serum-derived) proteins and is usually isolated by lung lavage and a series of differential or density gradient centrifugations. Many of the early studies on host defense investigated the regulatory effects of whole surfactant that was not fractionated into its separate lipid or protein components, and many of these studies generated conflicting results. Although the reasons for all of the conflicts are impossible to discern, many of them are likely related to the variable composition of the isolated surfactant used in the studies.

The studies of King and Clements in the 1970s²²⁻²⁴ rigorously defined an isolation procedure based on functional and biochemical data; however, this technique, which employs multiple differential centrifugation steps, is used relatively infrequently. Other commonly used procedures include differential centrifugation and step gradients. Depending on the technique used for lavage and isolation, the composition of surfactant, in particular the relative abundance of surfactant proteins,²⁵ can vary dramatically. Because different lipids and proteins have different effects on immune cell function, it seems likely that some of the



Fig. 9.1. Structure of the collectins and the structurally related complement component, C1q. (A) Collectins have three chains, each containing 4 distinct domains. The first domain is a short, N-terminal region involved in cysteine-mediated disulfide bond formation. The second domain is a collagen-like triple helix. The third domain is an α -helical bundle that is the 'neck' between the collagen-like domain and the fourth domain, which is the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). (B) Schematics of the oligomerized forms of SP-D, SP-A, MBP, conglutinin, collectin-43 and C1q. Figure courtesy of Drs. Hoppe and Reid, University of Oxford. Reprinted with permission of the authors and Cambridge University Press from Hoppe HJ, Reid KB. Collectins—soluble proteins containing collagenous regions and lectin domains—and their roles in innate immunity. Protein Sci 1994; 3:1143-1158.

variable results obtained with different preparations of whole surfactant may be a result of the variable composition of the surfactant preparations.

Similar issues relate to the studies using purified surfactant proteins. A variety of methods of purification are utilized by different laboratories (e.g., refs. 26-28), and it has been demonstrated that the method of purification can affect the ability of the protein to regulate immune cell function.²⁶ For example, van Iwaarden et al²⁶ compared different methods of purification of SP-A both from the therapeutic lavage of patients with alveolar proteinosis and from lavage of normal rats and dogs. The SP-A isolated from the lavage of both rats and dogs by butanol extraction, a commonly used method of purification, has impaired ability to regulate macrophage function. In contrast, SP-A isolated from alveolar proteinosis lavage is resistant to inactivation by butanol extraction and retains its ability to stimulate macrophages. SP-A purified by high pressure liquid chromatography and detergent solubilization from all three sources effectively stimulates macrophage function. These studies suggest that SP-A isolated from the lavage of normal lungs may be susceptible to inactivation by butanol and raise the concern that various methods of isolation may affect the protein's functionality. Furthermore, SP-A from alveolar proteinosis patient lavage is highly aggre-

gated,²⁹ and it has been shown that the state of aggregation of SP-A^{30,31} and SP-D³² affects their ability to stimulate immune cells.

Purified surfactant lipid and proteins may often be contaminated with endotoxin,^{33,34} the bioactive component of bacterial cell walls that causes fever and inflammation and that is a potent stimuli of immune cells.³⁵ This is perhaps not surprising since both SP-A and SP-D bind to bacteria and bacterial cell wall components (see below). Although SP-A and SP-D may be associated with endotoxin in vivo, caution must be used in interpretation of data obtained with surfactant preparations containing endotoxin. In many cases, it may be difficult to ascribe a measured response specifically to the surfactant protein or to the endotoxin, since many immunoregulatory cells are exquisitely sensitive to endotoxin. Furthermore, Kalina et al³⁶ have reported that association of SP-A with bacterial cell wall components alters the ability of SP-A to affect cell functions.

Effects of Surfactant on Phagocytosis and Clearance of Pathogens

Studies by LaForce et al³⁷ almost 25 years ago showed that surfactant increases the phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus aureus* by alveolar macrophages. Although LaForce et al were unable to show that bacterial killing is enhanced, subsequent studies by Juers et al³⁸ did demonstrate that surfactant enhances killing of *S. aureus*. Interestingly, the effect of the surfactant either enhances phagocytosis but not killing,³⁹ or it enhances neither phagocytosis nor killing,⁴⁰ whereas surfactant from rat lung lavage enhances both.³⁹ Although some of these variable effects may depend upon the species from which the surfactant was derived, many of these preparations were obtained by different techniques and purification methods and may therefore have had different compositions.

Recent studies have provided more consistent support for a role of surfactant in enhancing phagocytosis. The uptake of *S. aureus* was increased by whole surfactant and lavage fluid,^{41,42} and the enhancement in both studies was at least partially attributed to SP-A. Thus, these recent studies suggest that at least part of the ability of whole surfactant to stimulate phagocytosis is due to the SP-A component of surfactant.

In fact, many of the collectins, including SP-A and SP-D, act as opsonins by binding to the surface of particles. SP-A and SP-D have been shown to bind to a variety of pathogens (see Table 9.1), although to date only SP-A has been shown to stimulate phagocytosis. van Iwaarden and coworkers demonstrated that SP-A can act as an opsonin by binding to the surface of a bacterium and facilitating phagocytosis.⁴¹ These investigators demonstrated that whole surfactant also stimulates phagocytosis and that the effect is inhibited by an anti-SP-A antibody. These studies are significant, since it appears that the bulk of SP-A isolated by lung lavage is associated with lipid.⁴³

SP-A also increases the binding of numerous other organisms to phagocytic cells, including *Haemophilus influenza* type a (but not type b),⁴⁴ *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*,⁴⁵ *S. pneumoniae*,⁴² *S. auereus*⁴¹ and Group A streptococcus,⁴² herpes simplex virus,⁴⁶ influenza virus,⁴⁷ *Klebsiella pneumoniae*,⁴⁸ *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*^{30,49} and *Pneumocystis carinii*.^{50,51} Some studies have clearly shown that SP-A enhances phagocytosis of specific organisms (e.g., refs. 30, 42, 44, 52), but in many cases the effects of SP-A on binding or phagocytosis were not distinguished.

Additionally, there are some inconsistencies in the literature. For example, McNeely and Coonrod⁵³ reported that SP-A bound to but did not enhance the uptake of *S. auereus*, whereas Tino and Wright⁴² reported that SP-A enhanced uptake of this organism. There have been reports that SP-A both enhanced⁴⁵ and had no effect⁴² on phagocytosis of *P. aeruginosa*. One possible explanation for these apparently inconsistent findings may be found in the study of Meinz-Keinke et al⁴⁵ who reported that the effects of SP-A varied with

SP-A		Ref.
	Candida albicans	54
	Cryptococcus neoformans	61
	Group A streptococcus	42
	Haemophilus influenzae (type a)	44
	Haemophilus influenza	42
	Herpes simplex virus type I	46
	Klebsiella pneumonia	48
	Influenza Á virus	59
	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	30
	Pneumocystis carinii	50
	Salmonella minnesota	58
	Staphylococcus aureus	53, 67
	Streptococcus pneumonia	42
SP-D		Ref.
	Cryptococcus neoformans	61
	Escherichia coli	56, 57
	Influenza virus A	47
	Klebsiella pneumonia (LPS)	57
	Pneumocystis carinii	55
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	57

Table 9.1. Binding of SP-A and SP-D to pathogens

SP-A and SP-D interact with different pathogens via different mechanisms. For example, SP-A has been shown to bind to some strains of *E. coli* by interacting with lipid A, and the oligosaccharide chain of SP-A is not required for binding. In contrast, the oligosaccharide chain of SP-D is required for interaction with influenza virus.

the bacterial growth phase (e.g., log or stationary). In addition, different laboratory or clinical strains may have different affinities for SP-A. A recent study by Rousseau et al⁵⁴ showed that SP-A actually interferes with the binding of *Candida albicans* to alveolar macrophages, and under certain conditions SP-A inhibits its uptake.

Although SP-D has also been shown to bind to a variety of pathogens, it has not yet been reported that SP-D is capable of stimulating phagocytosis of these pathogens. In fact, Pikaar et al⁵² directly compared the ability of SP-A and SP-D to act as opsonins and found that both SP-A and SP-D bind and induce aggregation of a rough *Escherichia coli* strain, J5, but neither induce aggregation of a smooth strain, 0111. SP-A, but not SP-D, was shown to enhance phagocytosis in a very convincing electron microscopy study. SP-D also binds to *P. carinii*, but does not enhance its phagocytosis.⁵⁵ SP-D binds to other organisms including other rough strains of *E. coli*⁵⁶ and *S. minnesota*, as well as *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa*.^{52,57} In addition, SP-D binds with weak affinity to two smooth strains of *E. coli* that express the terminal O-antigen.⁵⁶

SP-A and SP-D appear to bind to pathogens by multiple mechanisms. For example, SP-A binds to the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) component of the cell wall of gram negative

bacteria. At least part of this binding occurs via interaction with lipid A,^{36,58} a glucosamine disaccharide with attached fatty acids that is also known as endotoxin.³⁵ SP-D does not bind to lipid A.⁵⁸ Available data suggest that SP-D interacts with *E. coli* through the core polysaccharides and/or the O-specific antigens.⁵⁶

Whether or not SP-A binds to other components of LPS, such as the terminal polysaccharides, is controversial. It has been reported that SP-A does not bind to certain smooth strains of *E. coli*⁵⁸ and it was proposed that the terminal polysaccharides block the accessibility of SP-A to lipid A. In contrast, Kalina et al³⁶ reported that SP-A binds to both smooth and rough strains of *E. coli*. Interestingly, polymyxin, an antibiotic that binds to LPS, blocks the binding of SP-A to LPS. SP-A also binds to P2, an outer membrane protein of *Haemophilus*,⁴⁴ and to gram positive organisms via an unidentified mechanism.⁴²

Both SP-A and SP-D interact, act with and affect the activity of viruses.^{46,47,59} SP-A inactivates influenza virus in vitro⁵⁹ and the interaction of SP-A with the virus appears to be medicated by the sialic acid residues on the oligosaccharide residue of SP-A. Although SP-A inhibits the ability of influenza virus A to infect a monkey kidney cell line, it is ineffective at neutralizing the structurally related influenza B virus or the mumps virus. In addition, both SP-A and SP-D inhibit hemagglutination activity,⁴⁷ although SP-D is more effective than SP-A on a weight basis. While SP-D has no demonstrated role in enhancing phagocytosis, SP-D does enhance the binding of influenza type A virus to neutrophils and modulates the virus mediated downregulation of superoxide production.⁴⁷ The degree of multimerization of SP-D correlates with its ability to inhibit neutrophil inactivation by virus.^{32,60} These interesting studies suggest that SP-A and SP-D (as well as other collectins) may enhance host defense responses by modulating the response of the immune cells without directly enhancing phagocytosis.

Several lines of evidence suggest that the mechanism by which SP-A and SP-D bind to bacteria and viruses may differ. For example, SP-A treated with endoglycosidase to remove oligosaccharides still binds LPS effectively.⁵⁸ In contrast, deglycosylated SP-A does not bind to the herpes simplex virus.⁴⁶ Because the binding of SP-D to influenza virus type A is dependent on calcium and inhibited by carbohydrates, it was concluded that the binding is mediated by the carbohydrate recognition domain.⁴⁷ Binding of SP-D to *P. carini*⁵⁵and *Cryptococcus neoformans*⁶¹ is also inhibited by carbohydrates and is calcium-dependent.⁵⁵

In addition to acting as an opsonin, SP-A can act as an activation ligand and enhance the uptake of particles coated with another opsonin, such as immunoglobulin (Ig) G.^{30,62} The relative importance of the two pathways is not known. The structural homologues of SP-A, C1q and serum MBP, also act as activation ligands.^{62,63}

It is generally assumed that the consequence of increased phagocytosis by immune cells is an increase in killing of the microorganisms (at least for nonopportunistic pathogens which often replicate inside phagocytic cells). However, relatively few studies have investigated the effects of SP-A on pathogen killing. Coonrod et al⁶⁴ have shown that there is an antibacterial activity in rat lavage fluid and that most of the activity could be attributed to phospholipids, including palmitoyl lysophospholipid. McNeely and Coonrod⁴⁴ reported that alveolar macrophages kill *H. influenza* type a (but not type b) that is opsonized with SP-A to a greater extent than unopsonized bacteria. SP-A enhances the killing of K21a strains of *K. pneumonia.*⁴⁸ Geertsma et al reported that whole surfactant inhibits,^{65,66} and that SP-A does not enhance, killing of *S. aureus* by monocytes.⁶⁷ Whether these findings reflect different cellular responsiveness is not known.

Curosurf[®] (Chiesi Farmaceutici, Parma, Italy), a replacement surfactant prepared as a chloroform/methanol extract of minced bovine lungs and containing approximately 1% surfactant protein B (SP-B) and surfactant protein C (SP-C) by weight but no detectable SP-A or SP-D, moderately decreases phagocytosis.⁶⁸

In summary, both SP-A and SP-D appear to bind to virus and bacteria, although the mechanism of binding may differ for the different organisms and the different proteins. To date, only SP-A has been clearly shown to enhance phagocytosis of bacteria (Table 9.2). In general, replacement surfactants (Table 9.3) and some surfactant lipids (Table 9.4) tend to suppress phagocytosis. Both SP-A and SP-D inhibit influenza virus type A hemagglutination activity, and SP-D is more effective than SP-A on a weight basis. Only a few studies to date have demonstrated a functional consequence of the increased phagocytosis and binding, e.g., killing of the organism. Additional studies are required to further assess the functional consequences of the increased collectin-mediated association of organisms with immune cells.

Regulation of Cell Surface Receptors and Adhesion Molecules by Surfactant

Both surfactant lipids and proteins regulate cell surface receptors. Coonrod and coworkers found that treatment with whole surfactant reduces the number of Fc receptors on macrophages and that the majority of the inhibitory effect is due to lysophospholipids and free fatty acids found in surfactant.^{64,69-71} Treatment of peritoneal macrophages with surfactant also reduces the number of complement receptors; thus, it was suggested that one reason that alveolar macrophages have few complement receptors is due to the inhibitory effects of alveolar surfactant to which they are exposed.⁷¹ Surfactant was also found to decrease Fc receptor levels on murine macrophages; much of this inhibitory effect was attributed to free fatty acids in surfactant.

Survanta[®] (Ross Laboratories, Columbus, OH), another replacement surfactant, inhibits the expression of several adhesion molecules including CD2, ICAM-1, LFA-1 and LFA-3.⁷²

Gaynor et al³⁰ reported that SP-A increases levels of uptake of *M. tuberculosis* by monocyte-derived macrophages and that this effect is abolished by an antibody against the mannose receptor, a member of the C-type lectin family, found in a variety of tissues and important in host defense against pathogens.⁷³ These interesting findings were interpreted as evidence for SP-A mediated up-regulation of the macrophage mannose receptor activity. This hypothesis is supported by the work of Kabha et al⁴⁸ which shows that SP-A increases phagocytosis of *K. pneumoniae* by two different mechanisms: opsonic phagocytosis and/or activation of macrophages resulting in an increase in activity of the mannose receptor.

Effects of Surfactant on Free Radical Production

Whole surfactant has been reported to have both stimulatory and inhibitory effects on production of free radicals. The variable composition of "purified surfactant" may account for at least part of these differences (see above). Both whole surfactant and surfactant lipids have been reported to inhibit the production of reactive oxygen species by alveolar macrophages and monocytes stimulated with zymosan and 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA).^{38,66,74} At least part of the inhibitory effect appears to be mediated by lipids, since a mixture of synthetic lipids similar to surfactant lipids inhibits chemiluminescence.³⁸ Interestingly, different individual lipids⁷⁵ have different effects. For example, dipalmitoyl-phosphatidylglycerol (DPPG) inhibits, but dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) increases, the oxidative response induced by zymosan. In contrast, Webb and Jeska⁷⁵ reported that surfactant lipids increase the production of chemiluminescence induced by latex beads. Purified unsaturated fatty acids mimic the response, and DPPC is ineffective.

Ahuja et al⁷⁶ reported that native surfactant and KL_{4} , a synthetic surfactant that contains a 21 residue peptide with surface active properties similar to those of SP-B, inhibit the TPA-stimulated respiratory burst of neutrophils. A different replacement surfactant,

Table 9.2. Effects of surfactant proteins on immune cell function

Enhance chemotaxis Enhance phagocytosis/binding Aggregate microbes Enhance killing of some bacteria Stimulate immunoglobulin production Alter lymphocyte proliferation Exhibit antibacterial activity Alter production of free radicals and cytokines

SP-A and SP-D affect a variety of immune cell functions. The table summarizes the reported effects of at least one of the surfactant proteins. In some cases, for example enhancement of phagocytosis, only one of the proteins, SP-A, is effective. In other cases the reported effects are controversial. For example, SP-A has been shown to both stimulate and inhibit lymphocyte proliferation and production of TNF- α by macrophages. See text for details and references.

Table 9.3. Effects of surfactant replacement preparations on immune cell function

Decrease phagocytosis Decrease cytokine release Inhibit lymphocyte proliferation Inhibit adhesion molecule expression Inhibit immunoglobulin production Inhibit DNA synthesis

Many of the effects of replacement surfactants can be attributed to the lipid components. See text for references and details.

Table 9.4. Effects of surfactant lipids on immune cell function

Enhance chemotaxis Increase phagocytosis Alter free radical production Alter lymphocyte proliferation

Surfactant lipids affect a variety of immune cell functions. In some cases, conflicting data have been reported. For example, surfactant lipids have been reported to both enhance and inhibit lymphocyte proliferation and free radical production. Some of these discrepancies may be due to the variable composition of the surfactant preparations used. Some specific lipids stimulate lymphocyte proliferation, whereas others inhibit proliferation. See text for details and references.

Curosurf, which contains SP-B and SP-C but no SP-A, has no effect on chemilumines-cence.⁶⁸

Both SP-A and SP-D enhance the production of free radicals by alveolar macrophages^{77,78} as measured by lucigen-dependent chemiluminescence. Weissbach et al³¹ observed that SP-A attached to a surface is more effective in enhancing free radical production than SP-A in solution. These studies suggest that SP-A that is attached to a surface (e.g., a tissue culture plate or a bacterium or virus) may have enhanced functionality compared to SP-A in solution, thus raising the possibility that SP-A associated with pathogens such as bacteria and viruses may have an enhanced ability to stimulate immune cells.

In contrast, Weber and coworkers reported that SP-A isolated from dog lavage inhibits the respiratory burst of alveolar macrophages.⁷⁹ The lack of an effect of dog SP-A may be explained by the finding that canine SP-A appears to be susceptible to inactivation or denaturation by butanol extraction, which is routinely used in SP-A purification protocols.²⁶ However, Katsura et al⁸⁰ also found that rat SP-A inhibits superoxide production stimulated with zymosan and TPA. The reasons for these different findings are not known.

In contrast, neither SP-D nor SP-D associated with influenza virus stimulate production of superoxide anion by neutrophils.⁴⁷ Furthermore, SP-A does not stimulate the production of free radicals by peripheral monocytes.³¹ These data are consistent with the possibility that different accessory cells respond differently to the surfactant proteins.

Effects of Surfactant on Chemotaxis

It has long been recognized that the postnatal influx of alveolar macrophages occurs concurrently with the intra-alveolar increase in surfactant that occurs at the same time. In order to test the possibility that surfactant induces the influx, Schwartz and Christiman⁸¹ tested bronoalveolar lavage fluid for chemotactic activity and reported that it stimulates the migration of alveolar macrophages. The active component was separated on a Sepharose column and found to have a molecular mass of approximately 5 kDa. Purified surfactant stimulates migration and polarization of monkey alveolar macrophages and monocytes in vitro and the active component has a molecular mass greater than 10 kDa.⁸² Hoffman et al⁸³ reported that a delipidated surfactant preparation increases migration of macrophages that are stimulated with endotoxin-activated serum. The data are consistent with the possibility that the active component is a protein.

Purified DPPC inhibits the directed migration of alveolar macrophages stimulated with activated serum.⁸⁴

Both SP-A and SP-D enhance cell migration. SP-A stimulates chemotaxis of alveolar macrophages and peritoneal macrophages;⁸⁵ SP-D is a potent chemoattractant for neutrophils and monocytes.⁸⁶ Although a direct comparison was not made between the two proteins, SP-D appears to be a more effect stimulant. A concentration of approximately 10-11 M SP-D (5 ng/ml) induces a degree of migration comparable to that induced by a potent chemotactic stimulus, N-formyl-met-leu-phe. SP-A is active in the range of several µg/ml. The stimulation of chemotaxis by SP-D is inhibited by maltose, suggesting that the carbohydrate recognition domain of SP-D may be involved in the response.

Curosurf does not stimulate chemotaxis directly, nor does it augment zymosan-induced chemotaxis (or generation of chemiluminescence) by peripheral blood monocytes.⁶⁸

Effects of Surfactant on Lymphocyte Proliferation

Lung lymphocytes and alveolar macrophages tend to be less responsive to mitogens than their serum counterparts. The possibility that exposure to surfactant may suppress lymphocyte function has been supported by studies in which treatment of circulating lymphocytes with surfactant results in a phenotype more typical of lung lymphocytes or alveolar macrophages.^{28,87-89} Both phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylglycerol (PG) are potent inhibitors of lymphocyte proliferation. Surfactant and isolated surfactant lipids also suppress the functions of cytotoxic T cells and antibody-forming B cells in vitro.⁹⁰

The findings of Wilsher and coworkers that some specific phospholipids stimulate and others inhibit the phytohemagglutinin (PHA)-induced proliferation of lymphocytes raises the interesting possibility that changes in lipid ratios that occur in disease states may result in altered states of lymphocyte activation.^{91,92} They found that PC and PG inhibit lymphocyte proliferation, whereas other less abundant lipids, including phosphatidylethanolamine, sphingomyelin and cholesterol, stimulate proliferation.

Studies by Lesur et al⁹³ support this hypothesis. They found that the ability of surfactant lipids to affect lymphocyte proliferation is altered in disease states. For example, the lavage fluid from patients with alveolar proteinosis is a less effective inhibitor of lymphocyte proliferation than that from control patients. Lavage fluid from patients with hypersensitivity pneumonitis and sarcoidosis stimulate lymphocyte proliferation. Changes in the ratios of the surfactant lipids may account for some of the altered ability to enhance or inhibit proliferation.

The mechanisms by which lipids inhibit lymphocyte proliferation have not been elucidated. However, it has been shown in other systems that changes in cell membrane fluidity occur when cells are incubated with phospholipids and that these changes correlate with the mitogenic response of blood lymphocytes to concanavlin A (ConA).⁹⁴

Survanta inhibits ConA-induced lymphocyte proliferation.²⁸ Survanta also inhibits the proliferative response of human peripheral blood lymphocytes, as well as purified CD56^{+/} CD3⁻lymphocytes that are stimulated with interleukin (IL)-2. In addition, the killing of two tumor cell lines is also inhibited.⁷² Although the precise mechanism of the inhibition is not known, it was shown that surfactant decreases binding to the tumors of lymphocytes enriched in killer cells.

A surfactant replacement preparation known as SF-RI 1, which is derived from bovine lungs and contains small amounts of SP-B and SP-C, inhibits the PHA-induced proliferation of human lymphocytes.⁹⁴ Purified phospholipids including DPPC, DPPG, PI and sphingomyelin also inhibit proliferation.

A recent study by Kremlev et al²⁸ provides evidence that surfactant lipids and proteins may have counter-regulatory effects. For example both DPPC and Survanta inhibit proliferation of lymphocytes stimulated with Con A; in contrast, SP-A enhances Con A-mediated proliferation. Interestingly, when they are combined, SP-A reverses the inhibitory effect of Survanta. The findings are consistent with the hypothesis that changes in the ratios of surfactant lipids and protein that occur in disease states may be related to alterations in immune cell function.

Borron and coworkers reported that SP-A inhibits the proliferation of lymphocytes stimulated with PHA and anti-CD3.⁹⁵ The inhibition correlates with a reduced production of IL-2. The proliferation stimulated with Con A was slightly enhanced by SP-A, consistent with the findings of Kremlev et al.²⁸

In summary, surfactant lipids (Table 9.4) and surfactant replacement preparations (Table 9.3) tend to inhibit lymphocyte proliferation, although specific lipids may stimulate proliferation. SP-A both inhibits and stimulates proliferation (Table 9.2). The reasons for these apparent inconsistencies are not clear, but may be related to differences in experimental design or preparations of surfactant.

Effects of Surfactant on Cytokine Production and Release

The regulation of cytokine production by replacement surfactant preparations has been investigated in some detail. In general, the replacement surfactants inhibit cytokine release

from immune cells. For example, Curosurf inhibits secretion of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) by LPS-stimulated monocytes,⁶⁸ and Exosurf[®] (Burroughs Wellcome, Research Triangle Park, NC) and Survanta both reduce the production of IL-1 β , pro-IL-1 β and IL-1 receptor antagonist by human alveolar macrophages stimulated with LPS.⁹⁶ In addition, Exosurf and Survanta inhibit release of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6⁹⁷ as well as the message levels for these cytokines in human alveolar macrophages stimulated with endotoxin.⁹⁸ The finding that IL-8 levels are not reduced suggests that this effect is not due to an overall inhibition of cytokine release.⁹⁷ Tyloxapol, a nonionic detergent, appears to be the active ingredient in Exosurf.⁹⁹ The inhibitory component of the Survanta preparation has not been identified; however, it cannot be tyloxapol, as this is not an ingredient of Survanta.

Both Survanta and Exosurf decrease the activation of NF- κ B, a factor that activates the transcription of multiple inflammatory cytokines in the monocytic cell line THP-1.¹⁰⁰ Both surfactant preparations also inhibit the IL-1 stimulated release of IL-6 and prostaglandin E2 by fibroblasts.¹⁰¹ These studies suggest that the inhibition of cytokine expression is not specific to monocytes and macrophages and that the suppression may be regulated at the transcriptional level via NF- κ B activation.

Surfactant proteins both stimulate and inhibit cytokine production. Kremlev and Phelps¹⁰² found that SP-A stimulates the production of TNF- α , IL-1 α , IL-1 β and IL-6 by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. The enhanced production of TNF- α was also demonstrated with rat peripheral blood mononuclear cells, alveolar macrophages and splenocytes. In addition, SP-A enhances the production of IgG, IgA and IgM by splenocytes. Blau et al¹⁰³ showed that SP-A stimulates the release of colony stimulating factor (CSF) from both isolated alveolar type II cells and macrophages in vitro. Recent studies have implicated granulocyte-macrophage CSF (GM-CSF) in the regulation of surfactant metabolism.¹⁰⁴

SP-A also inhibits cytokine production. For example, McIntosh et al¹⁰⁵ found that SP-A inhibits TNF- α release by alveolar macrophages stimulated with LPS. Borron et al⁹⁵ reported that SP-A inhibits production of IL-2 in PHA-stimulated mononuclear cells. The serum collectin MBP also inhibits release of TNF- α from human monocytes stimulated by rhamnose-glucose polymers from streptococcal cell wall polysaccharides.¹⁰⁶

Receptors for Surfactant Proteins

The finding that SP-A and SP-D affect immune cell function is consistent with the possibility that immune cells express specific receptors for these proteins, a possibility supported by binding data showing that SP-A¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹ and SP-D^{110,111} bind specifically and with high affinity to immune cell surfaces. Indirect evidence from all of these studies suggest that there may be more than one, if not several, receptors for both SP-A and SP-D.

SP-A binds to C1q receptors of approximately 56 kDa,¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ and the collagen-like domains of the proteins appear to mediate this interaction. Chroneos and coworkers have purified a 210 kDa protein by SP-A affinity chromatography using lung membranes as a starting material.¹¹⁵ Antibodies against the protein recognize immunoreactive material in alveolar macrophages, type II cells, rat bone marrow-derived macrophages and U937 cells. The receptor also binds MBP. Alveolar type II cells also appear to express other distinct SP-A binding proteins of 30 kDa¹¹⁶ and 55 kDa¹¹⁷ molecular size. Neither of these proteins is found on alveolar macrophages. Although SP-A binds to the 56 kDa C1q receptor, SP-D does not appear to do so.

SP-A Deficient Mice Show Altered Susceptibility to Infection

Until recently, most of the evidence supporting host defense functions of surfactant was obtained from in vitro studies. Recently, however, LeVine et al¹³ demonstrated that

mice made deficient in SP-A by homologous recombination have an increased susceptibility to infection with Group B streptococcus, a pulmonary pathogen of extreme clinical importance in the newborn infant.

The SP-A deficient mice (SP-A -/-) received an intratracheal instillation of a clinical isolate of Group B streptococcus. At various later times, the mice were sacrificed, the lungs lavaged and samples of the lungs and spleen were cultured to measure the persistence and dissemination of the Group B streptococcus. The number of colony forming units of Group B streptococcus that remained in the lung 6 hours after instillation was greater in the SP-A -/- mice than in SP-A +/+ mice. Clearance was decreased in the SP-A -/- mice, as there were fewer bacteria associated with alveolar macrophages from the SP-A -/- than from the SP-A +/+ group (Fig. 9.2). Interestingly, the number of colony forming units were also increased in the spleens of the SP-A -/- mice, suggesting that in the absence of SP-A the bacteria may more readily disseminate into other organs.

It is of note that the SP-D levels in SP-A -/- mice are normal. The fact that Group B streptococci are still cleared from the lungs of SP-A -/- mice, albeit more slowly than from those of SP-A +/+ mice, suggests that other factors, possibly SP-D, may also be important in the clearance of pulmonary pathogens.

Changes in Surfactant in Disease States

It seems reasonable to speculate that changes in surfactant levels may alter susceptibility to disease or infection. This possibility, although unproven and difficult to test, is consistent with the data obtained from the SP-A deficient mice, discussed above. Although, in many cases, changes in surfactant could cause a predisposition to disease it also seems likely that the disease itself may lead to changes in surfactant levels if, for example, the alveolar epithelium is directly damaged or there is a large influx of serum proteins that inhibit surfactant function. Furthermore, changes in surfactant may occur secondary to changes in steroids, growth factors or cytokines, the levels of which may be altered in disease states.

The changes in levels of various surfactant components in diseases and in animal models are summarized in Table 9.5 and the changes in individual components are discussed separately below.

Infant RDS is a direct result of low levels of surfactant lipids and proteins secondary to immaturity of the surfactant synthetic system. The causes and/or consequences of alterations in lipid levels and composition in many other disease states are not as clear. Surfactant lipid levels are decreased and/or are abnormal in composition in adult or acute RDS (ARDS).^{118,119} The low levels of lipids and proteins in ARDS are not due to an immature surfactant system but rather to an inactivation of surfactant or an inhibition of its ability to reduce surface tension (reviewed in ref. 120). Lipid levels are also reduced and altered in composition in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis¹²¹ and some types of pneumonia,²²⁻¹²⁵ although the mechanism of these changes is not defined. Exposure to high concentrations of oxygen has been reported to both decrease¹²⁶ and increase^{124,125} surfactant lipid levels.

Both SP-A and SP-D, as well as surfactant lipids, are increased in silicosis¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ and alveolar proteinosis.¹³⁰ It is not known whether the increase in surfactant is a result of increased production, decreased clearance or a combination of the two. Miller and coworkers have shown that type II cells isolated from silica-treated rats synthesize DPPC and SP-A at increased rates.¹²⁷ Silica treatment of animals also increases both secretion and clearance of surfactant.¹³¹ The activation of the type II cell may be related to the state of inflammation.¹²⁹ Likewise, the cause of the accumulation of surfactant in alveolar proteinosis is not clearly established. Recent and surprising studies^{104,132} have implicated GM-CSF in this disease. GM-CSF, a factor long thought to be involved in hematopoiesis, was ablated by recombinant technology. The only observable phenotype, which was unexpected, was an alveolar



Fig. 9.2. Association of Group B streptococcus with alveolar macrophages from SP-A deficient (SP-A -/-) and control (SP-A +/+) mice. Group B streptococcus was instilled intratracheally to control and SP-A deficient mice and the lungs were subsequently lavaged at the times indicated. Cytospin preparations were stained with Diff-Quik, and bacteria associated and within the perimeter of the cell counted. Reproduced with permission from LeVine AM, Bruno MD, Huelsman KM et al. Surfactant protein-A deficient mice are susceptible to group B streptococcal infection. J Immunol 1997;158:4336-4340. Copyright 1997. The American Association of Immunologists.

proteinosis-like accumulation of surfactant in the lungs. Although the relationship of GM-CSF to this proteinosis-like state is not clear, additional studies with this interesting animal model should provide important new information about both the disease of alveolar proteinosis and surfactant turnover and metabolism.

The instillation of intratracheal LPS in rats increases surfactant lipid levels.¹²⁹ The increase at time points greater than 24 hours is probably due at least partly to an increased proliferation of type II cells seen in this model.

The production of surfactant proteins in a variety of in vivo conditions and in vitro models is affected by a variety of steroids, cytokines and growth factors, the levels of which may all change dramatically in disease. For example, SP-A expression levels are affected by dexamethasone,¹³³⁻¹³⁹ insulin,¹⁴⁰ prostaglandins,¹⁴¹ cyclic AMP,^{142,143} TPA,¹⁴⁴ TNF- α ,¹⁴⁵ transforming growth factor- β^{146} and epidermal growth factor.¹⁴⁷ Ballard and coworkers reported the provocative finding that interferon- γ upregulates SP-A production in vitro.¹⁴⁸ The effects of cytokines and growth factors on regulation of SP-D have not been thoroughly investigated; however, Dulkerian et al¹⁴⁹ recently reported the somewhat surprising finding that interferon- γ does not increase the production of SP-D in cultured explants of fetal lung. Other agents also differentially regulate SP-A in this culture system. For example, both LPS and TNF- α decrease levels of SP-A mRNA and have no effect on levels of SP-D.

Condition	SP-A Levels	SP-D Levels	Lipid Levels
AIDS-related pneumonia	↑151,152,168	↓ 135,153,169	$\downarrow^{123,170}$; altered composition ¹⁷¹
Alveolar proteinosis	↑ ¹⁷²	↑ ¹³⁰	↑ ¹⁷³
ARDS (polytrauma)	↓ ^{118,155}		↓ ^{18,155} ; altered composition ¹¹⁹
Bacterial pneumonia	↓ ¹⁵¹		↓ ¹²²
Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis	↔ ¹⁷⁴		↓ then ↑ ^{129,174}
BPD (animal model) + infection	↓ ¹⁵⁹		
BPD (animal model)	↓ ¹⁵⁹		
HIV-infection without	168		
<i>P. carinii</i> pneumonia	•		
Hypersensitivity pneumonitis	165,166		↔ ¹⁷⁵
Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis	j 121	¹³⁰	↓ and altered composition ^{121,176}
Infant RDS	177-180		177,180,181
Intratracheal LPS	¹²⁹	↑ ¹²⁹	129
Oxygen exposure [*]	125,162		↓ 126,182 ; ↑ 124,125,129,183
Silicosis	129,184	↑ ¹²⁸	129,184
Smokers	↓ ¹⁶⁷	↓ ¹⁶⁷	\Leftrightarrow^{167} ; altered composition ¹⁸⁵

Table 9.5. Changes in surf	actant components	s in disease sta	ates and in animal
models of lung disease	-		

*The studies on lipid levels include different exposure times and animal species.

Patients and animals with *P. carinii* infections both have elevated levels of SP-A.^{49,150-152} SP-A levels are increased in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients with *P. carinii* infections compared to HIV-positive *P. carinii*-negative patients.⁴⁹ The SP-A levels in HIV patients are significantly lower then in healthy, uninfected, normal volunteers. Interestingly, there is a significant correlation between the levels of SP-A and the abundance of *P. carinii* in the lavage. Limper et al¹⁵³ reported that SP-D levels are increased in an immunosuppression model of *P. carinii* infection in rats.

SP-A levels are decreased in patients with both gram positive and gram negative pneumonia, although the reduction is greater in the gram positive group.¹⁵¹ LeVine et al¹⁵⁴ have shown that SP-A levels are decreased relative to total protein in tracheal aspirates from children with bacterial pneumonia, viral pneumonitis and ARDS. Children on cardiopulmonary bypass have normal SP-A levels.¹⁵⁵

SP-A levels are also decreased in adults with ARDS.^{118,155} In patients with the most severe lung injury, the levels of SP-A remain low. In patients with moderate lung injury, SP-A returns to normal levels and, in fact, increases to greater than control values by 3-6 days after injury. That the changes in the SP-A levels do not correlate with the time-dependent changes in lipid levels¹¹⁸ is consistent with the possibility that lipid and SP-A levels are independently regulated. Recently, Doyle et al¹⁵⁶ found that SP-A levels are increased in sera of patients with acute cardiogenic pulmonary edema and proposed that SP-A levels are also increased in the sera¹⁵⁷ and decreased in the lavage¹²¹ of patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. SP-D levels are unchanged in the lavage fluid of patients with idiopathic pulmonary near y fibrosis, but there is a detectable increase in immunoreactive material in the sera of

patients with fibrosis,¹⁵⁸ as well as pulmonary alveolar proteinosis, pulmonary sarcoidosis and tuberculosis.¹³⁰

Coalson et al^{159,160} reported that surfactant protein levels are altered in a primate model of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) induced by hyperoxia and in a BPD model with a superimposed infection. Levels of SP-A mRNA in alveolar cells are lower in the BPD and BPD plus infection groups compared to controls. Interestingly, the levels of SP-A in the BPD plus infection animals are greater than in the simple BPD without infection model. These findings are consistent with the possibility that the superimposed infection may affect SP-A levels. The message levels for SP-B are increased in both the BPD and BPD plus infection animals and the levels for SP-C are similar to control in both models. Hyperoxia increases levels of SP-A in a number of animal models,^{125,161,162} and Horowitz et al^{125,161,162} reported the interesting finding that the relative increase in SP-A and SP-B message levels is much greater in Clara cells than in type II cells, suggesting that expression of the proteins in these two cell types may be regulated differently.

The intratracheal instillation of LPS into rats results in increased SP-A levels in lung tissues as soon as 6 hours after instillation, increased lavage levels of SP-A by 24 hours and increased levels of SP-D in lavage fluid by 72 hours.¹⁶³ Message levels for SP-A and SP-D are increased at 24 hours, whereas levels for SP-B are unchanged. Sughara et al¹⁶⁴ used higher doses of LPS and reported increases in SP-A, SP-B and SP-C 3-7 days after instillation and concluded that the increase at that time is due largely to proliferation of type II cells. Vivano et al¹²⁹ showed that intratracheal instillation of LPS into rats results in increased intra- and extra-cellular surfactant phospholipids. These studies taken together suggest that LPS and possibly other acute inflammatory stimuli may alter surfactant levels via a variety of mechanisms, including increases in protein synthesis at short times after instillation as well as changes in type II cell numbers at longer times after instillation. It seems likely that alterations in surfactant turnover and clearance may also contribute to the observed changes.

SP-A levels are increased in patients with hypersensitivity pneumonitis^{165,166} and sarcoidosis,¹⁶⁶ and decreased in the lavage of smoker's lungs.¹⁶⁷ SP-D levels are unchanged in the lavage fluid recovered from patients with sarcoidosis as well as interstitial pneumonia with collagen disease.¹³⁰

Summary and Future Directions

Although the details of a role for surfactant in host defense are in many ways still undefined, the studies described above support the following model (Fig. 9.3). Lipids, in general, tend to suppress immune cell function, in particular lymphocyte proliferation. Thus, when the levels of surfactant lipids are reduced, the inflammatory response may be enhanced by increases in lymphocyte proliferation. The surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D appear to interact with carbohydrates and other molecules on the surface of inhaled pathogens. These pathogens, thus opsonized, are targeted to effector cells, such as alveolar macrophages, which are attracted to the site of infection/inflammation. SP-A and SP-D may be upregulated in acute infection or inflammation, thus serving to help protect the lungs by facilitating the clearance of inhaled pathogens to which they have bound. Phagocytosis of some pathogens is enhanced by SP-A (and possibly SP-D, although this has not been demonstrated) and the internalized pathogen may, in some cases, be killed by the immune cell. Some studies show that SP-A upregulates the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , and reactive intermediates. Other studies show that these processes are inhibited. Additional investigation will be required to resolve these inconsistencies.

Surfactant lipids and proteins are altered in a variety of diseases states; however, it is generally impossible to determine if these alterations are a cause or an effect of the disease.


Fig. 9.3 Hypothetical host defense functions of surfactant. Many of the effects of surfactant on immune cell function have been described only in vitro, and thus many aspects of this model remain to be confirmed. See text for details and references.

Recent, exciting studies showing that mice in which the SP-A gene is ablated have an increased susceptibility to infection with Group B streptococcus provide compelling evidence for a role of surfactant proteins in the host defense response. Additional studies are required to define the mechanism by which protection is conferred, and additional studies with mice in which the SP-D gene and both the SP-A and SP-D genes are ablated will help clarify further the role of these proteins in the host defense response.

Acknowledgments

Supported by HL-30923 and HL-51134 from the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. The author would like to thank Sharon Grove for editorial assistance and Drs. Ken Reid and Anne Marie LeVine for providing figures.

References

- 1. Yeh HC, Schum GM. Models of human lung airways and their application to inhaled particle deposition. Bull Math Biol 1980; 42:461-480.
- Voss T, Eistetter H, Schäfer KP et al. Macromolecular organization of natural and recombinant lung surfactant protein SP 28-36. Structural homology with the complement factor C1q. J Mol Biol 1988; 201:219-227.
- 3. Thiel S, Reid KBM. Structures and functions associated with the group of mammalian lectins containing collagen-like sequences. FEBS Lett 1989; 250:78-84.
- 4. Hoppe HJ, Reid KB. Collectins-soluble proteins containing collagenous regions and lectin domains-and their roles in innate immunity. Protein Sci 1994; 3:1143-1158.
- 5. Drickamer K, Taylor ME. Biology of animal lectins. Annu Rev Cell Biol 1993; 9:237-264.
- 6. Roitt IM, Brostoff J, Male DK. İmmunology (2nd edition). London: Gower Medical Publishing, 1989.
- 7. Janeway CA Jr. The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. Immunol Today 1992; 13:11-16.
- Bancroft GJ, Kelly JP, Kaye PM et al. Pathways of macrophage activation and innate immunity. Immunol Lett 1994; 43:67-70.

- 9. Holmskov U, Malhotra R, Sim RB et al. Collectins: Collagenous C-type lectins of the innate immune defense system. Immunol Today 1994; 15:67-73.
- 10. Sumiya M, Super M, Tabona P et al. Molecular basis of opsonic defect in immunodeficient children. Lancet 1991; 337:1569-1570.
- 11. Madsen HO, Garred P, Kurtzhals JA et al. A new frequent allele is the missing link in the structural polymorphism of the human mannan-binding protein. Immunogenetics 1994; 40:37-44.
- 12. Lipscombe RJ, Lau YL, Levinsky RJ et al. Identical point mutation leading to low levels of mannose binding protein and poor C3b mediated opsonisation in Chinese and Caucasian populations. Immunol Lett 1992;32(3):253-257.
- LeVine AM, Bruno MD, Huelsman KM et al. Surfactant protein-A deficient mice are susceptible to group B streptococcal infection. J Immunol 1997;158:4336-4340.
- 14. Ikeda K, Sannoh T, Kawasaki N et al. Serum lectin with known structure activates complement through the classical pathway. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:7451-7454.
- 15. Lu JH, Thiel S, Wiedemann H et al. Binding of the pentamer/hexamer forms of mannanbinding protein to zymosan activates the proenzyme C1r2C1s2 complex, of the classical pathway of complement, without involvement of C1q. J Immunol 1990; 144:2287-2294.
- 16. Kawasaki N, Kawasaki T, Yamashina I. A serum lectin (mannan-binding protein) has complement-dependent bactericidal activity. J Biochem 1989; 106:483-489.
- Boggaram V, Qing K, Mendelson CR. The major apoprotein of rabbit pulmonary surfactant. Elucidation of primary sequence and cyclic AMP and developmental regulation. J Biol Chem 1988; 263:2939-2947.
- Sastry K, Herman GA, Day L et al. The human mannose-binding protein gene. Exon structure reveals its evolutionary relationship to a human pulmonary surfactant gene and localization to chromosome 10. J Exp Med 1989; 170:1175-1189.
- 19. Kolble K, Lu JH, Mole SE et al. Assignment of the human pulmonary surfactant protein-D gene (SFTP4) to 10q22-q23 close to the surfactant protein-A gene cluster. Genomics 1993; 17:294-298.
- Haagsman HP, Hawgood S, Sargeant T et al. The major lung surfactant protein, SP 28-36, is a calcium-dependent, carbohydrate-binding protein. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:13877-13880.
- 21. Persson AV, Gibbons BJ, Shoemaker JD et al. The major glycolipid recognized by SP-D in surfactant is phosphatidylinositol. Biochemistry 1992;31:12183-12189.
- 22. King RJ, Clements JA. Surface active materials from dog lung. I. Method of isolation. Am J Physiol 1972;223:707-714.
- 23. King RJ, Clements JA. Surface active materials from dog lung. II. Composition and physiological correlations. Am J Physiol 1972;223:715-726.
- 24. King RJ, Clements JA. Surface active materials from dog lung. III. Thermal analysis. Am J Physiol 1972;223:727-733.
- Wright JR, Benson BJ, Williams MC et al. Protein composition of rabbit alveolar surfactant subfractions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1984;791:320-332.
- 26. van Iwaarden JF, Teding van Berkhout F, Whitsett JA et al. A novel procedure for the rapid isolation of surfactant protein A with retention of its alveolar-macrophage-stimulating properties. Biochem J 1995; 309:551-555.
- 27. Suwabe A, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Calcium dependent association of surfactant protein A with pulmonary surfactant: Application to simple surfactant protein A purification. Arch Biochem Biophys 1996;327:285-291.
- Kremlev SG, Umstead TM, Phelps DS. Effects of surfactant protein A and surfactant lipids on lymphocyte proliferation in vitro. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L357-364.
- 29. Hattori A, Kuroki Y, Katoh T et al. Surfactant protein A accumulating in the alveoli of patients with pulmonary alveolar proteinosis—oligomeric structure and interaction with lipids. Am J Resp Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:608-619.
- Gaynor CD, McCormack FX, Voelker DR et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A mediates enhanced phagocytosis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by a direct interaction with human macrophages. J Immunol 1995; 155:5343-5351.

- 31. Weissbach S, Neuendank A, Pettersson M et al. Surfactant protein A modulates release of reactive oxygen species from alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L660-666.
- 32. Brown-Augsburger P, Hartshorn K, Chang D et al. Site-directed mutagenesis of cys-15 and cys-20 of pulmonary surfactant protein D—expression of a trimeric protein with altered anti-viral properties. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:13724-13730.
- 33. Brogden KA, Cutlip RC, Lehmkuhl HD. Complexing of bacterial lipopolysaccharide with lung surfactant. Infection and Immunity 1986; 52:644-649.
- 34. Huang YT, Caminiti SP, Fawcett TA et al. Natural surfactant and hyperoxic lung injury in primates I. Physiology and biochemistry. J Appl Physiol 1994;76:991-1001.
- 35. Raetz CR, Ulevitch RJ, Wright SD et al. Gram-negative endotoxin: An extraordinary lipid with profound effects on eukaryotic signal transduction. FASEB J 1991; 5:2652-2660.
- Kalina M, Blau H, Riklis S et al. Interaction of surfactant protein A with bacterial lipopolysaccharide may affect some biological functions. Am J Physiol 1995; 268:L144-151.
- 37. LaForce FM, Kelly WJ, Huber GL. Inactivation of staphylococci by alveolar macrophages with preliminary observations on the importance of alveolar lining material. Am Rev Respir Dis 1973;108:784-790.
- Juers JA, Rogers RM, McCurdy JB et al. Enhancement of bactericidal capacity of alveolar macrophages by human alveolar lining material. J Clin Invest 1976;58:271-275.
- O'Neill S, Lesperance E, Klass DJ. Rat lung lavage surfactant enhances bacterial phagocytosis and intracellular killing by alveolar macrophages. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984;130:225-230.
- 40. Jonsson S, Musher DM, Goree A et al. Human alveolar lining material and antibacterial defenses. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 133:136-140.
- 41. van Iwaarden F, Welmers B, Verhoef J et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A enhances the host-defense mechanism of rat alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:91-98.
- 42. Tino MJ, Wright JR. Surfactant protein A stimulates phagocytosis of specific pulmonary pathogens by alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1996; 270:L677-L688.
- 43. Baritussio A, Alberti A, Quaglino D et al. SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in surfactant subtypes around birth: Reexamination of alveolar life cycle of surfactant. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L436-447.
- 44. McNeely TB, Coonrod JD. Aggregation and opsonization of type A but not type B Hemophilus influenzae by surfactant protein A. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11:114-122.
- 45. Manz-Keinke H, Plattner H, Schlepper-Schafer J. Lung surfactant protein A (SP-A) enhances serum-independent phagocytosis of bacteria by alveolar macrophages. Eur J Cell Biol 1992; 57:95-100.
- 46. van Iwaarden JF, van Strijp JAG, Visser H et al. Binding of surfactant protein A (SP-A) to Herpes Simplex virus type 1-infected cells is mediated by the carbohydrate moiety of SP-A. J Biol Chem 1992; 267:25039-25043.
- 47. Hartshorn KL, Crouch EC, White MR et al. Evidence for a protective role of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D) against influenza A viruses. J Clin Invest 1994; 94:311-319.
- 48. Kabha K, Schmegner J, Keisari Y et al. SP-A enhances phagocytosis of *Klebsiella* by interaction with capsular polysaccharides and alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1997; 272: L344-L352.
- 49. Downing JF, Pasula J, Wright JR et al. Surfactant protein A from human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals promotes attachment of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to alveolar macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:4848-4852.
- 50. Zimmerman PE, Voelker DR, McCormack FX et al. 120-kD surface glycoprotein of *Pneumocystis carinii* is a ligand for surfactant protein A. J Clin Invest 1992; 89:143-149.
- Williams MD, Wright JR, March KL et al. Human surfactant protein A enhances attachment of *Pneumocystis carinii* to rat alveolar macrophages. Amn J Resp Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:232-238.
- 52. Pikaar JC, Voorhout WF, Van Golde LMG et al. Opsonic activities of surfactant proteins A and D in phagocytosis of gram-negative bacteria by alveolar macrophages. J Infect Dis 1995; 172:481-489.

- 53. McNeely TB, Coonrod JD. Comparison of the opsonic activity of human surfactant protein A for *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* with rabbit and human macrophages. J Infect Dis 1993;167:91-97.
- 54. Rosseau S, Guenther A, Seeger W et al. Phagocytosis of viable *Candida albicans* by alveolar macrophages—lack of opsonin function of surfactant protein A. J of Infect Dis 1997; 175:421-428.
- 55. O'Riordan DM, Standing JE, Kwon KY et al. Surfactant protein D interacts with *Pneumocystis carinii* and mediates organism adherence to alveolar macrophages. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:2699-2710.
- Kuan SF, Rust K, Crouch E. Interactions of surfactant protein D with bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Surfactant protein D is an *Escherichia coli*-binding protein in brochoalveolar lavage. J Clin Invest 1992;90:97-106.
- 57. Lim BL, Wang JY, Holmskov U et al. Expression of the carbohydrate recognition domain of lung surfactant protein D and demonstration of its binding to lipopolysaccharides of gram-negative bacteria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 202:1674-1680.
- van Iwaarden JF, Pikaar JC, Storm J et al. Binding of surfactant protein A to the lipid A moiety of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Biochem J 1994; 303:407-411.
- 59. Benne CA, Kraaijeveld CA, van Strijp JA et al. Interactions of surfactant protein A with influenza A viruses: Binding and neutralization. J Infect Dis 1995; 171:335-341.
- 60. Hartshorn KL, Reid KBM, White MR et al. Neutrophil deactivation by influenza a viruses—mechanisms of protection after viral opsonization with collectins and hemagglutination-inhibiting antibodies. Blood 1996; 87:3450-3461.
- 61. Schelenz S, Malhotra R, Sim RB et al. Binding of host collectins to the pathogenic yeast *Cryptococcus neoformans*: Human surfactant protein D acts as an agglutinin for acapsular yeast cells. Infect Immun 1995; 63:3360-3366.
- 62. Tenner AJ, Robinson SL, Borchelt J et al. Human pulmonary surfactant protein (SP-A), a protein structurally homologous to C1q, can enhance FcR- and CR1-mediated phagocytosis. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:13923-13928.
- 63. Tenner AJ, Robinson SL, Ezekowitz RA. Mannose binding protein (MBP) enhances mononuclear phagocyte function via a receptor that contains the 126,000 M(r) component of the C1q receptor. Immunity 1995; 3:485-493.
- 64. Coonrod JD, Yoneda K. Detection and partial characterization of antibacterial factor(s) in alveolar lining material of rats. J Clin Invest 1983;71:129-141.
- 65. Geertsma MF, Zomerdijk TP, Nibbering PH et al. Pulmonary surfactant inhibits monocyte bactericidal functions by altering activation of protein kinase A and C. Immunology 1994; 83:133-139.
- 66. Geertsma MF, Broos HR, van den Barselaar MT et al. Lung surfactant suppresses oxygendependent bactericidal functions of human blood monocytes by inhibiting the assembly of the NADPH oxidase. J Immunol 1993;150:2391-2400.
- 67. Geertsma MF, Nibbering PH, Haagsman HP et al. Binding of surfactant protein A to C1q receptors mediates the phagocytosis of staphylococcus aureus by monocytes. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L578-L584.
- 68. Speer CP, Gotze B, Curstedt T et al. Phagocytic functions and tumor necrosis factor secretion of human monocytes exposed to natural porcine surfactant (Curosurf). Pediatr Res 1991; 30:69-74.
- 69. Coonrod JD, Lester RL, Hau LC. Characterization of the extracellular bactericidal factors of rat alveolar lining material. J Clin Invest 1984;74:1269-1279.
- Coonrod JD, Yoneda K. Effect of rat alveolar lining material on macrophage receptors. J Immunol 1983; 130:2589-2596.
- 71. Coonrod JD, Jarrells MC, Yoneda K. Effect of rat surfactant lipids on complement and Fc receptors of macrophages. Infect Immun 1986; 54:371-378.
- 72. Roth MD, Pinto M, Golub SH et al. Pulmonary surfactant inhibits interleukin-2-induced proliferation and the generation of lymphokine-activated killer cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993; 9:652-658.

- 73. Ofek I, Goldhar J, Keisari Y et al. Nonopsonic phagocytosis of microorganisms. Annu Rev Microbiol 1995;49:239-276.
- 74. Hayakawa H, Myrvik QN, St. Clair RW. Pulmonary surfactant inhibits priming of rabbit alveolar macrophage. Evidence that surfactant suppresses the oxidative burst of alveolar macrophages in infant rabbits. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:1390-1397.
- 75. Webb DSA, Jeska EL. Enhanced luminol-dependent chemiluminescence of stimulated rat alveolar macrophages by pretreatment with alveolar lining material. J Leukocyte Biol 1986; 40:55-64.
- 76. Ahuja A, Oh N, Chao W et al. Inhibition of the human neutrophil respiratory burst by native and synthetic surfactant. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:496-503.
- 77. van Iwaarden JF, Shimizu H, Van Golde PHM et al. Rat surfactant protein D enhances the production of oxygen radicals by rat alveolar macrophages. Biochem J 1992;286:5-8.
- 78. van Iwaarden F, Welmers B, Verhoef J et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A enhances the host-defense mechanism of rat alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 2:91-98.
- 79. Weber H, Heilmann P, Meyer B et al. Effect of canine surfactant protein (SP-A) on the respiratory burst of phagocytic cells. FEBS Lett 1990; 270:90-94.
- 80. Katsura H, Kawada H, Konno K. Rat surfactant apoprotein A (SP-A) exhibits antioxidant effects on alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993;9:520-525.
- 81. Schwartz LW, Christiman CA. Alveolar macrophage migration. Am Rev Respir Dis 1979; 120:429-439.
- 82. Jacobs RF, Wilson CB, Palmer S et al. Factors related to the appearance of alveolar macrophages in the developing lung. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 131:548-553.
- 83. Hoffman RM, Claypool WD, Katyal SL et al. Augmentation of rat alveolar macrophage migration by surfactant protein. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:1358-1362.
- 84. Zeligs BJ, Nerurkar LS, Bellanti JA. Chemotactic and candidacidal responses of rabbit alveolar macrophage during postnatal development and the modulating roles of surfactant in these responses. Infect Immun 1984;44:379-385.
- 85. Wright JR, Youmans DC. Pulmonary surfactant protein-A stimulates chemotaxis of alveolar macrophage. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L338-L344.
- 86. Crouch EC, Persson A, Griffin GL et al. Interactions of pulmonary surfactant protein D (SP-D) with human blood leukocytes. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:410-415.
- 87. Ansfield MJ, Kaltreider HB, Benson BJ et al. Immunosuppressive activity of canine pulmonary surface active material. J Immunol 1979; 122:1062-1066.
- Ansfield MJ, Kaltreider HB, Benson BJ et al. Canine surface active material and pulmonary lymphocyte function. Studies with mixed-lymphocyte culture. Exp Lung Res 1980; 1:3-11.
- 89. Catanzaro A, Richman P, Batcher S et al. Immunomodulation by pulmonary surfactant. J Lab Clin Med 1988; 112:727-734.
- 90. Sitrin RG, Ansfield MJ, Kaltreider HB. The effect of pulmonary surface-active material on the generation and expression of murine B- and T-lymphocyte effector functions in vitro. Exp Lung Res 1985; 9:85-97.
- 91. Wilsher ML, Hughes DA, Haslam PL. Immunoregulatory properties of pulmonary surfactant: Influence of variations in the phospholipid profile. Clin Exp Immunol 1988;73:117-122.
- 92. Wilsher ML, Hughes DA, Haslam PL. Immunoregulatory properties of pulmonary surfactant: Effect of lung lining fluid on proliferation of human blood lymphocytes. Thorax 1988;43:354-359.
- 93. Lesur O, Mancini NM, Janot C et al. Loss of lymphocyte modulatory control by surfactant lipid extracts from acute hypersensitivity pneumonitis: Comparison with sarcoidosis and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1944-1949.
- 94. Bartmann P, Gortner L, Pohlandt F et al. In vitro lymphocyte functions in the presence of bovine surfactant and its phospholipid fractions. J Perinat Med 1992; 20:189-196.
- 95. Borron P, Veldhuizen RA, Lewis JF et al. Surfactant associated protein-A inhibits human lymphocyte proliferation and IL-2 production. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 15:115-121.
- 96. Allen JN, Moore SA, Pope-Harman AL et al. Immunosuppressive properties of surfactant and plasma on alveolar macrophages. J Lab Clin Med 1995; 125:356-369.

- 97. Thomassen MJ, Meeker DP, Antal JM et al. Synthetic surfactant (Exosurf) inhibits endotoxin-stimulated cytokine secretion by human alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1992;7:257-260.
- 98. Thomassen MJ, Antal JM, Connors MJ et al. Characterization of Exosurf (surfactant)-mediated suppression of stimulated human alveolar macrophage cytokine responses. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994;10:399-404.
- 99. Thomassen MJ, Antal JM, Divis LT et al. Regulation of human alveolar macrophage inflammatory cytokines by tyloxapol—a component of the synthetic surfactant Exosurf. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1995;77:201-205.
- 100. Antal JM, Divis LT, Erzurum SC et al. Surfactant suppresses Nf-kappa-B activation in human monocytic cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:374-379.
- 101. Thomassen MJ, Antal JM, Barna BP et al. Surfactant downregulates synthesis of DNA and inflammatory mediators in normal human lung fibroblasts. Am J Physiol 1996; 14:L159-L163.
- 102. Kremlev SG, Phelps DS. Surfactant protein A stimulation of inflammatory cytokine and immunoglobulin production. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:L712-719.
- 103. Blau H, Riklis S, Kravtsov V et al. Secretion of cytokines by rat alveolar epithelial cells: Possible regulatory role for SP-A. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:L148-155.
- 104. Dranoff G, Crawford AD, Sadelain M et al. Involvement of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor in pulmonary homeostasis. Science 1994; 264:713-716.
- 105. McIntosh JC, Mervin-Blake S, Conner E et al. Surfactant protein A protects growing cells and reduces tumor necrosis factor- α release from LPS-stimulated macrophages. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:310-319.
- 106. Soell M, Lett E, Holveck F et al. Activation of human monocytes by streptococcal rhamnose glucose polymers is mediated by CD14 antigen, and mannan binding protein inhibits TNF-alpha release. J Immunol 1995; 154:851-860.
- 107. Pison U, Wright JR, Hawgood S. Specific binding of surfactant protein SP-A to rat alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1992;262:L412-L417.
- 108. Wright JR, Borchelt JD, Hawgood S. Lung surfactant apoprotein SP-A (26-36 kDa) binds with high affinity to isolated alveolar type II cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86:5410-5414.
- 109. Kuroki Y, Mason RJ, Voelker DR. Alveolar type II cells express a high-affinity receptor for pulmonary surfactant protein A. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988; 85:5566-5570.
- 110. Kuan S, Persson A, Parghi D et al. Lectin-mediated interactions of surfactant protein D with alveolar macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994;10:430-436.
- 111. Miyamura K, Leigh LEA, Lu JH et al. Surfactant protein D binding to alveolar macrophages. Biochem J 1994; 300:237-242.
- 112. Malhotra R, Sim RB, Reid K. Interaction of C1q, and other proteins containing collagenlike domains, with the C1q receptor. Biochem Soc Trans 1990;18:1145-1148.
- 113. Holmskov J, Teisner B, Willis AC et al. Purification and characterization of a bovine serum lectin (CL-43) with structural homology to conglutinin and SP-D and carbohydrate specificity similar to mannan-binding protein. J Biol Chem 1993;268:10120-10125.
- 114. Fallon RJ, Danaher M, Saylors RL et al. Defective asialoglycoprotein receptor endocytosis mediated by tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Requirement for a tyrosine in the receptor internalization signal. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:11011-11017.
- 115. Chroneos ZC, Abdolrasulnia R, Whitsett JA et al. Purification of a cell-surface receptor for surfactant protein A. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:16375-16383.
- 116. Strayer DS, Yang S, Jerng HH. Surfactant protein-A binding proteins. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:18679-18684.
- 117. Stevens PA, Wissel H, Sieger D et al. Identification of a new surfactant protein A binding protein at the cell membrane of rat type II pneumocytes. Biochem J 1995; 308:77-81.
- 118. Pison U, Obertacke U, Seeger W et al. Surfactant protein A (SP-A) is decreased in acute parenchymal lung injury associated with polytrauma. European J Clin Invest 1992; 22:712-718.

- 119. Hallman M, Spragg R, Harrell JH et al. Evidence of lung surfactant abnormality in respiratory failure. Study of bronchoalveolar lavage phospholipids, surface activity, phospholipase activity, and plasma myoinositol. J Clin Invest 1982; 70:673-683.
- 120. Seeger W, Pison U, Buchhorn R et al. Surfactant abnormalities and adult respiratory failure. Lung 1990;168 [Suppl.]:891-902.
- 121. McCormack FX, King TE, Voelker DR et al. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: Abnormalities in the bronchoalveolar lavage content of surfactant protein A. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 144:160-166.
- 122. Baughman RP, Stein E, MacGee J et al. Changes in fatty acids in phospholipids of the bronchoalveolar fluid in bacterial pneumonia and in adult respiratory distress syndrome. Clin Chem 1984; 30:521-523.
- 123. Hoffman AG, Lawrence MG, Ognibene FP et al. Reduction of pulmonary surfactant in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection and Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia. Chest 1992;102(6):1730-1736.
- 124. Young SL, Crapo JD, Kremers SA et al. Pulmonary surfactant lipid production in oxygenexposed rat lungs. Lab Invest 1982; 46:570-576.
- 125. Minoo P, King RJ, Coalson JJ. Surfactant proteins and lipids are regulated independently during hyperoxia. Am J Physiol 1992; 263:L291-298.
- 126. Beckman DL, Weiss HS. Hyperoxia compared to surfactant washout on pulmonary compliance in rats. J Appl Physiol 1969; 26:700-709.
- 127. Miller BE, Bakewell WE, Katyal SL et al. Induction of surfactant protein (SP-A) biosynthesis and SP-A mRNA in activated type II cells during acute silicosis in rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:217-226.
- 128. Crouch E, Persson A, Chang D et al. Surfactant protein D. Increased accumulation in silicainduced pulmonary lipoproteinosis. Am J Path 1991;149:765-776.
- 129. Viviano CJ, Bakewell WE, Dixon D et al. Altered regulation of surfactant phospholipid and protein A during acute pulmonary inflammation. Biochim Biophy Acta 1995; 1259:235-244.
- 130. Honda Y, Kuroki Y, Matsuura E et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein D in sera and bronchoalveolar lavage fluids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:1860-1866.
- 131. Dethloff LA, Gladen BC, Gilmore LB et al. Kinetics of pulmonary surfactant phosphatidylcholine metabolism in the lungs of silica-treated rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1989; 98:1-11.
- 132. Huffman JA, Hull WM, Dranoff G et al. Pulmonary epithelial cell expression of GM-CSF corrects the alveolar proteinosis in GM-CSF deficient mice. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:649-655.
- 133. Young SL, Ho YS, Silbajoris RA. Surfactant apoprotein in adult rat lung compartments is increased by dexamethasone. Am J Physiol 1991;260:L161-L167.
- 134. Schellhase DE, Shannon JM. Effects of maternal dexamethasone on expression of SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C in the fetal rat lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991;4:304-312.
- 135. Deterding RR, Shimizu H, Fisher JH et al. Regulation of surfactant protein D expression by glucocorticoids in vitro and in vivo. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:30-37.
- 136. Iannuzzi DM, Ertsey R, Ballard PL. Biphasic glucocorticoid regulation of pulmonary SP-A characterization of inhibitory process. Am J Physiol 1993; 264:L236-L244.
- 137. Ballard PL, Hawgood S, Liley H et al. Regulation of pulmonary surfactant apoprotein SP 28-36 gene in fetal human lung. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986;83:9527-9531.
- 138. Mendelson CR, Chen C, Boggaram V et al. Regulation of the synthesis of the major surfactant apoprotein in fetal rabbit lung tissue. J Biol Chem 1986; 261:9938-9943.
- 139. Whitsett JA, Weaver TE, Clark JC et al. Glucocorticoid enhances surfactant proteolipid Phe and pVal synthesis and RNA in fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:15618-15623.
- 140. Snyder JM, Mendelson CR. Insulin inhibits the accumulation of the major lung surfactant apoprotein in human fetal lung explants maintained in vitro. Endocrinology 1987; 120:1250-1257.
- 141. Acarregui MJ, Snyder JM, Mitchell MD et al. Prostaglandins regulate surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene expression in human fetal lung in vitro. Endocrinology 1990; 127:1105-1113.
- 142. Fisher AB, Arad I, Dodia C et al. Cyclic AMP increases synthesis of surfactant-associated protein A by perfused rat lung. Am J Physiol 1991;260:L226-L233.

- 143. Alcorn JL, Gao E, Chen Q et al. Genomic elements involved in transcriptional regulation of the rabbit surfactant protein-A gene. Mol Endocrinol 1993; 7:1072-1085.
- 144. Pryhuber GS, O'Reilly MA, Clark JC et al. Phorbol ester inhibits surfactant protein SP-A and SP-B expression. J Biol Chem 1990; 265:20822-20828.
- 145. Whitsett JA, Clark JC, Wispe JR et al. Effects of $TNF-\alpha$ and phorbol ester on human surfactant protein and MnSOD gene transcription in vitro. Am J Physiol 1992; 262: L688-L693.
- 146. Whitsett JA, Budden A, Hull WM et al. Transforming growth factor-beta inhibits surfactant protein A expression in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992; 1123:257-262.
- 147. Whitsett JA, Weaver TE, Lieberman MA et al. Differential effects of epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor- β on synthesis of M_r =35,000 surfactant-associated protein in fetal lung. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:7908-7913.
- 148. Ballard PL, Liley HG, Gonzales LW et al. Interferon-gamma and synthesis of surfactant components by cultured human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990;2:137-143.
- 149. Dulkerian SJ, Gonzales LW, Ning Y et al. Regulation of surfactant protein D in human fetal lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996;15:781-786.
- 150. Alexandersen S, Bloom ME. Studies on the sequential development of acute interstitial pneumonia caused by Aleutian disease virus in mink kits. J Virol 1987; 61:81-86.
- 151. Baughman RP, Sternberg RI, Hull W et al. Decreased surfactant protein A in patients with bacterial pneumonia. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:653-657.
- 152. Phelps DS, Umstead TM, Rose RM et al. Surfactant protein-A levels increase during *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in the rat. Eur Resp Journal 1996; 9:565-570.
- 153. Limper AH, O'Riordan DM, Vuk-Pavlovic Z et al. Accumulation of surfactant protein D in the lung during *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia. J Eukaryot Microbiol 1994; 41:98S.
- 154. Levine AM, Lotze A, Stanley S et al. Surfactant content in children with inflammatory lung disease. Crit Care Med 1996; 24:1062-1067.
- 155. Gregory TJ, Longmore WJ, Moxley MA et al. Surfactant chemical composition and biophysical activity in acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Clin Invest 1991; 88:1976-81.
- 156. Doyle IR, Nicholas TE, Bersten AD. Serum surfactant protein-A levels in patients with acute cardiogenic pulmonary edema and adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:307-317.
- 157. Kuroki Y, Tsutahara S, Shijubo N et al. Elevated levels of lung surfactant protein A in sera from patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:723-729.
- 158. Takahashi H, Honda Y, Kuroki Y et al. Pulmonary surfactant protein A: A serum marker of pulmonary fibrosis in patients with collagen vascualr diseases. Clin Chim Acta 1995; 239:213-215.
- 159. Coalson JJ, King RJ, Yang F et al. SP-A deficiency in primate model of bronchopulmonary dysplasia with infection. In situ mRNA and immunostains [see comments]. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:854-866.
- 160. King RJ, Coalson JJ, deLemos RA et al. Surfactant protein-A deficiency in a primate model of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1989-1997.
- 161. Horowitz S, Shapiro DL, Finkelstein JN et al. Changes in gene expression in hyperoxiainduced neonatal lung injury. Am J Physiol 1990;258:L107-L1011.
- 162. Nogee LM, Wispé JR, Clark JC et al. Increased synthesis and mRNA of surfactant protein A in oxygen-exposed rats. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1989; 1:119-125.
- 163. McIntosh JC, Swyers AH, Fisher JH et al. Surfactant proteins A and D increase in response to intratracheal lipopolysaccharide. Am J Resp Cell and Mol Biol 1996; 15:509-519.
- 164. Sugahara K, Iyama K, Sano K et al. Overexpression of surfactant protein SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C mRNA In rat lungs with lipopolysaccharide-induced injury. Lab Invest 1996; 74:209-220.
- 165. Guzman J, Wang YM, Kalaycioglu O et al. Increased surfactant protein A content in human alveolar macrophages in hypersensitivity pneumonitis. Acta Cytol 1992; 36:668-673.
- 166. Hamm H, Luhrs J, Guzman y Rotaeche J et al. Elevated surfactant protein A in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids from sarcoidosis and hypersensitivity pneumonitis patients. Chest 1994; 106:1766-1770.

- 167. Honda Y, Takahashi H, Kuroki Y et al. Decreased contents of surfactant proteins A and D In BAL fluids of healthy smokers. Chest 1996; 109:1006-1009.
- 168. Sternberg RI, Whitsett JA, Hull WM et al. *Pneumocystis carinii* alters surfactant protein A concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. J Lab Clin Med 1995; 125:462-469.
- 169. Ogasawara Y, Kuroki Y, Shiratori M et al. Ontogeny of surfactant apoprotein D, SP-D, in the rat lung. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1991;1083:252-256.
- 170. Escamilla R, Prevost MC, Cariven C et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage phospholipid abnormalities in HIV-infected patients. Eur Respir J 1993; 6:1301-1307.
- 171. Rose RM, Catalano PJ, Koziel H et al. Abnormal lipid composition of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid obtained from individuals with AIDS-related lung disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:332-338.
- 172. Singh G, Katyal SL, Bedrossian CWM et al. Pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Staining for surfactant apoprotein in alveolar proteinosis and in conditions simulating it. Chest 1983; 83:82-86.
- 173. Akino T, Okano G, Ohno K. Alveolar phospholipids in pulmonary alveolar proteinosis. Tohoku J Exp Med 1978;126:51-62.
- 174. Horiuchi T, Mason RJ, Kuroki Y et al. Surface and tissue forces, surfactant protein A, and the phospholipid components of pulmonary surfactant in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in the rat. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990;141:1006-1013.
- 175. Schmitz-Schumann M, Costabel U, Ferber E et al. Composition of surfactant phospholipids in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with extrinsic allergic alveolitits and sarcoidosis. Praxis und Klinik der Pneumologie 1986;40:216-218.
- 176. Honda Y, Tsunematsu K, Suzuki A et al. Changes in phospholipids in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with interstitial lung diseases. Lung 1988; 166:293-301.
- 177. Moya FR, Montes HF, Thomas VL et al. Surfactant protein A and saturated phosphatidylcholine in respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150:1672-1677.
- 178. Chida S, Phelps DS, Cordle C et al. Surfactant-associated proteins in tracheal aspirates of infants with respiratory distress syndrome after surfactant therapy. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:943-947.
- 179. Gerdes J, Whitsett J, Long W. Elastase activity and surfactant protein concentration in tracheal aspirates from neonates receiving synthetic surfactant. J Pediatr 1992;120:S34-39.
- 180. Hallman M, Merritt TA, Akino T et al. Surfactant protein A, phosphatidylcholine, and surfactant inhibitors in epithelial lining fluid. Correlation with surface activity, severity of respiratory distress syndrome, and outcome in small premature infants. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 144:1376-1384.
- Ikegami M, Jacobs H, Jobe A. Surfactant function in respiratory distress syndrome. J Pediatr 1983;102:443-447.
- 182. King RJ, Coalson JJ, Seidenfeld JJ et al. O2- and pneumonia-induced lung injury. II. Properties of pulmonary surfactant. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67:357-365.
- 183. Nogee LM, Wispe JR. Effects of pulmonary oxygen injury on airway content of surfactantassociated protein A. Pediatr Res 1988; 24:568-573.
- 184. Kawada H, Horiuchi T, Shannon JM et al. Alveolar type II cells, surfactant protein A (SP-A), and the phospholipid components of surfactant in acute silicosis in the rat. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:460-470.
- 185. Mancini NM, Bene MC, Gerard H et al. Early effects of short-time cigarette smoking on the human lung: A study of bronchoalveolar lavage fluids. Lung 1993; 171:277-291.

Index

A

A549 cell 38, 59, 61, 66, 75, 112, 143 Adenosine 37, 60, 63, 66, 67, 143-145, 148-150, 153, 154, 171 Alveolar cell 8, 29, 38, 47, 53, 55, 58, 63, 66, 67, 73-78, 80, 82-84, 93, 94, 97, 108, 116, 117, 119, 122, 124, 135-137, 143, 144, 149, 150, 162, 163, 173-182, 184, 185, 187, 188, 191-193, 198, 200, 203, 205, 207, 208, 210-214 Amniotic fluid 49, 50, 79, 99, 127 ATP 32, 36, 37, 143-152, 154, 155, 172, 174,

175

B

β-adrenergic 52, 78, 143, 147, 148, 153, 155, 174, 175, 180

- β-agonist 143, 151, 153, 154
- Bacteria 47, 67, 104, 125, 133, 192, 194-199, 202-204
- Bilayer 2-4, 6, 7, 9, 12-19, 106, 108
- Biophysical 1-3, 15, 16, 93, 94, 96, 97, 99, 116, 117, 125

С

Calcium 3, 7, 8, 10, 13-15, 17, 18, 32, 47, 96, 126, 133, 145, 148, 150, 152, 155, 196

- cAMP 38, 47, 49, 50, 52-55, 57-68, 81, 82, 143-145, 148-151, 174, 175, 177
- Carbohydrate 10, 13, 48, 75, 125, 180, 192, 193, 196, 199, 205
- Chemotaxis 126, 198, 199
- Cholesterol 2, 6, 7, 10, 15, 17, 18, 168, 175, 200
- Cis-acting element 38, 55, 59-61, 79, 104, 105, 109, 110
- Clara cell 49, 51, 62, 77, 80, 84, 104, 105, 127, 129, 131, 134, 135, 205
- Collagen 8, 10, 13, 48, 55, 125, 128, 129, 131, 133, 168, 180, 191, 193, 201, 205

D

Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC) 2-11, 13-15, 17, 18, 96, 112, 168-183, 197, 199, 200, 202

Ε

Endocytosis 99, 171-175, 179-183 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) 29, 35, 48, 77, 108-110, 127, 131-133 Epidermal growth factor (EGF) 33, 34, 51, 67, 203

Exocytosis 78, 127, 139-141, 151-153

Explant 33-37, 49, 50, 52-55, 67, 80-82, 112-114, 116, 128, 134, 203

F

Fatty acid 2, 30, 32-38, 97, 109, 143, 176-178, 196, 197 Fetal lung 29, 30, 32-38, 47, 49, 50-54, 63, 67, 68, 77, 79-82, 99, 108, 112, 113, 116, 128, 134, 203

FGF 52, 106

G

Glucocorticoid 29, 33, 34-38, 47, 50, 53-55, 58, 67, 80, 81, 105, 113, 114, 128, 130 Glycogen 30, 32, 33, 49 Glycosylation 48, 76, 108, 125, 126, 131, 133, 134 GM-CSF 106, 116, 201-203 Golgi 29, 35, 77, 78, 97, 108-111, 127, 131, 132, 181 Growth factor 33, 50-52, 80, 82, 106, 114,

^{128, 135, 202, 203}

Η

H441 cell 66, 80-82, 129, 130 Hormone 29, 32-35, 37, 38, 50, 54, 55, 67, 78, 80, 81, 110, 113, 114, 171 dexamethasone 34-38, 51, 53-55, 57, 58, 80, 81, 113, 130, 203 estrogen 33-35 glucocorticoid 29, 33-38, 47, 50, 53-55, 58, 67, 80, 81, 105, 113, 114, 128, 130 glucocorticoids 33 insulin 37, 38, 50, 51, 67, 114, 203 prolactin 33 thyroid hormone 33, 34, 37, 113, 171 TRH 33 Hydrophobic protein 4, 8, 13, 14, 17, 93, 97, 99, 101, 103, 112, 140, 155, 173

I

Immune system 192 In situ hybridization 49, 54, 77, 104, 112, 115, 127, 134 Insulin 37, 38, 50, 51, 67, 114, 203 Interferon (IFN) 51, 67, 80, 128, 203 Interleukin (IL) 51, 52, 80, 129, 200, 201

K

KGF 52, 67, 82 Knockout 82-84, 106, 115, 116, 154, 173

L

- Lamellar body 2, 3, 29, 47, 49, 53, 55, 75, 77-79, 83, 101, 106, 108-113, 115, 127, 139, 140-142, 148, 151-153, 155, 166, 167, 171, 172, 174, 175, 178-183
- Lavage 1, 8, 32, 75, 93, 94, 96, 99, 101, 115, 116, 126, 127, 135, 139-142, 153, 154, 166-170, 182, 192-194, 196, 199, 200, 202-205
- Liposome 6, 9, 13, 76, 152, 165, 168, 169, 171-173, 175-178, 180, 181
- LPS 128, 134, 195, 196, 201, 203, 205
- Lung injury 77, 84, 114, 115, 134, 135, 204
- Lymphocyte 126, 192, 198-200, 205

Μ

Macrophage 47, 51, 67, 77, 78, 106, 125, 128, 170, 171, 181-183, 191-203, 205
Mannose 48, 77, 125, 134, 191, 192, 197
MBP 129, 134, 191-193, 196, 201
MAP kinase 150, 151
Monolayer 3-19, 55, 78, 84, 96
MRNA stability 32, 37, 38, 53, 54, 81, 82, 113

Ν

NECA 144, 149, 150, 154 Neutrophil 125, 196, 197, 199 Nuclear protein 38, 59, 63, 64, 66, 80

0

Oligosaccharide 48, 76, 77, 131, 134, 195, 196 Organ culture 33, 49, 50, 53, 55, 128, 134 Organ explant 33-37, 49, 50, 52-55, 67, 80, 81, 112-114, 116, 128, 134, 203

P

Phagocytosis 171, 194-198, 205 Phorbol (TPA) 51, 78, 82, 143-145, 148-154, 174, 175, 197, 199, 203 Phosphatidylcholine (PC) 2, 6, 8, 9, 13, 14, 17, 18, 29, 30, 32-36, 38, 50, 51, 93, 139, 140, 142, 143, 147-150, 165-179, 200 Phosphatidylethanolamine 7, 101, 175, 200 Phosphatidylglycerol 2, 29-31, 34, 35, 50, 75, 76, 84, 168, 197, 200 Phosphatidylinositol 2, 125, 145, 146, 148, 192 Phospholipase (PLA, PLC, PLD) 30, 32, 145-150, 155, 170, 176, 178, 179, 183 Prostaglandin 52, 53, 81, 143, 154, 201, 203 Protein kinase 50, 59, 82, 143, 144, 145, 146, 148, 150, 151, 155, 174 Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaCM-PK) 145, 148, 151, 154 MAP kinase 150, 151 PKA 59, 82, 144, 145, 151 PKC 50, 51, 67, 143, 145, 146, 148-151, 154, 155, 180 tyrosine kinase 51

R

Receptor 33, 34, 37, 38, 47, 50-54, 58, 65-68, 78, 80-82, 99, 106, 125, 130, 143-146, 148-150, 152-155, 168, 171, 173-175, 179-183, 197, 201 Recycle 75, 78, 174, 179 Respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) 1, 2,

- 29, 33, 38, 50, 52, 54, 82, 83, 116, 153, 191, 202
- Retinoic acid 50, 65, 82 Retinoid 50, 65
- Reuptake 3, 112, 165, 170, 171, 175

S

- SP-A 1, 2, 8-10, 12, 13, 15, 18, 19, 47-68, 77-80, 93, 94, 104, 105, 108, 112-114, 116, 125, 127-129, 134, 135, 139-143, 152, 154, 155, 165, 168, 172-175, 178-183, 191-206
- SP-B 2, 4, 7, 8, 10, 12-19, 47, 50-52, 54, 75-84, 94, 99, 102-105, 108, 111-116, 140, 141, 155, 173, 182, 196, 197, 199, 200, 205
- SP-C 2, 4, 6-8, 10, 12-19, 47, 50-52, 54, 77-80, 83, 84, 93, 94, 96-99, 101-106, 108-117, 140, 141, 155, 173, 182, 196, 199, 200, 205
- SP-D 1, 2, 8, 13, 48, 94, 125-135, 140, 141, 155, 191-199, 201-206
- Sphingomyelin 49, 51, 200
- Surface film 3, 4, 6, 7, 10, 18, 47, 75, 76, 78, 84
- Surface tension 1, 3-8, 13, 18, 29, 38, 47, 67, 75, 78, 84, 93, 97, 139, 191, 202

Т

- Terbutaline 52, 81, 144, 145, 149-152, 169, 174, 175 TGF 51, 67, 106, 114, 116 Thyroid 33, 34, 37, 61, 79, 105, 113, 114, 130, 150, 171 thyroid hormone 33, 34, 37, 113, 114, 171 thyroid transcription factor (TTF) 61-63, 68, 79, 80, 82, 105, 106, 130 TRH 33 TNF 51, 67, 106, 114, 116, 198, 201, 203, 205 Trafficking 13, 77, 99, 109, 110, 168, 175, 180, 181 Trans-acting element 38, 80 Trans-acting factor 38, 53, 60, 82, 105, 109, 110 Transcription 32, 34, 37, 38, 47, 49, 51-55, 59-68, 79-82, 84, 105, 106, 113-116, 128-130, 135, 201 Transgenic 38, 51, 79, 83, 84, 94, 104, 106, 110, 115 Triple helical 8, 48, 125, 131, 133 Triple helix 48, 131, 133, 193 Tubular myelin 2-4, 7, 8, 10, 13, 18, 19, 47, 67, 78, 79, 127, 165 Type II cell 2, 29, 30, 32-34, 36, 47, 49, 51-68, 77-82, 84, 99, 101, 104-106, 108-112, 114, 115, 127, 128, 131, 132, 134, 135, 139-155, 167, 168, 170-183, 201-203, 205
- Type II pneumocyte 1, 112, 139, 140

U

Uridine 5'-triphosphate (UTP) 144-151, 154, 155

V

Virus 55-58, 65, 192, 194-197, 199, 204